# 

MACROPHAGES IN INFLAMMATION AND ITS RESOLUTION

Hosted by Heiko Mühl, Patrizia Rovere-Querini, Amiram Ariel, Jerrold S. Levine and Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini





#### FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2012 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, as well as all content on this site is the exclusive property of Frontiers. Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Articles and other user-contributed materials may be downloaded and reproduced subject to any copyright or other notices. No financial payment or reward may be given for any such reproduction except to the author(s) of the article concerned.

As author or other contributor you grant permission to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

Cover image provided by lbbl sarl, Lausanne CH

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-073-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-073-7

#### **ABOUT FRONTIERS**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **DEDICATION TO QUALITY**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

# MACROPHAGES IN INFLAMMATION AND ITS RESOLUTION

Hosted By:

Heiko Mühl, University Hospital Goethe University, Germany Patrizia Rovere-Querini, Ospedale San Raffaele and Vita-Salute University, Italy Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel Jerrold S. Levine, University of Illinois at Chicago, USA Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini, Centre national de la recherche scientifique (CNRS), France



Formation of frustrated phagosomes by a human monocyte-derived macrophage layered on micropatterned antigen-IgG complexes. Macrophages were incubated for 15 min on 4- $\mu$ m square Ag-IgG patterns before being fixed and stained for F-actin (red) and Paxillin (green). Frustrated phagosomes form on immune complex patterns, rings of F-actin dots are surrounded by Paxillin. Bar = 5  $\mu$ m. Image provided by Arnaud Labrousse.

Macrophages were initially identified as a key element in the innate host response to infection and injury due to their phagocytic clearance and elimination of pathogenic and non-pathogenic entities. However, as macrophage research advanced it became clear that not only are these cells amenable to the acquisition of multiple plastic phenotypes during inflammatory responses to different pathogens, they also play a paramount role in the termination of inflammation and acquired immune responses. In addition, macrophages profoundly affect host physiology when they migrate to distant sites and differentiate to specialized cells, like foam cells, osteoclasts, adipose tissue- and tumor -associated macrophages and other macrophage-derived cell types. These processes are affected by the inflammation-resolution axis and can result in health threats, such as atherosclerosis, bone loss, obesity, fibrosis and cancer.

This Research Topic issue will cover a wide range of topics in macrophage biology:

- 1. Macrophages in immune responses to pathogens
- 2. Macrophages in the termination of acute and acquired immunity.
- 3. The role of macrophages and their descendents in inflammation-associated pathologies.
- 4. Macrophage polarization and differentiation.

Particular focus will be given to the modulation of macrophage phenotype and function following their encounter with apoptotic cells and the signaling cascades that govern these changes.

# Table of Contents

#### 05 Macrophages in Inflammation and its Resolution

Amiram Ariel, Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini, Patrizia Rovere-Querini, Jerrold S. Levine and Heiko Mühl

07 Melanocortin Receptors as Novel Effectors of Macrophage Responses in Inflammation

Hetal B. Patel, Trinidad Montero-Melendez, Karin V. Greco and Mauro Perretti

13 Macrophage Polarization: Convergence Point Targeted by Mycobacterium Tuberculosis and HIV

Geanncarlo Lugo-Villarino, Christel Vérollet, Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini and Olivier Neyrolles

- 20 Molecular Mechanisms Regulating Macrophage Response to Hypoxia Michal A. Rahat, Haim Bitterman and Nitza Lahat
- 35 New Insights into the Role of Macrophages in Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Fatty Liver Disease: Modulation by Endogenous Omega-3 Fatty Acid-Derived Lipid Mediators

Joan Clària, Ana González-Périz, Cristina López-Vicario, Bibiana Rius and Esther Titos

- **43** *Macrophages in Synovial Inflammation* Aisling Kennedy, Ursula Fearon, Douglas J. Veale and Catherine Godson
- 52 Frustrated Phagocytosis on Micro-Patterned Immune Complexes to Characterize Lysosome Movements in Live Macrophages
   Arnaud M. Labrousse, Etienne Meunier, Julien Record, Anna Labernadie, Amélie Beduer, Christophe Vieu, Thouraya Ben Safta and Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini
- 62 Modulation of Macrophage Efferocytosis in Inflammation Darlynn Korns, S. Courtney Frasch, Ruby Fernandez-Boyanapalli, Peter M. Henson and Donna L. Bratton
- 72 *Macrophages in Injured Skeletal Muscle: A Perpetuum Mobile Causing and Limiting Fibrosis, Prompting or Restricting Resolution and Regeneration* Lidia Bosurgi, Angelo A. Manfredi and Patrizia Rovere-Querini
- 82 Acute Lung Injury: How Macrophages Orchestrate Resolution of Inflammation and Tissue Repair

Susanne Herold, Konstantin Mayer and Juergen Lohmeyer

95 CRP/Anti-CRP Antibodies Assembly on the Surfaces of Cell Remnants Switches their Phagocytic Clearance Toward Inflammation

Christina Janko, Sandra Franz, Luis E. Munoz, Stefan Siebig, Silke Winkler, Georg Schett, Kirsten Lauber, Ahmed Sheriff, Johan van der Vlag and Martin Herrmann

- 104 New Lives Given by Cell Death: Macrophage Differentiation Following Their Encounter with Apoptotic Leukocytes during the Resolution of Inflammation Amiram Ariel and Charles N. Serhan
- 110 Contrasting Inflammation Resolution During Atherosclerosis and Post Myocardial Infarction at the Level of Monocyte/Macrophage Phagocytic Clearance

Edward B. Thorp

118 Non-Identical Twins – Microglia and Monocyte-Derived Macrophages in Acute Injury and Autoimmune Inflammation

Steffen Jung and Michal Schwartz

122 Oral Inflammatory Diseases and Systemic Inflammation: Role of the Macrophage

Hatice Hasturk, Alpdogan Kantarci and Thomas E. Van Dyke

### Macrophages in inflammation and its resolution

# Amiram Ariel<sup>1</sup>\*, Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini<sup>2,3</sup>, Patrizia Rovere-Querini<sup>4</sup>, Jerrold S. Levine<sup>5</sup> and Heiko Mühl<sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel

<sup>2</sup> CNRS, UMR5089, IPBS (Institut de Pharmacologie et de Biologie Structurale), Toulouse, France

- <sup>3</sup> Université de Toulouse, UPS, IPBS, Toulouse, France
- <sup>4</sup> San Raffaele Scientific Institute Milano, Milano, Italy
- <sup>5</sup> University of Illinois at Chicago, IL, USA
- <sup>6</sup> University Hospital Goethe University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
- \*Correspondence: amiram@research.haifa.ac.il

#### Edited by:

Kendall A. Smith, Weill Medical College of Cornell University, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Kendall A. Smith, Weill Medical College of Cornell University, USA

Macrophages are highly plastic leukocytes that differentiate from monocytes following their entry into extravascular tissues. Macrophages can enter various tissues under inflammatory or non-inflammatory conditions and assume different functions and phenotypes according to the cues they receive from the environment. The notion that inflammation in general and macrophage responses in particular affect physiological phenomena that were previously considered to be not immune-related has enhanced and broadened our understanding of macrophage function during inflammation and its resolution.

This volume brings together 14 manuscripts that cover various aspects of macrophage function during inflammation and its resolution, as well as in several pathologic states for which a significant, long-lasting, macrophage-mediated immune response plays a significant role. Two of the manuscripts present original research on macrophage phagocytosis and its implications. Five provide an overview of macrophage function during inflammation and its resolution, with an emphasis on the modulatory role of particular elements in this response, such as apoptotic leukocytes, specific pathogens, hypoxia, and hormone receptors. The remaining seven manuscripts outline the role of macrophages during inflammation and its resolution in different tissues, including the lung, cardiovascular and adipose tissues, injured skeletal muscle and neuronal tissues, and synovial and oral cavities.

The two original research articles are devoted to the consequences of particle engulfment by macrophages. Labrousse et al. (2011) describe a novel experimental strategy in which they use micro-patterned immune complexes to trigger frustrated phagocytosis and thereby determine spatial parameters in lysosomal movement and fusion. Janko et al. (2011) report on the cumulative binding of CRP and anti-CRP antibodies to the surface of secondary necrotic cells. This binding leads to a pro-inflammatory cytokine response following engulfment by macrophages, implying a potential role for these elements in the etiology of systemic lupus erythematosus.

Of the review articles that discuss the regulation of macrophage differentiation and function by discrete events, two cover the interaction between macrophages and apoptotic leuko-cytes during the resolution of inflammation. Korns et al. (2011)

outline the regulation of apoptotic cell clearance by macrophages (efferocytosis) and the environmental cues that promote the efferocytic capabilities of macrophages. The second manuscript by Ariel and Serhan (2012) reviews the impact of apoptotic cell sensing and disposal by macrophages on the switches in functional phenotypes displayed by these cells. The effect of another environmental factor, hypoxia, on monocyte/macrophage activation, and differentiation through transcriptional and translational modulation is covered by Rahat et al. (2011). Lugo-Villarino et al. (2011) discuss the pathogenesis and co-mortality displayed by two macrophage-inhabiting microbes (HIV and Mycobacterium Tuberculosis) and their influence on macrophage polarization. Patel et al. (2011) review the role of melanocortin receptor expression by macrophages in anti-inflammation and the resolution of inflammation, with attention given to melanocortin receptor agonists as therapeutic agents.

Several review articles discuss the function of macrophages during inflammation and/or its resolution within distinct anatomical sites, taking into account the unique features of these tissue-specific macrophages, in particular the distinct environments in which they reside and their interactions with neighboring cells. Clària et al. (2011) review current knowledge on the contribution of macrophages to the inflammatory state characterizing adipose tissue and the phenotypic changes observed in macrophages during obesity. Kennedy et al. (2011) discuss macrophage polarization occurring within the synovial space of arthritic joints and its modulation by cytokines, transcription factors, and pro-resolving lipid mediators. The article from Bosurgi et al. (2011) describes the multiple actions of macrophages in injured skeletal muscle, where the effects of these cells are a double-edged sword and can either promote healing and repair or lead to fibrosis and fat replacement. Herold et al. (2011) survey the indispensable role of macrophages in the resolution and termination of inflammation in lung infection and injury as well as the molecular pathways involved in these processes. Proper termination of inflammatory events and clearance of apoptotic cells are also critical to the cardiovascular system, as reviewed by Thorp (2012), and defects in macrophage efferocytosis can lead to atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction. While monocyte-derived macrophages

and resident microglia were previously considered to be detrimental in brain inflammation and injury, recent advances reviewed by Jung and Schwartz (2012) suggest an opposite role for these macrophage-like cells, with a positive impact on brain maintenance and repair. Finally, Hasturk et al. (2012) outline the reciprocal interaction between periodontal disease and chronic inflammatory illnesses and the role that macrophages play in mediating these chronic inflammatory diseases. Altogether, the articles in this volume portray the complexity of the multiple roles played by macrophages and members of their lineage during inflammation and its resolution, and their manipulation by the injured milieu. These topics are currently heavily studied, and advances in the field, facilitated by state-of-the-art genetics and optical technologies, will undoubtedly continue to contribute to our understanding of the immune system's response to foreign insults, trauma, and inflammatory disorders.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Ariel, A., and Serhan, C. N. (2012). New lives given by cell death: macrophage differentiation following their encounter with apoptotic leukocytes during the resolution of inflammation. *Front. Immun.* 3:4. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012. 00004
- Bosurgi, L., Manfredi, A. A., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2011). Macrophages in injured skeletal muscle: a perpetuum mobile causing and limiting fibrosis, prompting or restricting resolution and regeneration. *Front. Immun.* 2:62. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00062
- Clària, J., González-Périz, A., López-Vicario, C., Rius, B., and Titos, E. (2011). New insights into the role of macrophages in adipose tissue inflammation and fatty liver disease: modulation by endogenous omega-3 fatty acid-derived lipid mediators. *Front. Immun.* 2:49. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011. 00049
- Hasturk, H., Kantarci, A., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2012). Oral inflammatory diseases and systemic inflammation: role of the

macrophage. *Front. Immun.* 3: 118. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00118

- Herold, S., Mayer, K., and Lohmeyer, J. (2011). Acute lung injury: how macrophages orchestrate resolution of inflammation and tissue repair. *Front. Immun.* 2:65. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00065
- Janko, C., Franz, S., Munoz, L. E., Siebig, S., Winkler, S., Schett, G., et al. (2011). CRP/anti-CRP antibodies assembly on the surfaces of cell remnants switches their phagocytic clearance toward inflammation. *Front. Immun.* 2:70. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00070
- Jung, S., and Schwartz, M. (2012). Non-identical twins – microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages in acute injury and autoimmune inflammation. *Front. Immun.* 3:89. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012. 00089
- Kennedy, A., Fearon, U., Veale, D. J., and Godson, C. (2011). Macrophages in synovial inflammation. *Front. Immun.* 2:52. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00052
- Korns, D., Frasch, S. C., Fernandez-Boyanapalli, R., Henson, P. M., and Bratton, D. L. (2011). Modulation of

macrophage efferocytosis in inflammation. *Front. Immun.* 2:57. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00057

- Labrousse, A. M., Meunier, E., Record, J., Labernadie, A., Beduer, A., Vieu, C., et al. (2011). Frustrated phagocytosis on micro-patterned immune complexes to characterize lysosome movements in live macrophages. *Front. Immun.* 2:51. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00051
- Lugo-Villarino, G., Vérollet, С., Maridonneau-Parini L Neyrolles, О. (2011). and Macrophage polarization: convergence point targeted by Mycobacterium tuberculosis and HIV. Front. Immun. 2:43. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00043
- Patel, H. B., Montero-Melendez, T., Greco, K. V., and Perretti, M. (2011). Melanocortin receptors as novel effectors of macrophage responses in inflammation. *Front. Immun.* 2:41. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00041
- Rahat, M. A., Bitterman, H., and Lahat, N. (2011). Molecular mechanisms regulating macrophage response to hypoxia. *Front. Immun.* 2:45. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00045

Thorp, E. B. (2012). Contrasting inflammation resolution during atherosclerosis and post myocardial infarction at the level of monocyte/macrophage phagocytic clearance. *Front. Immun.* 3:39. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012. 00039

Received: 02 October 2012; accepted: 07 October 2012; published online: 01 November 2012.

Citation: Ariel A, Maridonneau-Parini I, Rovere-Querini P, Levine JS and Mühl H (2012) Macrophages in inflammation and its resolution. Front. Immun. **3**:324. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00324

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2012 Ariel, Maridonneau-Parini, Rovere-Querini, Levine and Mühl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



# Melanocortin receptors as novel effectors of macrophage responses in inflammation

#### Hetal B. Patel \*, Trinidad Montero-Melendez, Karin V. Greco and Mauro Perretti

William Harvey Research Institute, Barts and The London School of Medicine, Queen Mary University of London, London, UK

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Paola Allavena, Clinical Institute Humanitas, Italy Anna Catania, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico di Milano, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Hetal B. Patel, William Harvey Research Institute, Barts and The London School of Medicine, Queen Mary University of London, Charterhouse Square, London EC1M 6BQ, UK. e-mail: h.b.patel@qmul.ac.uk

Macrophages have crucial functions in initiating the inflammatory reaction in a strict temporal and spatial manner to provide a "clear-up" response required for resolution. Hormonal peptides such as melanocortins modulate macrophage reactivity and attenuate inflammation ranging from skin inflammation to joint disease and reperfusion injury. The melanocortins (e.g., adrenocorticotrophin, ACTH and aMSH) elicit regulatory properties through activation of a family of GPCRs, the melanocortin (MC) receptors;  $MC_1-MC_5$ . Several studies have focused on MC1 and MC3 as anti-inflammatory receptors expressed on cells of the macrophage lineage. We review here elements of the melanocortin pathway with particular attention to macrophage function in anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving inflammatory settings. Evidence shows that ACTH, αMSH, and other MC agonists can activate MC<sub>1</sub> and MC<sub>3</sub> on macrophage through cAMP and/or NF $\kappa$ B-dependent mechanisms to abrogate pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and NO and enhance anti-inflammatory mediators such as IL-10 and HO-1. Melanocortins and their receptors regulate inflammation by inhibiting leukocyte recruitment to and interaction with inflamed tissue. An intensely exciting addition to this field of research has been the ability of an  $\alpha$ MSH analog; AP214 to activate MC<sub>3</sub> expressed on macrophage to enhance their clearance of both zymosan particles and apoptotic neutrophils thus putting melanocortins in line with other pro-resolving mediators. The use of mouse colonies mutated or nullified for MC<sub>1</sub> or MC<sub>3</sub>, respectively as well as availability of selective MC receptor agonist/antagonists have been key to deciphering mechanisms by which elements of the melanocortin system play a role in these phenomena. We review here melanocortin pathway components with attention to the macrophage, reiterating receptor targets required for pro-resolving properties. The overall outcome will be identification of selective MC agonists as a strategy for innovative anti-inflammatory therapeutics.

Keywords: inflammation, resolution, macrophage, melanocortins, melanocortin receptor, melanocyte stimulating hormone, G-protein coupled receptor, anti-inflammatory therapeutics

#### **INTRODUCTION**

An inflammatory reaction is characterized by cellular recruitment within a tissue that firstly involves an acute phase whereby neutrophils act as invaders to release toxins to kill and eliminate foreign encounters. Macrophages play a crucial role in the latter phase of this inflammatory reaction. At the site of injury their ultimate goal is counterbalance the acute phase to cease inflammation and clear-up detrimental artifacts including pathogens and debris as well as apoptotic cells from the environment. To disperse inflammation macrophage must complete complex reactions, including chemotaxis to move to the site of inflammation, phagocytose particles or apoptotic cells (process of efferocytosis) and secrete cytokines/chemokines, lipid mediators, reactive oxygen species, and other factors to underpin an immune response facilitating healing/repair and return to normal homeostatic physiology. Pathological conditions can arise as a consequence of disruption to the sequence of events leading to resolution of inflammation. There has been a recent spate in research to identify and understand these biochemical pathways and mediators enhancing the resolution of inflammation by macrophage in the hope to discover new therapeutics that "switch on" this protective arm of inflammation. Within the umbrella of anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution mediators being investigated are the omega-3 fatty acid derived resolvins, aspirin-related lipoxins, and the glucocorticoid induced protein Annexin A1. One other such pathway gaining attention within this field includes the melanocortin peptides and their counterpart melanocortin receptors.

#### **THE MELANOCORTIN SYSTEM**

Melanocortins are derived from proteolytic cleavage of proopiomelanocortin (POMC), a hormone first thought to be expressed only within the pituitary. Evidence now shows that POMC is also expressed within peripheral cells and tissues (Blalock, 1985). The enzymes proprotein convertase 1 (PC1) and 2 (PC2) belong to a conserved family of serine proteinases of the subtilisin/kexin-type that also include furin, PC4, PACE4, PC5/6, and PC7/LPC/PC8. Their action upon single and/or pairs of dibasic residues within the POMC sequence generate the melanocortin peptides; adrenocorticotrophin (ACTH),  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -,  $\gamma$ -melanocyte stimulating hormone. PC1 leads to generation of full-length pro-ACTH<sub>1–39</sub> and β-lipotropin. PC1 then further cleaves βlipotropin to generate γ-lipotropin and β-endorphin, and pro-ACTH to generate *N*-pro-opiocortin (POC), joining peptide (JP), and ACTH. The down-stream actions of PC2 result in production of ACTH<sub>1–17</sub> and corticotrophin-like intermediate lobe peptide (from ACTH), γMSH (from *N*-POC), and β-MSH (from β-lipotropin). Alpha-MSH (αMSH) is generated by the combined actions of carboxypeptidase (CPE), peptidylglycine alphaamidating mono-oxygenase (PAM), and *N*-acetyltransferase (*N*-AT) on ACTH<sub>1–17</sub> (Mountjoy, 2010; **Figure 1**).

The biological activity of the ACTH and MSH species occurs through activation of melanocortin receptors (MC) of which five have been cloned so far. All are seven transmembrane coupled to s-type G-proteins thus positively coupled to adenylate cyclase; their activation leading to increases in intracellular cAMP and, possibly partly independently from it, down-regulation of nuclear factor-kappa beta activation (Wikberg et al., 2000; Gantz and Fong, 2003). MC<sub>1</sub> is the receptor expressed on melanocytes, responsible for MSH control over skin pigmentation, whereas MC<sub>2</sub> is the canonical ACTH receptor, expressed on adrenal cells and responsible for glucocorticoid synthesis and release. The other MCs have less clear-cut biological functions. Within the central nervous system, MC<sub>4</sub> is actively studied for its role in feed control, pain, and sexual health; MC5 might modulate exocrine gland activity (Gantz and Fong, 2003). MC3 might exert a control over energy metabolism (Butler et al., 2000), but our own work has indicated an important modulatory role for this receptor in the control of the host inflammatory response (Getting et al., 2002). Of interest here, there is now ample evidence that MC, especially MC<sub>1</sub>, MC<sub>3</sub>, and MC<sub>5</sub> are distributed on peripheral cells (Catania et al., 2010).

### PRODUCTION OF $\alpha$ MSH AND EXPRESSION OF MC RECEPTORS BY MACROPHAGE

Melanocortins are expressed and functionally active on the macrophage. Star et al. (1995) reported increases in cAMP accumulation in RAW 264.7 macrophage (shown to express MC<sub>1</sub> and MC<sub>3</sub> but not MC<sub>5</sub>) upon  $\alpha$ MSH (pan agonist) incubation, suggestive of the presence of functionally active MCs on the cell surface (Star et al., 1995; Li and Taylor, 2008). Production of  $\alpha$ MSH by these cells was also noted with further augmentation of the response upon TNF $\alpha$  stimulation. These two lines of evidence along with the anti-inflammatory action of  $\alpha$ MSH to reduce nitric oxide release by RAW 264.7 macrophage suggest that  $\alpha$ MSH may act in an autocrine/paracrine manner by counteracting pro-inflammatory effect of cytokines (Star et al.,

1995). A similar autocrine circuit emerged in a latter study with human monocyte/macrophage THP-1 cells. Here, incubation of resting macrophage with an antibody recognizing MC<sub>1</sub> on its own increased TNF $\alpha$  release, with the addition of  $\alpha$ MSH reducing this response. Furthermore the presence of the anti-MC<sub>1</sub> attenuated this inhibitory signal caused by  $\alpha$ MSH. Collectively, these data indicate that MC receptor agonists limit pro-inflammatory cytokine production from macrophages, possibly being pivotal also in peripheral autocrine circuits (Taherzadeh et al., 1999).

Expression of melanocortin receptors is not only restricted to macrophage cell lines, as MC receptor mRNA has been detected in primary rodent macrophage of alveolar (MC<sub>1</sub> and MC<sub>3</sub>), knee joint (MC<sub>3</sub>), mesentery (MC<sub>1</sub> and MC<sub>3</sub>), and peritoneal (MC<sub>1</sub>, MC<sub>3</sub>, and MC<sub>5</sub>) origin and human macrophage blood derived macrophage (MC<sub>1</sub>, MC<sub>3</sub>, and MC<sub>5</sub>; Getting et al., 2002, 2003, 2008; Andersen et al., 2005; Leoni et al., 2008; Montero-Melendez et al., 2011).

#### MELANOCORTINS RECEPTOR ACTIVATION ON MACROPHAGE AUGMENT ANTI-INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES

In inflammatory/tissue injury settings, activation of MCs can influence a number of fundamental macrophage functions including:

- (1) *antagonizing* the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, nitric oxide
- (2) inhibiting leukocyte chemoattraction
- (3) *inducing* release of anti-inflammatory cytokines and expression of heme oxygenase-1
- (4) augmenting phagocytosis and efferocytosis.

It should be noted that MC receptor activation can also affect macrophage responsiveness indirectly. For instance, the existence of a circuit involving MC<sub>3</sub> and MC<sub>4</sub> within the CNS that activates descending cholinergic fibers to activate anti-inflammatory nico-tinic receptors have been described (Catania, 2007). Here we will restrict our overview on the direct effects of MC receptor on this cell type and discuss now some of the properties listed above in more detail.

#### **MELANOCORTINS INHIBIT CYTOKINE PRODUCTION**

The ability of melanocortin peptides to reduce macrophage release of pro-inflammatory mediators and increase anti-inflammatory mediators is a well-understood phenomenon with a number of



groups contributing to this field. For example Capsoni et al. (2009) stimulated peripheral blood derived monocytes in vitro with monosodium urate crystals in the presence of  $\alpha$ MSH (pan agonist) or (CKPV)<sub>2</sub> (a biologically potent Lys-Pro-Val peptide linked by Cys-Cys residues) and found significant reductions in IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-8, and TNF $\alpha$  release into supernatants (Capsoni et al., 2009). We treated the RAW264.7 mouse macrophage cell line with ACTH<sub>1-39</sub> (pan agonist) and MTII, amore stable αMSH derivative with higher affinity for MC<sub>3</sub> and MC<sub>4</sub> promoted an increase in cAMP accumulation and release of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, the later effect being abrogated when cells were treated with H-89 (protein kinase A [PKA] inhibitor) suggesting signaling down-stream of MC3 and not MC4 (as RAW264.7 did not express MC<sub>4</sub>) was through the cAMP–PKA pathway (Lam et al., 2006). In similar experiments both ACTH and MTII elicited in a cAMP-PKA dependent manner cytoprotective and anti-inflammatory heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) but not heme oxygenase-2, heat shock protein 70 and 90 in RAW267.4 cells (Lam et al., 2005). Mandrika et al. (2001) showed dual signaling mechanism by which aMSH inhibited nitric oxide production by RAW267.4 macrophage. One pathway dependent of MC<sub>1</sub>/cAMP activation and the other causing inhibition of NFkB translocation in a cAMP-independent manner. Other specialized cells of the macrophage lineage such as microglia treated with a MSH or ACTH substantially reduced TNFα, IL-6, and nitric oxide increases caused by LPS + IFNγ activation, suggesting that MC peptides exert their anti-inflammatory actions on peripheral as well as central cells of the phagocytic lineage. There is evidence of active MC receptors because the same study reported that aMSH could induce cAMP accumulation in both resting and activated microglia (Delgado et al., 1998).

Rat macrophage isolated from gouty knee joints also accumulated intracellular cAMP upon treatment with melanocortin peptide; ACTH (Getting et al., 2002). More recently functionality of MC receptors by cAMP readout on murine alveolar macrophage was confirmed after incubation with  $\alpha$ MSH, [D-Trp<sup>8</sup>] $\gamma$ MSH (MC<sub>3</sub>/MC<sub>5</sub> agonist), and MSO5 (MC<sub>1</sub> agonist; Getting et al., 2008; Joseph et al., 2010). Together these studies suggest that the cAMP pathway represents a common underlying mechanism for melanocortin to deliver anti-inflammatory effects. Manna and Aggarwal stimulated human monocytes with various inflammatory agents including TNFα, LPS, ceramide, and okadaic acid to obtain NFkB activation, which was diminished in cells treated with αMSH (Manna and Aggarwal, 1998). The agonistic effect appeared to be cAMP-dependent such that inhibitors of adenylate cyclase and PKA reversed the inhibitory effect of aMSH. Furthermore αMSH inhibition of degradation of the NFκB inhibitory subunit IκBα and nuclear translocation of p65 subunit were also noted (Manna and Aggarwal, 1998).

Collectively these data appear to show that the antiinflammatory actions of  $\alpha$ MSH are dependent on MC<sub>1</sub>, MC<sub>3</sub>, and/or MC<sub>5</sub> receptor activation and triggers inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B in a cAMP-dependent and independent manner through molecular links which are yet to be deciphered.

#### **MELANOCORTINS INHIBIT CHEMOTAXIS OF LEUKOCYTES**

As discussed so far, melanocortins are able to dampen macrophage release of pro-inflammatory mediators in inflammatory settings.

These phenomena were exploited further by Capsoni et al. (2009) who showed that melanocortins could influence the monocytes ability to recruit and prime neutrophils. Chemotaxis of neutrophils treated with  $\alpha$ MSH or (CKPV)<sub>2</sub> was examined using a boyden chamber assay and supernatants collected from monosodium urate crystal-stimulated monocytes as the source of chemoattractants. Chemotaxis was significantly reduced in neutrophils treated with agonist compared to controls. Furthermore reduced chemiluminescence (as a marker of reactive oxygen intermediates) production by pre-treated primed neutrophils was observed, in line with other studies showing melanocortin peptides can inhibit chemotaxis and generation of reactive oxygen species (Catania et al., 1996; Getting et al., 1999a; Capsoni et al., 2009).

To decipher what role MC<sub>3</sub> has on leukocyte interaction with the inflamed mesentery, experiments were performed using pharmacological agents and mice nullified for MC<sub>3</sub> where the superior mesenteric artery was occluded for 35 min followed by reopening to allow for blood reperfusion. Treatment with  $[D-Trp^8]\gamma$ MSH, a MC<sub>3</sub>/MC<sub>5</sub> agonist did not alter cell rolling but decreased cell adhesion and emigration compared to vehicle control an effect not observed in *Mc3r*-/- mice. These data were mirrored by augmented KC and MCP-1 responses in mesenteric tissues of *Mc3r*-/- mice suggesting MC<sub>3</sub> is able to regulate leukocyte interaction with postcapillary venules and regulate levels of proinflammatory molecules in ischemia reperfusion injured tissues (Leoni et al., 2008). Moreover, whilst agonizing more than one MC receptor, the vasculoprotective properties of  $[D-Trp^8]\gamma$ MSH are solely transduced by MC<sub>3</sub>.

Of interest, the modulation of chemokines occurred in the tissue and not with respect to plasma levels, moreover, levels of the cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  were not affected by pharmacological treatment with [D-Trp<sup>8</sup>] $\gamma$ MSH or absence of the MC<sub>3</sub> gene. The "selective" effect on tissue chemokine levels may be secondary to inhibition of activation of resident cells, such as tissue macrophages and connective tissue type mast cells (Kubes and Granger, 1996; Tailor et al., 1999).

In similar experimental settings, the effects of a small molecule  $MC_1$  agonist, compound BMS-470539 (Kang et al., 2006) inhibited cell adhesion, and emigration, an effect that was lacking in yellow<sup>e/e</sup> mice. Interestingly, unlike Mc3r-/- mice, the yellow<sup>e/e</sup> mice (expressing non-functional  $MC_1$ ) displayed a comparable leukocyte adhesion and emigration response to wild types. Collectively these two studies identify a complex scenario whereby although both  $MC_1$  and  $MC_3$  are expressed in the inflamed mesentery,  $MC_1$  may not be endogenously activated in ischemia reperfusion injury whereas  $MC_3$  is both exogenously and endogenously activated in this setting (Leoni et al., 2010). Future studies addressing the hypothetical generation of selective agonists post-ischemia reperfusion might help deciphering this apparent discrepancy.

### ACTIVATION OF MC<sub>3</sub> IS A KEY MEDIATOR OF ANTI-INFLAMMATORY EFFECTS IN MACROPHAGES

Until a decade ago, the mainstream school of thought was that the anti-inflammatory actions of melanocortin agonists were *solely* through MC<sub>1</sub> activation (Lipton and Catania, 1997; Luger et al., 2003). We used two mouse colonies, one bearing a non-functional

MC<sub>1</sub> (yellow<sup>e/e</sup> mice) and the other knocked out for MC<sub>3</sub> ( $Mc_3r$ -/- mice), to conclude that MC<sub>3</sub> can be engaged by agonists with anti-inflammatory properties. Cultured primary peritoneal macrophage from yellow<sup>e/e</sup> mice were treated with [D-Trp<sup>8</sup>]γMSH displaying a dose-dependent increase in cAMP accumulation, an effect reversed in the presence of an antibody to MC<sub>3</sub>. The release of the chemokine KC was abrogated in the presence of [D-Trp<sup>8</sup>]γMSH with the antagonist agouti related protein (AGRP) abolishing the inhibitory effect.

In another study mice pre-treated with ACTH were injected with MSU crystals to induce peritonitis. A reduced accumulation of PMN was observed in the peritoneal cavity of mice treated with ACTH compared to vehicle control, data that was mirrored by decreased levels of KC also within the cavity. Interestingly co-administration of SHU9119 (an MC<sub>3</sub>/MC<sub>4</sub> antagonist) with ACTH inhibited the agonists effects suggesting ACTH was acting through MC<sub>3</sub> and further confirmed by the detection of MC<sub>3</sub> but not MC<sub>4</sub> at the mRNA transcript level on peritoneal macrophage (Getting et al., 1999b). At a latter date, Getting et al. (2003) in the same peritonitis model using more selective MC3 agonists and yellow<sup>e/e</sup> mice confirmed that indeed agonism at MC3 inhibited pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1) and chemokines (KC) and accumulation of neutrophils in the inflamed peritoneal cavity (Getting et al., 2003). Collectively these data suggest MC<sub>3</sub> more than MC<sub>1</sub> (at least in mouse) to be pivotal in bringing about the anti-inflammatory effects observed following treatment with these agonists (Getting et al., 1999b, 2003, 2006).

#### MC<sub>3</sub> REGULATES MACROPHAGE DIFFERENTIATION TO OSTEOCLASTS DURING INFLAMMATORY ARTHRITIS

More recently MC<sub>3</sub> has been implicated in the regulation of macrophage precursor differentiation to osteoclasts. Inflammatory arthritis was induced by injection of an arthritogenic serum into wild type and Mc3r-/-, observing a higher prevalence and severity of disease observed in the latter genotype (Patel et al., 2010a). In a series of real time PCR analyses of extracts from the mouse ankle joint, a discrete set of inflammatory genes (13 out of 96) were upregulated in Mc3r-/- including IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, NOS2, CCR4, CXCR3, CCL2 as compared to wild types. It is worthy to note here that major macrophage secretory products include IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 (Gordon, 2003).

Upon microscopic analyses of the ankle joints, a significantly higher number of joints were affected by bone erosion, as indicated by histological scores and number of TRAP-positive osteoclasts within the Mc3r –/– joint. This observation was corroborated by the higher levels of RANKL (a key driver of osteoclast formation) mRNA in Mc3r - / - ankle joints (Lacey et al., 1998). Although the exact mechanism was not characterized, some conclusion could be reached by the study of osteoclast formation in vitro. Bone marrow-derived macrophage from wild type and Mc3r - / - mice were differentiated to osteoclasts in the presence of M-CSF and RANKL. A defect was noted such that a higher number of osteoclasts were generated from macrophage absent of the MC3 gene compared to MC<sub>3</sub> sufficient cells. The Mc3r - /- osteoclasts displayed an increased "eating" ability such that when cultured on calcium phosphate coated wells significantly more resorption pits could be observed and quantified. Interestingly Mc3r-/- cells had increased and sustained RANKL-mediated NF $\kappa$ B signaling compared to wild types; this finding could provide mechanistic support to the increased CCL2 synthesis observed by these cells (Patel et al., 2010a). Together with the study by Cornish et al. (2003), our work implicates a role for melanocortins and their melanocortin receptors in the regulation of macrophage differentiation to specialized cells, example being here the osteoclast. It is plausible that MCs may modulate macrophage differentiation in other specialized cells such as the microglia or Kupffer cells, with further implications for their therapeutic potential.

#### MC<sub>3</sub> ACTIVATION ENHANCES RESOLUTION OF INFLAMMATION

Resolution of inflammation is an important process required to reset tissue/cells to a state of normalization after insult/injury. During this process a number of endogenous pathways are activated in order to regain homeostatic balance after inflammation. An exciting enhancement to the field of melanocortin biology in inflammation has been the recent finding that AP214, a modified  $\alpha$ MSH analog, possesses prophagocytic and pro-resolving effects (Montero-Melendez et al., 2011), in line with the profile reported for resolvins and lipoxins (Schwab et al., 2007).

AP214 inhibits neutrophil recruitment in the zymosan peritonitis model, an effect that could be due, at least in part, to a modulation of macrophage phagocytic abilities of the particles. In vitro, AP214-treated biogel-elicited macrophages were incubated with zymosan particles to determine the percentage of phagocytic cells and number of ingested particles, observing an increment in both parameters. Such an effect of AP214 was also observed with respect to efferocytosis since this MSH analog augmented phagocytosis of human apoptotic neutrophils by mouse macrophages, an effect that was absent when Mc3r - / - macrophages were used. In *in vivo* settings, injection of apoptotic neutrophils into murine peritoneal cavities pre-treated with AP214 led to an increase in macrophage ingestion of neutrophils compared to vehicle control. This recent study has uncovered a new angle in which melanocortins and their receptors can affect the inflammatory reaction providing strong evidence for genuine pro-resolving activities centered on tight regulation of macrophage functions.

#### CONCLUSION

In this review we have highlighted the importance of melanocortins and their receptors in modulating the macrophage function in inflammation and tissue injury (see **Figure 2**). We have seen that MC activation does not merely reduce production of pro-inflammatory mediators, but can regulate cell differentiation as well as chemotaxis of leukocytes. Excitingly, melanocortins can now be added to the plethora of pro-resolution mediators by way of their ability to augment phagocytosis and efferocytosis; we predict these *portfolio of properties* will define other functions/biological properties of melanocortins in other aspects of resolution of inflammation in the years to come.

What does this mean for the development of melanocortinbased therapies? Noteworthy, ACTH has been used as early as the 1940s for the treatment of gouty and rheumatoid arthritis, yet as discussed above never were the mechanisms of actions deciphered until the recent decade (Hench et al., 1949; Gutman and Yu, 1950). What does remain in its infancy is the pattern in which MCs may



be expressed in specific disease, nevertheless this area of research and drug development has become particularly eye-catching as seen with the development of AP214 for the treatment of postsurgical kidney injury following cardiac heart surgery in phase II trials (www.clinicaltrials.gov). Other melanocortin-based therapies are in the development pipeline for biotechnology companies with emphasis on obesity and sexual dysfunction as disease targets (Patel et al., 2010b).

We envisage over the next decade new drugs based on the melanocortin peptides – specifically targeting  $MC_3$  – to be developed and designed for the treatment of inflammatory conditions.

#### REFERENCES

- Andersen, G. N., Hagglund, M., Nagaeva, O., Frangsmyr, L., Petrovska, R., Mincheva-Nilsson, L., and Wikberg, J. E. (2005). Quantitative measurement of the levels of melanocortin receptor subtype 1, 2, 3 and 5 and pro-opio-melanocortin peptide gene expression in subsets of human peripheral blood leucocytes. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 61, 279–284.
- Blalock, J. E. (1985). Proopiomelanocortin-derived peptides in the immune system. *Clin. Endocrinol.* (Oxf.) 22, 823–827.
- Butler, A. A., Kesterson, R. A., Khong, K., Cullen, M. J., Pelleymounter, M. A., Dekoning, J., Baetscher, M., and Cone, R. D. (2000). A unique metabolic syndrome causes obesity in the melanocortin-3 receptor-deficient

mouse. *Endocrinology* 141, 3518–3521.

- Capsoni, F., Ongari, A. M., Reali, E., and Catania, A. (2009). Melanocortin peptides inhibit urate crystalinduced activation of phagocytic cells. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 11, R151.
- Catania, A. (2007). The melanocortin system in leukocyte biology. J. Leukoc. Biol. 81, 383–392.
- Catania, A., Lonati, C., Sordi, A., Carlin, A., Leonardi, P., and Gatti, S. (2010). The melanocortin system in control of inflammation. *Scientific-WorldJournal* 10, 1840–1853.
- Catania, A., Rajora, N., Capsoni, F., Minonzio, F., Star, R. A., and Lipton, J. M. (1996). The neuropeptide alpha-MSH has specific receptors on neutrophils and reduces chemotaxis in vitro. *Peptides* 17, 675–679.

These drugs would be better tolerated with a lower burden of sideeffects as they would mimic the body's way of naturally abating inflammation to promote pro-resolving and anti-inflammatory mediators.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

Work on melanocortin peptides and their receptors produced in the laboratory of the Authors has been funded, over the years, by several grants from the Arthritis Research UK (active project number 18049) and by one collaborative project between the William Harvey Research Foundation and Action Pharma A/S.

- Cornish, J., Callon, K. E., Mountjoy, K. G., Bava, U., Lin, J. M., Myers, D. E., Naot, D., and Reid, I. R. (2003). alpha -Melanocyte-stimulating hormone is a novel regulator of bone. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 284, E1181–E1190.
- Delgado, R., Carlin, A., Airaghi, L., Demitri, M. T., Meda, L., Galimberti, D., Baron, P., Lipton, J. M., and Catania, A. (1998). Melanocortin peptides inhibit production of proinflammatory cytokines and nitric oxide by activated microglia. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 63, 740–745.
- Gantz, I., and Fong, T. M. (2003). The melanocortin system. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 284, E468–E474.
- Getting, S. J., Christian, H. C., Flower, R. J., and Perretti, M. (2002). Activation of melanocortin type 3 receptor as

a molecular mechanism for adrenocorticotropic hormone efficacy in gouty arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 46, 2765–2775.

- Getting, S. J., Christian, H. C., Lam, C. W., Gavins, F. N., Flower, R. J., Schioth, H. B., and Perretti, M. (2003). Redundancy of a functional melanocortin 1 receptor in the anti-inflammatory actions of melanocortin peptides: studies in the recessive yellow (e/e) mouse suggest an important role for melanocortin 3 receptor. J. Immunol. 170, 3323–3330.
- Getting, S. J., Flower, R. J., and Perretti, M. (1999a). Agonism at melanocortin receptor type 3 on macrophages inhibits neutrophil influx. *Inflamm. Res.* 48(Suppl. 2), S140–S141.

- Getting, S. J., Gibbs, L., Clark, A. J., Flower, R. J., and Perretti, M. (1999b). POMC gene-derived peptides activate melanocortin type 3 receptor on murine macrophages, suppress cytokine release, and inhibit neutrophil migration in acute experimental inflammation. *J. Immunol.* 162, 7446–7453.
- Getting, S. J., Lam, C. W., Leoni, G., Gavins, F. N., Grieco, P., and Perretti, M. (2006). [D-Trp8]-gammamelanocyte-stimulating hormone exhibits anti-inflammatory efficacy in mice bearing a nonfunctional MC1R (recessive yellow e/e mouse). *Mol. Pharmacol.* 70, 1850–1855.
- Getting, S. J., Riffo-Vasquez, Y., Pitchford, S., Kaneva, M., Grieco, P., Page, C. P., Perretti, M., and Spina, D. (2008). A role for MC3R in modulating lung inflammation. *Pulm. Pharmacol. Ther.* 21, 866–873.
- Gordon, S. (2003). Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3, 23–35.
- Gutman, A. B., and Yu, T. F. (1950). Effects of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) in gout. *Am. J. Med.* 9, 24–30.
- Hench, P. S., Kendall, E. C., Slocumb, C. H., and Polley, H. F. (1949). The effect of a hormone of the adrenal cortex (17-hydroxy-11dehydrocorticosterone; compound E) and of pituitary adrenocorticotropic hormone on rheumatoid arthritis. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 24, 181–197.
- Joseph, C. G., Yao, H., Scott, J. W., Sorensen, N. B., Marnane, R. N., Mountjoy, K. G., and Haskell-Luevano, C. (2010). gamma-Melanocyte stimulation hormone (gamma-MSH) truncation studies results in the cautionary note that gamma-MSH is not selective for the mouse MC3R over the mouse MC5R. *Peptides* 31, 2304–2313.
- Kang, L., McIntyre, K. W., Gillooly, K. M., Yang, Y., Haycock, J., Roberts, S., Khanna, A., Herpin, T. F., Yu, G., Wu, X., Morton, G. C., Tuerdi, H., Koplowitz, B., Walker, S. G., Wardwell-Swanson, J., Macor, J. E., Lawrence, R. M., and Carlson, K. E. (2006).

- A selective small molecule agonist of the melanocortin-1 receptor inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokine accumulation and leukocyte infiltration in mice. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 80, 897–904.
- Kubes, P., and Granger, D. N. (1996). Leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions evoked by mast cells. *Cardio*vasc. Res. 32, 699–708.
- Lacey, D. L., Timms, E., Tan, H. L., Kelley, M. J., Dunstan, C. R., Burgess, T., Elliott, R., Colombero, A., Elliott, G., Scully, S., Hsu, H., Sullivan, J., Hawkins, N., Davy, E., Capparelli, C., Eli, A., Qian, Y. X., Kaufman, S., Sarosi, I., Shalhoub, V., Senaldi, G., Guo, J., Delaney, J., and Boyle, W. J. (1998). Osteoprotegerin ligand is a cytokine that regulates osteoclast differentiation and activation. *Cell* 93, 165–176.
- Lam, C. W., Getting, S. J., and Perretti, M. (2005). In vitro and in vivo induction of heme oxygenase 1 in mouse macrophages following melanocortin receptor activation. *J. Immunol.* 174, 2297–304.
- Lam, C. W., Perretti, M., and Getting, S. J. (2006). Melanocortin receptor signaling in RAW264.7 macrophage cell line. *Peptides* 27, 404–412.
- Leoni, G., Patel, H. B., Sampaio, A. L., Gavins, F. N., Murray, J. F., Grieco, P., Getting, S. J., and Perretti, M. (2008). Inflamed phenotype of the mesenteric microcirculation of melanocortin type 3 receptor-null mice after ischemia-reperfusion. *FASEB J.* 22, 4228–4238.
- Leoni, G., Voisin, M. B., Carlson, K., Getting, S., Nourshargh, S., and Perretti, M. (2010). The melanocortin MC(1) receptor agonist BMS-470539 inhibits leucocyte trafficking in the inflamed vasculature. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 160, 171–180.
- Li, D., and Taylor, A. W. (2008). Diminishment of alpha-MSH anti-inflammatory activity in MC1r siRNA-transfected RAW264.7 macrophages. J. Leukoc. Biol. 84, 191–198.
- Lipton, J. M., and Catania, A. (1997). Anti-inflammatory actions of the neuroimmunomodulator alpha-MSH. *Immunol. Today* 18, 140–145.

- Luger, T. A., Scholzen, T. E., Brzoska, T., and Bohm, M. (2003). New insights into the functions of alpha-MSH and related peptides in the immune system. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 994, 133–140.
- Mandrika, I., Muceniece, R., and Wikberg, J. E. (2001). Effects of melanocortin peptides in lipopolysaccharide/interferongamma-induced NF-kappaB DNA binding and nitric oxide production in macrophage-like RAW 264.7 cells: evidence for dual mechanisms of action. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 61, 613–621.
- Manna, S. K., and Aggarwal, B. B. (1998). Alpha-melanocytestimulating hormone inhibits the nuclear transcription factor NF-kappa B activation induced by various inflammatory agents. J. Immunol. 161, 2873–2880.
- Montero-Melendez, T., Patel, H. B., Seed, M., Nielsen, S., Jonassen, T. E. N., and Perretti, M. (2011). The melanocortin agonist AP214 exerts anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving properties: evidence for a major involvement of the melanocortin receptor type 3. Am. J. Pathol. 179, 259–269.
- Mountjoy, K. G. (2010). Functions for pro-opiomelanocortin-derived peptides in obesity and diabetes. *Biochem. J.* 428, 305–324.
- Patel, H. B., Bombardieri, M., Sampaio, A. L., D'Acquisto, F., Gray, M., Grieco, P., Getting, S. J., Pitzalis, C., and Perretti, M. (2010a). Anti-inflammatory and antiosteoclastogenesis properties of endogenous melanocortin receptor type 3 in experimental arthritis. *FASEB J.* 24, 4835–4843.
- Patel, H. B., Leoni, G., Melendez, T. M., Sampaio, A. L., and Perretti, M. (2010b). Melanocortin control of cell trafficking in vascular inflammation. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 681, 88–106.
- Schwab, J. M., Chiang, N., Arita, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolvin E1 and protectin D1 activate inflammation-resolution programmes. *Nature* 447, 869–874.
- Star, R. A., Rajora, N., Huang, J., Stock, R. C., Catania, A., and

Lipton, J. M. (1995). Evidence of autocrine modulation of macrophage nitric oxide synthase by alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 8016–8020.

- Taherzadeh, S., Sharma, S., Chhajlani, V., Gantz, I., Rajora, N., Demitri, M. T., Kelly, L., Zhao, H., Ichiyama, T., Catania, A., and Lipton, J. M. (1999). alpha-MSH and its receptors in regulation of tumor necrosis factoralpha production by human monocyte/macrophages. *Am. J. Physiol.* 276(Pt 2), R1289–R1294.
- Tailor, A., Tomlinson, A., Salas, A., Panes, J., Granger, D. N., Flower, R. J., and Perretti, M. (1999). Dexamethasone inhibition of leucocyte adhesion to rat mesenteric postcapillary venules: role of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and KC. Gut 45, 705–712.
- Wikberg, J. E., Muceniece, R., Mandrika, I., Prusis, P., Lindblom, J., Post, C., and Skottner, A. (2000). New aspects on the melanocortins and their receptors. *Pharmacol. Res.* 42, 393–420.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 June 2011; accepted: 22 August 2011; published online: 13 September 2011.

Citation: Patel HB, Montero-Melendez T, Greco KV and Perretti M (2011) Melanocortin receptors as novel effectors of macrophage responses in inflammation. Front. Immun. **2**:41. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00041

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2011 Patel, Montero-Melendez, Greco and Perretti. This is an open-access article subject to a nonexclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.

MINI REVIEW ARTICLE published: 15 September 2011 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00043



# Macrophage polarization: convergence point targeted by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and HIV

#### Geanncarlo Lugo-Villarino<sup>1,2†</sup>, Christel Vérollet<sup>1,2†</sup>, Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini<sup>1,2</sup> and Olivier Neyrolles<sup>1,2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> CNRS, Institut de Pharmacologie et de Biologie Structurale, Toulouse, France

<sup>2</sup> UPS Institut de Pharmacologie et de Biologie Structurale, Université de Toulouse, Toulouse, France

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Andreas Ludwig, RWTH Aachen University, Germany Paola Allavena, Clinical Institute Humanitas, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Olivier Neyrolles, CNRS, Institut de Pharmacologie et de Biologie Structurale, 205 Route de Narbonne, F-31077 Toulouse, France. e-mail: olivier.neyrolles@jpbs.fr

<sup>†</sup>Geanncarlo Lugo-Villarino and Christel Vérollet have contributed equally to this work. In the arms race of host-microbe co-evolution, macrophages (M\u00c6s) have been endowed with strategies to neutralize pathogenic challenge while preserving host integrity. During steady-states conditions, Mφs perform multiple house-keeping functions governed by their differentiation state, tissue distribution, and signals from the microenvironment. In response to pathogenic challenge and host mediators, however, Møs undergo different programs of activation rendering them either pro-inflammatory and microbicidal (M1), or immunosuppressants and tissue repairers (M2). An excessive or prolonged polarization of either program may be detrimental to the host due to potential tissue injury or contribution to pathogenesis. Conversely, intracellular microbes that cause chronic diseases such as tuberculosis and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome exemplify strategies for survival in the host. Indeed, both Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) are successful intracellular microbes that thrive in Møs. Given these microbes not only co-circulate throughout the developing world but each has contributed to prevalence and mortality caused by the other, substantial insights into microbe physiology and host defenses then rest in the attempt to fully understand their influence on M $\phi$  polarization. This review addresses the role of M $\phi$  polarization in the immune response to, and pathogenesis of, Mtb and HIV.

Keywords: macrophage, Mycobacteria, tuberculosis, HIV, AIDS, polarization

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Pathogens have evolved ingenious strategies to circumvent the host immune response as part of the constant evolutionary processtaking place in all living organisms. Chief among these strategies is the prevention of the inflammatory response or seizure of the anti-inflammatory mechanism in place to protect tissue integrity. The manipulation of macrophage  $(M\phi)$  polarization is one of the main targets to accomplish this, since this antigen presenting cell represents the first line of an active defense system in the host, and if successfully done, it can then undermine adaptive immunity (Benoit et al., 2008). Mø polarization is a dynamic process governed by mechanisms dictating their tissue distribution and functional capacities in response to endogenous and exogenous signals (Martinez et al., 2009). Polarized Møs are broadly classified into two groups: classical (M1) and alternative (M2) activated. On one hand, M1 program is a direct response to type-1 inflammatory conditions (e.g., IFN- $\gamma$ ) and pathogen challenge, and it has been associated to resistance to intracellular pathogens and to some form of tumors. On the other hand, the M2 program is driven by type-2 inflammatory signals such as IL-4 and IL-13 (M2a); immune complexes, toll-like receptors (TLRs) agonists, or IL-1 receptors (M2b); and immunosuppressants including IL-10, transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) or glucocorticoids (M2c; Table 1). M2 Mos participate in diverse activities including the suppression of inflammation, enhancement of phagocytosis, promotion of tissue remodeling and repair, elimination of parasites, and unwanted tumor angiogenesis (Sica et al., 2008; Martinez et al., 2009; Murray and Wynn, 2011). Furthermore, it is becoming clear that M $\phi$  polarization supports different, and in some cases, opposing biological functions, that influences tissue homeostasis, and numerous pathological situations, including infectious diseases (Benoit et al., 2008; Cairo et al., 2011). Given the pivotal role M $\phi$ s play as sentinels of the immune system, they represent ideal cell targets for subversion by successful intracellular pathogens.

The purpose of this short review is not to provide a comprehensive summary of M $\phi$  polarization; others have recently reviewed this growing research area (Martinez et al., 2009; Murray and Wynn, 2011). Also, we will not address the multiple ways by which the pathogens in question circumvent the immune system, as there are excellent reviews covering this subject (Deretic et al., 2004; Carter and Ehrlich, 2008; Meena and Rajni, 2010; Hajishengallis and Lambris, 2011). Instead, we will focus exclusively on the significance of M $\phi$  polarization in the context of pathophysiology caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV).

#### **MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION IN Mtb INFECTION**

The world health organization reports tuberculosis (TB) is still one of the leading causes of death due to a single infectious agent (Mtb) with 1.7 million deaths and 9.4 million new cases in 2009, and estimates that about one-third of the human population may be latently infected (WHO Global Tuberculosis Control Report 2010, 2010). Active TB may occur directly after infection or through the reactivation of latent infection that is confined in granulomas. The

### Table 1 | Priming stimulus for the classical (M1) and alternative(M2a-c) activation of macrophages.

	M1 program	M2 program			
		M2a	M2b	M2c	
Priming stimulus	IFN-γ+ LPS or TNF	IL-4	Immune complexes	IL-10	
		IL-13	TLR ligands IL-1R ligands	TGF-β Glucocorticoids MCSF	

elaboration and maintenance of granulomas depends on a dedicated immune response, which is not fully understood. Recently, however, it was demonstrated mycobacteria exploits M $\phi$  activation to turn the granuloma into an effective tool for pathogenesis (Davis and Ramakrishnan, 2009; Volkman et al., 2010). Therefore, a better understanding of M $\phi$  polarization during Mtb infection might yield further clues about how Mtb circumvents the immune system.

As aforementioned, Mø polarization is mainly driven by type-1 and type-2 inflammatory signals (Table 1). Type-1 inflammatory cytokines are essential in the defense against Mtb since their expression often correlates with efficient anti-Mtb immune responses, and genetic deficiencies of these factors lead to increased TB susceptibility (Quintana-Murci et al., 2007). IFN-y drives the M1 program characterized by M6 capacity to kill most mycobacteria and restrict the replication of the remainder (Ehrt et al., 2001). The early phase of the anti-Mtb immune response is marked by the clinical data collected from patients with active TB (Figure 1; Benoit et al., 2008). At the transcriptome level, the gene modulation induced by Mtb in Møs highly overlaps, and in some cases synergizes, with that induced by IFN- $\gamma$  to establish the M1 phenotype (Ehrt et al., 2001). At the granuloma level in mice, M1 Mø polarization is evident in mice between 7 and 30 days after Mtb infection when high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  and iNOS are also detected within this structure and around the alveolar compartment (Redente et al., 2010). All in all, polarization of M1 Mqs is part of the "common host response" against intracellular bacteria characterized by high expression of iNOS and consequent nitric oxide (NO) production (characteristic of murine models), secretion of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, release of proteolytic enzymes and anti-microbial peptides, enhanced phagocytosis, and development of a toxic intracellular environment reflected in the fusion of microbial phagosomes with acidic and hydrolase-rich lysosomes (Ehrt et al., 2001; Deretic et al., 2004; Martinez et al., 2009; Cairo et al., 2011; Murray and Wynn, 2011). It remains to be demonstrated whether transcription factors [e.g., p65 and interferon regulatory factor (IRF5)] or regulators (e.g., SHIP1) that dictate the M1 program of macrophage polarization also play a role in TB infection (Martinez, 2011). Considering this hostile environment created by M1 Mos, it is not surprising Mtb has evolved strategies to interfere with M1 polarization. Indeed, Mtb inhibits IFN- $\gamma$  activation of M $\phi$ s by secreting virulence factors such as lipoarabinomannan that halters phagosome maturation,

or early secretory antigenic target-6 (ESAT-6) that prevents the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and IFN- $\gamma$  regulatory factors downstream of TLR-2 (Deretic et al., 2004; Benoit et al., 2008). Indirectly, Mtb blocks M1 polarization by the transcriptional inhibition of IFN- $\gamma$ -responsive genes through a bystander effect involving IL-6 (Sibley et al., 1990; Benoit et al., 2008).

Perhaps the best strategy to avoid the challenges posed by M1 Mos is to shift their program into M2 Mos. TB susceptibility parallels with elevated levels of type-2 inflammatory signals (e.g., IL-4, IL-13; Kahnert et al., 2006; Raju et al., 2008; Almeida et al., 2009; Schreiber et al., 2009). Likewise, high levels of IL-10 (mostly derived from M $\phi$ s) correlate with active TB patients (Barnes et al., 1993; Verbon et al., 1999). Interestingly, the predominant type-2 inflammatory environment shifts back to type-1 after successful treatment of pulmonary TB in infected patients (Verbon et al., 1999; Raju et al., 2008). These observations in humans parallel with those reported in Mtb-infected mice; that is, there is an early type-1 immune response characterized by IFN- $\gamma$  during the first 3 weeks after infection, followed by a type-2 immune response that contains high levels of IL-4 (Figure 1; Orme et al., 1993). A type-2 inflammatory environment drives the M2 program that renders Møs immunomodulatory and poorly microbicidal (Raju et al., 2008; Martinez et al., 2009). At the transcriptome level, this seems to be the case in mice since M2 M6s displayed a diminished inflammatory response to Mtb as reflected by a reduced NO production and increased of iron availability, suggesting these phagocytes offer a permissible intracellular environment for bacterial replication (Kahnert et al., 2006). Indeed, IFN-y-induced NO production is essential for host survival with respect of experimental TB, while iron-starvation is key to bacteriostasis (Ehrt et al., 2001; Forbes and Gros, 2001; Cairo et al., 2011). It remains to be seen if Mtb also influences the expression level of Kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) or any other transcription factor/regulator recently shown to be critical for both the establishment of the M2 program and the inhibition of M1 polarization (e.g., STAT6, Cot/tpl2; Liao et al., 2011; Martinez, 2011). At the functional level, it has been demonstrated that both IL-4 and IL-13 inhibit autophagy in M1 M6s resulting in enhanced survival of Mtb, an impairment that might also extend to M2a Mos (Harris et al., 2007). At the granuloma level in mice, iNOS continues to be expressed within this structure but a significant shift from M1 toward M2 Mds [iNOS<sup>neg</sup> Arginase-1 (ARG1)<sup>hi</sup>] occurs around the alveolar compartment starting at day 35 and continuing up to day 60 after Mtb infection, accompanied by high levels of type-2 inflammatory signals (Ly et al., 2007; Redente et al., 2010). Given the development of fibrosis is a key characteristic of caseous granulomas during Mtb dissemination, and that M2 M6s have been implicated in the inhibition of fibrosis development, the shift from M1 into M2 program might represent an attempt by the host to halter the pathophysiology caused by Mtb or a microbial strategy to shield from immune attack (Dorhoi et al., 2011).

*Mycobacterium tuberculosis* also reprograms M2 Mφs through secretion of immunosuppressants such as IL-10. For instance, Mtb might influence all TLR-dependent signaling by targeting DC-SIGN to induce IL-10 and counteract the pro-inflammatory response, as shown in dendritic cells (Geijtenbeek et al., 2003; Hajishengallis and Lambris, 2011). Likewise, the mannosylated



lipoarabinomannan from Mtb enhances the production of IL-10 and other immunosuppressants through recognition by the mannose receptor (MR) in immature dendritic cells (Chieppa et al., 2003). Although alveolar Mos express DC-SIGN and MR, their role in M2 M6s has yet to be demonstrated (Chroneos and Shepherd, 1995; Tailleux et al., 2005). Nevertheless, Schreiber et al. (2009) reported Mtb-induced IL-10 in Mos promotes the M2 polarization program displaying diminished anti-mycobacterial effector mechanisms. Indeed, Mø-specific overexpressing IL-10 transgenic mice were indeed susceptible to Mtb infection, displayed a specifically suppressed IL-12 in infected tissues, and were characterized by lung Møs with a M2 phenotype permissive to Mtb infection (Schreiber et al., 2009). These observations correlate well with another study in mice where Mtb was shown to promote its survival and ability to cause disease through a MyD88dependent induction of ARG1. ARG1 inhibits NO production by Mos by competing with iNOS for arginine (the common substrate), thus rendering these cells permissive to Mtb infection (El Kasmi et al., 2008; Hajishengallis and Lambris, 2011). Taken together, these observations suggest the reprogramming toward M2 M6s by IL-10, and other immunosuppressants such TGF-B and glucocorticoids (Hernandez-Pando et al., 2006), might be yet another adaptation by Mtb to survive and thrive inside of M $\phi$ s (**Figure 1**). However, it should be noticed that this phenomenon might also represent a control mechanism by the host to preserve the integrity of mucosal sites as uncontrolled type-1 inflammatory responses against Mtb result into lung immunopathology (Hernandez-Pando et al., 2006; Ordway et al., 2006).

#### **MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION IN HIV INFECTION**

Human immunodeficiency virus-1 is another successful intracellular pathogen responsible for a worldwide pandemic. According to 2009 estimates by the United Nations, there were about 33.2 million people worldwide living with HIV-1 infection and 2.6 million individuals had been newly infected (Cohen et al., 2011). In the absence of antiviral therapy, HIV-1 infection progresses through acute and asymptomatic stages leading to the eventual failure of the host immunological functions and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). A reason is that HIV-1 targets cells from the mononuclear phagocyte lineage that drive an effective antiviral response and simultaneously serve as reservoirs of latent or productive infection (Goodenow et al., 2003). Among these cells, M\$\phis are critical to pathogenesis because they contribute to early transmission, systemic dissemination, and persistence of HIV-1. Indeed, HIV-1 evades immune surveillance by hiding and thriving inside M\$\phis\$ despite anti-retroviral treatment, and when infected, they persist for months displaying insensitivity to viral cytopathic effects. In addition, M\$\phis\$ continuously secrete high level of viral particles over prolonged time periods by storing assembled virus in specialized endosomal compartments (Orenstein et al., 1988; Benaroch et al., 2010). Thus, they represent powerful long-term viral reservoirs (Goodenow et al., 2003; Carter and Ehrlich, 2008; Herbein and Varin, 2010; Cohen et al., 2011). In light of recent evidence suggesting that M1 and M2 M\$\phis\$ influence HIV-1 pathogenesis, there is a surging interest to study the viral effects in M\$\phi\$ polarization.

In vitro, HIV-1 infection drives Mos toward a M1 program. This M¢ response includes production of type-1 pro-inflammatory cytokines (IFN-y, IL-2, IL-12, TNFa, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-18) and chemokines (CCL3, CCL4, MIP-a, MIP-B, RANTES), increased NO and respiratory burst, up-regulation of MHC-II molecules, and down-regulation of HIV-entry receptors (e.g., CD4, CCR5, CXCR4), and endocytic receptors (e.g., CD163, CD206; Swingler et al., 1999; Cassol et al., 2009, 2010; Herbein and Varin, 2010). Although few studies have examined thoroughly HIV-induced polarization of M\u00f6s in vivo, there is a predominance of M\u00f6s displaying a M1 phenotype during the acute stage (Figure 1; Cassol et al., 2010; Herbein and Varin, 2010; Cohen et al., 2011). Whether M1 M6s are beneficial to the host during HIV-1 infection remains imental context. For instance, in vitro infection of M1 Mos in the presence of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  is associated with a suppression of HIV-1 replication, a sharp decrease in HIV-1 DNA synthesis at 48 h, and a decrease in the accumulation of HIV-1 proteins (Cassol et al., 2009). In addition, other studies demonstrate that M1 Mos inhibit viral entry, assembly, and budding, suggesting the M1 program can be beneficial to the host (Cassol et al., 2010; Herbein and Varin, 2010). However, it is also known that pro-inflammatory signals deriving from M1 Møs favor the formation of viral reservoirs with increased transcription of HIV-1 LTR (long terminal repeat), alluding M1 Møs might benefit HIV pathogenesis (Cassol et al., 2010; Herbein and Varin, 2010). This is supported by multiple observations that immune activation driven by Mos correlates with HIV-1 pathogenesis (Goodenow et al., 2003; Lamers et al., 2009; Cohen et al., 2011). Recently, Brown et al. (2008) characterized the HIV-1-induced polarization of Mos as "M1HIV" since it displays a pro-inflammatory state with increased production of cytokines independently of TLR-pathway. The authors argue that while HIV-1 stimulates M\u03c6s through a variety of signaling pathways to promote a "tailored" inflammation in its favor, the TLR recognition of viral replication is impaired and could serve as a viral evasion strategy. Given that prolonged pro-inflammatory M
 activation during chronic HIV-infection contributes, not only to a permissive environment for the formation of viral reservoirs with strong transcriptional activity, but also to disease progression and HIV-induced tissue damage, the proposed M1<sub>HIV</sub> polarized state may render Mos detrimental to the host (Goodenow et al., 2003; Brown et al., 2008; Lamers et al., 2009).

As HIV-disease progresses from the acute to asymptomatic stage, there is a switch from a type-1 toward a type-2 inflammatory environment (Figure 1; Vasilescu et al., 2003; Becker, 2004). At the transcriptional level, lymphatic tissue microarray analyses from HIV-1-infected subjects at different clinical stages revealed that each stage has a unique gene profile (Li et al., 2009). The acute phase is characterized by gene expression involved in innate and adaptive immunity. The asymptotic phase, however, downregulates the acute phase gene profile to baseline level while it displays an increased expression of immunosuppressive genes (Li et al., 2009). Based on these immunological systemic changes, it is likely that a polarization switch occurs in Mos from a M1 program during the acute phase to the M2 programs through later stages. Although there is no overwhelming evidence confirming the abundance of M2 M6s in either the asymptotic or AIDS phase in vivo, the fact CD163 (a M2 M¢ cell surface marker) is considered as a potential biomarker for HIV-1 disease progression may allude to the presence of M2 M6s in HIV-1-infected individuals (Burdo et al., 2011; Tippett et al., 2011). Similar to M1 Mos, it is not known whether M2 M6s benefits the host during HIV-1 infection. In vitro activation of M2a (IL-4-treated) Mos results in inhibition of virus replication (Cassol et al., 2009). Other studies have demonstrated that both IL-4 and IL-13 down-regulate viral entry receptors and HIV-1 reverse transcription in Mds (Cassol et al., 2010). Furthermore, activation of M2c (IL-10-treated) Mos strongly inhibits reverse transcription, transcription of HIV-1 LTR and viral assembly (Herbein and Varin, 2010). Based on these observations, it might be tempting to conclude that M2 M $\phi$ s are beneficial to host immunity against HIV. However, the progression of AIDS is characterized by the loss of IL-2 and increase of IL-10 correlating with HIV viremia (Brockman et al., 2009; Sandanger et al., 2009). Moreover, the haplotypes of both IL-4 and IL-10 genes have been associated recently with AIDS progression (Vasilescu et al., 2003). Therefore, the switch toward a M2 M $\phi$  program might simply be part of a defensive mechanism by the host to control HIV-induced tissue damage since they participate in suppression of inflammation and promotion of tissue repair (Figure 1; Martinez et al., 2009; Murray and Wynn, 2011). Recently, a functional proteomic analysis of HIV-infected Mds in the presence of regulatory T cells showed that a deviation of M1 of HIV-associated neurocognitive disorders, suggesting M2 M6s may curtail the M1<sub>HIV</sub> polarized activity resulting in tissue damage (Huang et al., 2010). Conversely, the switch toward the M2 Mø program might also occur as an evasion strategy by HIV to promote its own survival. A recent study demonstrated that HIV up-regulates both programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) and PD-L2 expression, members of the B7:CD28 family, and PD-1 ligands, in Mos (Porichis et al., 2011). Given the importance of these molecules in T cell exhaustion during HIV infection, the ability L1, and the fact that IL-10 production and increased expression of PD-L1 correlate in HIV-infected patients, the authors propose the manipulation of PDL expression in M $\phi$ s as a strategy to evade immune responses (Trabattoni et al., 2003; Porichis et al., 2011). Whatever the true role of M2 Mds in HIV infection, it is clear they

influence the establishment of HIV pathogenesis, and more studies are needed to examine thoroughly HIV-induced polarization of M\\$\$ *in vivo*.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Tuberculosis is the most common opportunistic infection in AIDS and often used as a clinical parameter for undiagnosed AIDS cases (Deretic et al., 2004). While the synergy between Mtb and HIV is evident at the clinical level, the mechanisms accounting for it are poorly understood. Deretic et al. (2004) proposed the interference with endosomal sorting machine as a molecular mechanism contributing to the synergy between these two pathogens. Likewise, we envision the pathogenic modulation of Mø polarization as a cellular mechanism that might influence this synergism. As aforementioned, it is estimated that about onethird of the human population may be latently infected with Mtb (WHO Global Tuberculosis Control Report 2010, 2010), suggesting that one in three of the 2.6 million people newly infected with HIV-1 in 2009 (Cohen et al., 2011), for example, would also be coinfected with Mtb. Latent Mtb is confined in solid granulomas composed of mainly by Mos and T cells that maintain their stability. The coinfection with HIV-1 results in a dramatic increase in the odds of latently infected people progressing into overt TB to a staggering annual risk of 10% (Deretic et al., 2004; Swaminathan et al., 2010). HIV-driven immune perturbation, reflected in the loss of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and abnormal low levels of TNFa causes the loss of granuloma integrity and efficiency in anti-microbial containment leading to post-primary reactivation state (Paige and Bishai, 2010). These events may increase both M¢ necrosis and release of intracellular bacilli accounting for the extrapulmonary TB manifestation diagnosed in patients with HIV-driven immunosuppression (Swaminathan et al., 2010). The awakened Mtb then might induce M1 Møs to drive an excessive

#### REFERENCES

- Almeida, A. S., Lago, P. M., Boechat, N., Huard, R. C., Lazzarini, L. C., Santos, A. R., Nociari, M., Zhu, H., Perez-Sweeney, B. M., Bang, H., Ni, Q., Huang, J., Gibson, A. L., Flores, V. C., Pecanha, L. R., Kritski, A. L., Lapa e Silva, J. R., and Ho, J. L. (2009). Tuberculosis is associated with a down-modulatory lung immune response that impairs Th1type immunity. J. Immunol. 183, 718–731.
- Barnes, P. F., Lu, S., Abrams, J. S., Wang, E., Yamamura, M., and Modlin, R. L. (1993). Cytokine production at the site of disease in human tuberculosis. *Infect. Immun.* 61, 3482–3489.
- Becker, Y. (2004). The changes in the T helper 1 (Th1) and T helper 2 (Th2) cytokine balance during HIV-1 infection are indicative of an allergic response to viral proteins that may be reversed by Th2 cytokine inhibitors and immune response modifiers – a review and hypothesis. *Virus Genes* 28, 5–18.
- Benaroch, P., Billard, E., Gaudin, R., Schindler, M., and Jouve, M. (2010).

www.frontiersin.org

HIV-1 assembly in macrophages. *Retrovirology* 7, 29.

- Benoit, M., Desnues, B., and Mege, J. L. (2008). Macrophage polarization in bacterial infections. *J. Immunol.* 181, 3733–3739.
- Brockman, M. A., Kwon, D. S., Tighe, D. P., Pavlik, D. F., Rosato, P. C., Sela, J., Porichis, F., Le Gall, S., Waring, M. T., Moss, K., Jessen, H., Pereyra, F., Kavanagh, D. G., Walker, B. D., and Kaufmann, D. E. (2009). IL-10 is up-regulated in multiple cell types during viremic HIV infection and reversibly inhibits virus-specific T cells. *Blood* 114, 346–356.
- Brown, J. N., Kohler, J. J., Coberley, C. R., Sleasman, J. W., and Goodenow, M. M. (2008). HIV-1 activates macrophages independent of tolllike receptors. *PLoS ONE* 3, e3664. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003664
- Burdo, T. H., Lentz, M. R., Autissier, P., Krishnan, A., Halpern, E., Letendre, S., Rosenberg, E. S., Ellis, R. J., and Williams, K. C. (2011). Soluble CD163 made by monocyte/macrophages is a novel marker of hiv activity in early and chronic

TNF $\alpha$  response (together with other mechanisms such as MMP) secretion) to deliberately promote parasitic granuloma formation, resulting in the recruitment of additional naïve Mos and the tissue pathology (Davis and Ramakrishnan, 2009; Paige and Bishai, 2010; Volkman et al., 2010). Excessive levels of TNFa, may not only contribute to the classical symptoms of cachexia in TB, but also to the augmentation of HIV-1 transcription and accelerated formation of viral reservoirs (Deretic et al., 2004). In the absence of an efficient adaptive immune response due to HIV-driven impairment, uncontrolled inflammation can result in lung immunopathology, and consequently, the host may induce tissue repair responses. and prolonged in the sterile attempt to restore tissue integrity, elevating the level of IL-10 that is typical of disease progression by both pathogens, and thus contributing to the failure of all immunological functions and clinical collapse. While highly speculative, this scenario highlights the importance to understand Mo polarization in the context of immune activation and pathogendriven disease, and its potential to be yet another convergence point targeted by Mtb and HIV to circumvent the host immune system.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The authors received no specific funding for this work. The Neyrolles laboratory is supported by the *Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique*, the European Union (7th Framework Programme), the *Agence Nationale de la Recherche* (ANR), and the *Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale*. Olivier Neyrolles is a fellow of a *CNRS-ATIP* fellowship. The Maridonneau-Parini laboratory was supported in part by Association pour la Recherche sur le Cancer #2010-120-1733, ANR 2010-01301, ANRS 2010-061, and Sidaction AI 22-1-01892. Christel Vérollet was supported by *Sidaction*.

infection prior to and after antiretroviral therapy. *J. Infect. Dis.* 204, 154–163.

- Cairo, G., Recalcati, S., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2011). Iron trafficking and metabolism in macrophages: contribution to the polarized phenotype. *Trends Immunol.* 32, 241–247.
- Carter, C. A., and Ehrlich, L. S. (2008). Cell biology of HIV-1 infection of macrophages. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 62, 425–443.
- Cassol, E., Cassetta, L., Alfano, M., and Poli, G. (2010). Macrophage polarization and HIV-1 infection. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 87, 599–608.
- Cassol, E., Cassetta, L., Rizzi, C., Alfano, M., and Poli, G. (2009). M1 and M2a polarization of human monocytederived macrophages inhibits HIV-1 replication by distinct mechanisms. *J. Immunol.* 182, 6237–6246.
- Chieppa, M., Bianchi, G., Doni, A., Del Prete, A., Sironi, M., Laskarin, G., Monti, P., Piemonti, L., Biondi, A., Mantovani, A., Introna, M., and Allavena, P. (2003). Cross-linking of the mannose receptor on monocytederived dendritic cells activates

an anti-inflammatory immunosuppressive program. *J. Immunol.* 171, 4552–4560.

- Chroneos, Z., and Shepherd, V. L. (1995). Differential regulation of the mannose and SP-A receptors on macrophages. Am. J. Physiol. 269, L721-726.
- Cohen, M. S., Shaw, G. M., Mcmichael, A. J., and Haynes, B. F. (2011). Acute HIV-1 Infection. N. Engl. J. Med. 364, 1943–1954.
- Davis, J. M., and Ramakrishnan, L. (2009). The role of the granuloma in expansion and dissemination of early tuberculous infection. *Cell* 136, 37–49.
- Deretic, V., Vergne, I., Chua, J., Master, S., Singh, S. B., Fazio, J. A., and Kyei, G. (2004). Endosomal membrane traffic: convergence point targeted by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and HIV. *Cell. Microbiol.* 6, 999–1009.
- Dorhoi, A., Reece, S. T., and Kaufmann, S. H. (2011). For better or for worse: the immune response against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* balances pathology and protection. *Immunol. Rev.* 240, 235–251.

- Ehrt, S., Schnappinger, D., Bekiranov, S., Drenkow, J., Shi, S., Gingeras, T. R., Gaasterland, T., Schoolnik, G., and Nathan, C. (2001). Reprogramming of the macrophage transcriptome in response to interferon-gamma and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: signaling roles of nitric oxide synthase-2 and phagocyte oxidase. *J. Exp. Med.* 194, 1123–1140.
- El Kasmi, K. C., Qualls, J. E., Pesce, J. T., Smith, A. M., Thompson, R. W., Henao-Tamayo, M., Basaraba, R. J., Konig, T., Schleicher, U., Koo, M. S., Kaplan, G., Fitzgerald, K. A., Tuomanen, E. I., Orme, I. M., Kanneganti, T. D., Bogdan, C., Wynn, T. A., and Murray, P. J. (2008). Toll-like receptor-induced arginase 1 in macrophages thwarts effective immunity against intracellular pathogens. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 1399–1406.
- Forbes, J. R., and Gros, P. (2001). Divalent-metal transport by NRAMP proteins at the interface of host-pathogen interactions. *Trends Microbiol.* 9, 397–403.
- Geijtenbeek, T. B., Van Vliet, S. J., Koppel, E. A., Sanchez-Hernandez, M., Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C. M., Appelmelk, B., and Van Kooyk, Y. (2003). Mycobacteria target DC-SIGN to suppress dendritic cell function. J. Exp. Med. 197, 7–17.
- Goodenow, M. M., Rose, S. L., Tuttle, D. L., and Sleasman, J. W. (2003). HIV-1 fitness and macrophages. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 74, 657–666.
- Hajishengallis, G., and Lambris, J. D. (2011). Microbial manipulation of receptor crosstalk in innate immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 187–200.
- Harris, J., De Haro, S. A., Master, S. S., Keane, J., Roberts, E. A., Delgado, M., and Deretic, V. (2007). T helper 2 cytokines inhibit autophagic control of intracellular *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Immunity* 27, 505–517.
- Herbein, G., and Varin, A. (2010). The macrophage in HIV-1 infection: from activation to deactivation? *Retrovirology* 7, 33.
- Hernandez-Pando, R., Orozco-Esteves, H., Maldonado, H. A., Aguilar-Leon, D., Vilchis-Landeros, M. M., Mata-Espinosa, D. A., Mendoza, V., and Lopez-Casillas, F. (2006). A combination of a transforming growth factor-beta antagonist and an inhibitor of cyclooxygenase is an effective treatment for murine pulmonary tuberculosis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 144, 264–272.

- Huang, X., Stone, D. K., Yu, F., Zeng, Y., and Gendelman, H. E. (2010). Functional proteomic analysis for regulatory T cell surveillance of the HIV-1-infected macrophage. *J. Proteome Res.* 9, 6759–6773.
- Kahnert, A., Seiler, P., Stein, M., Bandermann, S., Hahnke, K., Mollenkopf, H., and Kaufmann, S. H. (2006). Alternative activation deprives macrophages of a coordinated defense program to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Eur. J. Immunol.* 36, 631–647.
- Lamers, S. L., Salemi, M., Galligan, D. C., De Oliveira, T., Fogel, G. B., Granier, S. C., Zhao, L., Brown, J. N., Morris, A., Masliah, E., and Mcgrath, M. S. (2009). Extensive HIV-1 intra-host recombination is common in tissues with abnormal histopathology. *PLoS ONE* 4, e5065. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0005065
- Li, Q., Smith, A. J., Schacker, T. W., Carlis, J. V., Duan, L., Reilly, C. S., and Haase, A. T. (2009). Microarray analysis of lymphatic tissue reveals stage-specific, gene expression signatures in HIV-1 infection. *J. Immunol.* 183, 1975–1982.
- Liao, X., Sharma, N., Kapadia, F., Zhou, G., Lu, Y., Hong, H., Paruchuri, K., Mahabeleshwar, G. H., Dalmas, E., Venteclef, N., Flask, C. A., Kim, J., Doreian, B. W., Lu, K. Q., Kaestner, K. H., Hamik, A., Clement, K., and Jain, M. K. (2011). Kruppel-like factor 4 regulates macrophage polarization. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2736–2749.
- Ly, L. H., Russell, M. I., and Mcmurray, D. N. (2007). Microdissection of the cytokine milieu of pulmonary granulomas from tuberculous guinea pigs. *Cell. Microbiol.* 9, 1127–1136.
- Martinez, F. O. (2011). Regulators of macrophage activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 1531–1534.
- Martinez, F. O., Helming, L., and Gordon, S. (2009). Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 451–483.
- Meena, L. S., and Rajni, (2010). Survival mechanisms of pathogenic Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Rv. FEBS J. 277, 2416–2427.
- Murray, P. J., and Wynn, T. A. (2011). Obstacles and opportunities for understanding macrophage polarization. J. Leukoc. Biol. 89, 557–563.
- Ordway, D., Harton, M., Henao-Tamayo, M., Montoya, R., Orme, I. M., and Gonzalez-Juarrero, M.

(2006). Enhanced macrophage activity in granulomatous lesions of immune mice challenged with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Immunol.* 176, 4931–4939.

- Orenstein, J. M., Meltzer, M. S., Phipps, T., and Gendelman, H. E. (1988). Cytoplasmic assembly and accumulation of human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2 in recombinant human colony-stimulating factor-1-treated human monocytes: an ultrastructural study. *J. Virol.* 62, 2578–2586.
- Orme, I. M., Roberts, A. D., Griffin, J. P., and Abrams, J. S. (1993). Cytokine secretion by CD4 T lymphocytes acquired in response to *Mycobacterium tuberculo*sis infection. J. Immunol. 151, 518–525.
- Paige, C., and Bishai, W. R. (2010). Penitentiary or penthouse condo: the tuberculous granuloma from the microbe's point of view. *Cell. Microbiol.* 12, 301–309.
- Porichis, F., Kwon, D. S., Zupkosky, J., Tighe, D. P., Mcmullen, A., Brockman, M. A., Pavlik, D. F., Rodriguez-Garcia, M., Pereyra, F., Freeman, G. J., Kavanagh, D. G., and Kaufmann, D. E. (2011). Responsiveness of HIV-specific CD4 T cells to PD-1 blockade. *Blood* 118, 965–974.
- Quintana-Murci, L., Alcais, A., Abel, L., and Casanova, J. L. (2007). Immunology in natura: clinical, epidemiological and evolutionary genetics of infectious diseases. *Nat. Immunol.* 8, 1165–1171.
- Raju, B., Hoshino, Y., Belitskaya-Levy, I., Dawson, R., Ress, S., Gold, J. A., Condos, R., Pine, R., Brown, S., Nolan, A., Rom, W. N., and Weiden, M. D. (2008). Gene expression profiles of bronchoalveolar cells in pulmonary TB. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)* 88, 39–51.
- Redente, E. F., Higgins, D. M., Dwyer-Nield, L. D., Orme, I. M., Gonzalez-Juarrero, М., and Malkinson, A. M. (2010). Differential polarization of alveolar macrophages and bone marrow-derived monocytes following chemically and pathogen-induced chronic lung inflammation. I. Leukoc. Biol. 88, 159-168.
- Sandanger, O., Ryan, L., Bohnhorst, J., Iversen, A. C., Husebye, H., Halaas, O., Landro, L., Aukrust, P., Froland, S. S., Elson, G., Visintin, A., Oktedalen, O., Damas, J. K., Sundan, A., Golenbock, D., and Espevik, T. (2009). IL-10 enhances MD-2 and CD14 expression in monocytes and the proteins are

increased and correlated in HIVinfected patients. *J. Immunol.* 182, 588–595.

- Schreiber, T., Ehlers, S., Heitmann, L., Rausch, A., Mages, J., Murray, P. J., Lang, R., and Holscher, C. (2009). Autocrine IL-10 induces hallmarks of alternative activation in macrophages and suppresses antituberculosis effector mechanisms without compromising T cell immunity. *J. Immunol.* 183, 1301–1312.
- Sibley, L. D., Adams, L. B., and Krahenbuhl, J. L. (1990). Inhibition of interferon-gamma-mediated activation in mouse macrophages treated with lipoarabinomannan. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 80, 141–148.
- Sica, A., Larghi, P., Mancino, A., Rubino, L., Porta, C., Totaro, M. G., Rimoldi, M., Biswas, S. K., Allavena, P., and Mantovani, A. (2008). Macrophage polarization in tumour progression. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 18, 349–355.
- Swaminathan, S., Padmapriyadarsini, C., and Narendran, G. (2010). HIV-associated tuberculosis: clinical update. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 50, 1377–1386.
- Swingler, S., Mann, A., Jacque, J., Brichacek, B., Sasseville, V. G., Williams, K., Lackner, A. A., Janoff, E. N., Wang, R., Fisher, D., and Stevenson, M. (1999). HIV-1 Nef mediates lymphocyte chemotaxis and activation by infected macrophages. *Nat. Med.* 5, 997–103.
- Tailleux, L., Pham-Thi, N., Bergeron-Lafaurie, A., Herrmann, J. L., Charles, P., Schwartz, O., Scheinmann, P., Lagrange, P. H., De Blic, J., Tazi, A., Gicquel, B., and Neyrolles, O. (2005). DC-SIGN induction in alveolar macrophages defines privileged target host cells for mycobacteria in patients with tuberculosis. *PLoS Med.* 2, e381. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0020381
- Tippett, E., Cheng, W. J., Westhorpe, C., Cameron, P. U., Brew, B. J., Lewin, S. R., Jaworowski, A., and Crowe, S. M. (2011). Differential expression of CD163 on monocyte subsets in healthy and HIV-1 infected individuals. *PLoS ONE* 6, e19968. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019968
- Trabattoni, D., Saresella, M., Biasin, M., Boasso, A., Piacentini, L., Ferrante, P., Dong, H., Maserati, R., Shearer, G. M., Chen, L., and Clerici, M. (2003). B7-H1 is up-regulated in HIV infection and is a novel surrogate marker of disease progression. *Blood* 101, 2514–2520.

- Vasilescu, A., Heath, S. C., Ivanova, R., Hendel, H., Do, H., Mazoyer, A., Khadivpour, E., Goutalier, F. X., Khalili, K., Rappaport, J., Lathrop, G. M., Matsuda, F., and Zagury, J. F. (2003). Genomic analysis of Th1-Th2 cytokine genes in an AIDS cohort: identification of IL4 and IL10 haplotypes associated with the disease progression. *Genes Immun.* 4, 441–449.
- Verbon, A., Juffermans, N., Van Deventer, S. J., Speelman, P., Van Deutekom, H., and Van Der Poll, T. (1999). Serum concentrations

of cytokines in patients with active tuberculosis (TB) and after treatment. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 115, 110–113.

- Volkman, H. E., Pozos, T. C., Zheng, J., Davis, J. M., Rawls, J. F., and Ramakrishnan, L. (2010). Tuberculous granuloma induction via interaction of a bacterial secreted protein with host epithelium. *Science* 327, 466–469.
- WHO Global Tuberculosis Control Report 2010. (2010). Summary. Cent. Eur. J. Public Health 18, 237.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 June 2011; paper pending published: 20 July 2011; accepted: 25 August 2011; published online: 15 September 2011.

Citation: Lugo-Villarino G, Vérollet C, Maridonneau-Parini I and Neyrolles O (2011) Macrophage polarization: convergence point targeted by Mycobacterium tuberculosis and HIV. Front. Immun. 2:43. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00043

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2011 Lugo-Villarino, Vérollet, Maridonneau-Parini and Neyrolles. This is an open-access article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.

# Molecular mechanisms regulating macrophage response to hypoxia

#### Michal A. Rahat<sup>1</sup>\*, Haim Bitterman<sup>2</sup> and Nitza Lahat<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Immunology Research Unit, Carmel Medical Center, The Ruth and Bruce Rappaport Faculty of Medicine, Technion, Haifa, Israel <sup>2</sup> Ischemia-shock Research Laboratory, Carmel Medical Center, The Ruth and Bruce Rappaport Faculty of Medicine, Technion, Haifa, Israel

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Francesco Saverio Di Giovine, University of Sheffield, UK Seth Lucian Masters, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland

#### \*Correspondence:

Michal A. Rahat, Immunology Research Unit, Carmel Medical Center, 7 Michal Street, Haifa 34362, Israel. e-mail: rahat\_miki@clalit.org.il

Monocytes and Macrophages (Mo/M $\phi$ ) exhibit great plasticity, as they can shift between different modes of activation and, driven by their immediate microenvironment, perform divergent functions. These include, among others, patrolling their surroundings and maintaining homeostasis (resident Mo/M $\phi$ ), combating invading pathogens and tumor cells (classically activated or M1 Mo/Mo), orchestrating wound healing (alternatively activated or M2 Mo/M $\phi$ ), and restoring homeostasis after an inflammatory response (resolution M $\phi$ ). logical and pathological conditions, and is interdependent with the inflammatory response. Although Mo/M $\phi$  have been studied in hypoxia, the mechanisms by which hypoxia influences the different modes of their activation, and how it regulates the shift between them, remain unclear. Here we review the current knowledge about the molecular mechanisms that mediate this hypoxic regulation of M $\phi$  activation. Much is known about the hypoxic transcriptional regulatory network, which includes the master regulators hypoxia-induced factor-1 and NF-κB, as well as other transcription factors (e.g., AP-1, Erg-1), but we also highlight the role of post-transcriptional and post-translational mechanisms. These mechanisms mediate hypoxic induction of M $\phi$  pro-angiogenic mediators, suppress M1 M $\phi$ by post-transcriptionally inhibiting pro-inflammatory mediators, and help shift the classically activated M<sub>\$\phi</sub> into an activation state which approximate the alternatively activated or resolution M<sub>\$\phi</sub>.

Keywords: low oxygen tension, inflammation, post-transcriptional regulation, post-translational regulation, M1 macrophages, M2 macrophages

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Many physiological and pathological processes (e.g., inflammation, wound healing, acute myocardial infarction, retinopathies, atherosclerosis, solid tumors, and more) are characterized by both low oxygen tensions (hypoxia) and presence of monocytes/macrophages (Mo/M $\phi$ ). Mo/M $\phi$  are essential regulators of inflammation and central participants in hypoxia-driven processes, and the mediators they express and secrete recruit other cells and orchestrate their activity. The role of Mo/Mø and the effects hypoxia exerts on them were studied mostly in solid tumors, but the same molecular mechanisms apply in other clinical scenarios. We review here the different molecular mechanisms exerted by hypoxia, which regulate Mo/Mo functions. We elaborate on the hypoxia-induced transcriptional network in  $M\phi$ , which is driven mostly by the hypoxia-induced factors (HIFs) and NF-KB, the two master regulators of the hypoxic response. We also draw attention to additional post-transcriptional, translational, and post-translational mechanisms that enable hypoxia to activate or suppress gene and protein expression. Finally, we review the relatively few studies on the mechanisms and effects of hypoxia on differently activated Mo/Mo, and discuss how these mechanisms help shift the pro-inflammatory acti-type.

We do not expand on how hypoxia-induced mechanisms affect the different M $\phi$  functions, as these aspects were extensively reviewed before (Lewis et al., 1999; Murdoch et al., 2004, 2008; Bosco et al., 2008; Martinez et al., 2008; Coffelt et al., 2009; Walmsley et al., 2009; Qian and Pollard, 2010). Because the investigation of mechanisms is most often performed *in vitro*, we limit our discussion to these studies, and only briefly mention the increasing number of evidences pointing to the crucial role hypoxia plays *in vivo* in the pathophysiology of many diseases. Moreover, although hypoxia is physiologically and pathologically followed by re-oxygenation, we focus only on the isolated effects of hypoxic stress on Mo/M $\phi$ . Likewise, the effects of reduced pH, low glucose levels, or increased lactate, conditions that also accompany hypoxia and ischemia, are not discussed.

#### **DIFFERENT MODES OF MACROPHAGE ACTIVATION**

Monocytes (Mo) migrate into tissues and differentiate into Macrophages (M $\phi$ ) to perform many functions needed in the tissue. These include resident M $\phi$  that patrol their surroundings and maintain homeostasis, M $\phi$  that combat invading pathogens and tumor cells and protect the tissue, M $\phi$  that orchestrate the process of wound healing, and M $\phi$  that resolve inflammation. To perform these multiple tasks, M $\phi$  phagocytose pathogens, secrete cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors, present antigenic determinants to T cells and activate them, scavenge dead cells and necrotic debris and deposit matrix proteins. Since one cell cannot perform all these divergent tasks simultaneously, it was suggested that M $\phi$  can be differently activated, depending on the signals received from the microenvironment. Thus, M $\phi$  exhibit an enormous plasticity (Stout and Suttles, 2004), and dynamically shift from one form of activation to another according to the conditions in the changing microenvironment (Stout et al., 2009). This concept, as well as the evidences supporting it and the markers that characterize each M $\phi$  phenotype, has been extensively reviewed (Mosser, 2003; Martinez et al., 2008; Mosser and Edwards, 2008; Murdoch et al., 2008; Gordon and Martinez, 2010; Qian and Pollard, 2010), and will be only briefly mentioned here.

populations have been described. In one extreme, the classically activated Mø, or M1 Mø, is responsible for the multi-stage process of recognizing pathogens, phagocytosing, and degrading them to present their antigenic determinant to helper T cells in the context of the MHC class II molecules, whose expression is elevated (Mosser, 2003; Martinez et al., 2008). This process is accompanied by secretion of IL-12, which is necessary to support a Th1 response. M1 M6 are activated by ligands of different receptor families such as the toll-like receptor (TLR) ligands (e.g., lipopolysaccharides -LPS), and pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., interferon- $\gamma$  – IFN $\gamma$ , tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  – TNF $\alpha$ , and interleukin-1 $\beta$  – IL-1 $\beta$ ). They secrete high amounts of pro-inflammatory mediators that kill the invading pathogens or tumor cells, such as the cytotoxic TNFa and nitric oxide (NO), the latter (and the enzyme producing it, inducible nitric oxide synthase - iNOS) serving as the hallmark of this Mø subset. They also secrete chemokines, which attract more neutrophils and Mo/M $\phi$  to the inflamed site, thus amplifying the pro-inflammatory response. Secretion of proteolytic enzymes, such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) helps degrade components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) and allows migration of leukocytes to the inflamed tissue.

In the other extreme we find  $M\phi$  that are activated by and secrete anti-inflammatory mediators (e.g., IL-10, IL-13, tumor growth factor beta – TGF $\beta$ , and prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> – PGE<sub>2</sub>), which generate a microenvironment that suppresses the activity of M1 macrophage. They remove cellular debris and perform phagocytosis which is mediated by receptors different than those expressed by M1 Mo, such as the mannose receptor CD206; contribute to tissue remodeling by depositing ECM proteins; and express high levels of arginase-1, which produces ornithine, a precursor for the synthesis of the ECM protein collagen. Arginase-1 also competes with iNOS for their common substrate L-arginine and thus prevents NO production. Thus, these alternatively activated or M2 M6 are involved mainly in homeostasis and wound healing. M2 M\phi also secrete proteolytic enzymes that help them move about, and as they are activated by IL-4 and IL-13, they are particularly suited to present helminthes antigens to helper T cells and initiate a Th2 response (Martinez et al., 2009), so that the term "anti-inflammatory" refers, in fact, to a different type of inflammation.

A third subset of  $M\phi$  is responsible for immune regulation, and may include several subtypes. Some of these cells are activated by ligands of TLRs in combination with immune complexes, and some are activated by anti-inflammatory signals, such as adenosine or phagocytosed apoptotic cells (Mosser, 2003; Mosser and Edwards, 2008). Immature M $\phi$ , which compose some of the myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) population, also belong to regulatory M $\phi$ . MDSCs are triggered by a combination of IFN $\gamma$  and IL-13, and secrete IFN $\gamma$ , IL-13, IL-10, and TGF $\beta$ , which help them suppress Th1 cell-mediated immune response, induce regulatory T cells and inhibit M1 M $\phi$  (Bronte, 2009; Gabrilovich and Nagaraj, 2009; Ostrand-Rosenberg and Sinha, 2009).

A different subset of  $M\phi$  isolated at the resolution-phase of inflammation (resolution or  $rM\phi$ ) is often activated by mediators released from apoptotic cells, such as sphingosine-1phosphate (S1P) or TGFβ. These rMφ secrete predominantly the anti-inflammatory IL-10, very low levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines and express arginase-1 and CD206, as well as the pro-inflammatory iNOS and COX-2 (Bystrom et al., 2008). Moreover, in a model of self-resolving peritonitis, rMo were further divided into CD11bhigh and CD11blow cells (Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). CD11b<sup>high</sup> rMø engulf apoptotic neutrophils and stay at the inflammatory site, where they express markers of both M1 and M2 M\u00f5 (e.g., iNOS, arginase-1, COX-2, and MMP-9). However, once they engulf enough apoptotic cells (threshold determined at 7 cells), they convert into CD11blow cells, induce the expression of the enzyme 12/15-lipoxygenase which produces pro-resolving lipid mediators, and emigrate to lymphoid organs to convey resolution signals to lymphocytes (Schif-Zuck et al., 2011).

Collectively, all these regulatory  $M\phi$ , which secrete antiinflammatory mediators designed to resolve inflammation, are positioned between M1 and M2 M $\phi$ , and share markers with these two sub-populations.

Malignant tumors are characterized by repeated cycles of hypoxia and reoxygenation, and several Mo subsets have been found located in different regions of the tumor (Lewis and Pollard, 2006). These include the tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) and the Tie-2 expressing macrophages (TEMs), which support tumor growth and metastasis, and are both an important source of pro-angiogenic factors. Whereas some TEMs reside close to blood vessels (peri-endothelial; Venneri et al., 2007), TAMs infiltrate deeper into the tumor and are located in perinecrotic areas where oxygen tensions are very low. Regulatory MDSCs are present within tumors, as well as in lymphoid organs, such as the bone marrow and spleen, and expand proportionally to the tumor burden. All these subtypes share activation markers with both M2 and regulatory  $M\phi$ , thus placing them between these two subsets (De Palma et al., 2007; Mosser and Edwards, 2008; Murdoch et al., 2008). Of note, the principle of M $\phi$  plasticity extends even to TAMs subset, as they exhibit divergent phenotypes (Lewis and Pollard, 2006), depending on the type of the tumor, the stage of its development, the interactions with both the ECM and other neighboring cells, and the level of oxygen tensions they are exposed to.

Moving from M $\phi$  to Mo, we find the monocytes to have similar but not identical classifications. Circulatory Mo are divided into three subsets according to their CD14 and CD16 expression (in humans) or Ly6C expression (in mice). The Classical or M1 Mo express high levels of CD14 and no CD16 (denoted either CD14<sup>++</sup>CD16<sup>-</sup> or CD14<sup>+</sup>CD16<sup>-</sup> in human, and Ly6C<sup>high</sup> in

mice), intermediate Mo, in humans only, express intermediate levels of CD14 and CD16 (CD14<sup>++</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup> or CD14<sup>+</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup>), and resident, M2 or non-classical monocytes express very low levels of CD14 and high levels of CD16 (CD14<sup>dim</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup> or CD14<sup>-</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup> in human, and Ly6Clow in mice) (Ziegler-Heitbrock, 2007; van de Veerdonk and Netea, 2010). However, the function of these subsets as cells secreting either pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines is still controversial. It is assumed that M1 and M2 Mo are the counterparts of M1 and M2 Mo, but this is not always accurate. For example, sorted Mo subsets that were stimulated ex vivo with LPS increased IL-10 secretion from CD14+CD16+ cells, whereas LPSstimulated CD14<sup>dim</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup> cells showed increased TNFa with little IL-10 secretion (Skrzeczynska-Moncznik et al., 2008). In a different study, CD14<sup>-</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup> cells showed patrolling characteristics with weak ability for phagocytosis and low production of ROS and cytokines when challenged by bacterial ligands of TLRs, but secreted high amounts of the pro-inflammatory TNFa and IL-1 $\beta$  cytokines upon stimulation with viral ligands or nucleic acids (Cros et al., 2010). These results suggest that non-classical or M2 Mo can behave as M1 Mo under certain circumstances. Thus, Mo classification does not fully match the M1-M2 Mo taxonomy.

During inflammation differently activated Mo/Mo enter the tissue, first in order to eliminate pathogens or tumor cells (M1 Mo/M $\phi$ ), and later to heal the damaged tissue and to restore homeostasis (M2 Mo/M $\phi$  and rM $\phi$ ; Nahrendorf et al., 2010). This requires precise signals that regulate this sequential migration. For example, the chemokines CCL2 and CX<sub>3</sub>CL1 and their receptors, expressed on CD14<sup>+</sup>CD16<sup>-</sup> and both CD16<sup>+</sup> monocytes, respectively, were shown to mediate these responses (Geissmann et al., 2003; Auffray et al., 2009). Of note, this specific sequence of events may not always apply, and clinical scenarios which favor a Th2 response may differentially recruit non-classical Mo. Furthermore, whether classically activated Mo mature to M1 Mo in the tissue and are later skewed to become M2 Mø, or whether they die on site and are replaced by newly recruited M2 Mo, remains unclear, and the effects of the hypoxic microenvironment in this context must be further explored.

According to the danger model (Matzinger, 2002), the direction and magnitude of the inflammatory response depend not only on the nature of the stimulus (e.g., types of bacteria, site of entry, size of the bacterial inoculation), but also on the type and extent of expression of co-stimulatory molecules (e.g., CD80 vs. CD86) and specific signals received from the microenvironment, such as danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Necrotic and apoptotic cells that release their content into the microenvironment, are picked up by Mo/M $\phi$ , processed and presented to T cells in the context of MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules. Thus, microenvironmental stimuli can affect Mo/M $\phi$  functions, directly or via their effect on other cells.

These examples reveal the high plasticity of Mo/M $\phi$ , and emphasize that their heterogeneity ranges beyond the M1–M2 polarization models, and extends to new phenotypes we may yet discover. Thus, Mo/M $\phi$  classification and the distinction between their different activation modes and differentiation status is an active area of study.

#### **INFLAMMATION AND HYPOXIA**

Low oxygen tensions (hypoxia) are relevant in many physiological and pathological conditions. For example, hypoxia may arise due to occlusion of a blood vessel (e.g., during myocardial infarction or pulmonary embolism), significant blood loss or dilated blood vessels which instigate reduced blood flow and lack of oxygen (e.g., in burns, trauma, and sepsis), or simply when oxygen demands are not met (e.g., physical exercise, high altitudes, tumors). Hypoxia has been demonstrated in vivo in a variety of acute and chronic inflammatory sites, including the synovium in RA patients, the arterial intima in atherosclerotic lesions, myocardial infarcts, wounds, and sites of bacterial infection (reviewed in Murdoch et al., 2005). Since even healthy tissues exhibit a wide range of oxygen tensions, no one value can represent hypoxia, and hypoxia is, therefore, functionally defined as the inability of oxygen delivery to meet oxygen demands of the tissue (Papandreou et al., 2005). According to this definition, hypoxia occurs during inflammation, as more cells that require oxygen infiltrate the site and increase oxygen consumption, but only few capillaries can supply it. Thus, different oxygen tensions can be measured in different areas of tumors, wounds, or in tissues affected by chronic inflammation, generating a gradient of hypoxia, where levels as low as 5-10 mmHg were measured (Crowther et al., 2001). Of note, other microenvironmental factors, such as increased lactate concentrations and reduced pH, are linked to hypoxia, as they result from the shift to anaerobic metabolism. Therefore, investigating the role of prolonged hypoxia actually looks into the combined effect of all of these stress factors. Most in vitro studies measure the percent oxygen in the atmosphere flowing into the hypoxic chamber, but usually even in anoxic atmosphere (0% O<sub>2</sub>) some oxygen remains dissolved in the medium (20–30 mmHg).

Depending on its duration and severity, hypoxia can drive inflammation and aggravate cellular and tissue injury. For example, humans exposed to the scarce oxygen available in high altitudes or mice exposed to ambient hypoxia experience reduced arterial partial oxygen tensions, and develop pulmonary edema and increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Hartmann et al., 2000; Grocott et al., 2009; Rosenberger et al., 2009). Hypoxia shifts cells toward anaerobic metabolism, leading to exclusive use of glycolysis as the means for ATP production, instead of Krebs cycle. As a result, lactate accumulates in the cells, causing cellular acidosis, production of ROS is increased, and lipids are peroxidated leading to membranal damage. This, combined with the lack of ATP, impairs the function of ion channels, increases  $Ca^{+2}$  influx, and membrane permeability, leading to spillage of cellular content (including proteolytic enzymes, hydrolases, and increased lactate), thereby increasing acidosis and tissue damage (Minko et al., 2005; Behn et al., 2007). Necrotic cells and increased tissue acidosis recruit more leukocytes into the area, and trigger inflammation. Hence, hypoxia and inflammation are interdependent, as chronic inflammation is accompanied by hypoxia and prolonged hypoxia leads to inflammation (Eltzschig, 2011).

#### **ROLE OF HIFs**

Like other cell types, the macrophage response depends on the severity and the duration of the hypoxic insult. In recent years, the search for the way cells sense differences in oxygen tensions was focused primarily on the prolyl hydroxylases (PHD)–HIF pathway outlined below.

Hypoxia-induced factors are heterodimeric transcription factors consisting of a constitutively expressed  $\beta$  subunit (aryl hydrocarbon nuclear translocator – ARNT), and an  $\alpha$  subunit, which is constitutively transcribed but immediately degraded in normoxia. Three  $\alpha$  subunits (HIF-1 $\alpha$ , HIF-2 $\alpha$ , and HIF-3 $\alpha$ ) have been identified, which together with HIF-1 $\beta$  compose three isoforms that are differently expressed in various tissues. HIF-3 $\alpha$  (also called inhibitory PAS domain protein – IPAS) is a transcriptional inhibitor and functions as a negative regulator of HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$ , although its biology is still unclear (Heikkila et al., 2011), whereas HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$  were more extensively studied. HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$  are homologous, especially in their DNA binding domains, allowing their binding to the same hypoxia response element (HRE).

The binding of HIF-1 and HIF-2 to many HRE-containing promoters can induce the expression of a myriad of genes, some with opposing effects. By means of over-expressing the HIF- $\alpha$ subunits, or by ablating them in knockouts or by siRNA knockdown, the role of each subunit in determining M $\phi$  phenotypes and response to hypoxic stress was established. Thus, HIF proteins were shown to regulate all aspects of M $\phi$  functions in response to hypoxia, including the shift to anaerobic glycolysis, mitochondrial impairment, angiogenesis, invasion, and immune suppression (Coffelt et al., 2009; Walmsley et al., 2009; Werno et al., 2010a). Moreover, HIFs are also induced in normoxia, and play a central role in immune recognition, phagocytosis, bacterial killing, and pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Cramer et al., 2003; Peyssonnaux et al., 2007).

#### HIFs EXPRESSION IN DIFFERENT M SUBSETS

The two HIF isoforms, HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$  are differently expressed in Mo and M $\phi$ , as hypoxia could not induce the expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  or HIF-2 $\alpha$  in human Mo, but did induce them in human monocyte-derived macrophages (hMDM; Elbarghati et al., 2008). Differentiated human and mouse MDM show different kinetics of HIFs expression in response to hypoxia, with higher stability for HIF-2α expression (Elbarghati et al., 2008; Takeda et al., 2010). This suggests that HIF- $\alpha$  subunits could, at least partially, affect M\u00f6 activation modes. Furthermore, arginine metabolism was enhanced toward NO production in a HIF-1α-dependent manner upon LPS or IFNy stimulation, but NO production was reduced by IL-4 due to increase in HIF-2α-induced arginase-1 activity (Takeda et al., 2010). Conflicting evidences show higher accumulation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in hypoxic hMDM (Burke et al., 2002), or higher expression of HIF-2a under similar conditions (Griffiths et al., 2000). One study showed almost undetectable HIF-2 $\alpha$ mRNA after prolonged exposure to hypoxia, but induced HIF-1α mRNA that was even further elevated by LPS in thioglycollate another study showed constitutive HIF-2a mRNA levels in these cells (Takeda et al., 2010). TAMs present in human breast carcinomas show high expression of HIF-2a, which correlates with increased micro-vessel density and high tumor grade (Patel and Simon, 2008). TAMs in different tumors in vivo show high expression of both HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$  (Lewis and Pollard, 2006). The importance of exposure time is demonstrated in a study that compared acute (24 h) and chronic (5 days) exposures to hypoxia, and reported that hMDM subjected to chronic hypoxia increased HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$  proteins relative to hMDM that were subjected to normoxia or to acute hypoxia (Staples et al., 2010). However, there is still no clear perspective regarding the role of the different HIFs in hypoxic M $\phi$ , and different periods of time of hypoxic exposure or different oxygen levels may have different effects on HIFs' expression.

#### REGULATION OF HIFS IN NORMOXIA AND HYPOXIA Protein stability

Hypoxia-induced factor proteins are regulated primarily by protein stability. HIF- $\alpha$  subunits are constitutively transcribed and translated, but immediately directed for degradation in normoxia. This is achieved by the hydroxylation of proline residues (402 and 564 on HIF-1 $\alpha$  and 405 and 532 on HIF-2 $\alpha$ ) by the three PHDs, which depend on oxygen, 2-oxoglutarate, Fe<sup>+2</sup>, and ascorbate as substrates and cofactors for their activity. Hydroxylation recruits the von Hippel Lindau (VHL), which forms a complex together with elongin B, elongin C, cullin-2, and ring-box 1 that has an E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. This complex ubiquinates HIF-α subunits and targets them for proteosomal degradation (Nizet and Johnson, 2009; Walmsley et al., 2009). Hypoxia inactivates PHDs due to the limited oxygen substrate, and therefore stabilizes the HIF- $\alpha$ subunits, allowing their heterodimerization with the HIF-1ß subunit. Hypoxia also impairs electron transport in the mitochondria, leading to increased production of ROS, which oxidizes Fe<sup>+2</sup> to Fe<sup>+3</sup> and further inhibit PHDs. Additional proteins contribute to this regulation, and details on their activity are reviewed elsewhere (Yee Koh et al., 2008).

Although HIF-α subunits are typically induced in hypoxia, they can also be expressed in normoxia upon inflammatory stimulation. For example, high levels of succinate (the product of 2oxoglutarate) or increased ROS production that oxidizes Fe<sup>+2</sup> may cause PHDs inactivation and HIF-1α stabilization (Denko, 2008). Likewise, high concentrations of NO in normoxia can stabilize HIF-1a by inhibiting the activity PHDs, probably by targeting their Fe<sup>+2</sup> catalytic site (Weigert and Brune, 2008). Ligation of TLRs, such as the binding of LPS to TLR4, stimulate HIF-1a expression in normoxia through the activity of NF-kB, and hypoxia in the presence of LPS shows a synergistic effect (Frede et al., 2006). Additional pathways can contribute to HIF-1a expression, including the Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) and the Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases (CaMKII) pathways, and their inhibitors reduce HIF-1a accumulation as well as the expression of its targets (Westra et al., 2010). Thus, in addition to hypoxia, other stimuli, including bacterial infection, hormones, growth factors, cytokines, or RNS can stabilize and activate HIF-1a in normoxia.

#### Translation and transcription of HIFs

The main known level of HIFs regulation is post-translational, as described above. However other possible regulatory checkpoints, such as transcription and translation, are under-investigated. Although HIF- $\alpha$  subunits are constitutively transcribed in many cell types, their mRNA levels are increased in hypoxia. HIF- $1\alpha$ 

promoter consists of Sp1 sites, several HRE sites (suggesting a positive feedback loop), as well as NF-κB, Egr-1, and Stat3 binding sites that mediate increased transcription in hypoxia (Niu et al., 2008; Galban and Gorospe, 2009). Evidences show differences between Mo and Mφ, as hypoxia inhibits HIF-1α transcription in human Mo (Bosco et al., 2006), but increased HIF-1α mRNA accumulation in hMDM by mechanisms other than increasing mRNA stability (Staples et al., 2010). Likewise, HIF-1α mRNA was increased during differentiation of THP-1 cells or peripheral blood Mo into Mφ (Oda et al., 2006). This suggests a negative feedback designed to control the systemic hypoxic response.

Translational regulation of HIFs is an important checkpoint in both normoxia and hypoxia, which was investigated mainly in cancer cells. Increased HIF-1a protein levels in hypoxia can be observed without a parallel increase in the mRNA levels. This is mediated by the binding of the two RNA-binding proteins (RBP) polypyrimidine tract-binding protein (PTB) and human antigen R (HuR) to the 3'-UTR and 5'-UTR, respectively, as their knockdown through RNA interference inhibited HIF-1a accumulation (Galban et al., 2008). Iron response proteins (IRP) bind to their elements located in the 5'-UTR region of the HIF-2a mRNA and inhibit translation of the mRNA in normoxia, while hypoxia releases this binding and enhances HIF-2a translation (Galban and Gorospe, 2009). Furthermore, specific microRNAs (the miR-17-92 cluster and miR-199a) target HIF-1α mRNA in normoxia and inhibit its translation, whereas hypoxia reduces their levels and release HIF-1a mRNA translation (Galban and Gorospe, 2009). The mechanisms for translational controls have not yet been described in Mo/M $\phi$ , and this warrants more investigation.

#### Regulation of HIFs' activity

Hypoxia-induced factors activity as transcription factors that bind to HREs and to the co-activators CBP/p300 is regulated by oxygendependent protein-protein interactions. Factor-inhibiting HIF-1 (FIH-1), another oxygen-dependent hydroxylase, can hydroxylate asparagine residues on HIF-α subunits (803 on HIF-1α and 847 on HIF-2a), resulting in proteins that cannot bind to the co-activators CBP/p300 (Walmsley et al., 2008; Nizet and Johnson, 2009). Additionally, VHL also acts as an adapter that facilitates the binding of FIH to HIF-α subunits in normoxia, while hypoxia disrupts this interaction (Li et al., 2011), allowing for the accumulation of HIFs and their binding to HRE-containing promoters. FIH-1 also plays a role in normoxia, as the cytoplasmic tail of MT1-MMP/MMP-14 provides a platform to which both FIH-1 and its inhibitor mint3/APBA3 bind. This limits the complex localization to the Golgi apparatus and allows mint3 to inhibit FIH-1 ability to hydroxylate HIF-1a, resulting in enhanced accumulation of HIF-1a in normoxia (Sakamoto and Seiki, 2010). It is yet unclear whether a similar mechanism operates on PHDs localization to render them inactive and inhibit HIFs degradation in normoxic Mø.

Post-translational modifications regulate stabilization, degradation, and activity of HIF- $\alpha$  subunits by affecting their protein– protein interactions, especially other transcription factors or components of the transcriptional machinery. These were investigated mostly in cancer cell lines and fibroblasts. For example, HIF- $\alpha$ is directly phosphorylated by the ERK1/2 MAPK, leading to its transport to the nucleus and increased activity (Mylonis et al., 2006). Two components of the PI3K/Akt pathway were shown to oppositely regulate HIF-1 $\alpha$ . The mTOR kinase phosphory-lates HIF-1 $\alpha$  in its oxygen-dependent degradation domain, leading to its increased stabilization and enhanced transactivation (Hudson et al., 2002), whereas GSK-3-mediated phosphorylation induces HIF-1 $\alpha$  destabilization and proteosomal degradation (Flugel et al., 2007). Recently, PHD3 was found to hydroxylate pyruvate kinase M2, leading to its enhanced interaction with both HIF-1 $\alpha$  and p300 in hypoxia and promoting their transactivation of HRE-containing target genes (Luo et al., 2011).

Effects of HIF-1 $\alpha$  S-nitrosylation are controversial, as it could increase or decrease its ability to interact with its co-activator p300 (Sumbayev et al., 2003; Cho et al., 2007; Li et al., 2007). However, this mechanism could be relevant only in normoxic induction of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , as iNOS is inactivated in hypoxia (see Intracellular Trafficking and Protein–Protein Interactions). Hypoxia was shown to induce SUMOylation of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , either promoting its binding to VHL and degradation (Cheng et al., 2007) or promoting its stabilization and transcriptional activity (Carbia-Nagashima et al., 2007). These apparent contradictions may reflect use of different cell types or different hypoxic regimes, and the effects of such post-translational modifications in hypoxic M $\phi$  should be studied.

#### ROLE OF NF-κB

NF- $\kappa$ B are a family of proteins consisting of NF- $\kappa$ B1 (p105/p50), NF- $\kappa$ B2 (p100/p52), RelA (p65), RelB, and c-Rel that can heterodimerize. The role of the NF- $\kappa$ B family members as master regulators of many pro-inflammatory associated gene is widely accepted (Vallabhapurapu and Karin, 2009).

#### NF-κ B in different Mφ subsets

Canonical NF- $\kappa$ B activation is indispensible for M1 activation, although cooperation with other transcription factors such as Stat1 or the MAPK/AP-1 pathway is essential (Biswas and Lewis, 2010; Lawrence and Fong, 2010). NF- $\kappa$ B also regulates antiinflammatory and pro-angiogenic gene expression (e.g., IL-10, VEGF, COX-2, TGF $\beta$ , and MMPs) and inhibits M1 M $\phi$  (Lawrence and Fong, 2010). In part, this is associated with over-expression of p50 and formation of p50:p50 homodimers, which inhibit transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines while enhancing transcription of anti-inflammatory genes (Saccani et al., 2006; Biswas and Lewis, 2010; Mancino and Lawrence, 2010). Furthermore, deletion of IKK $\beta$  in myeloid cells shifts M $\phi$  toward M1 activation, increasing the expression of IL-12, MHC class II and iNOS, and revealing the inhibitory role of IKK $\beta$  on Stat1 (Fong et al., 2008).

Tumor-associated macrophages derived from human and murine tumors and cultured in normoxia demonstrate defective NF- $\kappa$ B activation, high IL-10 expression and reduced IL-12 and TNF $\alpha$  production (Sica et al., 2000). However, as distinct regions can be identified within solid tumors, TAMs could be activated both as M1 and M2 M $\phi$  and fluctuate between them, depending on the type of the tumor, its stage, M $\phi$  localization within the tumor, and the signal received from the microenvironment, including hypoxia (Mancino and Lawrence, 2010). Therefore, the role of NF- $\kappa$ B in specific M $\phi$  subsets is very complex.

## Regulation of NF- $\kappa$ B in normoxia and hypoxia – links to the HIF pathway

Activation of NF- $\kappa$ B occurs in normoxia when TLRs or receptors for pro-inflammatory cytokines recruit the MyD88 adapter protein, which activates a complex signaling cascade that is based on protein–protein interactions and culminates in the phosphorylation, ubiquitination, and degradation of I $\kappa$ B proteins and translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B to the nucleus.

Hypoxia has long been shown to simulate NF-KB signaling. In vivo, hypoxia activates NF-KB expression in a tissue-specific manner, as transgenic mice harboring the luciferase gene under the control of NF-KB expressed it in the hearts and lungs (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). In vitro there are many examples for hypoxia-induced expression of pro-inflammatory genes. Hypoxic RAW 264.7 cells induced MIP-2 expression, and inhibition of the ERK1/2 or PI3K pathways decreased p65 activity (Zampetaki et al., 2004). Increased production of ROS due to hypoxia was demonstrated in Mo/Mo to be responsible for NF-kB activation and for the synergetic effects of hypoxia and LPS (Chandel et al., 2000; Kim et al., 2010). Recently, PDHs were demonstrated as regulators of NF-KB signaling, as their inhibition suppressed LPS-induced expression of TNF $\alpha$  in M $\phi$  (Takeda et al., 2009). IKK $\beta$  was discovered as an additional substrate that PDHs can hydroxylate, leading to its activation and to IkB phosphorylation (Cummins et al., 2006). Additionally, ankyrin repeats on both IkBa and the p105 subunit of NF-κB can be hydroxylated by FIH-1 (Cockman et al., 2006; Cummins et al., 2006; Frede et al., 2006), explaining the effect of ROS on NF-kB activation. In fact, PDHs and FIH-1 involvement in NF-KB regulation suggests that both HIF and NF-KB proteins are redox-sensitive proteins regulated by the same oxygen sensors, in addition to their role as master regulators of inflammation and hypoxia.

Many hypoxia-induced genes are targeted by both NF- $\kappa$ B and HIF proteins. Indeed, a link between the HIF and NF- $\kappa$ B pathways is also provided by the presence of an NF- $\kappa$ B binding site in the HIF-1 $\alpha$  promoter (but not HIF-2 $\alpha$ ), and the ability of p50:p65 heterodimers to bind to it and drive its expression in hypoxia (Belaiba et al., 2007), while siRNA for p65 inhibits this expression (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). For example, COX-2 was induced by hypoxia in a manner dependent on both HIF-1 and NF- $\kappa$ B (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011), suggesting that the pro-inflammatory response to hypoxia is regulated by NF- $\kappa$ B both by direct binding to promoters of relevant genes and by inducing HIF-1 $\alpha$  expression (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011).

Mice lacking IKK $\beta$  show impaired accumulation of HIF-1 $\alpha$ both in hypoxia and upon bacterial infection (Rius et al., 2008), demonstrating that NF- $\kappa$ B transcriptionally regulates HIF-1 $\alpha$  in both hypoxia and normoxia. In addition, a physical interaction between IKK $\gamma$ /NEMO and HIF-2 $\alpha$ , but not HIF-1 $\alpha$ , was described to enhance HIF-2 $\alpha$  transcriptional activity in reporter assays (Patel and Simon, 2008), but the specific gene targets remain unknown. This link may be bidirectional, as prolonged hypoxia of hMDM increased the mRNA expression and phosphorylation of the several components in the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway (e.g., IKK $\beta$ , IKK $\gamma$ , IkB $\alpha$ , RelA/p65) in a manner that was dependent on both HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$ , as demonstrated by knocking down their expression using siRNA (Fang et al., 2009).

#### INTERACTIONS WITH OTHER TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS

Hypoxia-induced factor and NF-kB can cooperate not only with each other, but also with additional transcription factors in normoxia and hypoxia, to achieve better target specificity or maximal activity while forming a large protein complex at the promoters of target genes. Activation of many transcription factors is managed by the crosstalk between signaling pathways. For example, ligation of TLRs or pro-inflammatory cytokines can recruit the adapter protein MyD88 that activates both the IKK-NF-KB and the MAPK pathways, leading to activation of NF-κB and AP-1. The TRIF adapter protein may activate IRF3 and initiate delayed expression of IFNB, which activates Stat1 in an autocrine manner. Cooperation between NF-kB, AP-1, Stat1, HIF-1, and HIF-2 is required for M1 Mo activation (Biswas and Lewis, 2010; Lawrence and Fong, 2010). In contrast, anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-4, IL-10, IL-13) activate Stat3 and Stat6, which are needed to induce anti-inflammatory gene expression (e.g., arginase-1, suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 - SOCS-3), and inhibit Stat1 and NF-κB.

The integration of all the different microenvironmental signals determines the balance between M1 and M2 activation modes, suggesting a complex interplay between the transcription factors. Thus, different combinations of transcription factors that cooperate on specific target promoters may determine the activation phenotype of the M $\phi$  (Biswas and Lewis, 2010; Lawrence and Fong, 2010). Signal transduction is transient, and different pathways can be activated with different kinetics, and may influence the complexity of the transcriptional network. This aspect warrants further study in differently activated M $\phi$ . **Table 1** details some of the interactions between HIFs/NF- $\kappa$ B and several of the central transcription factors that are induced in hypoxia.

#### **TRANSCRIPTIONAL INHIBITION**

Generally, HIF and NF-KB are considered activators of gene transcription, although the NF-kB p50:p50 homodimers can be negative regulators, as mentioned above. Hypoxia can also selectively inhibit gene transcription by other means. For example, in human Mo hypoxia inhibited the constitutive expression of MCP-1/CCL2 mRNA and its induction by IFNy and LPS by a dual mechanism that included inhibition of transcription and enhancement of mRNA destabilization (Bosco et al., 2004). As MCP-1/CCL2 is a central chemoattractant for Mo, its inhibition may represent a negative regulatory mechanism that controls recruitment of M1activated Mo/Mo into inflamed tissues. In support of this finding, hypoxia can also inhibit gene expression of CCR5, cathepsin C, 2.5-oligoadenylate synthetase, and the Ras family member Rab7 (Bosco et al., 2006). TIMP-2, the endogenous inhibitor of MMPs, is constitutively expressed in Mo, and hypoxia down-regulates it through the involvement of Sp1 phosphorylation (Lahat et al., 2011).

Surprisingly, in several cases HIF-1 plays a role as a suppressor. In fibroblasts and epithelial cells HIF-1 $\alpha$  was implicated in the down-regulation of anti-angiogenic targets such as thrombospondin-1 (Laderoute et al., 2000) and the reversion-inducing cysteine-rich protein with Kazal motifs (RECK) together with histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1; Lee et al., 2010). In M $\phi$ , the scavenger receptor MRS1 was down-regulated in hypoxia.

TF	General, function	Induction/activation	Hypoxia stimulates	<b>Cooperation with</b> HIF-1, NF-κB	
AP-1	Heterodimers of the c-Jun, c-Fos, and ATF families	TLR ligation via MAPK activation	Increased Fos-2, Fra-2. Acti- vated by JNK		
Egr-1	Zinc-finger factor, regulates Mo differentiation and mitogenic responses	Growth factors	Ligation of RAGE receptor, involving PKCβII and JNK acti- vation	HIF-1 and C/EBPα. Also binds to HIF-1α promoter	
Stat1	Regulates immune recognition (e.g., MHC class II, co-stimulatory molecules)	IFNα/β, IFNγ	Both increased and repressed expression were observed	NF-κB and C/EBPβ	
Stat3	Regulates typical M2-Mø activation genes (e.g., arginase-1 and -2, SOCS-3)	IL-6, IL-10	Increased phosphorylation and activation	NF-κB and HIF-1, but also inhibits IKKβ and opposes NF-κB; key player in M1 to M2-Mφ shift	
Stat6	Regulates typical M2-Mø activation genes (e.g., arginase-1, arginase-2, SOCS-3)	IL-4, IL-13	ND	ND	
C/EBPβ (NF-IL-6)	Heterodimer with C/EBPα/γ/δ. Regulates genes of acute phase response, Mo differentiation, IL-12, iNOS, and arginase-1	LPS, IL-6, IFN $\gamma$ . Constitutively expressed in $M\varphi$	ND	NF-κB for IL-6 production	
C/EBPa	Homodimer or heterodimer with C/EBP $\beta/\gamma$	Growth hormone, IGF-1 via ERK1/2 and GSK3	Suppressed expression by HIF-1α	HIF-1 $\alpha$ and Egr-1. Also opposes HIF-1 $\alpha$ by competing with HIF-1 $\beta$ for its binding	

Table 1 | Transcription factors other than HIFs and NF- $\kappa$ B, which are involved in hypoxic regulation of gene expression.

Studies involving the transcription factors indicated were conducted mostly in tumor cell lines and require confirmation in Mo/Mo.

References pertaining to the transcription factors mentioned are: AP-1 (Bandyopadhyay et al., 1995; Alfranca et al., 2002; Laderoute, 2005; Bosco et al., 2006; Mancino and Lawrence, 2010); Egr-1 (Liao et al., 2007; Sperandio et al., 2009; Xu et al., 2010); Stat1 (Lee et al., 2006; Ivanov et al., 2007; Sow et al., 2009); Stat3 (Sica et al., 2008; Hagemann et al., 2009; Noman et al., 2009; Grivennikov and Karin, 2010; Kang et al., 2010); Stat6 (Hagemann et al., 2009); C/EBPβ (Dlaska and Weiss, 1999; Gorgoni et al., 2002; Albina et al., 2005; Elbarghati et al., 2008); C/EBPα (Liao et al., 2007; Janardhan, 2008; Yang et al., 2008). TF, transcription factor; ND, not determined.

Over-expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  suppressed MSR1 mRNA expression, and or its depletion by siRNA restored MSR1 expression, demonstrating the ability of HIF-1 to convey transcriptional inhibition (Shirato et al., 2009). Furthermore, hypoxia was able to suppress gene expression indirectly through HIF-1 $\alpha$ , as it induced the expression of the transcription repressor BACH1, which regulates the expression of heme oxygenase-1 in human primary monocytes (Bosco et al., 2006). However, the mechanisms that allow HIF-1 $\alpha$  to play a dual role as both an activator and suppressor are not yet known, and this needs to be further explored.

#### POST-TRANSCRIPTIONAL MECHANISMS OF HYPOXIC REGULATION

#### ALTERNATIVE SPLICING AND mRNA STABILITY

Like many other genes, the murine HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA is alternatively spliced, generating the HIF-1 $\alpha$ I.1 and HIF-1 $\alpha$ I.2 isoforms, which have alternative first exons and promoters. Stimulation of TG-elicited peritoneal M $\phi$  and RAW 264.7 cells with TLR4 and A<sub>2A</sub>R agonists synergistically increased the expression of both isoforms with different kinetics. However, only HIF-1 $\alpha$ I.1 was involved in cytokine production and down-regulated the LPSinduced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-12p40, MIP-1 $\alpha$ , MCP-1, and MIP-2), but not IL-1 or VEGF, as was demonstrated in HIF-1 $\alpha$ I.1<sup>-/-</sup> cells. Hypoxia had no effect on the expression of both isoforms (Ramanathan et al., 2009).

The only case that we are aware of hypoxia-induced alternative splicing is of CD80, where hypoxia reduced its surface expression on RAW 264.7 cells while increasing the concentrations of the soluble protein in the supernatants. As amplification of the total mRNA coding for CD80 remained unchanged, but the mRNA coding for the transmembranal region was reduced, it was concluded that hypoxia triggers alternative splicing to generate soluble CD80 (Lahat et al., 2003).

Stability of mRNAs is mediated through the AU-rich elements (AREs) located on the 3'-UTRs of many labile mRNAs and their interaction with different RBP. Presence of AREs is often correlated with rapid mRNA degradation, as occurs with many proinflammatory genes such as cytokines (e.g., TNF $\alpha$ , GM-CSF, IL-8), growth factors (e.g., VEGF), transcription factors (e.g., HIF-1 $\alpha$ ), and other genes (e.g., iNOS, COX-2, uPA, MMPs; Khabar, 2010). Efficient AREs consist of overlapping repetitions of the pentamer AUUUA, giving rise to one or several UUAUUUAUU nonamers, and can assume either a linear or a stem-and-loop conformation. The length of the 3'-UTR and of the ARE itself affects mRNA stability, and longer AREs are associated with shorter half-lives of the mRNAs. Several RBPs bind to 3'-UTR AREs and target the mRNAs for degradation, including tristetraprolin (TTP) and K-homology splicing-regulatory protein (KSRP), while the HuR promote their stabilization. HuR is mostly a nuclear protein, which upon stimulation translocates to the cytoplasm where it binds to selected mRNAs and stabilizes them. Alternatively, phosphorylation of TTP and KSRP reduce their affinity to AREs and thus stabilize the mRNA. In its unphosphorylated form, TTP recruits factors that mediate decapping, deadenylation, and mRNA destruction. Thus, there is a complex interplay between RBPs that bind to the AREs and determine the mRNA half-life (Khabar, 2010).

The 3'-UTR of the HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA contains six scattered pentamer AREs and one nonamer ARE, suggesting that TTP could bind to the HIF-1 $\alpha$  3'-UTR and regulate its stability. In several cancer cell lines, hypoxia increased TTP expression, and the protein directly bound to the HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA AREs. Consistently, overexpression of TTP resulted in decreased HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA, suggesting that hypoxic cells use TTP to modulate HIF-1 $\alpha$  expression (Shin et al., 2010). Although this was not tested in Mo/M $\phi$ , another study demonstrated that prolonged hypoxia and LPS increased the expression of the dephosphorylated form of TTP in RAW 264.7 cells, and reduced the stability of TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, MIP-2, and GM-CSF. Knock-down of TTP by siRNA abolished this destabilization (Werno et al., 2010b). On the other hand, the expression of CXCR4 mRNA was stabilized in hypoxia, although the mechanism was not studied (Schioppa et al., 2003).

#### TRANSLATIONAL REGULATION: RIBOSWITCHES AND microRNAs

Hypoxia leads to immediate shut-down of general protein translation. However, selected proteins, including the HIF proteins and their targets, are nonetheless translated. How these proteins escape global inhibition of translation remains unclear.

Translational regulation is achieved by several mechanisms, and structural elements in the non-coding regions of messenger RNA were shown to modulate gene expression. An example of such an element is the riboswitch, a regulatory element that binds small molecules or ribonucleicprotein (RNP) complexes that induce its conformational change. Riboswitches are usually identified in bacteria, but recently a similar element was identified in the VEGF-A mRNA. This transcript is equally transcribed in IFNy-induced U937 cells in normoxia and hypoxia, but the protein translation is inhibited after 24 h in normoxia, whereas hypoxia abolishes this effect (Ray et al., 2009). The VEGF-A transcript contains a 126nt ARE called hypoxia stability region (HSR) that mediates the mRNA stability in hypoxia. It includes two cis-elements, one is a 21-nt CA-rich element (CARE) that binds with high affinity to the heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein L (hnRNP L), and the other is a 29-nt IFNy-activated inhibitor of translation (GAIT) element that binds the GAIT complex and silences inflammatory gene expression. The binding to these two elements is mutually exclusive. Thus, in normoxia IFNy stimulates the binding of GAIT complex to its element, thereby silencing VEGF-A gene expression, whereas in hypoxia the HSR undergoes a conformational change, which favors binding of hnRNP L and overrides the suppressive effects of IFNy and the GAIT complex (Ray et al., 2009).

Additional translational regulation is exerted by microRNAs (miRNAs), small non-coding RNA molecules that bind with

imperfect complementarity to specific mRNA target sequences, usually located in the 3'-UTR of target mRNA, and rapidly and reversibly inhibit their translation. As miRNA are usually independently transcribed, and some contain HRE in their promoter, hypoxic stress can stimulate their transcription, as was shown in different cell types (Pocock, 2011). For example, miR-210 whose promoter contains an HRE is induced in hypoxic tumor and endothelial cells, and can bind to target genes that are crucial in the mitochondria electron transport, thus diverting the cells away from oxidative phosphorylation and toward glycolysis. Alternatively, miR-210 can repress normoxic target genes that are not required for the hypoxic response (Pocock, 2011).

In Mo/M $\phi$  several miRNAs were identified as regulators of the inflammatory response, in particular miR-155 (O'Connell et al., 2007), miR-146a, and miR-132 (Taganov et al., 2006). LPS markedly induced miR-146a expression in Mo/M $\phi$  in a prolonged kinetics, and negatively regulated IRAK-1 and TRAF-6 expression leading to down-regulation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, as well as to LPS tolerance and cross tolerance (activation by other TLR ligands) in LPS-primed Mo/M $\phi$  (Nahid et al., 2009, 2011).

 $H_2O_2$ -induced oxidative stress in RAW 264.7 Mφ activated the NF-κB pathway and down-regulated the expression of a unique set of miRNA\*s (miRNA expressed at low levels relative to the miRNA in the opposite arm of a hairpin; i.e., miR-27a\*, miR-27b\*, miR-29b\*, miR-24-2\*, and miR-21\*), implicating them, and miR-27b\* in particular, in NF-κB regulation (Thulasingam et al., 2011). Regulation by both miRNA and RBPs is primarily executed on the 3'-UTR region in overlapping sequences, indicating possible crosstalk. Indeed, the translation of VEGF-A mRNA is inhibited by the binding of several miRNAs to the CARE, particularly miR-297 and miR-299 in normoxic monocytic cells (even without additional stimulation with IFNγ). However, hypoxia induces translocation of hnRNP L to the cytoplasm, where it binds the VEGF-A mRNA and prevents miRNA silencing (Jafarifar et al., 2011).

Regulation of protein translation by miRNAs is even further complicated by the finding that miRNA can oscillate between translational repression and activation (which is distinct from alleviating translational repression), depending on their binding location and/or on the conditions in the microenvironment. For example, in proliferating cells  $TNF\alpha$  translation is inhibited by the binding of miRNAs to its ARE located in the 3'-UTR. However, upon serum-starvation and cell cycle arrest, HEK293 cells upregulated TNFa-ARE expression in a manner that depended on miR-369-3. This was mediated by the increased expression of miR-369-3, which recruited the fragile X mental retardation-related protein 1 (FXR1), found exclusively in the activating complex, and Ago2, found in both repressing and activating complexes, into a complex that executed translation activation (Vasudevan et al., 2007). However, as TNF $\alpha$  is mainly produced in Mo/M $\phi$ , and its 3'-UTR ARE is representative of other pro-inflammatory cytokines with short half-life, it is very important that these results be confirmed in Mo/Mo cells, and the precise microenvironmental conditions that activate this switch be defined. These results suggest a new multi-input signal integration mechanism, which could be advantageous particularly in Mo/Mø that must adapt to the changing microenvironment.

#### INTRACELLULAR TRAFFICKING AND PROTEIN-PROTEIN INTERACTIONS

The ability of Mo/M $\phi$  to migrate through the ECM is mediated by the balanced secretion of different MMPs, particularly MMP-9, and their endogenous inhibitors TIMPs. Hypoxia inhibits migration of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells by disrupting this balance, as TIMP-1 was increased whereas MMP-9 and MT1-MMP were decreased (Qu et al., 2005). These inhibitory effects of hypoxia may have been mediated by the adenosine receptor A<sub>2B</sub> in a cAMP and PKC dependent manner (Zhao et al., 2008). Hypoxia also inhibited the TNFα-induced secretion of MMP-9 from U937 cells and primary Mo, thus markedly inhibiting their migration (Rahat et al., 2006). This was not regulated at the transcriptional level, as MMP-9 mRNA was unchanged, or at the translational levels, as the amounts of the intracellular enzyme were increased in hypoxia. Instead, confocal microscopy revealed that in hypoxia MMP-9 was attenuated in secretory vesicles due to the effects of hypoxia on the cytoskeleton. Indeed, secretion of proMMP-9 was reduced by the addition of cytochalasin B or nocodazole, which inhibits the polymerization of actin and tubulin fibers, or by the addition of the Rho kinase inhibitor Y27632, suggesting the involvement of the cytoskeleton and the Rho GTPases in the process of enzyme secretion (Rahat et al., 2006).

Reduced MMP-9 in hypoxia could explain the immobilization of Mo/M $\phi$  in hypoxic regions, in addition to other mechanisms that were reviewed elsewhere (Murdoch et al., 2004; Bosco et al., 2008). Another example of intracellular trafficking is mentioned later (see TNFa Trafficking).

The hallmark of M1-activated M6 is iNOS expression and high NO production, which is crucial for the killing abilities of the Mø, whereas low levels are considered pro-angiogenic (Weigert and Brune, 2008). The main regulatory checkpoint for iNOS is transcriptional, and NF-κB, IRF-1, Stat1, HIF-1α, and C/EBPβ are implicated in its regulation (Pautz et al., 2010). In hypoxia, induction of iNOS transcription and protein expression is demonstrated in differently activated Mo (e.g., peritoneal TG-elicited  $M\phi$ , wound  $M\phi$ , spleen  $M\phi$ ). However, the enzyme is inactivated and may produce only very low amounts of NO (Melillo et al., 1996; Daniliuc et al., 2003). This inactivation was attributed to the lack of the oxygen substrate during hypoxic stress, however, hypoxic Mø lysates failed to produce NO in an a-cellular system in normoxia, where all cofactors and substrates were abundantly present, suggesting a more intricate regulation. Further investigation revealed that in normoxia iNOS is associated with  $\alpha$ -actinin-4, a protein responsible for the cross-linking of actin fibers. This interaction recruits iNOS to the sub-membranal area and ensures its activity. However, hypoxia disrupts these interactions, interferes with iNOS localization and causes its inactivation (Daniliuc et al., 2003).

These two examples highlight a special role for the cytoskeleton in regulating enzyme activity and M $\phi$  phenotype. As cytoskeleton fibers are responsible for the cellular protein trafficking, their disruption may attenuate vesicles within the M $\phi$  and prevent secretion of their content, or inhibit delivery of proteins to their destination. For example, hypoxia increased tubulin stabilization and changed vesicle trafficking in breast carcinoma cells (Yoon et al., 2005). This is further supported by recent findings linking actin cytoskeleton to HIF-1 $\alpha$  stability (Shin et al., 2010).

# THE EFFECTS OF PREVIOUS $M\varphi$ activation on the hypoxic stimulation – the tnF $\alpha$ example tnF $\alpha$ trafficking

In addition to the MMP-9 example, where hypoxia attenuated secretory vesicles, hypoxia also affects TNFa transport. In TG-change the LPS-induced TNFa mRNA levels relative to normoxia, whereas the membranal and intracellular amounts of the protein were reduced, suggesting degradation of TNFα. The proteososmal inhibitor MG132 did not change the hypoxic down-regulation of TNFa, whereas the lysosome inhibitor bafilomycin A1 dosedependently inhibited degradation of intracellular TNFa, suggesting that TNFa is degraded at the lysosome. Using several Rab proteins as markers for different vesicles, TNFa trafficking was mapped to the endosomal pathway, and its presence was demonstrated in recycling endosomes, early endosomes, lysosome, and secretory lysosomes. The increased hypoxic co-localization of TNFa and LAMP-1, the lysosome marker, and the ability of bafilomycin A1 to increase intracellular TNFα to normoxic values, suggested that TNFa is directed to the lysosome and that hypoxia enhances its degradation (Lahat et al., 2008).

# EFFECTS OF PREVIOUS $\textbf{M} \varphi$ activation on the hypoxic stimulation

The overall effects of hypoxia on the expression of TNF $\alpha$  are controversial. It is widely accepted that hypoxia and LPS increase M $\phi$ TNF $\alpha$  secretion (**Table 2**). However, in some cases hypoxia can inhibit TNF $\alpha$  secretion. In our own hands hypoxia exerted opposing effects on LPS-induced secretion of TNF $\alpha$ , as it enhanced it from human monocytes (Lahat et al., 2003), but down-regulated its secretion from peritoneal TG-elicited M $\phi$  and RAW 264.7 cells (Lahat et al., 2008). We have demonstrated that hypoxia enhances the lysosomal degradation of TNF $\alpha$ , thus causing its reduction in pro-inflammatory induced RAW 264.7 cells (Lahat et al., 2008). Werno et al. (2010b) have also shown that hypoxia reduced TNF $\alpha$ secretion from pro-inflammatory RAW 264.7 cells, although they suggested a mechanism of reduced mRNA stability, which also affected other pro-inflammatory mediators such as MIP-2 and IL-6, and is not mutually exclusive with lysosomal degradation.

This apparent contradiction between the enhancing and inhibiting effects of hypoxia on TNFa secretion may be resolved by taking into account the priming state of the Mø. Priming signals may by themselves be insufficient to stimulate  $M\phi$ , but they sensitize it for further triggering. Traditionally, IFNy is used to prime M¢ that consequently encounter TLR ligands (such as LPS) and become fully M1 activated, although the sequence of these events is insignificant (Schroder et al., 2006). We suggest that "naïve" M¢ that were not previously primed respond to a combination of hypoxia and LPS by elevating TNFa secretion, whereas Mo that are already primed or M1-activated react by down-regulating TNFa secretion, relative to activation with LPS alone. In this sense, RAW 264.7 cells behaved like primed cells, and we speculate that as the cell line was obtained from a tumor induced by the Abelson murine leukemia virus, the viral transformation primes the macrophage.

To further make the point, we compared resident peritoneal  $M\varphi$  with TG-elicited  $M\varphi$ , by exposing them for 48 h to hypoxia,

Mφ type	Priming	Нур. (%)	Time (h)	Stim.	Mechanism	Effect	Reference
NAïVE MO/Mo	)						
Human Mo	None	<0.3	24	LPS	Transcription	Up-regulation	Lahat et al. (2003)
	None	3	16	LPS	Transcription	Up-regulation	Guida and Stewart (1998)
	None	1		None	Transcription	Up-regulation	Demasi et al. (2003)
Resident	None	<0.3	24	LPS	Transcription	Up-regulation	Lahat et al. (2003)
peritoneal Mø							
	None	0	18	LPS	Transcription	Up-regulation	Meng et al. (2001)
	None	0	24	LPS + IFN	Transcription	Up-regulation	Albina et al. (1995)
Alveolar Mø	None	2	2	LPS	Transcription	Up-regulation	Leeper-Woodford and Detmer (1999)
Wound Mø	None	0	24	LPS + IFN	Transcription	Up-regulation	Albina et al. (1995)
BV-2 microglial	None	3	12	None	Transcription	Up-regulation	Li et al. (2009)
cells							
THP-1	None	1	18	None	Transcription	Up-regulation	Scannell et al. (1993)
PRIMED MO/M	1φ						
RAW 264.7	(Viral) trans-		16	LPS	mRNA stability	Down-	Werno et al. (2010b)
	formation?					regulation	
			24	None	Not specified	Down-	Yun et al. (1997)
						regulation	
		<0.3	24	LPS	Enhanced lysosomal	Down-	Lahat et al. (2008)
					degradation	regulation	
TG-elicited	TG	<0.3	24	LPS	Enhanced lysosomal	Down-	Lahat et al. (2008)
peritoneal Mø					degradation	regulation	

Table 2 | Controversial effects of hypoxia on TNF $\alpha$  secretion from M $\phi$ .

Stim., stimulus; Hyp., hypoxia.

with or without addition of LPS. **Figure 1** shows the opposing effects of hypoxia on these M $\phi$ , although they originate from the same organ. Given the wide use of TG-elicited M $\phi$ , it is important to note that these cells are derived from a site of ongoing inflammation, and are therefore at least partially activated and should be considered primed in comparison to the "naïve" resident peritoneal M $\phi$  (as stated in Takeda et al., 2010).

Likewise, when we primed U937 or THP-1 cells by incubating them or 48 h with LPS (simulating gram negative bacterial activation) or with IFN $\beta$  (simulating viral activation), and then exposed them for additional 24 h to LPS (at a higher concentration) and hypoxia, we again observed the inhibitory effects of hypoxia on IFN $\beta$ -primed cells, but not on "naïve" cells (**Figure 1**). Note that the lack of response when cells were primed with LPS suggests the involvement of LPS tolerance, which is mediated by the NF- $\kappa$ B p50:p50 homodimers (Frede et al., 2009). It may also imply that IFN $\beta$ -priming is mediated by a different mechanism. Thus, the inhibited secretion of TNF $\alpha$ , a typical pro-inflammatory marker, from primed M1-activated M $\phi$  is inhibited by hypoxia, suggesting that hypoxia may act to restrain the pro-inflammatory M $\phi$ .

#### **CONCLUDING REMARKS AND PERSPECTIVES**

Generally, the hypoxic response depends on cell type, duration of exposure, severity of the hypoxic insult, and as demonstrated for TNF $\alpha$ , previous priming of the M $\phi$ . Thus, hypoxia can activate M $\phi$  in a pro-inflammatory way, or skew the pro-inflammatory M $\phi$  toward a phenotype approximating the M2 or resolution phenotypes. Since hypoxic M $\phi$  display a mixture of markers of both

M1 and M2 activation, classifying them is not straightforward, and they may represent a unique mode of activation which has several common markers with both M1 and M2 activation. In this respect, hypoxia may serve to restrain the pro-inflammatory M $\phi$  and prevent exacerbation of tissue damage, or alternatively ensure that M $\phi$ retained in the hypoxic tissue for long periods of time can gradually become M2 activated and engage in processes such as wound healing and/or resolution. In physiological scenarios (e.g., acute inflammation) this has a favorable outcome, whereas in chronic inflammation (e.g., in autoimmune diseases or solid tumors) the inhibitory effects of hypoxia may have devastating results.

Hypoxia profoundly changes Mo/M $\phi$  activation mode by regulating gene expression. Most of the known regulatory mechanisms are transcriptional, and rely on the cooperation between the master regulator NF- $\kappa$ B and HIFs to mediate this induction of gene expression. However, in some cases HIF can also act as a transcriptional suppressor. Determination of M $\phi$  activation mode further rely on the cooperation with additional transcriptional factors that are expressed or modified according to the signals received by the microenvironment. The effects of hypoxia on differently activated M $\phi$  and the molecular mechanisms it exerts (summarized in **Figure 2**) were not investigated enough. For example, it seems reasonable to assume that differently activated M $\phi$  located in divergent microenvironments would express different HIF isoforms in different proportions and with different kinetics. However, this assumption merits further study.

Additional levels of post-transcriptional and post-translational regulation are gradually revealed. These include regulation of



peritoneal M $\phi$  (*n* = 14) or **(B)** TG-elicited peritoneal M $\phi$  (*n* = 16) were subjected to hypoxia (<0.3% O<sub>2</sub>) for 24 h, with or without stimulation with LPS (1 µg/ml). Hypoxia inhibited the secretion of high amounts of TNF $\alpha$ that were produced in normoxia in primed TG-elicited M $\phi$ , while an opposite response to hypoxia was observed for the naïve resident M $\phi$ . The





**FIGURE 2 | Molecular mechanisms mediating the regulatory effects of hypoxia.** Hypoxia affects the production, secretion, and activity of key Mφ proteins in several regulatory checkpoints, generally keeping the pro-inflammatory Mφ in check. **(A)** Transcriptional regulation in the M1-activated Mφ in normoxia is based on the collaboration between NF-kB, low level of HIF-1, and additional transcription factors. In hypoxia, more HIFs are produced, and genes involved in angiogenesis, metabolism, and survival are triggered. **(B)** HIFs protein stability in hypoxia is increased, as the prolyl hydroxylases that target them for proteosomal degradation in normoxia are inhibited. **(C)** Stability of mRNA is regulated by RNA-binding proteins to the AU-rich elements (ARE) located in the 3'-UTR. **(D)** Post-transcriptional regulation – Riboswitch: The VEGF example illustrates how hypoxia changes secondary structures of 3'-UTR elements, and the binding of protein complexes to them, thus increasing their stability and translation. **(E)** Post-transcriptional regulation – microRNAs: Hypoxia modulates the expression of microRNAs that bind selected transcripts, thereby inhibiting or alleviating inhibition of their translation. **(F)** Post-translational regulation – Trafficking: Hypoxia retains secretory vesicles by inhibiting the actin cytoskeleton, thus attenuating the secretion of proteins such as MMP-9. Hypoxia also enhances the lysosomal degradation of other proteins, such as TNF $\alpha$ , which are secreted via the endosomal pathway. **(G)** Post-translational regulation – Localization: Hypoxia disrupts the interactions between iNOS and  $\alpha$ -actinin-4, which anchors it to the cortical cytoskeleton, resulting in its inactivation. SV, secretory vesicles; EE, early endosome; L, lysosome; SL, secretory lysosomes. +/- indicated reduced or inhibited transcription.

mRNA stability, regulation of translation via RBP and microRNA, protein trafficking and protein–protein interactions which may be regulated via reorganization of the cytoskeleton. We now begin to understand how some of these mechanisms allow M $\phi$  to integrate the different microenvironmental signals and to determine the M $\phi$  activation mode. Therefore, these mechanisms should be further studied in the context of M $\phi$  activation, to provide better insights and new approaches to manipulate M $\phi$  in the hypoxic

#### REFERENCES

- Acosta-Iborra, B., Elorza, A., Olazabal, I. M., Martin-Cofreces, N. B., Martin-Puig, S., Miro, M., Calzada, M. J., Aragones, J., Sanchez-Madrid, F., and Landazuri, M. O. (2009). Macrophage oxygen sensing modulates antigen presentation and phagocytic functions involving IFNgamma production through the HIF-1 alpha transcription factor. J. Immunol. 182, 3155–3164.
- Albina, J. E., Henry, W. L. Jr., Mastrofrancesco, B., Martin, B. A., and Reichner, J. S. (1995). Macrophage activation by culture in an anoxic environment. *J. Immunol.* 155, 4391–4396.
- Albina, J. E., Mahoney, E. J., Daley, J. M., Wesche, D. E., Morris, S. M. Jr., and Reichner, J. S. (2005). Macrophage arginase regulation by CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta. *Shock* 23, 168–172.
- Alfranca, A., Gutierrez, M. D., Vara, A., Aragones, J., Vidal, F., and Landazuri, M. O. (2002). c-Jun and hypoxiainducible factor 1 functionally cooperate in hypoxia-induced gene transcription. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 12–22.
- Auffray, C., Sieweke, M. H., and Geissmann, F. (2009). Blood monocytes: development, heterogeneity, and relationship with dendritic cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 669–692.
- Bandyopadhyay, R. S., Phelan, M., and Faller, D. V. (1995). Hypoxia induces AP-1-regulated genes and AP-1 transcription factor binding in human endothelial and other cell types. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1264, 72–78.
- Behn, C., Araneda, O. F., Llanos, A. J., Celedon, G., and Gonzalez, G. (2007). Hypoxia-related lipid peroxidation: evidences, implications and approaches. *Respir. Physiol. Neurobiol.* 158, 143–150.
- Belaiba, R. S., Bonello, S., Zahringer, C., Schmidt, S., Hess, J., Kietzmann, T., and Gorlach, A. (2007). Hypoxia upregulates hypoxia-inducible factorlalpha transcription by involving phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and nuclear factor kappaB in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 18, 4691–4697.

- Biswas, S. K., and Lewis, C. E. (2010). NF-kappaB as a central regulator of macrophage function in tumors. J. Leukoc. Biol. 88, 877–884.
- Bosco, M. C., Puppo, M., Blengio, F., Fraone, T., Cappello, P., Giovarelli, M., and Varesio, L. (2008). Monocytes and dendritic cells in a hypoxic environment: spotlights on chemotaxis and migration. *Immunobiology* 213, 733–749.
- Bosco, M. C., Puppo, M., Pastorino, S., Mi, Z., Melillo, G., Massazza, S., Rapisarda, A., and Varesio, L. (2004). Hypoxia selectively inhibits monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 production by macrophages. J. Immunol. 172, 1681–1690.
- Bosco, M. C., Puppo, M., Santangelo, C., Anfosso, L., Pfeffer, U., Fardin, P., Battaglia, F., and Varesio, L. (2006). Hypoxia modifies the transcriptome of primary human monocytes: modulation of novel immunerelated genes and identification of CC-chemokine ligand 20 as a new hypoxia-inducible gene. J. Immunol. 177, 1941–1955.
- Bronte, V. (2009). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in inflammation: uncovering cell subsets with enhanced immunosuppressive functions. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 39, 2670–2672.
- Burke, B., Tang, N., Corke, K. P., Tazzyman, D., Ameri, K., Wells, M., and Lewis, C. E. (2002). Expression of HIF-1alpha by human macrophages: implications for the use of macrophages in hypoxiaregulated cancer gene therapy. *J. Pathol.* 196, 204–212.
- Bystrom, J., Evans, I., Newson, J., Stables, M., Toor, I., Van Rooijen, N., Crawford, M., Colville-Nash, P., Farrow, S., and Gilroy, D. W. (2008). Resolution-phase macrophages possess a unique inflammatory phenotype that is controlled by cAMP. *Blood* 112, 4117–4127.
- Carbia-Nagashima, A., Gerez, J., Perez-Castro, C., Paez-Pereda, M., Silberstein, S., Stalla, G. K., Holsboer, F., and Arzt, E. (2007). RSUME, a small RWD-containing protein, enhances SUMO conjugation and stabilizes

microenvironment while taking advantage of their selective ability to home to and accumulate in hypoxic regions.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This work was supported by a grant from the Rappaport Family Institute for Research in the Medical Sciences and by Research Grant 5343 from the Chief Scientist Office of the Israeli Ministry of Health. We would like to thank Amir Rahat for critical reading.

HIF-1alpha during hypoxia. *Cell* 131, 309–323.

- Chandel, N. S., Trzyna, W. C., Mcclintock, D. S., and Schumacker, P. T. (2000). Role of oxidants in NF-kappa B activation and TNFalpha gene transcription induced by hypoxia and endotoxin. *J. Immunol.* 165, 1013–1021.
- Cheng, J., Kang, X., Zhang, S., and Yeh, E. T. (2007). SUMO-specific protease 1 is essential for stabilization of HIF1alpha during hypoxia. *Cell* 131, 584–595.
- Cho, H., Ahn, D. R., Park, H., and Yang, E. G. (2007). Modulation of p300 binding by posttranslational modifications of the C-terminal activation domain of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha. *FEBS Lett.* 581, 1542–1548.
- Cockman, M. E., Lancaster, D. E., Stolze, I. P., Hewitson, K. S., Mcdonough, M. A., Coleman, M. L., Coles, C. H., Yu, X., Hay, R. T., Ley, S. C., Pugh, C. W., Oldham, N. J., Masson, N., Schofield, C. J., and Ratcliffe, P. J. (2006). Posttranslational hydroxylation of ankyrin repeats in IkappaB proteins by the hypoxiainducible factor (HIF) asparaginyl hydroxylase, factor inhibiting HIF (FIH). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 14767–14772.
- Coffelt, S. B., Hughes, R., and Lewis, C. E. (2009). Tumor-associated macrophages: effectors of angiogenesis and tumor progression. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1796, 11–18.
- Cramer, T., Yamanishi, Y., Clausen, B. E., Forster, I., Pawlinski, R., Mackman, N., Haase, V. H., Jaenisch, R., Corr, M., Nizet, V., Firestein, G. S., Gerber, H. P., Ferrara, N., and Johnson, R. S. (2003). HIF-1alpha is essential for myeloid cell-mediated inflammation. *Cell* 112, 645–657.
- Cros, J., Cagnard, N., Woollard, K., Patey, N., Zhang, S. Y., Senechal, B., Puel, A., Biswas, S. K., Moshous, D., Picard, C., Jais, J. P., D'cruz, D., Casanova, J. L., Trouillet, C., and Geissmann, F. (2010). Human CD14dim monocytes patrol and sense nucleic acids and viruses via TLR7 and TLR8 receptors. *Immunity* 33, 375–386.

- Crowther, M., Brown, N. J., Bishop, E. T., and Lewis, C. E. (2001). Microenvironmental influence on macrophage regulation of angiogenesis in wounds and malignant tumors. J. Leukoc. Biol. 70, 478–490.
- Cummins, E. P., Berra, E., Comerford, K. M., Ginouves, A., Fitzgerald, K. T., Seeballuck, F., Godson, C., Nielsen, J. E., Moynagh, P., Pouyssegur, J., and Taylor, C. T. (2006). Prolyl hydroxylase-1 negatively regulates IkappaB kinase-beta, giving insight into hypoxia-induced NFkappaB activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 18154–18159.
- Daniliuc, S., Bitterman, H., Rahat, M. A., Kinarty, A., Rosenzweig, D., and Lahat, N. (2003). Hypoxia inactivates inducible nitric oxide synthase in mouse macrophages by disrupting its interaction with alpha-actinin 4. J. Immunol. 171, 3225–3232.
- De Palma, M., Murdoch, C., Venneri, M. A., Naldini, L., and Lewis, C. E. (2007). Tie2-expressing monocytes: regulation of tumor angiogenesis and therapeutic implications. *Trends Immunol.* 28, 519–524.
- Demasi, M., Cleland, L. G., Cook-Johnson, R. J., Caughey, G. E., and James, M. J. (2003). Effects of hypoxia on monocyte inflammatory mediator production: dissociation between changes in cyclooxygenase-2 expression and eicosanoid synthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 38607–38616.
- Denko, N. C. (2008). Hypoxia, HIF1 and glucose metabolism in the solid tumour. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 8, 705–713.
- Dlaska, M., and Weiss, G. (1999). Central role of transcription factor NF-IL6 for cytokine and iron-mediated regulation of murine inducible nitric oxide synthase expression. J. Immunol. 162, 6171–6177.
- Elbarghati, L., Murdoch, C., and Lewis, C. E. (2008). Effects of hypoxia on transcription factor expression in human monocytes and macrophages. *Immunobiology* 213, 899–908.
- Eltzschig, H. K. (2011). Targeting hypoxia-induced inflammation. *Anesthesiology* 114, 239–242.

- Fang, H. Y., Hughes, R., Murdoch, C., Coffelt, S. B., Biswas, S. K., Harris, A. L., Johnson, R. S., Imityaz, H. Z., Simon, M. C., Fredlund, E., Greten, F. R., Rius, J., and Lewis, C. E. (2009). Hypoxia-inducible factors 1 and 2 are important transcriptional effectors in primary macrophages experiencing hypoxia. *Blood* 114, 844–859.
- Fitzpatrick, S. F., Tambuwala, M. M., Bruning, U., Schaible, B., Scholz, C. C., Byrne, A., O'connor, A., Gallagher, W. M., Lenihan, C. R., Garvey, J. F., Howell, K., Fallon, P. G., Cummins, E. P., and Taylor, C. T. (2011). An intact canonical NF-kappaB pathway is required for inflammatory gene expression in response to hypoxia. *J. Immunol.* 186, 1091–1096.
- Flugel, D., Gorlach, A., Michiels, C., and Kietzmann, T. (2007). Glycogen synthase kinase 3 phosphorylates hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha and mediates its destabilization in a VHL-independent manner. Mol. Cell. Biol. 27, 3253–3265.
- Fong, C. H., Bebien, M., Didierlaurent, A., Nebauer, R., Hussell, T., Broide, D., Karin, M., and Lawrence, T. (2008). An antiinflammatory role for IKKbeta through the inhibition of "classical" macrophage activation. J. Exp. Med. 205, 1269–1276.
- Frede, S., Stockmann, C., Freitag, P., and Fandrey, J. (2006). Bacterial lipopolysaccharide induces HIF-1 activation in human monocytes via p44/42 MAPK and NF-kappaB. *Biochem. J.* 396, 517–527.
- Frede, S., Stockmann, C., Winning, S., Freitag, P., and Fandrey, J. (2009). Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) 1alpha accumulation and HIF target gene expression are impaired after induction of endotoxin tolerance. J. Immunol. 182, 6470–6476.
- Gabrilovich, D. I., and Nagaraj, S. (2009). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9, 162–174.
- Galban, S., and Gorospe, M. (2009). Factors interacting with HIF-1alpha mRNA: novel therapeutic targets. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 15, 3853–3860.
- Galban, S., Kuwano, Y., Pullmann, R. Jr., Martindale, J. L., Kim, H. H., Lal, A., Abdelmohsen, K., Yang, X., Dang, Y., Liu, J. O., Lewis, S. M., Holcik, M., and Gorospe, M. (2008). RNAbinding proteins HuR and PTB promote the translation of hypoxiainducible factor lalpha. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 93–107.
- Geissmann, F., Jung, S., and Littman, D. R. (2003). Blood monocytes consist of two principal subsets with distinct migratory properties. *Immunity* 19, 71–82.

- Gordon, S., and Martinez, F. O. (2010). Alternative activation of macrophages: mechanism and functions. *Immunity* 32, 593–604.
- Gorgoni, B., Maritano, D., Marthyn, P., Righi, M., and Poli, V. (2002). C/EBP beta gene inactivation causes both impaired and enhanced gene expression and inverse regulation of IL-12 p40 and p35 mRNAs in macrophages. J. Immunol. 168, 4055–4062.
- Griffiths, L., Binley, K., Iqball, S., Kan, O., Maxwell, P., Ratcliffe, P., Lewis, C., Harris, A., Kingsman, S., and Naylor, S. (2000). The macrophage – a novel system to deliver gene therapy to pathological hypoxia. *Gene Ther.* 7, 255–262.
- Grivennikov, S. I., and Karin, M. (2010). Dangerous liaisons: STAT3 and NFkappaB collaboration and crosstalk in cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 21, 11–19.
- Grocott, M. P., Martin, D. S., Levett, D. Z., Mcmorrow, R., Windsor, J., and Montgomery, H. E. (2009). Arterial blood gases and oxygen content in climbers on Mount Everest. N. Engl. J. Med. 360, 140–149.
- Guida, E., and Stewart, A. (1998). Influence of hypoxia and glucose deprivation on tumour necrosis factoralpha and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor expression in human cultured monocytes. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 8, 75–88.
- Hagemann, T., Biswas, S. K., Lawrence, T., Sica, A., and Lewis, C. E. (2009). Regulation of macrophage function in tumors: the multifaceted role of NF-kappaB. *Blood* 113, 3139–3146.
- Hartmann, G., Tschop, M., Fischer, R., Bidlingmaier, C., Riepl, R., Tschop, K., Hautmann, H., Endres, S., and Toepfer, M. (2000). High altitude increases circulating interleukin-6, interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and C-reactive protein. *Cytokine* 12, 246–252.
- Heikkila, M., Pasanen, A., Kivirikko, K. I., and Myllyharju, J. (2011). Roles of the human hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-3alpha variants in the hypoxia response. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* PMID: 21479871. [Epub ahead of print].
- Hudson, C. C., Liu, M., Chiang, G. G., Otterness, D. M., Loomis, D. C., Kaper, F., Giaccia, A. J., and Abraham, R. T. (2002). Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha expression and function by the mammalian target of rapamycin. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 7004–7014.
- Ivanov, S. V., Salnikow, K., Ivanova, A. V., Bai, L., and Lerman, M. I. (2007). Hypoxic repression of STAT1 and its downstream genes by a pVHL/HIF-1

target DEC1/STRA13. Oncogene 26, 802–812.

- Jafarifar, F., Yao, P., Eswarappa, S. M., and Fox, P. L. (2011). Repression of VEGFA by CA-rich element-binding microRNAs is modulated by hnRNP L. *EMBO J.* 30, 1324–1334.
- Janardhan, H. P. (2008). The HIF-1 alpha-C/EBP alpha axis. *Sci. Signal.* 1, jc2.
- Kang, S. H., Yu, M. O., Park, K. J., Chi, S. G., Park, D. H., and Chung, Y. G. (2010). Activated STAT3 regulates hypoxia-induced angiogenesis and cell migration in human glioblastoma. *Neurosurgery* 67, 1386–1395; discussion 1395.
- Khabar, K. S. (2010). Posttranscriptional control during chronic inflammation and cancer: a focus on AU-rich elements. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 67, 2937–2955.
- Kim, D., Kim, Y. J., Koh, H. S., Jang, T. Y., Park, H. E., and Kim, J. Y. (2010). Reactive oxygen species enhance TLR10 expression in the human monocytic cell line THP-1. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 11, 3769–3782.
- Laderoute, K. R. (2005). The interaction between HIF-1 and AP-1 transcription factors in response to low oxygen. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 16, 502–513.
- Laderoute, K. R., Alarcon, R. M., Brody, M. D., Calaoagan, J. M., Chen, E. Y., Knapp, A. M., Yun, Z., Denko, N. C., and Giaccia, A. J. (2000). Opposing effects of hypoxia on expression of the angiogenic inhibitor thrombospondin 1 and the angiogenic inducer vascular endothelial growth factor. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 6, 2941–2950.
- Lahat, N., Bitterman, H., Engelmayer-Goren, M., Rosenzweig, D., Weiss-Cerem, L., and Rahat, M. A. (2011). Reduced TIMP-2 in hypoxia enhances angiogenesis. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 300, C557–C566.
- Lahat, N., Rahat, M. A., Ballan, M., Weiss-Cerem, L., Engelmayer, M., and Bitterman, H. (2003). Hypoxia reduces CD80 expression on monocytes but enhances their LPS-stimulated TNF-alpha secretion. J. Leukoc. Biol. 74, 197–205.
- Lahat, N., Rahat, M. A., Kinarty, A., Weiss-Cerem, L., Pinchevski, S., and Bitterman, H. (2008).
  Hypoxia enhances lysosomal TNFalpha degradation in mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Am. J. Physiol.*, *Cell Physiol.* 295, C2–C12.
- Lawrence, T., and Fong, C. (2010). The resolution of inflammation: anti-inflammatory roles for NFkappaB. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 42, 519–523.

- Lee, K. J., Lee, K. Y., and Lee, Y. M. (2010). Downregulation of a tumor suppressor RECK by hypoxia through recruitment of HDAC1 and HIF-1alpha to reverse HRE site in the promoter. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1803, 608–616.
- Lee, M. Y., Joung, Y. H., Lim, E. J., Park, J. H., Ye, S. K., Park, T., Zhang, Z., Park, D. K., Lee, K. J., and Yang, Y. M. (2006). Phosphorylation and activation of STAT proteins by hypoxia in breast cancer cells. *Breast* 15, 187–195.
- Leeper-Woodford, S. K., and Detmer, K. (1999). Acute hypoxia increases alveolar macrophage tumor necrosis factor activity and alters NFkappaB expression. Am. J. Physiol. 276, L909–L916.
- Lewis, C. E., and Pollard, J. W. (2006). Distinct role of macrophages in different tumor microenvironments. *Cancer Res.* 66, 605–612.
- Lewis, J. S., Lee, J. A., Underwood, J. C., Harris, A. L., and Lewis, C. E. (1999). Macrophage responses to hypoxia: relevance to disease mechanisms. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 66, 889–900.
- Li, F., Sonveaux, P., Rabbani, Z. N., Liu, S., Yan, B., Huang, Q., Vujaskovic, Z., Dewhirst, M. W., and Li, C. Y. (2007). Regulation of HIF-1alpha stability through S-nitrosylation. *Mol. Cell* 26, 63–74.
- Li, P., Lu, J., Kaur, C., Sivakumar, V., Tan, K. L., and Ling, E. A. (2009). Expression of cyclooxygenase-1/-2, microsomal prostaglandin-E synthase-1 and E-prostanoid receptor 2 and regulation of inflammatory mediators by PGE(2) in the amoeboid microglia in hypoxic postnatal rats and murine BV-2 cells. *Neuroscience* 164, 948–962.
- Li, S. H., Chun, Y. S., Lim, J. H., Huang, L. E., and Park, J. W. (2011). von Hippel-Lindau protein adjusts oxygen sensing of the FIH asparaginyl hydroxylase. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 43, 795–804.
- Liao, H., Hyman, M. C., Lawrence, D. A., and Pinsky, D. J. (2007). Molecular regulation of the PAI-1 gene by hypoxia: contributions of Egr-1, HIF-1alpha, and C/EBPalpha. FASEB J. 21, 935–949.
- Luo, W., Hu, H., Chang, R., Zhong, J., Knabel, M., O'Meally, R., Cole, R. N., Pandey, A., and Semenza, G. L. (2011). Pyruvate kinase M2 is a PHD3-stimulated coactivator for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Cell* 145, 732–744.
- Mancino, A., and Lawrence, T. (2010). Nuclear factor-kappaB and tumorassociated macrophages. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 16, 784–789.

- Martinez, F. O., Helming, L., and Gordon, S. (2009). Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27, 451–483.
- Martinez, F. O., Sica, A., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2008). Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 453–461.
- Matzinger, P. (2002). The danger model: a renewed sense of self. *Science* 296, 301–305.
- Melillo, G., Taylor, L. S., Brooks, A., Cox, G. W., and Varesio, L. (1996). Regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in IFN-gammatreated murine macrophages cultured under hypoxic conditions. J. Immunol. 157, 2638–2644.
- Meng, X., Ao, L., Shames, B. D., and Harken, A. H. (2001). Inhibition of cyclic-3',5'-nucleotide phosphodiesterase abrogates the synergism of hypoxia with lipopolysaccharide in the induction of macrophage TNFalpha production. J. Surg. Res. 101, 210–215.
- Minko, T., Wang, Y., and Pozharov, V. (2005). Remediation of cellular hypoxic damage by pharmacological agents. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 11, 3185–3199.
- Mosser, D. M. (2003). The many faces of macrophage activation. J. Leukoc. Biol. 73, 209–212.
- Mosser, D. M., and Edwards, J. P. (2008). Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 958–969.
- Murdoch, C., Giannoudis, A., and Lewis, C. E. (2004). Mechanisms regulating the recruitment of macrophages into hypoxic areas of tumors and other ischemic tissues. *Blood* 104, 2224–2234.
- Murdoch, C., Muthana, M., Coffelt, S. B., and Lewis, C. E. (2008). The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 8, 618–631.
- Murdoch, C., Muthana, M., and Lewis, C. E. (2005). Hypoxia regulates macrophage functions in inflammation. J. Immunol. 175, 6257–6263.
- Mylonis, I., Chachami, G., Samiotaki, M., Panayotou, G., Paraskeva, E., Kalousi, A., Georgatsou, E., Bonanou, S., and Simos, G. (2006). Identification of MAPK phosphorylation sites and their role in the localization and activity of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 33095–33106.
- Nahid, M. A., Pauley, K. M., Satoh, M., and Chan, E. K. (2009). miR-146a is critical for endotoxininduced tolerance: implication in innate immunity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 34590–34599.

- Nahid, M. A., Satoh, M., and Chan, E. K. (2011). Mechanistic role of microRNA-146a in endotoxininduced differential cross-regulation of TLR signaling. *J. Immunol.* 186, 1723–1734.
- Nahrendorf, M., Pittet, M. J., and Swirski, F. K. (2010). Monocytes: protagonists of infarct inflammation and repair after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 121, 2437–2445.
- Niu, G., Briggs, J., Deng, J., Ma, Y., Lee, H., Kortylewski, M., Kujawski, M., Kay, H., Cress, W. D., Jove, R., and Yu, H. (2008). Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 is required for hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha RNA expression in both tumor cells and tumorassociated myeloid cells. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 6, 1099–1105.
- Nizet, V., and Johnson, R. S. (2009). Interdependence of hypoxic and innate immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9, 609–617.
- Noman, M. Z., Buart, S., Van Pelt, J., Richon, C., Hasmim, M., Leleu, N., Suchorska, W. M., Jalil, A., Lecluse, Y., El Hage, F., Giuliani, M., Pichon, C., Azzarone, B., Mazure, N., Romero, P., Mami-Chouaib, F., and Chouaib, S. (2009). The cooperative induction of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha and STAT3 during hypoxia induced an impairment of tumor susceptibility to CTLmediated cell lysis. J. Immunol. 182, 3510–3521.
- O'Connell, R. M., Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Cheng, G., and Baltimore, D. (2007). MicroRNA-155 is induced during the macrophage inflammatory response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 1604–1609.
- Oda, T., Hirota, K., Nishi, K., Takabuchi, S., Oda, S., Yamada, H., Arai, T., Fukuda, K., Kita, T., Adachi, T., Semenza, G. L., and Nohara, R. (2006). Activation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 during macrophage differentiation. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 291, C104– C113.
- Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., and Sinha, P. (2009). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. J. Immunol. 182, 4499–4506.
- Papandreou, I., Powell, A., Lim, A. L., and Denko, N. (2005). Cellular reaction to hypoxia: sensing and responding to an adverse environment. *Mutat. Res.* 569, 87–100.
- Patel, S. A., and Simon, M. C. (2008). Biology of hypoxia-inducible factor-2alpha in development and disease. *Cell Death Differ*. 15, 628–634.
- Pautz, A., Art, J., Hahn, S., Nowag, S., Voss, C., and Kleinert, H. (2010). Regulation of the expression

of inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Nitric Oxide* 23, 75–93.

- Peyssonnaux, C., Cejudo-Martin, P., Doedens, A., Zinkernagel, A. S., Johnson, R. S., and Nizet, V. (2007). Cutting edge: essential role of hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha in development of lipopolysaccharideinduced sepsis. *J. Immunol.* 178, 7516–7519.
- Pocock, R. (2011). Invited review: decoding the microRNA response to hypoxia. *Pflugers Arch*. 461, 307–315.
- Qian, B. Z., and Pollard, J. W. (2010). Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell* 141, 39–51.
- Qu, X., Yang, M. X., Kong, B. H., Qi, L., Lam, Q. L., Yan, S., Li, P., Zhang, M., and Lu, L. (2005). Hypoxia inhibits the migratory capacity of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 83, 668–673.
- Rahat, M. A., Marom, B., Bitterman, H., Weiss-Cerem, L., Kinarty, A., and Lahat, N. (2006). Hypoxia reduces the output of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) in monocytes by inhibiting its secretion and elevating membranal association. J. Leukoc. Biol. 79, 706–718.
- Ramanathan, M., Luo, W., Csoka, B., Hasko, G., Lukashev, D., Sitkovsky, M. V., and Leibovich, S. J. (2009). Differential regulation of HIF-1alpha isoforms in murine macrophages by TLR4 and adenosine A(2A) receptor agonists. J. Leukoc. Biol. 86, 681–689.
- Ray, P. S., Jia, J., Yao, P., Majumder, M., Hatzoglou, M., and Fox, P. L. (2009).
  A stress-responsive RNA switch regulates VEGFA expression. *Nature* 457, 915–919.
- Rius, J., Guma, M., Schachtrup, C., Akassoglou, K., Zinkernagel, A. S., Nizet, V., Johnson, R. S., Haddad, G. G., and Karin, M. (2008). NFkappaB links innate immunity to the hypoxic response through transcriptional regulation of HIF-1alpha. *Nature* 453, 807–811.
- Rosenberger, P., Schwab, J. M., Mirakaj, V., Masekowsky, E., Mager, A., Morote-Garcia, J. C., Unertl, K., and Eltzschig, H. K. (2009). Hypoxiainducible factor-dependent induction of netrin-1 dampens inflammation caused by hypoxia. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 195–202.
- Saccani, A., Schioppa, T., Porta, C., Biswas, S. K., Nebuloni, M., Vago, L., Bottazzi, B., Colombo, M. P., Mantovani, A., and Sica, A. (2006). p50 nuclear factor-kapaB overexpression in tumor-associated macrophages inhibits M1 inflammatory responses and antitumor resistance. *Cancer Res.* 66, 11432–11440.

- Sakamoto, T., and Seiki, M. (2010). A membrane protease regulates energy production in macrophages by activating hypoxia-inducible factor-1 via a non-proteolytic mechanism. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 29951–29964.
- Scannell, G., Waxman, K., Kaml, G. J., Ioli, G., Gatanaga, T., Yamamoto, R., and Granger, G. A. (1993). Hypoxia induces a human macrophage cell line to release tumor necrosis factor-alpha and its soluble receptors in vitro. *J. Surg. Res.* 54, 281–285.
- Schif-Zuck, S., Gross, N., Assi, S., Rostoker, R., Serhan, C. N., and Ariel, A. (2011). Saturated-efferocytosis generates pro-resolving CD11b low macrophages: modulation by resolvins and glucocorticoids. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 366–379.
- Schioppa, T., Uranchimeg, B., Saccani, A., Biswas, S. K., Doni, A., Rapisarda, A., Bernasconi, S., Saccani, S., Nebuloni, M., Vago, L., Mantovani, A., Melillo, G., and Sica, A. (2003). Regulation of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 by hypoxia. *J. Exp. Med.* 198, 1391–1402.
- Schroder, K., Sweet, M. J., and Hume, D. A. (2006). Signal integration between IFNgamma and TLR signalling pathways in macrophages. *Immunobiology* 211, 511–524.
- Shin, I. J., Park, B. K., Ahn, Y. T., Kim, Y., and An, W. G. (2010). Actin disruption inhibits hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha expression via inactivity of Mdm2-mediated p7086K. *Mol. Med. Report* 3, 815–819.
- Shirato, K., Kizaki, T., Sakurai, T., Ogasawara, J. E., Ishibashi, Y., Iijima, T., Okada, C., Noguchi, I., Imaizumi, K., Taniguchi, N., and Ohno, H. (2009). Hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha suppresses the expression of macrophage scavenger receptor 1. *Pflugers Arch.* 459, 93–103.
- Sica, A., Allavena, P., and Mantovani, A. (2008). Cancer related inflammation: the macrophage connection. *Cancer Lett.* 267, 204–215.
- Sica, A., Saccani, A., Bottazzi, B., Polentarutti, N., Vecchi, A., Van Damme, J., and Mantovani, A. (2000). Autocrine production of IL-10 mediates defective IL-12 production and NF-kappa B activation in tumor-associated macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 164, 762–767.
- Skrzeczynska-Moncznik, J., Bzowska, M., Loseke, S., Grage-Griebenow, E., Zembala, M., and Pryjma, J. (2008). Peripheral blood CD14high CD16+ monocytes are main producers of IL-10. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 67, 152–159.

- Sow, F. B., Alvarez, G. R., Gross, R. P., Satoskar, A. R., Schlesinger, L. S., Zwilling, B. S., and Lafuse, W. P. (2009). Role of STAT1, NF-kappaB, and C/EBPbeta in the macrophage transcriptional regulation of hepcidin by mycobacterial infection and IFN-gamma. J. Leukoc. Biol. 86, 1247–1258.
- Sperandio, S., Fortin, J., Sasik, R., Robitaille, L., Corbeil, J., and De Belle, I. (2009). The transcription factor Egr1 regulates the HIF-1alpha gene during hypoxia. *Mol. Carcinog.* 48, 38–44.
- Staples, K. J., Sotoodehnejadnematalahi, F., Pearson, H., Frankenberger, M., Francescut, L., Ziegler-Heitbrock, L., and Burke, B. (2010). Monocyte-derived macrophages matured under prolonged hypoxia transcriptionally up-regulate HIFlalpha mRNA. *Immunobiology* 216, 832–839.
- Stout, R. D., and Suttles, J. (2004). Functional plasticity of macrophages: reversible adaptation to changing microenvironments. J. Leukoc. Biol. 76, 509–513.
- Stout, R. D., Watkins, S. K., and Suttles, J. (2009). Functional plasticity of macrophages: in situ reprogramming of tumor-associated macrophages. J. Leukoc. Biol. 86, 1105–1109.
- Sumbayev, V. V., Budde, A., Zhou, J., and Brune, B. (2003). HIF-1 alpha protein as a target for S-nitrosation. *FEBS Lett.* 535, 106–112.
- Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Chang, K. J., and Baltimore, D. (2006). NF-kappaB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 12481–12486.
- Takeda, K., Ichiki, T., Narabayashi, E., Inanaga, K., Miyazaki, R., Hashimoto, T., Matsuura, H., Ikeda, J., Miyata, T., and Sunagawa, K. (2009). Inhibition of prolyl hydroxylase domain-containing protein suppressed lipopolysaccharide-induced TNF-alpha expression. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 29, 2132–2137.

- Takeda, N., O'dea, E. L., Doedens, A., Kim, J. W., Weidemann, A., Stockmann, C., Asagiri, M., Simon, M. C., Hoffmann, A., and Johnson, R. S. (2010). Differential activation and antagonistic function of HIF-{alpha} isoforms in macrophages are essential for NO homeostasis. *Genes Dev.* 24, 491–501.
- Thulasingam, S., Massilamany, C., Gangaplara, A., Dai, H., Yarbaeva, S., Subramaniam, S., Riethoven, J. J., Eudy, J., Lou, M., and Reddy, J. (2011). miR-27b\*, an oxidative stress-responsive microRNA modulates nuclear factor-kB pathway in RAW 264.7 cells. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 352, 181–188.
- Vallabhapurapu, S., and Karin, M. (2009). Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27, 693–733.
- van de Veerdonk, F. L., and Netea, M. G. (2010). Diversity: a hallmark of monocyte society. *Immunity* 33, 289–291.
- Vasudevan, S., Tong, Y., and Steitz, J. A. (2007). Switching from repression to activation: microRNAs can up-regulate translation. *Science* 318, 1931–1934.
- Venneri, M. A., De Palma, M., Ponzoni, M., Pucci, F., Scielzo, C., Zonari, E., Mazzieri, R., Doglioni, C., and Naldini, L. (2007). Identification of proangiogenic TIE2expressing monocytes (TEMs) in human peripheral blood and cancer. *Blood* 109, 5276–5285.
- Walmsley, S. R., Chilvers, E. R., and Whyte, M. K. (2009). Hypoxia. Hypoxia, hypoxia inducible factor and myeloid cell function. *Arthritis Res. Ther*, 11, 219.
- Walmsley, S. R., Mcgovern, N. N., Whyte, M. K., and Chilvers, E. R. (2008). The HIF/VHL pathway: from oxygen sensing to innate immunity. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 38, 251–255.
- Weigert, A., and Brune, B. (2008). Nitric oxide, apoptosis and macrophage polarization during tumor progression. *Nitric Oxide* 19, 95–102.

- Werno, C., Menrad, H., Weigert, A., Dehne, N., Goerdt, S., Schledzewski, K., Kzhyshkowska, J., and Brune, B. (2010a). Knockout of HIF-1alpha in tumor-associated macrophages enhances M2 polarization and attenuates their pro-angiogenic responses. *Carcinogenesis* 31, 1863–1872.
- Werno, C., Schmid, T., Schnitzer, S. E., Peters, K., Milke, L., and Brune, B. (2010b). A combination of hypoxia and lipopolysaccharide activates tristetraprolin to destabilize proinflammatory mRNAs such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Am. J. Pathol. 177, 1104–1112.
- Westra, J., Brouwer, E., Van Roosmalen, I. A., Doornbos-Van Der Meer, B., Van Leeuwen, M. A., Posthumus, M. D., and Kallenberg, C. G. (2010). Expression and regulation of HIIF-1alpha in macrophages under inflammatory conditions; significant reduction of VEGF by CaMKII inhibitor. *BMC Musculoskelet. Disord.* 11, 61. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-11-61
- Xu, Y., Toure, F., Qu, W., Lin, L., Song, F., Shen, X., Rosario, R., Garcia, J., Schmidt, A. M., and Yan, S. F. (2010). Advanced glycation end product (AGE)-receptor for AGE (RAGE) signaling and up-regulation of Egr-1 in hypoxic macrophages. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 23233–23240.
- Yang, L., Jiang, Y., Wu, S. F., Zhou, M. Y., Wu, Y. L., and Chen, G. Q. (2008). CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha antagonizes transcriptional activity of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha with direct proteinprotein interaction. *Carcinogenesis* 29, 291–298.
- Yee Koh, M., Spivak-Kroizman, T. R., and Powis, G. (2008). HIF-1 regulation: not so easy come, easy go. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 33, 526–534.
- Yoon, S. O., Shin, S., and Mercurio, A. M. (2005). Hypoxia stimulates carcinoma invasion by stabilizing microtubules and promoting the Rab11 trafficking of the alpha6beta4 integrin. *Cancer Res.* 65, 2761–2769.
- Yun, J. K., Mccormick, T. S., Villabona, C., Judware, R. R., Espinosa, M. B.,

and Lapetina, E. G. (1997). Inflammatory mediators are perpetuated in macrophages resistant to apoptosis induced by hypoxia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 94, 13903–13908.

- Zampetaki, A., Mitsialis, S. A., Pfeilschifter, J., and Kourembanas, S. (2004). Hypoxia induces macrophage inflammatory protein-2 (MIP-2) gene expression in murine macrophages via NF-kappaB: the prominent role of p42/p44 and PI3 kinase pathways. *FASEB J.* 18, 1090–1092.
- Zhao, P., Li, X. G., Yang, M., Shao, Q., Wang, D., Liu, S., Song, H., Song, B., Zhang, Y., and Qu, X. (2008).
  Hypoxia suppresses the production of MMP-9 by human monocytederived dendritic cells and requires activation of adenosine receptor A2b via cAMP/PKA signaling pathway. *Mol. Immunol.* 45, 2187–2195.
- Ziegler-Heitbrock, L. (2007). The CD14+ CD16+ blood monocytes: their role in infection and inflammation. J. Leukoc. Biol. 81, 584–592.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 June 2011; paper pending published: 22 July 2011; accepted: 29 August 2011; published online: 16 September 2011.

Citation: Rahat MA, Bitterman H and Lahat N (2011) Molecular mechanisms regulating macrophage response to hypoxia. Front. Immun. 2:45. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00045

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2011 Rahat, Bitterman and Lahat. This is an open-access article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.



### New insights into the role of macrophages in adipose tissue inflammation and fatty liver disease: modulation by endogenous omega-3 fatty acid-derived lipid mediators

#### Joan Clària<sup>1,2,3</sup>\*, Ana González-Périz<sup>1,3</sup>, Cristina López-Vicario<sup>1</sup>, Bibiana Rius<sup>1</sup> and Esther Titos<sup>1,3</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics, Hospital Clínic, Centre Esther Koplowitz, Institut d'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi i Sunyer, Barcelona, Spain

<sup>2</sup> Department of Physiological Sciences I, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

<sup>3</sup> Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Hepáticas y Digestivas, Barcelona, Spain

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Haim Shapiro, Haifa University, Israel Matthew Spite, University of Louisville, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Joan Clària and Esther Titos, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics, Hospital Clínic, Villarroel 170, Barcelona 08036, Spain. e-mail: jclaria@clinic.ub.es; esther.titos@ciberehd.org

Obesity is causally linked to a chronic state of "low-grade" inflammation in adipose tissue. Prolonged, unremitting inflammation in this tissue has a direct impact on insulin-sensitive tissues (i.e., liver) and its timely resolution is a critical step toward reducing the prevalence of related co-morbidities such as insulin resistance and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. This article describes the current state-of-the-art knowledge and novel insights into the role of macrophages in adipose tissue inflammation, with special emphasis on the progressive changes in macrophage polarization observed over the course of obesity. In addition, this article extends the discussion to the contribution of Kupffer cells, the liver resident macrophages, to metabolic liver disease. Special attention is given to the modulation of macrophage responses by omega-3-PUFAs, and more importantly by resolvins, which are potent anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving autacoids generated from docosahexaenoic and eicosapentaenoic acids. In fact, resolvins have been shown to work as endogenous "stop signals" in inflamed adipose tissue and to return this tissue to homeostasis by inducing a phenotypic switch in macrophage polarization toward a pro-resolving phenotype. Collectively, this article offers new views on the role of macrophages in metabolic disease and their modulation by endogenously generated omega-3-PUFA-derived lipid mediators.

Keywords: obesity, adipocytes, M2 macrophages, resolvins, docosahexaenoic acid, Kupffer cells

#### **OBESITY AND ADIPOSE TISSUE INFLAMMATION**

White adipose tissue, once considered a mere storage depot of energy in the form of fat, is today recognized as an important endocrine organ. In fact, the adipocyte or fat cell is actively involved in the balance of our body homeostasis by releasing a number of factors, collectively known as adipokines (Ouchi et al., 2011). However, the expansion of adipose tissue mass seen in obesity inadvertently interrupt the interplay among these factors and other intracellular components yielding a chronic "low-grade" inflammatory scenario in this tissue (Ferrante Jr., 2007; Ouchi et al., 2011). This "low-grade" inflammation, also known as "metabolic-triggered inflammation" or "metainflammation," can be described as a long-term inflammatory response triggered by nutrients and metabolic surplus (Hotamisligil, 2006). It involves a similar set of molecules/signaling pathways to those involved in classical inflammation, but in this case these molecules/signaling pathways have a dual role as inflammatory mediators as well as regulators of energy metabolism. In fact, a rise in pro-inflammatory adipokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF)  $\alpha$ , interleukin (IL)-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1, leptin, and resistin, accompanied by a reduction in the anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing adipokine, adiponectin has been reported to signal the onset of metabolic dysfunction (Ouchi et al., 2011).

One of the most important sequela of adipose tissue inflammation is insulin resistance (Figure 1). In fact, stress sensors activate both the c-jun-N-terminal kinase (JNK) and inhibitor of  $\kappa$ kinase (IKK) pathways through classical receptor-mediated mechanisms (Shoelson et al., 2006). JNK and IKK activation induce insulin resistance by disrupting serine phosphorylation of IRS-1, a protein that connects the insulin receptor to the PI(3)K signaling cascade. In parallel to the activation of these kinases and their downstream signaling cascades, there is an increased production of pro-inflammatory adipokines (i.e., TNFa, IL-6, and MCP-1) in obese subjects, whose levels directly correlate with the degree of insulin resistance (Hotamisligil et al., 1996). Adipose tissue inflammation leading to insulin resistance also has negative consequences on the liver. In fact, adipose tissue and liver have immediate access to a vast network of blood vessels that facilitate a direct connection between these two organs. The exact mechanisms linking adipose tissue dysfunction and insulin resistance with metabolic liver disease are not completely understood, but several processes have been implicated. First, increased lipolysis from visceral fat resulting in increased free fatty acid efflux to the liver (Sanyal, 2005). Second, increased secretion of pro-inflammatory and insulin-resistant adipokines (TNFa and IL-6) by adipose tissue in parallel with a reduced release of adiponectin (Sanyal, 2005; Figure 1). Finally, a combined hepatic


FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of the interplay between adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and the liver in the obesity-related perturbation of systemic metabolic control. Obesity results in expansion of adipose tissue mass that eventually leads to a characteristic inflammatory response driven by macrophage infiltration and aberrant production and release of pro-inflammatory adipokines, accompanied by a reduction in the anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing adipokine, adiponectin. This altered profile of adipokine secretion leads to insulin resistance (IR) in the liver and skeletal muscle, which are the major organs contributing to the development of peripheral insulin resistance. Hepatic insulin resistance also triggers the progression of hepatic steatosis or fatty liver.

dysregulation in free fatty acid oxidation and *de novo* lipogenesis secondary to altered hepatic insulin sensitivity (Tilg and Moschen, 2008).

### **MACROPHAGES AND ADIPOSE TISSUE INFLAMMATION**

Obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation is a unique process characterized by an inflammatory response driven by tissue macrophages (Lumeng and Saltiel, 2011). In fact, a pathological hallmark of obesity is the presence of an increased number of adipose tissue-infiltrating macrophages, which form the characteristic "crown-like structures" that surround necrotic adipocytes and perpetuate a vicious cycle of macrophage recruitment and exacerbated production of pro-inflammatory mediators (Weisberg et al., 2003; Wellen and Hotamisligil, 2003; Cancello et al., 2005; Lesniewski et al., 2007).

Tissue macrophages display an extensive receptor repertoire and a versatile biosynthetic capacity that confer them the plasticity to adapt to different tissue microenvironments (Gordon and Taylor, 2005). Accordingly, tissue macrophages are phenotypically heterogeneous and can exhibit either pro- or anti-inflammatory properties depending on the disease stage and the signals they are exposed. Although the classification based on the Th1/Th2 nomenclature needs to be revised, macrophages are broadly characterized by their activation (polarization) state according to the M1/M2 classification system (Mantovani et al., 2007; Martínez et al., 2009). According to this classification, the M1 designation is reserved for classically activated macrophages following stimulation with interferon (IFN)  $\gamma$  and LPS, whereas the M2 designation is applied to the alternatively activated macrophages after *in vitro* stimulation with IL-4 and IL-13 (**Figure 2**). M1



FIGURE 2 | Schematic representation of macrophage polarization in the adipose tissue and the actions of resolvins. Obesity promotes the polarization of macrophages into the M1 phenotype, which are highly inflammatory in nature and release pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines [e.g., tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α, interleukin (IL)-18, II-6, and monocyte chemotactic peptide (MCP)-1] and superoxide anion  $(O_2^-)$ . These macrophages express inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOs) and cell surface markers such as F4/80, CD11b, and CD11c and act as classically activated macrophages expressing interferon (IFN) y and lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-responsive genes. Conversely, resolvins promote the resolution of inflammation by skewing macrophages toward the M2 phenotype, which release high levels of IL-10 in parallel with reduced levels of TNFa, IL-6, and MCP-1. M2 macrophages are alternatively activated macrophages, originally identified after IL-4 and IL-13 stimulation, that up-regulate scavenger, mannose (CD206), and galactose (Mgl-1) receptors, resistin-like molecule (RELM)-a, and chitinases Ym1 and Ym2 expression and arginase 1 activity.

macrophages display enhanced microbicidal capacity and secrete high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNFa, IL-1β, and IL-6) and increased concentrations of superoxide anion  $(O_2^-)$  and oxygen and nitrogen radicals to increase their killing activity (Gordon and Taylor, 2005). Conversely, M2 macrophages dampen proinflammatory cytokine levels, secrete components of the extracellular matrix, and may be essential for the immune response to parasites, tissue repair, and resolution of inflammation (Gordon, 2003). In this classification system, M1 and M2 macrophages are merely regarded as two extremes of a continuum of functional stages (Mosser and Edwards, 2008). For instance, M2a designation defines those macrophages stimulated by IL-4/IL-13; M2b refers to macrophages activated by stimuli such as apoptotic cells in concert with LPS; and M2c relates to polarization in response to IL-10, transforming growth factor (TGF)-β, or glucocorticoids (Martínez et al., 2008). In mice, M1/M2 macrophage polarization can be monitored by assessing the expression of selected markers. M1-associated genes include inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOs), the interferon responsive CXC chemokines, and classical pro-inflammatory mediators such as TNFa, IL-1β, IL-6, and MCP-1 as well as increased production of  $O_2^-$  (Gordon, 2003; Martínez et al., 2008; Figure 2). M2 macrophages display up-regulation of scavenger, mannose (CD206), and galactose (Mgl-1) receptors, arginase 1, which antagonizes iNOS activity, and IL-10, in parallel with down-regulation of IL-1 $\beta$  and other pro-inflammatory cytokines (Gordon, 2003; Scotton et al., 2005; Martínez et al., 2008). In addition, the panel of M2 markers comprises up-regulation of other genes with unknown function such

as chitinases Ym1 and Ym2, and resistin-like molecule (RELM)- $\alpha$ , also known as FIZZ (**Figure 2**).

In addition to the augmented infiltration of macrophages into the adipose tissue, obesity also induces a phenotypic switch in these cells toward the classically activated M1 phenotype (Olefsky and Glass, 2010). In fact, the majority of macrophages that accumulate in obese adipose tissue are M1-like and selectively express the cell surface markers F4/80, CD11b, and CD11c (Lumeng et al., 2007; Nguyen et al., 2007). In our laboratory, we have recently gathered data indicating the presence of a specific subset of macrophages with high expression of the surface glycoprotein F4/80 (F4/80hi) in adipose tissue from obese mice (Titos et al., 2011). This finding is consistent with that reported by Bassaganya-Riera et al. (2009) who identified two functionally distinct subsets of macrophages in adipose tissue based on their surface expression of F4/80 (F4/80lo macrophages predominate in adipose tissue of lean mice, obesity causes accumulation of both F4/80lo and F4/80hi). Importantly, lean adipose tissue macrophages are M2-like, display F4/80 and CD11b but are negative for CD11c and do not exhibit activation of the inflammatory pathways. In a series of elegant studies, Lumeng et al. (2007) and Nguyen et al. (2007) have demonstrated that adipose tissue macrophages undergo a phenotypic switch from the M2 polarization state to a more M1-like, CD11c<sup>+</sup> polarization state upon high-fat feeding. Moreover, Patsouris et al. (2008) have reported that selective depletion of CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages in adipose tissue reverses insulin resistance in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. Recently, Li et al. (2010) have reported that the M1-like, CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophage subset can exhibit phenotypic plasticity between inflammatory and

non-inflammatory states, depending on the presence or absence of insulin resistance.

## **MACROPHAGES AND LIVER DISEASE**

Kupffer cells are specialized macrophages located in the liver lining the walls of the sinusoids (Ramadori et al., 2008). Kupffer cells are uniquely positioned within the liver and their location enables intimate contact with circulating blood and the clearance of pathogens and parasites by receptor-mediated phagocytosis or release of TNFα, reactive oxygen species, or proteinases. Kupffer cells are also professional antigen-presenting cells that trigger the adaptive immune system. Therefore, Kupffer cells act as true sentinels of the adaptive and immune system in the liver and protect our body from the extracorporeal environment. In cases of pathogenic infection or tissue damage, Kupffer cells act as the predominant inflammatory effector cell type to initiate the inflammatory cascade leading to liver injury (Ramadori et al., 2008). In fact, activation of Kupffer cells and the subsequent release of cytokines, reactive oxygen species, and inflammatory lipid mediators (i.e., eicosanoids) are considered an early step in the pathogenesis of liver damage and tissue remodeling, as they stimulate inflammatory and fibrogenic events in the liver (Titos et al., 2003, 2005; Ramadori et al., 2008; Table 1). Depletion of Kupffer cells by treatment with either gadolinium chloride, liposomal clodronate, or conditional ablation of the diphtheria toxin receptor appears to confer a protective role in the liver by reducing the production of inflammatory mediators and collagen content (Ramadori et al., 2008).

Recent studies have revealed a novel role for Kupffer cells in metabolic liver disease. In fatty livers, similar to that occurring

Mediators	Biological effects	Liver pathology	References
CYTOKINES/CHEMO	KINES		
IL-1β, TNFα, IL-6	Hepatotoxicity, endothelial activation,	Alcoholic liver disease, acute liver injury,	Miura et al. (2010), Ramadori and
	steatogenic, hepatocyte proliferation	NAFLD, NASH, crucial for liver regeneration	Armbrust (2001), Taub (2004)
TGF-β, PDGF	Myofibroblast transformation and activation	Hepatic fibrosis and cirrhosis	Bataller and Brenner (2005), Pinzar (2002)
MCP-1, IL-8	Neutrophil, monocyte recruitment,	Acute liver injury, alcoholic liver disease,	Devalaraja et al. (1999), Domíngue
	angiogenesis, steatogenic	hepatic fibrosis	et al. (2009)
IL-12	Lymphocyte, natural killer activation	Alcoholic liver disease, viral hepatitis	Leifeld et al. (2002)
IL-10, IL-18, IFNα/β	Immunoregulatory, anti-inflammatory,	Ischemia-reperfusion injury, viral hepatitis	Ellett et al. (2010), Takeuchi et al
	anti-proliferative		(2004), Neuman et al. (2008)
EICOSANOIDS			
PGE <sub>2</sub> , PGD <sub>2</sub>	Cytoprotection/cytotoxicity	Ischemia-reperfusion injury	Quiroga and Prieto (1993)
			Planagumà et al. (2005)
LTB <sub>4</sub> , cysteinyl-LTs	Vasoactive, hepatic stellate cell	Hepatic fibrosis and cirrhosis, NAFLD	Titos et al. (2000), Titos et al. (2003)
	activation, chemotactic, steatogenic		Horrillo et al. (2010)
REACTIVE OXYGEN S	SPECIES		
0 <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> , H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> , ONOO <sup>-</sup>	Hepatotoxicity and necrosis,	Alcoholic liver disease, hepatic cirrhosis,	Lieber (1997), Muriel (2009)
	pro-inflammatory	ischemia-reperfusion injury, steatohepatitis	
OTHER			
Gelatinases	Extracellular matrix remodeling, collagen synthesis	Liver fibrosis	Wynn and Barron (2010)
Complement proteins	Pathogen destruction	Chronic liver disease	Bilzer et al. (2006)

#### Table 1 | Kupffer cell-derived mediators and associated liver pathologies.

in obese adipose tissue, macrophages are in close proximity to fat-laden parenchymal cells (the hepatocytes) and may establish a cross-talk by secreting insulin-resistant cytokines such as TNFa and IL-6, thus regulating hepatic fat and glucose homeostasis and the progression of fatty liver (Baffy, 2009). In fact, excessive exposure of Kupffer cells to fatty acids may induce the activation of these cells via Toll-like receptors thus connecting an important mechanism by which lipids regulate inflammation and immune response in the liver (Kim, 2006). In a mouse model of steatohepatitis, Miura et al. (2010) convincingly showed that TLR9 signaling induces production of IL-1β by Kupffer cells, leading to steatosis, inflammation, and fibrosis. These authors have also shown that JNK activation in Kupffer cells contribute to the development of chronic inflammation and fibrosis in an experimental model of diet-induced steatohepatitis (Kodama et al., 2009). Lanthier et al. (2010) have elegantly demonstrated that early hepatic insulin resistance and steatosis are concurrent with Kupffer cell activation, and that selective Kupffer cell depletion through intravenous clodronate injection is sufficient to improve hepatic insulin signaling. Interestingly, as earlier described for adipose tissue macrophages, alternative M2 activation of Kupffer cells appears to ameliorate insulin resistance and to retard the progression to steatohepatitis in mice (Odegaard et al., 2008).

## CLINICAL IMPACT OF OMEGA-3-PUFAs IN DIABETES AND METABOLIC LIVER DISEASE

The first evidences of beneficial actions of omega-3-PUFAs in humans were provided by Endres et al. (1989). Since then, several in vivo and in vitro studies both in human and rodents have demonstrated the therapeutic potential of omega-3-PUFAs in pathologies with an important inflammatory component (Dinarello, 2010). A number of pre-clinical and clinical studies have demonstrated that regular consumption of modest amounts of omega-3-PUFAs ( $\leq$ 3 g/day) improves serum lipid profiles, exerts cardiovascular protective actions, and may reduce the risk of conversion from impaired glucose tolerance to type-2 diabetes (Nettleton and Katz, 2005). The use of enriched omega-3-PUFA diets in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease could also represent an important nutritional strategy for their clinical management (Shapiro et al., 2011). However, there is a concern that most of studies addressing the effects of omega-3-PUFAs on glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity did not have a control group and that dosages of fatty acids were sometimes higher than those sufficient to obtain beneficial end-points in these patients (De Caterina et al., 2007). This point out that new, more specific approaches are needed (i.e., compare potency and specificity of resolvins to their substrate precursors, see below).

# EFFECTIVE RESOLUTION OF INFLAMMATION: ROLE OF MACROPHAGES

Since prolonged inflammation is detrimental to the host, higher organisms have evolved protective mechanisms to ensure resolution of the inflammatory response in a limited and specific time- and space-manner (Serhan et al., 2007). Once thought as a mere passive process of dilution of inflammation, resolution is today envisioned as a highly orchestrated process coordinated by a complex regulatory network of cells and mediators. Among the molecules that facilitate resolution, lipoxins generated from the omega-6-PUFA arachidonic acid, and resolvins and protectins generated from omega-3-PUFAs, are the lipid mediators that have attracted most attention. These endogenous anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving mediators counteract the effects of pro-inflammatory signaling systems and act as "braking signals" of the persistent vicious cycle leading to unremitting inflammation (Serhan et al., 2008). In fact, the same pro-inflammatory factors that initially trigger the inflammatory response also signal the termination of inflammation by stimulating the biosynthesis of pro-resolving lipid mediators (Serhan et al., 2008). For instance, both PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGD<sub>2</sub> transcriptionally activate the expression of 15-LO in human PMN, switching the mediator profile of these cells from the pro-inflammatory LTB<sub>4</sub> to the anti-inflammatory lipoxin A<sub>4</sub>, which was the first identified omega-6-PUFA-derived anti-inflammatory lipid mediator (Serhan et al., 2007, 2008). Another example of this class switch is the displacement of pro-inflammatory lipid mediators derived from omega-6-PUFAs by anti-inflammatory mediators (i.e., resolvins and protectins) derived from omega-3-PUFAs (Serhan, 2011). These anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving mediators exert a strict control of the resolution process and pave the way for monocyte migration and their differentiation to phagocytosing macrophages, which remove dead cells and then terminate the inflammatory response (Tabas, 2010; Serhan, 2011).

## RESOLVINS

Resolvins are a novel family of anti-inflammatory and proresolving mediators generated from the omega-3-PUFAs docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA). By using a lipidomics-based approach that combines liquid chromatography and tandem-mass spectrometry, Serhan et al. (2000, 2002) identified a library of omega-3-PUFA-derived lipid mediators present within exudates obtained from mice dorsal skin pouches during the "spontaneous resolution" phase of acute inflammation. These novel bioactive lipid autacoids were termed resolvins and were classified as either resolvin E-series, if the biosynthesis is initiated from EPA, or resolvin D-series, if they are generated from DHA. Schematically, the biosynthesis of resolvin E1 is initiated when EPA is converted to 18R-hydroperoxy-EPE by endothelial cells expressing COX-2 treated with aspirin (Serhan et al., 2000). Alternatively, 18R-hydroperoxy-EPE can be produced through cytochrome P450 activity (Haas-Stapleton et al., 2007). By transcellular biosynthesis, 18R-hydroperoxy-EPE generated by endothelial cells is transformed by 5-LO of neighboring leukocytes into resolvin E1 (5S,12R,18R-trihydroxy-EPA) via a 5(6)epoxide intermediate (Serhan et al., 2000, 2002). Resolvin D1 biosynthesis is also initiated in endothelial cells expressing COX-2 treated with aspirin, which transform DHA into 17R-hydroxy-DHA which is further transformed by leukocyte 5-LO into resolvin D1 (Serhan et al., 2000, 2002). More importantly from a physiological point of view, resolvin D1 can also be formed from endogenous sources of DHA without the requirement of aspirin. In this case, endogenous DHA is converted via 15-LO/5-LO interactions that give rise to a 17S alcohol-containing series of resolvins, including resolvin D1 and resolvin D2 (Hong et al., 2003). Finally, DHA is also transformed into a dihydroxy-containing DHA derivative,

17S-hydroxy-DHA via an intermediate epoxide that opens via hydrolysis and subsequent rearrangements to form protectin D1 (10R,17S-dihydroxy-docosa-DHA) (Serhan et al., 2000, 2002; Hong et al., 2003).

Unlike their precursors DHA and EPA, resolvins exert biological actions at the nanomolar range. Resolvin E1, decreases PMN infiltration and T cell migration, reduces TNF $\alpha$  and IFN $\gamma$  secretion, inhibits chemokine formation and blocks IL-1-induced NF-κB activation (Gronert et al., 2005; Schwab et al., 2007; Bannenberg and Serhan, 2010). Resolvin E1 also stimulates macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic PMN and is a potent modulator of proinflammatory leukocyte expression adhesion molecules (i.e., Lselectin) (Schwab et al., 2007; Dona et al., 2008). In vivo resolvin E1 exerts potent anti-inflammatory actions in experimental models of periodontitis, colitis, and peritonitis and protects mice against brain ischemia-reperfusion (Arita et al., 2005; Bannenberg and Serhan, 2010). Furthermore, Haworth et al. (2008) have identified a resolvin E1-initiated resolution program for allergic airway responses. Finally, a recent study has identified resolvin D2 as a potent endogenous regulator of excessive inflammatory responses in mice with microbial sepsis (Spite et al., 2009).

Our laboratory has recently provided evidence that adipose tissue expresses all the enzymes necessary for the formation of bioactive lipid mediators derived from both omega-6 and omega-3-PUFAs (i.e., 12/15-LO, 5-LO, FLAP, LTA4 hydrolase, and LTC4 synthase; Horrillo et al., 2010). Importantly, by means of liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS) analysis we have detected the presence of the omega-6 products PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGF<sub>2a</sub>, TXB<sub>2</sub>, 5-HETE, 12-HETE, and 15-HETE as well as the formation of the omega-3-derived mediators resolvin D1, protectin D1, and 17-hydroxy-DHA (González-Périz et al., 2009). Interestingly, the administration of a DHA-enriched diet to ob/ob mice, an experimental model of obesity-induced insulin resistance and fatty liver disease, resulted in the amplification of the formation of resolvin D1, protectin D1, and 17-hydroxy-DHA, accompanied by an inhibition of the formation of omega-6-derived inflammatory mediators (González-Périz et al., 2009). In these animals, DHA significantly increased adipose tissue levels of adiponectin which alleviated hepatic steatosis and insulin resistance (González-Périz et al., 2009). Of interest, intraperitoneal injection of resolvin E1 at the nanomolar levels elicited significant insulin-sensitizing effects by inducing adiponectin, GLUT-4, and IRS-1 expression in adipose tissue and conferred significant protection against hepatic steatosis (González-Périz et al., 2009). There is also evidence that omega-3-PUFAs may also signal independently of the 12/15-LO pathway by exerting potent anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing actions through a G-protein-coupled 120 receptor (GPR120) (Oh et al., 2010).

Recent findings from our laboratory also indicate that DHA (at micromolar concentrations) and resolvin D1 (at nanomolar concentrations) consistently induce hallmarks of alternative macrophage activation in adipose tissue including stimulation of arginase 1 expression and non-phlogystic macrophage phagocytosis and attenuation of IFN $\gamma$ /LPS-induced Th1 cytokine secretion (Titos et al., 2011). These results are in agreement with those reported by Schif-Zuck et al. (2011) who recently identified a novel phenotype of macrophages with pro-resolving properties emerging during the resolution of murine peritonitis. These macrophages had a low marker expression of CD11b (CD11blow), engulfed significantly higher numbers of apoptotic PMN than CD11b<sup>high</sup> macrophages, responded poorly to activation by different TLR ligands in terms of cytokine and chemokine secretion, lost their phagocytic potential and were prone to migrate to lymphoid organs (Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). In addition, these CD11blow macrophages expressed low or moderate levels of COX-2, metalloproteinase-9, and 12/15-LO, but not detectable levels of iNOS and arginase 1. Importantly, in vivo administration of resolvin E1, resolvin D1, and glucocorticoids to peritonitis-affected mice clearly enhanced the appearance of CD11blow macrophages by reducing the number of engulfmentrelated events required for macrophage deactivation and by reducing the ability of peritoneal macrophages to produce proinflammatory cytokines upon LPS stimulation (Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). The ability of resolvins to modify tissue macrophage plasticity has also been demonstrated by Hellmann et al. (2011). These authors were able to improve insulin resistance by administering resolvin D1 to obese-diabetic mice, which reduced macrophage F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> cell accumulation and increased the percentage of positive F4/80 cells expressing Mgl-1, a marker of alternatively activated macrophages, in adipose tissue (Hellmann et al., 2011).

Studies on experimental models of liver injury have elucidated a protective role of DHA and DHA-derived lipid mediators against hepatic inflammation. In fact, feeding of a DHA-enriched diet ameliorated hepatotoxic-induced necroinflammatory liver injury in mice (González-Périz et al., 2006). The hepatoprotective actions of DHA were associated with a decrease in the hepatic formation of PGE<sub>2</sub> and a concomitant increase in the generation of protective DHA-derived lipid mediators (i.e., PD1 and 17S-HDHA). The beneficial role of these DHA-derived lipid signals was further supported by experiments in vitro demonstrating attenuated DNA damage and oxidative stress in hepatocytes. More important, DHA and DHA-derived autacoids reduced TNFa release in macrophages, recognized as the predominant effector cells involved in the inflammatory cascade leading to hepatocyte damage (Decker, 1990). A significant down-regulation of 5-LO protein expression was also noticed in macrophages treated with 17S-HDHA and in liver tissue from mice receiving DHA in the diet (González-Périz et al., 2006). This is relevant because the presence of an active 5-LO pathway in the liver is restricted to Kupffer cells and inhibition of the 5-LO pathway in these resident macrophages has been shown to attenuate necroinflammatory liver injury and fibrosis (Titos et al., 2000, 2003, 2005).

### CONCLUSION

Obesity is not only a matter of appearance and beauty, but a serious health issue because the global obesity epidemic will result in increased incidence and risk of cardiovascular disease, type-2 diabetes, dyslipidemia, and fatty liver disease. The prevalence of obesity-related metabolic disorders is tightly associated with the appearance of a chronic "low-grade" inflammatory state in the adipose tissue, which severely disrupts the endocrine function of this organ. Indeed, a number of studies have appreciated that expansion of adipose tissue during weight gain is associated with an inflammatory phenotype characterized by the recruitment of inflammatory cells, mainly macrophages, in this tissue. A very provocative strategy to manipulate this exacerbated inflammatory response is to replace the use of drugs that inhibit the formation of pro-inflammatory mediators by the use of endogenousgenerated autacoids that boost the resolution of inflammation. Therefore, adipose tissue inflammation in obesity appears to be the perfect scenario for testing the novel anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving lipid mediators, designated resolvins. Notably, these inflammation-resolving factors can induce a proper skew of macrophages toward a unique pro-resolving phenotype,

#### REFERENCES

- Arita, M., Yoshida, M., Hong, S., Tjonahen, E., Glickman, J. N., Petasis, N. A., Blumberg, R. S., and Serhan, C. N. (2005). Resolvin E1, an endogenous lipid mediator derived from omega-3 eicosapentaenoic acid, protects against 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acidinduced colitis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 102, 7671–7676.
- Baffy, G. (2009). Kupffer cells in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: the emerging view. *J. Hepatol.* 51, 212–223.
- Bannenberg, G., and Serhan, C. N. (2010). Specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators in the inflammatory response: an update. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1801, 1260–1273.
- Bassaganya-Riera, J., Misyak, S., Guri, A. J., and Hontecillas, R. (2009). PPAR gamma is highly expressed in F4/80(hi) adipose tissue macrophages and dampens adipose-tissue inflammation. *Cell. Immunol.* 258, 138–146.
- Bataller, R., and Brenner, D. A. (2005). Liver fibrosis. *J. Clin. Invest.* 115, 209–218.
- Bilzer, M., Roggel, F., and Gerbes, A. L. (2006). Role of Kupffer cells in host defense and liver disease. *Liver Int.* 26, 1175–1186.
- Cancello, R., Henegar, C., Viguerie, N., Taleb, S., Poitou, C., Rouault, C., Coupaye, M., Pelloux, V., Hugol, D., Bouillot, J. L., Bouloumie, A., Barbatelli, G., Cinti, S., Svensson, P. A., Barsh, G. S., Zucker, J. D., Basdevant, A., Langin, D., and Clement, K. (2005). Reduction of macrophage infiltration and chemoattractant gene expression changes in white adipose tissue of morbidly obese subjects after surgeryinduced weight loss. *Diabetes* 54, 2277–2286.
- De Caterina, R., Madonna, R., Bertolotto, A., and Schmidt, E. B. (2007). n-3 fatty acids in the treatment of diabetic patients:

biological rationale and clinical data. *Diabetes Care* 30, 1012–1026.

- Decker, K. (1990). Biologically active products of stimulated liver macrophages (Kupffer cells). *Eur. J. Biochem.* 192, 245–261.
- Devalaraja, M. N., Mcclain, C. J., Barve, S., Vaddi, K., and Hill, D. B. (1999). Increased monocyte MCP-1 production in acute alcoholic hepatitis. *Cytokine* 11, 875–881.
- Dinarello, C. A. (2010). Antiinflammatory agents: present and future. *Cell* 140, 935–950.
- Domínguez, M., Miquel, R., Colmenero, J., Moreno, M., García-Pagán, J. C., Bosch, J., Arroyo, V., Ginès, P., Caballeria, J., and Bataller, R. (2009). Hepatic expression of CXC chemokines predicts portal hypertension and survival in patients with alcoholic hepatitis. *Gastroenterology* 136, 1639–1650.
- Dona, M., Fredman, G., Schwab, J. M., Chiang, N., Arita, M., Goodarzi, A., Cheng, G., von Andrian, U. H., and Serhan, C. N. (2008). Resolvin E1, an EPA-derived mediator in whole blood, selectively counterregulates leukocytes and platelets. *Blood* 112, 848–855.
- Ellett, J. D., Atkinson, C., Evans, Z. P., Amani, Z., Balish, E., Schmidt, M. G., van, Rooijen N., Schnellmann, R. G., and Chavin, K. D. (2010). Murine Kupffer cells are protective in total hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury with bowel congestion through IL-10. *J. Immunol.* 184, 5849–5858.
- Endres, S., Ghorbani, R., Kelley, V. E., Georgilis, K., Lonnemann, G., van der Meer, J. W., Cannon, J. G., Rogers, T. S., Klempner, M. S., Weber, P. C., Schaefer, E. J., Wolff, S. M., and Dinarello, M. D. (1989). The effect of dietary supplementation with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on the synthesis of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor by mononuclear cells. N. Engl. J. Med. 320, 265–271.

thus ameliorating the incidence of obesity-related metabolic disorders.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

Our laboratory receives grant support from the Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación (SAF 09/08767) and is a Consolidated Research Group recognized by the Generalitat de Catalunya (2009SGR1484). CIBERehd is funded by the Instituto de Salud Carlos III. This work was carried out at the Esther Koplowitz Centre. We would like to thank Pere Lluís Leon for his contribution in figure illustration. We apologize to our many colleagues whose work was not cited due to space limitations.

- Ferrante, A. W. Jr. (2007). Obesityinduced inflammation: a metabolic dialogue in the language of inflammation. J. Intern. Med. 262, 408–414.
- González-Périz, A., Horrillo, R., Ferré, N., Gronert, K., Dong, B., Morán-Salvador, E., Titos, E., Martínez-Clemente, M., López-Parra, M., Arroyo, V., and Clària, J. (2009). Obesity-induced insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis are alleviated by omega-3 fatty acids: a role for resolvins and protectins. *FASEB J.* 23, 1946–1957.
- González-Périz, A., Planagumà, A., Gronert, K., Miquel, R., López-Parra, M., Titos, E., Horrillo, R., Ferré, N., Deulofeu, R., Arroyo, V., Rodés, J., and Clària, J. (2006). Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) blunts liver injury by conversion to protective lipid mediators: protectin D1 and 17S-hydroxy-DHA. FASEB J. 20, 2537–2539.
- Gordon, S. (2003). Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3, 23–35.
- Gordon, S., and Taylor, P. R. (2005). Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 5, 953–964.
- Gronert, K., Maheshwari, N., Khan, N., Hassan, I. R., Dunn, M., and Laniado, S. M. (2005). A role for the mouse 12/15-lipoxygenase pathway in promoting epithelial wound healing and host defense. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 15267–15278.
- Haas-Stapleton, E. J., Lu, Y., Hong, S., Arita, M., Favoreto, S., Nigam, S., Serhan, C. N., and Agabian, N. (2007). *Candida albicans* modulates host defense by biosynthesizing the pro-resolving mediator resolvin E1. *PLoS ONE* 2, e1316. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001316
- Haworth, O., Cernadas, M., Yang, R., Serhan, C. N., and Levy, B. D. (2008). Resolvin E1 regulates interleukin 23, interferon-gamma and lipoxin A4 to promote the resolution of allergic

airway inflammation. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 873–879.

- Hellmann, J., Tang, Y., Kosuri, M., Bhatnagar, A., and Spite, M. (2011). Resolvin D1 decreases adipose tissue macrophage accumulation and improves insulin sensitivity in obese-diabetic mice. *FASEB J.* 25, 2399–2407.
- Hong, S., Gronert, K., Devchand, P. R., Moussignac, R. L., and Serhan, C. N. (2003). Novel docosatrienes and 17S-resolvins generated from docosahexaenoic acid in murine brain, human blood, and glial cells. Autacoids in antiinflammation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 14677–14687.
- Horrillo, R., González-Périz, A., Martínez-Clemente, M., López-Parra, M., Ferré, N., Titos, E., Morán-Salvador, E., Deulofeu, R., Arroyo, V., and Clària, J. (2010). 5-lipoxygenase activating protein signals adipose tissue inflammation and lipid dysfunction in experimental obesity. *J. Immunol.* 184, 3978–3987.
- Hotamisligil, G. S. (2006). Inflammation and metabolic disorders. *Nature* 444, 860–867.
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Peraldi, P., Budavari, A., Ellis, R., White, M. F., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1996). IRS-1-mediated inhibition of insulin receptor tyrosine kinase activity in TNF-alpha- and obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Science* 271, 665–668.
- Kim, J. K. (2006). Fat uses a TOLLroad to connect inflammation and diabetes. *Cell Metab.* 4, 417–419.
- Kodama, Y., Kisseleva, T., Iwaisako, K., Miura, K., Taura, K., De Minicis, S., Osterreicher, C. H., Schnabl, B., Seki, E., and Brenner, D. A. (2009). c-Jun N-terminal kinase-1 from hematopoietic cells mediates progression from hepatic steatosis to steatohepatitis and fibrosis in mice. *Gastroenterology* 137, 1467–1477.

- Lanthier, N., Molendi-Coste, O., Horsmans, Y., van Rooijen, N., Cani, P. D., and Leclercq, I. A. (2010). Kupffer cell activation is a causal factor for hepatic insulin resistance. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 298, G107–G116.
- Leifeld, L., Cheng, S., Ramakers, J., Dumoulin, F. L., Trautwein, C., Sauerbruch, T., and Spengler, U. (2002). Imbalanced intrahepatic expression of interleukin 12, interferon gamma, and interleukin 10 in fulminant hepatitis B. *Hepatology* 36, 1001–1008.
- Lesniewski, L. A., Hosch, S. E., Neels, J. G., de Luca, C., Pashmforoush, M., Lumeng, C. N., Chiang, S. H., Scadeng, M., Saltiel, A. R., and Olefsky, J. M. (2007). Bone marrowspecific Cap gene deletion protects against high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance. *Nat. Med.* 13, 455–462.
- Li, P., Lu, M., Nguyen, M. T., Bae, E. J., Chapman, J., Feng, D., Hawkins, M., Pessin, J. E., Sears, D. D., Nguyen, A. K., Amidi, A., Watkins, S. M., Nguyen, U., and Olefsky, J. M. (2010). Functional heterogeneity of CD11c-positive adipose tissue macrophages in diet-induced obese mice. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 15333–15345.
- Lieber, C. S. (1997). Role of oxidative stress and antioxidant therapy in alcoholic and nonalcoholic liver diseases. Adv. Pharmacol. 38, 601–628.
- Lumeng, C. N., Bodzin, J. L., and Saltiel, A. R. (2007). Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117, 175–184.
- Lumeng, C. N., and Saltiel, A. R. (2011). Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 2111–2117.
- Mantovani, A., Sica, A., and Locati, M. (2007). New vistas on macrophage differentiation and activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 37, 14–16.
- Martínez, F. O., Helming, L., and Gordon, S. (2009). Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27, 451–483.
- Martínez, F. O., Sica, A., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2008). Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front. Biosci*, 13, 453–461.
- Miura, K., Kodama, Y., Inokuchi, S., Schnabl, B., Aoyama, T., Ohnishi, H., Olefsky, J. M., Brenner, D. A., and Seki, E. (2010). Toll-like receptor 9 promotes steatohepatitis by induction of interleukin-1beta in mice. *Gastroenterology* 139, 323–324.
- Mosser, D. M., and Edwards, J. P. (2008). Exploring the full spectrum

of macrophage activation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 958–969.

- Muriel, P. (2009). Role of free radicals in liver diseases. *Hepatol. Int.* 3, 526–536.
- Nettleton, J. A., and Katz, R. (2005). n-3 Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in type 2 diabetes: a review. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 105, 428–440.
- Neuman, M. G., Sha, K., Esguerra, R., Zakhari, S., Winkler, R. E., Hilzenrat, N., Wyse, J., Cooper, C. L., Seth, D., Gorrell, M. D., Haber, P. S., McCaughan, G. W., Leo, M. A., Lieber, C. S., Voiculescu, M., Buzatu, E., Ionescu, C., Dudas, J., Saile, B., and Ramadori, G. (2008). Inflammation and repair in viral hepatitis C. Dig. Dis. Sci. 53, 1468–1487.
- Nguyen, M. T., Favelyukis, S., Nguyen, A. K., Reichart, D., Scott, P. A., Jenn, A., Liu-Bryan, R., Glass, C. K., Neels, J. G., and Olefsky, J. M. (2007). A subpopulation of macrophages infiltrates hypertrophic adipose tissue and is activated by free fatty acids via Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and JNKdependent pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 35279–35292.
- Odegaard, J. I., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R. R., Red, E. A., Vats, D., Morel, C. R., Goforth, M. H., Subramanian, V., Mukundan, L., Ferrante, A. W., and Chawla, A. (2008). Alternative M2 activation of Kupffer cells by PPARdelta ameliorates obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* 7, 496–507.
- Oh, D. Y., Talukdar, S., Bae, E. J., Imamura, T., Morinaga, H., Fan, W., Li, P., Lu, W. J., Watkins, S. M., and Olefsky, J. M. (2010). GPR120 is an omega-3 fatty acid receptor mediating potent anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing effects. *Cell* 142, 687–698.
- Olefsky, J. M., and Glass, C. K. (2010). Macrophages, inflammation, and insulin resistance. *Annu. Rev. Physiol*, 72, 219–246.
- Ouchi, N., Parker, J. L., Lugus, J. J., and Walsh, K. (2011). Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 85–97.
- Patsouris, D., Li, P. P., Thapar, D., Chapman, J., Olefsky, J. M., and Neels, J. G. (2008). Ablation of CD11c-positive cells normalizes insulin sensitivity in obese insulin resistant animals. *Cell Metab.* 8, 301–309.
- Pinzani, M. (2002). PDGF and signal transduction in hepatic stellate cells. *Front. Biosci.* 7, 1720.
- Planagumà, A., Clària, J., Miquel, R., López-Parra, M., Titos, E., Masferrer, J. L., Arroyo, V., and Rodés, J. (2005). The selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor SC-236

reduces liver fibrosis by mechanisms involving non-parenchymal cell apoptosis and PPARgamma activation. *FASEB J.* 19, 1120–1122.

- Quiroga, J., and Prieto, J. (1993). Liver cytoprotection by prostaglandins. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 58, 67–91.
- Ramadori, G., and Armbrust, T. (2001). Cytokines in the liver. Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 13, 777–784.
- Ramadori, G., Moriconi, F., Malik, I., and Dudas, J. (2008). Physiology and pathophysiology of liver inflammation, damage and repair. *J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 59(Suppl. 1), 107–117.
- Sanyal, A. J. (2005). Mechanisms of disease: pathogenesis of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Nat. Clin. Pract. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 2, 46–53.
- Schif-Zuck, S., Gross, N., Assi, S., Rostoker, R., Serhan, C. N., and Ariel, A. (2011). Saturated-efferocytosis generates pro-resolving CD11b low macrophages: modulation by resolvins and glucocorticoids. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 366–379.
- Schwab, J. M., Chiang, N., Arita, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolvin E1 and protectin D1 activate inflammation-resolution programmes. *Nature* 447, 869–874.
- Scotton, C. J., Martinez, F. O., Smelt, M. J., Sironi, M., Locati, M., Mantovani, A., and Sozzani, S. (2005). Transcriptional profiling reveals complex regulation of the monocyte IL-1 beta system by IL-13. *J. Immunol.* 174, 834–845.
- Serhan, C. N. (2011). The resolution of inflammation: the devil in the flask and in the details. *FASEB J.* 25, 1441–1448.
- Serhan, C. N., Brain, S. D., Buckley, C. D., Gilroy, D. W., Haslett, C., O'Neill, L. A., Perretti, M., Rossi, A. G., and Wallace, J. L. (2007). Resolution of inflammation: state of the art, definitions and terms. *FASEB J.* 21, 325–332.
- Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2008). Resolving inflammation: dual anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 349–361.
- Serhan, C. N., Clish, C. B., Brannon, J., Colgan, S. P., Chiang, N., and Gronert, K. (2000). Novel functional sets of lipid-derived mediators with antiinflammatory actions generated from omega-3 fatty acids via cyclooxygenase 2-nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and transcellular processing. J. Exp. Med. 192, 1197–1204.
- Serhan, C. N., Hong, S., Gronert, K., Colgan, S. P., Devchand, P. R., Mirick, G., and Moussignac, R. L. (2002).

Resolvins: a family of bioactive products of omega-3 fatty acid transformation circuits initiated by aspirin treatment that counter proinflammation signals. *J. Exp. Med.* 196, 1025–1037.

- Shapiro, H., Tehilla, M., Attal-Singer, J., Bruck, R., Luzzatti, R., and Singer, P. (2011). The therapeutic potential of long-chain omega-3 fatty acids in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin. Nutr.* 30, 6–19.
- Shoelson, S. E., Lee, J., and Goldfine, A. B. (2006). Inflammation and insulin resistance. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 1793–1801.
- Spite, M., Norling, L. V., Summers, L., Yang, R., Cooper, D., Petasis, N. A., Flower, R. J., Perretti, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2009). Resolvin D2 is a potent regulator of leukocytes and controls microbial sepsis. *Nature* 461, 1287–1291.
- Tabas, I. (2010). Macrophage death and defective inflammation resolution in atherosclerosis. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 36–46.
- Takeuchi, D., Yoshidome, H., Kato, A., Ito, H., Kimura, F., Shimizu, H., Ohtsuka, M., Morita, Y., and Miyazaki, M. (2004). Interleukin 18 causes hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury by suppressing anti-inflammatory cytokine expression in mice. *Hepa*tology 39, 699–710.
- Taub, R. (2004). Liver regeneration: from myth to mechanism. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5, 836–847.
- Tilg, H., and Moschen, A. R. (2008). Insulin resistance, inflammation, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 19, 371–379.
- Titos, E., Clària, J., Bataller, R., Bosch-Marcé, M., Ginès, P., Jiménez, W., Arroyo, V., Rivera, F., and Rodés, J. (2000). Hepatocyte-derived cysteinyl leukotrienes modulate vascular tone in experimental cirrhosis. *Gastroenterology* 119, 794–805.
- Titos, E., Clària, J., Planagumà, A., López-Parra, M., González-Périz, A., Gaya, J., Miquel, R., Arroyo, V., and Rodés, J. (2005). Inhibition of 5-lipoxygenase-activating protein abrogates experimental liver injury: role of Kupffer cells. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 78, 871–878.
- Titos, E., Clària, J., Planagumà, A., López-Parra, M., Villamor, N., Parrizas, M., Carrió, A., Miquel, R., Jiménez, W., Arroyo, V., Rivera, F., and Rodés, J. (2003). Inhibition of 5-lipoxygenase induces cell growth arrest and apoptosis in rat Kupffer cells: implications for liver fibrosis. *FASEB J.* 17, 1745–1747.

- Titos, E., Rius, B., González-Périz, A., López-Vicario, C., Morán-Salvador, E., Martínez-Clemente, M., Arroyo, V., and Claria, J. (2011). Resolvin D1 and its precursor docosahexaenoic acid promote resolution of adipose tissue inflammation by eliciting macrophage polarization toward an M2-like phenotype. J. Immunol. (in press).
- Weisberg, S. P., McCann, D., Desai, M., Rosenbaum, M., Leibel, R. L., and Ferrante, A. W. Jr. (2003). Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in

adipose tissue. J. Clin. Invest. 112, 1796-1808.

- Wellen, K. E., and Hotamisligil, G. S. (2003). Obesity-induced inflammatory changes in adipose tissue. J. Clin. Invest. 112, 1785–1788.
- Wynn, T. A., and Barron, L. (2010). Macrophages: master regulators of inflammation and fibrosis. *Semin. Liver Dis.* 30, 245–257.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was

conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 17 August 2011; paper pending published: 26 August 2011; accepted: 15 September 2011; published online: 05 October 2011.

Citation: Clària J, González-Périz A, López-Vicario C, Rius B and Titos E (2011) New insights into the role of macrophages in adipose tissue inflammation and fatty liver disease: modulation by endogenous omega-3 fatty acid-derived lipid mediators. Front. Immun. 2:49. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00049

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2011 Clària, González-Périz, López-Vicario, Rius and Titos. This is an open-access article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.



## Macrophages in synovial inflammation

## Aisling Kennedy<sup>1,2</sup>, Ursula Fearon<sup>2,3</sup>, Douglas J. Veale<sup>2,3</sup> and Catherine Godson<sup>1,2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> School of Medicine and Medical Sciences, University College Dublin Conway Institute, Dublin, Ireland

<sup>2</sup> University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

<sup>3</sup> Dublin Academic Medical Centre, St. Vincent's University Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Fulvio D'Acquisto, Queen Mary University of London, UK Francesco Saverio Di Giovine, University of Sheffield, UK

#### \*Correspondence:

Catherine Godson, School of Medicine and Medical Sciences, University College Dublin Conway Institute, Belfield, Dublin 4, Ireland. e-mail: catherine.godson@ucd.ie

Synovial macrophages are one of the resident cell types in synovial tissue and while they remain relatively quiescent in the healthy joint, they become activated in the inflamed joint and, along with infiltrating monocytes/macrophages, regulate secretion of proinflammatory cytokines and enzymes involved in driving the inflammatory response and joint destruction. Synovial macrophages are positioned throughout the sub-lining layer and lining layer at the cartilage-pannus junction and mediate articular destruction. Sub-lining macrophages are now also considered as the most reliable biomarker for disease severity and response to therapy in rheumatoid arthritis (RA). There is a growing understanding of the molecular drivers of inflammation and an appreciation that the resolution of inflammation is an active process rather than a passive return to homeostasis, and this has implications for our understanding of the role of macrophages in inflammation. Macrophage phenotype determines the cytokine secretion profile and tissue destruction capabilities of these cells. Whereas inflammatory synovial macrophages have not yet been classified into one phenotype or another it is widely known that TNFα and IL-I, characteristically released by M1 macrophages, are abundant in RA while IL-10 activity, characteristic of M2 macrophages, is somewhat diminished. Here we will briefly review our current understanding of macrophages and macrophage polarization in RA as well as the elements implicated in controlling polarization, such as cytokines and transcription factors like NFkB, IRFs and NR4A, and pro-resolving factors, such as LXA4 and other lipid mediators which may promote a non-inflammatory, pro-resolving phenotype, and may represent a novel therapeutic paradigm.

#### Keywords: macrophage, arthritis, inflammation

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Macrophages  $(M\phi)$  are one of the resident cell types in synovial tissue, along with fibroblasts. While quiescent in health,  $M\phi$  become activated in the inflamed joint, where they make up around 30–40% of the cellular content, and regulate secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and enzymes involved in driving the inflammatory response and joint destruction (Firestein and Zvaifler, 1990). Their position throughout the sub-lining layer and lining layer at the cartilage–pannus junction facilitates their role mediating articular destruction. It is estimated that rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) each affects approximately 1% of the population (Firestein, 2003; Gladman, 2009), leading to patient pain and disability as well as contributing to a great economic burden in terms of lost working days and patient health services (Cooper, 2000) and therefore is an area of intense investigation.

As our understanding of inflammation progresses, including the recent concept that resolution of inflammation is an active process rather than a passive return to homeostasis, the role of M $\phi$ is increasingly appreciated. The inability to resolve acute inflammation may lead to a chronic inflammatory state. Depending on their phenotype, M $\phi$  can secrete either pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines and mediate matrix destruction or deposition. Synovial

M
 participate in many of the events driving inflammation including the stimulation of angiogenesis, leukocyte and lymphocyte recruitment, fibroblast proliferation, and protease secretion leading to eventual joint destruction (Burmester et al., 1997; Vallejo et al., 2003; Abeles and Pillinger, 2006). While RA and PsA are considered more inflammatory than osteoarthritis (OA), it can still contain an inflammatory component, of which Mø play a large part. In all of these conditions Mø derived mediators can drive inflammation and cartilage destruction. Depletion of Mo from OA synovial cell cultures significantly reduced TNFa and IL-1β levels. Depletion of Mφ from both RA and OA synovial cell cultures leads to reduced synovial fibroblast responses such as cytokine and MMP production (Janusz and Hare, 1993; Bondeson et al., 2010). Both macrophages and fibroblasts display an activated cell phenotype with increased cell surface expression of HLA-DR and leukocyte adhesion molecules (Athanasou et al., 1988; Alvaro-Gracia et al., 1990) participating in T-cell activation. Interaction of M $\phi$  with T-cells potentiates the expression of several pro-inflammatory mediators such as IL-1 $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  and MMPs (McInnes et al., 2000).

Important pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF $\alpha$  and IL-l are abundant in the inflamed synovium and are characteristically released by classically activated (M1) M $\phi$ . These cytokines are central to joint destruction. The importance of M $\phi$  in driving the inflammatory response has been highlighted by several quantitative microscopic studies, where they have shown that M $\phi$  number; correlates with disease activity (Tak et al., 1997), has potential use as a biomarker for disease (Kruithof et al., 2006; Bresnihan et al., 2009) and declines in response to therapy (Goedkoop et al., 2004; Canete et al., 2010). M $\phi$  can induce angiogenesis (Leibovich et al., 1987), and hypoxia, a prominent feature of the inflamed joint, promotes the survival of monocytes/macrophages and induces their anaerobic adaptations including glycolysis (Roiniotis et al., 2009).

pathogenesis of arthritis and this observation was supported by studies showing that the number of Mo was increased in clinically affected joints compared to non-affected joints (Kraan et al., 1998). Several studies also linked the number of synovial M $\phi$  to inflammatory cytokine production joint destruction (Mulherin et al., 1996). As the search for a reliable biomarker in RA continued, the role of Mo was again highlighted. The culmination of this work has led to sub-lining CD68 positive synovial Mo currently being the only validated biomarker for disease severity (Tak et al., 1997) and response to therapy in arthritis (Haringman et al., 2005), further confirming their importance in the pathogenesis of this disease, a finding which is independent of treatment type (Haringman et al., 2005; Thurlings et al., 2008). Considering the similarities between synovial inflammation in RA and PsA, M\phi have also been proposed as a biomarker for response to therapy in PsA. Several studies have concluded that Mø number is decreased in PsA synovial tissue following therapy (Goedkoop et al., 2004; Kruithof et al., 2006; Canete et al., 2010).

### **ACTIVATION OF SYNOVIAL MACROPHAGES**

Besides the abundant pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines present in inflamed synovial tissue, activation, and survival of M¢ can be achieved through acetylation or de-acetylation of histones. Downstream effects of TNFa and other molecules results in the induction of histone acetyltransferase (HAT) activity in Mo which causes acetylation of histones and subsequent modulation of transcriptional activity. HAT activity is counteracted by histone deacetylases (HDAC). Two recent studies have found evidence of depressed HDAC activity in RA, particularly in synovial macrophages and fibroblasts. The ratio of HDAC:HAT activity was significantly lower in RA synovial tissue compare to healthy controls. In combination with this, HDAC inhibition decreases IL-10 production from whole tissue synovial explants cultures, indicating a negative effect on anti-inflammatory pathways, which would lead us to believe that a lack of HDAC may contribute to perpetuation of inflammation (Huber et al., 2007; Grabiec et al., 2008, 2010). Despite this, HDAC inhibition is showing promise for inflammatory diseases. HDAC inhibitors reduced IL-6 production from TNFa stimulated Mo and induced apoptosis of RA synovial fluid (SF)  $M\phi$ , even in the presence of a pro-inflammatory stimulus (Grabiec et al., 2010). This is of interest considering the ability of synovial cells and infiltrating cells to evade apoptosis during joint inflammation contributing to synovial hypercellularity (Salmon et al., 1997; Perlman et al., 2001). The potential use of HDAC inhibitors has been further promoted by their success in

suppressing synovial inflammation and cartilage destruction in a CIA mouse model (Nasu et al., 2008).

Toll like receptors (TLR) are pattern recognition receptors that mediate response to infection. However, it is becoming apparent that some of these receptors may become activated by noninfectious agents from within the body and may therefore play a role in autoimmune conditions such as RA. Engagement of TLRs induces signaling through a well defined pathway involving MyD88 that leads to transcriptional activation (Joosten et al., 2003). TLR2 and TLR4 appear to be particularly associated with RA. TLR knockout and arthritis mouse models, or a combination of both, have highlighted the position of TLRs in the pathogenesis of arthritis. In a model of spontaneous arthritis due to IL-1 receptor antagonist knockout, simultaneous knockout of TLR4 attenuated inflammation while TLR2 knockout produced a more severe arthritis. Knockout of TLR9 had no effect (Abdollahi-Roodsaz et al., 2008). This clearly indicates a potential benefit for TLR4 antagonism in RA. However the role of TLR2 seems less defined as other studies have shown that knockdown of TLR2 produces beneficial effects in arthritis (Joosten et al., 2003). Further to this, many TLR ligands have been identified in synovial inflammation (Okamura et al., 2001; Park et al., 2004). Acute serum amyloid A (SAA), which is significantly upregulated in arthritis and propagates pro-inflammatory effects similar to TNFa (O'Hara et al., 2000; Mullan et al., 2006; Connolly et al., 2011), is a functional ligand for TLR2 and may contribute to the deleterious effects of SAA in arthritis (Cheng et al., 2008). RA Mo are more responsive to stimulation than Mø from other forms of inflammatory arthritis, despite no difference in M $\phi$  number (Huang et al., 2007). There-and a sustained M
 response in RA.

Rheumatoid factor (RF) is one of the diagnostic criteria for RA and can help to distinguish RA from similar arthropathies like PsA. Classification of RA as an autoimmune disease came initially from the discovery of IgG auto-antibodies in the blood of patients (Waaler, 1940; Franklin et al., 1957). RF is mostly IgM-RF, but IgG-RF and IgA-RF can also be detected in some patients. The cellular receptors for IgG are the Fcy receptors, FCyRI (CD64), FcyRII (CD32), and FcyRIII (CD16). All three receptors are expressed on has been demonstrated to play a role in the development of arthritis through animal models. Mice deficient in FcyRIII are protected from the development of collagen induced arthritis without alteration of their humoral response, and therefore the protection is not due to alterations in T-cell responses (Ståhl et al., 2002; Andrén et al., 2006). Polymorphisms in Fcy receptors are associated with incidence of RA as well as response to therapy (Morgan et al., 2006; Canete et al., 2009; Thabet et al., 2009; Morales-Lara et al., 2010).

#### ARE SYNOVIAL MACROPHAGES POLARIZED?

In the immune system  $M\phi$  are effective antigen presenting cells with phagocytic activity which respond to lymphocyte derived cytokines. However, the responses elicited by  $M\phi$  are variable and depend entirely on the tissue environment. We now know these responses can be either pro- or anti-inflammatory. Dedicated reviews on this topic discuss in more detail the cytokines and chemokines involved in promoting one phenotype over another (Mantovani et al., 2004; Murray and Wynn, 2011) but an overview of the main components are outlined in Figure 1. Classically ing high levels of TNFα, IL-1, IL-6, IL-12, IL-23, reactive oxygen species, and low levels of IL-10. Alternatively activated Mø, of which there are three subsets (Mantovani et al., 2004; Martinez et al., 2008), display and anti-inflammatory phenotype, producing high levels of IL-10, IL-1 receptor antagonist, decoy IL-1RII, TGFβ, and low levels of IL-12. Both types are necessary for correct resolution of inflammation. An interesting, and potentially useful, property of these  $M\phi$  is that they remain plastic and polarization into one phenotype does preclude re-polarization (Stout et al., 2005). Therefore, if we could elucidate the exact pathways and transcription factors involved in promoting one phenotype over the other in vivo, this system could be exploited for therapeutic gain.

There appears to be a lack of evidence for Mo polarization in either direction in the inflamed joint. It has been suggested that spondyloarthropathies such as PsA display a more M2 profile compared to RA patients and that M1 mediators correlate with joint inflammation in RA (Vandooren et al., 2009). However, Mø functions and not polarization. The mediators that can control M $\phi$  polarization are indeed present in the synovium and some show potential as therapeutic targets. Synovial lining layer thickness is greater in RA, compared to PsA or healthy control subjects, which is associated with an increase in synovial Mo and fibroblasts. PsA patients tend to have less lining layer Mø than RA patients. This has been observed in many comparative studies. Danning et al. (2000) also found similar levels of IL-10 in RA and PsA synovium, despite the difference in synovial lining laver Mo numbers, however levels were described as being quite low. It is difficult to determine if this lack of IL-10 is a



FIGURE 1 | Blood-borne monocytes exit the blood stream and differentiate into macrophages. The macrophage response depends on the stimulus provided by the microenvironment. IFN<sub>Y</sub> along with LPS or TNF $\alpha$  drive polarization of M1 (classically activated) macrophages which participate in pro-inflammatory activities. On the other hand, IL-4 + IL-13, IL-10, or immune complexes drive M2 (alternatively activated) macrophages, which participate in anti-inflammatory responses.

contributor to or consequence of the overwhelming inflammation in the joint. A study by Mottonen et al. (1998) found that 68% of Mø isolated from RA SF were CD86 positive and that SF  $M\phi$  can take on a dendritic cell phenotype when exposed to a combination of IL-4 and GM-CSF and that these cells were more effective at activating T-cells than control or TNFa stimulated M $\phi$ . The effects of IL-4 + GM-CSF were mediated through CD86, a marker of classically activated Mø. IL-10 was able to inhibit the observed effects with IL-4 + GM-CSF as it downregulated the expression of CD86, as well as CD-40 and HLA-DR which also participate in Mo mediated T-cell activation. This is consistent with the classification that M2c M $\phi$ , which are driven by IL-10 are involved in suppression of the immune response (Mantovani et al., 2004). These results may appear confusing as IL-4 along with IL-13 drive the M2a or alternative M $\phi$  phenotype which should be involved in anti-inflammatory responses. However GM-CSF drives the M1 phenotype in monocyte derived macrophages so this may be the driving force for inflammatory responses in these experiments.

# WHAT REGULATORS IN SYNOVIAL INFLAMMATION COULD POTENTIALLY INFLUENCE MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION?

Figure 1 has outlined the cytokines and regulators that promote M1 or M2 polarization. The extent of expression of these factors in the joint varies. The M1 Mo phenotype is induced by interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ) in combination with either lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or TNFa. IFNy is highly expressed in RA synovial tissue and its levels significantly correlate with disease severity (Milman et al., 2010). Exposure to INF $\gamma$  increases the response of M $\phi$  exposed to other stimuli by either upregulating pro-inflammatory cytokines, like TNFa, or downregulating anti-inflammatory cytokines, like IL-10 (Erwig et al., 1998; Wallet et al., 2010). TNFα is a master cytokine in inflammation and as such is a potent inducer of other pro-inflammatory cytokines (Nawroth et al., 1986; Butler et al., 1995), is chemotactic for leukocytes, is a potent inducer of angiogenesis (Leibovich et al., 1987), stimulates adhesion molecule expression in SFC in vitro (Marlor et al., 1992), and lymphoid migration into inflamed synovial tissue in vivo (Wahid et al., 2000). Within the inflamed joint macrophages, fibroblasts, lymphocytes, and endothelial cells produce TNFa. An important role for TNFa in arthritis was confirmed by studies which showed its potential to degrade both cartilage (Dayer et al., 1985) and bone (Bertolini et al., 1986). Further rationale for the involvement of TNF $\alpha$  in the progression of inflammatory arthritis was provided when transgenic mice expressing a modified human TNFa gene spontaneously developed arthritis which exhibited increased human TNFa protein, joint inflammation, bone erosion, and cartilage destruction. In this study, antibodies specific for human, but not mouse TNFa reduced disease severity (Keffer et al., 1991). In subsequent studies administration of a monoclonal antibody to  $TNF\alpha$ ameliorated inflammation and joint damage after disease onset in a CIA model of arthritis (Williams et al., 1992). TNFα cytokine targeted therapies have now been developed for inflammatory arthritis. The first clinical trial was undertaken in the UK in 1992 and demonstrated that targeted biologic therapy decreased serum IL-6 levels, swollen joint numbers and levels of the acute phase proteins CRP and A-SAA which are markers of inflammation (Elliott

et al., 1993). Alternatively, anti-inflammatory and M2 polarizing cytokines like IL-10 are lowly expressed in arthritis as its signaling is blocked during FC $\gamma$  receptor ligation (Ji et al., 2003), and treatment with the pro-resolving mediator annexin A1 stimulates release of IL-10 (Ferlazzo et al., 2003). Treatment of PBMC with IL-10 caused a change in the ratio of T<sub>h</sub>17:Treg cells in favor of Treg cells and decreased production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-17 (Heo et al., 2010). Animal models of arthritis have also demonstrated how treatment with IL-10 can suppress the development and progression of joint inflammation, even in established disease (Walmsley et al., 1996; Whalen et al., 1999; Mauri et al., 2003).

The cytokines involved in promoting polarization are well defined, however less is known about which transcription factors are utilized to induce polarization. IRF5 (interferon regulatory factor 5) has been implicated in driving the M1 phenotype as well as actively suppressing M2 polarization and driving T<sub>b</sub>1 and T<sub>h</sub>17 responses (Krausgruber et al., 2011). While the study by Krausgruber et al. (2011) was not performed in synovial  $M\phi$ , animal studies suggest that inflammation in RA is driven by Th1 cytokines such as IFNy, which is upregulated early in the disease process (Miltenburg et al., 1992; Schulze-Koops and Kalden, 2001) and a rapid growth in interest in the Th17 pathway and indeed IL-17 itself in the last few years would suggest that this would warrant investigation in the inflamed joint. Recent reports confirm that alterations in the IRF5 gene confers susceptibility to RA (Dieguez-Gonzalez et al., 2008; Han et al., 2009; Dawidowicz et al., 2011) as well as many related illnesses such as inflammatory bowel disease, Sjogrens syndrome, and systemic lupus erythematosus (Dideberg et al., 2007; Graham et al., 2007; Miceli-Richard et al., 2007). Other transcription factors in the IRF family, like IRF3 (Biswas et al., 2006) and IRF4 (Satoh et al., 2010) have been implicated in promoting M
 polarization in other disease settings, and IRF family members contribute to determination of dendritic cell fate (Tamura et al., 2005). These findings make the IRF family attractive candidates to study in the context of  $M\phi$ 's in arthritis.

NR4A is part of the orphan nuclear receptor superfamily which have roles in lipid metabolism and inflammation (Desreumaux et al., 2001; Oosterveer et al., 2010; Hong et al., 2011). Receptors in the same superfamily as NR4A are downregulated in arthritic tissue and their activation appears to play a role in inhibiting disease progression (Bonnelye et al., 2008; Park et al., 2010). However members of the NR4A subfamily appear to have less clearly defined effects to the anti-inflammatory family members liver X receptor and peroxisome-proliferator-activator receptor and drive inflammation in human synovial tissue (Murphy et al., 2001). The role of NR4A receptors specifically in M
 polarization has not yet been elucidated, however, any role for NR4A in M
 polarization would be an interesting finding due to the modulation of NR4A by both dexamethasone and methotrexate, which are effective treatments for joint inflammation in some patients. NR4A receptors can also activate NF $\kappa$ B in murine M $\phi$  (Pei et al., 2006) where it promotes transcription of pro-inflammatory genes. In arthritis, and inflammation in general, NFkB can be considered a master transcription factor as it is utilized by many ligand-receptor complexes to modulate gene transcription. TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  which are abundant in

the inflamed joint employ this transcription factor and in turn can be regulated by it. NFkB activation has been detected prior to the clinical onset of arthritis in animal models (Tsao et al., 1997; Han et al., 1998) and the NFkB pathway has been directly targeted as a treatment method for RA confirming its essential role in the pathogenesis of this disease (Wakamatsu et al., 2005). Immunohistochemical staining has confirmed nuclear expression of NFKB subunits in synovial Mφ (Handel et al., 1995). The NFκB family consists of five proteins; p50, p52, RelA (p65), RelB, and c-Rel. These proteins form homo or heterodimers to determine gene transcription. RelA, RelB, and c-Rel contain a transcriptional activation domain and therefore upregulate gene expression, however p50 and p52 do not contain the transcriptional activation domain and homodimers of these proteins can sometimes have a repressing function (Bohuslav et al., 1998). NFkB p50 activation has been 2009). This study found that knockout of the NFkB p50 subunit prevented the development of tolerance in LPS challenged Mø by restoring M1 mediators and inhibiting M2 cytokines. Similarly, Saccani et al. (2006) found that accumulation of the p50 homodimer occurred in the nuclei of tumor associated M $\phi$  and that these Mo expressed an M2 phenotype. Therefore due to the prominence of the NFkB pathway in RA it remains an interesting candidate for influencing M $\phi$  polarization. A summary of all factors discussed here are outlined in Table 1.

### **MACROPHAGES AND RESOLUTION OF INFLAMMATION**

There is a growing understanding of the molecular drivers of inflammation and an appreciation that the resolution of inflammation is an active process rather than a passive return to homeostasis. Endogenously produced mediators that actively promote the resolution of inflammation are now under investigation

Table 1 | Description of the regulators in synovial inflammation that could potentially influence macrophage polarization.

Polarizing factors	$M\phi$ subset promotion	Reference
CYTOKINES		
$IFN_{\gamma} + (LPS/TNF_{\alpha})$	M1	Erwig et al. (1998), Wallet et al. (2010)
IL-4 + IL-13	M2	See review Mantovani et al. (2004)
IL-10	M2	See review Mantovani et al. (2004)
Immune complexes	M2	See review Mantovani et al. (2004)
TRANSCRIPTION FA	CTORS	
IRF3	M2	Biswas et al. (2006)
IRF4	M2	Satoh et al. (2010)
IRF5	Promotes M1, actively inhibits M2	Krausgruber et al. (2011)
NFκB p50	M2	Porta et al. (2009), Biswas et al. (2006)
NR4A	Not yet investigated in Mø polarization	

for their therapeutic use. These are molecules such as lipoxins, resolvins, protectins, and annexins. Lipoxin A4 (LXA4) is an eicosanoid produced by the transcellular metabolism of arachidonic acid by 15/5- or 5/12-lipoxinagese (Serhan et al., 1984). Its biosynthesis is co-incident with the resolution phase of inflammation and many of its bioactions are mediated through ligation of its receptor, ALX/FPR2 (Fiore et al., 1994). LXA4 is produced in inflamed synovial tissue (Thomas et al., 1995) where it can downregulate pro-inflammatory activities of activated fibroblasts and upregulate anti-inflammatory activities, even in the presence of a pro-inflammatory stimulus which acts through the same receptor (Sodin-Semrl et al., 2004; Kronke et al., 2009; Chan and Moore, 2010). In other disease models, LXA4 has been shown to induce anti-inflammatory/pro-resolving actions such as inhibition of neutrophil recruitment and activation (Filep et al., 1999), regulation of NFkB activation (Decker et al., 2009), and the clearance of apoptotic cells by  $M\phi$  (Godson et al., 2000). Neutrophils are the first effector cells at the site of inflammation. Once these cells have carried out their functions in regard to host defense they are programmed to die by apoptosis. Resolution of inflammation and return to homeostasis involves phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils to prevent the persistence to necrosis and leakage of cellular contents, which may itself begin an inflammatory reaction. Despite the lack of apoptosis occurring in all cell types in the inflamed synovium, resident synovial M
 retain the capacity to phagocytose apoptotic cells, even at an early timepoint after arthritis induction (van Lent et al., 2001). If normal apoptosis and phagocytosis could be induced in the inflamed synovium, possibly by native LXA4 or its stable analogs, this process may trigger a normal resolution of inflammation.

In order to encourage phagocytosis, apoptotic cells release mediators that attract phagocytes toward them, essentially flagging themselves for engulfment. One such mediator is the antiinflammatory compound annexin A1 (Arur et al., 2003; Scannell et al., 2007). Annexin A1 is a 37-kDa protein of the annexin superfamily where all family members contain a similar core region and a distinct N-terminal region which confers specificity of function. Generally annexin A1 is localized to the cytoplasm where, upon stimulation, it is mobilized to the cell membrane and secreted (for an extensive review on annexin A1 see Perretti and Dalli, 2009). Interestingly annexin A1 also signals through ALX/FPR2, the same receptor utilized by LXA4 and SAA. Annexin A1 is widely expressed in many cell types including Mø. Immunohistochemical analysis has demonstrated an increased expression of annexin A1 in the RA synovial lining layer macrophages and fibroblasts compared to OA and normal joints. This may, however, be due

#### REFERENCES

Abdollahi-Roodsaz, S., Joosten, L. A. B., Koenders, M. I., Devesa, I., Roelofs, M. F., Radstake, T. R. D. J., Heuvelmans-Jacobs, M., Akira, S., Nicklin, M. J. H., Ribeiro-Dias, F. T., and Van Den Berg, W. B. (2008). Stimulation of TLR2 and TLR4 differentially skews the balance of T cells in a mouse model of arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 118, 205–216. Abeles, A., and Pillinger, M. (2006). The role of the synovial fibroblast in rheumatoid arthritis: cartilage destruction and the regulation of matrix metalloproteinases. *Bull. NYU. Hosp. Jt. Dis.* 24, 20–24.

Alvaro-Gracia, J. M., Zvaifler, N. J., and Firestein, G. S. (1990). Cytokines in chronic inflammatory arthritis. V. Mutual antagonism between interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha

to the increased lining layer thickness in this condition (Goulding et al., 1995) as other studies have shown decreased binding of annexin A1 to several cell types in RA (Goulding et al., 1992; Sampey et al., 2000). Glucocorticoid stimulation causes annexin A1 mobilization to the cell surface and secretion where it mediates glucocorticoid induced anti-inflammatory effects. This is of particular interest in arthritis as glucocorticoid therapy is one of the current treatments for this condition (Flower, 1988; Podgorski et al., 1992; Yang et al., 1998, 1999; Maderna et al., 2005). However, as is increasingly the case for many mediators, the role of annexin A1 may not be as unambiguous as initially described and it may also potentiate pro-inflammatory actions in arthritis. An investigation by Tagoe et al. (2008) has revealed synergistic actions with TNFa and annexin A1 in terms of MMP production from synovial fibroblast cells. They saw firstly that TNFa can induce expression of endogenous annexin A1 and secondly that TNFa along with the annexin A1 mimetic peptide Ac2-26 enhanced secretion of MMP-1 which was dependent on FPR2/ALX, Erk, Jnk, and NFkB (Tagoe et al., 2008). As mentioned, this study was not performed in synovial M $\phi$ , but as they have similar actions to synovial fibroblasts, the same results may be produced by these cells once investigated. Further to this, it has also been shown that administration of human recombinant annexin A1 during the immunization phase of the collagen induced arthritis model perpetuated the development of the signs and symptoms of arthritis. This may have been due to the increased T-cell activation and skewing toward a Th1 phenotype by annexin A1 acting through FPR2/ALX (D'Acquisto et al., 2007). T-cells from RA patients 48 h post steroid therapy demonstrated depressed expression of annexin A1 (D'Acquisto et al., 2008) further lending support to the possibility that annexin A1 may also mediate proinflammatory actions. However we must be careful to acknowledge the actions of specific cleavage products from full length annexin. One such cleavage product has been identified as causing neutrophil extravasation, an important event in inflammation, where other truncated forms of annexin cannot (Williams et al., 2010).

#### CONCLUSION

In the study of inflammation and our efforts to promote its normal resolution,  $M\phi$  remain to the fore of our interest. In the inflamed joint,  $M\phi$  will continue to be a focal point for therapeutic intervention which, currently, centers around cytokine blockade but now has the possibility of extending into  $M\phi$  re-programming. This remains an interesting and a yet to be fully explored option in terms of treatment for synovial inflammation.

on HLA-DR expression, proliferation, collagenase production, and granulocyte macrophage colonystimulating factor production by rheumatoid arthritis synoviocytes. *J. Clin. Invest.* 86, 1790–1798.

- Andrén, M., Xiang, Z., Nilsson, G., and Kleinau, S. (2006). FcγRIIIexpressing macrophages are essential for development of collagen-induced arthritis. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 63, 282–289.
- Arur, S., Uche, U. E., Rezaul, K., Fong, M., Scranton, V., Cowan, A. E., Mohler, W., and Han, D. K. (2003). Annexin I is an endogenous ligand that mediates apoptotic cell engulfment. *Dev. Cell* 4, 587–598.
- Athanasou, N., Quinn, J., Heryet, A., Puddle, B., Woods, C., and Mcgee, J. (1988). The immunohistology of synovial lining cells in normal and inflamed synovium. *J. Pathol.* 155, 133–142.

- Bertolini, D. R., Nedwin, G. E., Bringman, T. S., Smith, D. D., and Mundy, G. R. (1986). Stimulation of bone resorption and inhibition of bone formation in vitro by human tumour necrosis factors. *Nature* 319, 516–518.
- Biswas, S. K., Gangi, L., Paul, S., Schioppa, T., Saccani, A., Sironi, M., Bottazzi, B., Doni, A., Vincenzo, B., Pasqualini, F., Vago, L., Nebuloni, M., Mantovani, A., and Sica, A. (2006). A distinct and unique transcriptional program expressed by tumor-associated macrophages (defective NF-kB and enhanced IRF-3/STAT1 activation). *Blood* 107, 2112–2122
- Bohuslav, J., Kravchenko, V. V., Parry, G. C., Erlich, J. H., Gerondakis, S., Mackman, N., and Ulevitch, R. J. (1998). Regulation of an essential innate immune response by the p50 subunit of NF-kappaB. J. Clin. Invest. 102, 1645–1652.
- Bondeson, J., Blom, A. B., Wainwright, S., Hughes, C., Caterson, B., and Van Den Berg, W. B. (2010). The role of synovial macrophages and macrophage-produced mediators in driving inflammatory and destructive responses in osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum, 62, 647–657.
- Bonnelye, E., Laurin, N., Jurdic, P., Hart, D. A., and Aubin, J. E. (2008). Estrogen receptor-related receptoralpha (ERR-alpha) is dysregulated in inflammatory arthritis. *Rheumatol*ogy 47, 1785–1791.
- Bresnihan, B., Pontifex, E., Thurlings, R. M., Vinkenoog, M., El-Gabalawy, H., Fearon, U., Fitzgerald, O., Gerlag, D. M., Rooney, T., Van De Sande, M. G., Veale, D., Vos, K., and Tak, P.-P. (2009). Synovial tissue sublining CD68 expression is a biomarker of therapeutic response in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials: consistency across centers. J. Rheumatol. 36, 1800–1802.
- Burmester, G., Stuhlmuller, B., Keyszer, G., and Kinne, R. (1997). Mononuclear phagocytes and rheumatoid synovitis. Mastermind or workhorse in arthritis? *Arthritis Rheum.* 40, 5–18.
- Butler, D. M., Maini, R. N., Feldmann, M., and Brennan, F. M. (1995). Modulation of proinflammatory cytokine release in rheumatoid synovial membrane cell cultures. Comparison of monoclonal anti TNF-alpha antibody with the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Eur. Cytokine Netw.* 6, 225–230.
- Canete, J. D., Celis, R., Hernandez, M. V., Pablos, J. L., and Sanmarti, R. (2010). Synovial immunopathological changes associated with successful abatacept therapy in a case of

severe refractory psoriatic arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 69, 935–936.

- Canete, J. D., Suarez, B., Hernandez, M. V., Sanmarti, R., Rego, I., Celis, R., Moll, C., Pinto, J. A., Blanco, F. J., and Lozano, F. (2009). Influence of variants of Fc-gamma receptors IIA and IIIA on the American college of rheumatology and European league against rheumatism responses to anti-tumour necrosis factor-alpha therapy in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 68, 1547–1552.
- Chan, M. M.-Y., and Moore, A. R. (2010). Resolution of inflammation in murine autoimmune arthritis is disrupted by cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition and restored by prostaglandin E2-mediated lipoxin A4 production. *J. Immunol.* 184, 6418–6426.
- Cheng, N., He, R., Tian, J., Ye, P. P., and Ye, R. D. (2008). Cutting edge: TLR2 is a functional receptor for acutephase serum amyloid A. *J. Immunol.* 181, 22–26.
- Connolly, M., Veale, D. J., and Fearon, U. (2011). Acute serum amyloid A regulates cytoskeletal rearrangement, cell matrix interactions and promotes cell migration in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 70, 1296–1303.
- Cooper, N. J. (2000). Economic burden of rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review. *Rheumatology* 39, 28–33.
- D'Acquisto, F., Merghani, A., Lecona, E., Rosignoli, G., Raza, K., Buckley, C. D., Flower, R. J., and Perretti, M. (2007). Annexin-1 modulates T-cell activation and differentiation. *Blood* 109, 1095–1102.
- D'Acquisto, F., Paschalidis, N., Raza, K., Buckley, C. D., Flower, R. J., and Perretti, M. (2008). Glucocorticoid treatment inhibits annexin-1 expression in rheumatoid arthritis CD4+ T cells. *Rheumatology* 47, 636–639.
- Danning, C. L., Illei, G. G., Hitchon, C., Greer, M. R., Boumpas, D. T., and Mcinnes, I. B. (2000). Macrophagederived cytokine and nuclear factor kappaB p65 expression in synovial membrane and skin of patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 43, 1244–1256.
- Dawidowicz, K., Allanore, Y., Guedj, M., Pierlot, C., Bombardieri, S., Balsa, A., Westhovens, R., Barrera, P., Alves, H., Teixeira, V. H., Petit-Teixeira, E., Van De Putte, L., Van Riel, P., Prum, B., Bardin, T., Meyer, O., Cornelis, F., Dieude, P., and Ecraf, F. (2011). The interferon regulatory factor 5 gene confers susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis and influences its erosive phenotype. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 70, 117–121.
- Dayer, J. M., Beutler, B., and Cerami, A. (1985). Cachectin/tumor necrosis

factor stimulates collagenase and prostaglandin E2 production by human synovial cells and dermal fibroblasts. *J. Exp. Med.* 162, 2163–2168.

- Decker, Y., Mcbean, G., and Godson, C. (2009). Lipoxin A4 inhibits IL-1binduced IL-8 and ICAM-1 expression in 1321N1 human astrocytoma cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 296, C1420–C1427.
- Desreumaux, P., Dubuquoy, L., Nutten, S., Peuchmaur, M., Englaro, W., Schoonjans, K., Derijard, B., Desvergne, B., Wahli, W., Chambon, P., Leibowitz, M. D., Colombel, J.-F. D. R., and Auwerx, J. (2001). Attenuation of colon inflammation through activators of the retinoid X receptor (Rxr)/peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor g (Pparg) heterodimer. J. Exp. Med. 193, 827–838.
- Dideberg, V., Kristjansdottir, G., Milani, L., Libioulle, C., Sigurdsson, S., Louis, E., Wiman, A.-C., Vermeire, S., Rutgeerts, P., Belaiche, J., Franchimont, D., Van Gossum, A., Bours, V., and Syvanen, A.-C. (2007). An insertion/deletion polymorphism in the interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) gene confers risk of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 3008–3016.
- Dieguez-Gonzalez, R., Calaza, M., Perez-Pampin, E., De La Serna, A. R., Fernandez-Gutierrez, B., Castañeda, S., Largo, R., Joven, B., Narvaez, J., Navarro, F., Marenco, J. L., Vicario, J. L., Blanco, F. J., Fernandez-Lopez, I. C., Caliz, R., Collado-Escobar, M. D., Carreño, L., Lopez-Longo, J., Cañete, J. D., Gomez-Reino, J. J., and Gonzalez, A. (2008). Association of interferon regulatory factor 5 haplotypes, similar to that found in systemic lupus ervthematosus, in a large subgroup of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum, 58, 1264-1274.
- Elliott, M. J., Maini, R. N., Feldmann, M., Long-Fox, A., Charles, P., Katsikis, P., Brennan, F. M., Walker, J., Bijl, H., Ghrayeb, J., and Woody, J. N. (1993). Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with chimeric monoclonal antibodies to tumor necrosis factor α. Arthritis Rheum. 36, 1681–1690.
- Erwig, L.-P., Kluth, D. C., Walsh, G. M., and Rees, A. J. (1998). Initial cytokine exposure determines function of macrophages and renders them unresponsive to other cytokines. *J. Immunol.* 161, 1983–1988.
- Ferlazzo, V., D'agostino, P., Milano, S., Caruso, R., Feo, S., Cillari, E., and Parente, L. (2003). Antiinflammatory effects of annexin-1: stimulation of IL-10 release

and inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 3, 1363–1369.

- Filep, J. N. G., Zouki, C., Petasis, N. A., Hachicha, M., and Serhan, C. N. (1999). Anti-inflammatory actions of lipoxin A4 stable analogs are demonstrable in human whole blood: modulation of leukocyte adhesion molecules and inhibition of neutrophilendothelial interactions. *Blood* 94, 4132–4142.
- Fiore, S., Maddox, J. F., Perez, H. D., and Serhan, C. N. (1994). Identification of a human cDNA encoding a functional high affinity lipoxin A4 receptor. J. Exp. Med. 180, 253–260.
- Firestein, G. S. (2003). Evolving concepts of rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature* 423, 356–361.
- Firestein, G. S., and Zvaifler, N. J. (1990). How important are T cells in chronic rheumatoid synovitis? *Arthritis Rheum.* 33, 768–773.
- Flower, R. J. (1988). Eleventh Gaddum memorial lecture. Lipocortin and the mechanism of action of the glucocorticoids. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 94, 987–1015.
- Franklin, E. C., Holman, H. R., Muller-Eberhard, H. J., and Kunkel, H. G. (1957). An unusual protein component of high molecular weight in the serum of certain patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Exp. Med.* 105, 425–438.
- Gladman, D. D. (2009). Psoriatic arthritis. *Dermatol. Ther.* 22, 40–55.
- Godson, C., Mitchell, S., Harvey, K., Petasis, N. A., Hogg, N., and Brady, H. R. (2000). Cutting edge: lipoxins rapidly stimulate nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by monocytederived macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 164, 1663–1667.
- Goedkoop, A. Y., Kraan, M. C., Teunissen, M. B. M., Picavet, D. I., De Rie, M. A., Bos, J. D., and Tak, P. P. (2004). Early effects of tumour necrosis factor {alpha} blockade on skin and synovial tissue in patients with active psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 63, 769–773.
- Goulding, N. J., Dixey, J., Morand, E. F., Dodds, R. A., Wilkinson, L. S., Pitsillides, A. A., and Edwards, J. C. (1995). Differential distribution of annexins-I, -II, -IV, and -VI in synovium. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 54, 841–845.
- Goulding, N. J., Jefferiss, C. M., Pan, L., Rigby, W. F., and Guyre, P. M. (1992). Specific binding of lipocortin-1 (annexin I) to monocytes and neutrophils is decreased in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 35, 1395–1397.

- Grabiec, A. M., Krausz, S., De Jager, W., Burakowski, T., Groot, D., Sanders, M. E., Prakken, B. J., Maslinski, W., Eldering, E., Tak, P. P., and Reedquist,
  K. A. (2010). Histone deacetylase inhibitors suppress inflammatory activation of rheumatoid arthritis patient synovial macrophages and tissue. J. Immunol. 184, 2718–2728.
- Grabiec, A. M., Tak, P. P., and Reedquist, K. A. (2008). Targeting histone deacetylase activity in rheumatoid arthritis and asthma as prototypes of inflammatory disease: should we keep our HATs on? *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 10, 226.
- Graham, R. R., Kyogoku, C., Sigurdsson, S., Vlasova, I. A., Davies, L. R. L., Baechler, E. C., Plenge, R. M., Koeuth, T., Ortmann, W. A., Hom, G., Bauer, J. W., Gillett, C., Burtt, N., Cunninghame Graham, D. S., Onofrio, R., Petri, M., Gunnarsson, I., Svenungsson, E., Ronnblom, L., Nordmark, G., Gregersen, P. K., Moser, K., Gaffney, P. M., Criswell, L. A., Vyse, T. J., Syvanen, A.-C., Bohjanen, P. R., Daly, M. J., Behrens, T. W., and Altshuler, D. (2007). Three functional variants of IFN regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) define risk and protective haplotypes for human lupus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104, 6758-6763.
- Han, S. W., Lee, W. K., Kwon, K. T., Lee, B. K., Nam, E. J., and Kim, G. W. (2009). Association of polymorphisms in interferon regulatory factor 5 gene with rheumatoid arthritis: a metaanalysis. *J. Rheumatol.* 36, 693–697.
- Han, Z., Boyle, D. L., Manning, A. M., and Firestein, G. S. (1998). AP-1 and NF-kB regulation in rheumatoid arthritis and murine collageninduced arthritis. *Autoimmunity* 28, 197–208.
- Handel, M. L., Mcmorrow, L. B., and Gravallese, E. M. (1995). Nuclear factor–kB in rheumatoid synovium. Localization of P50 and P65. Arthritis Rheum. 38, 1762–1770.
- Haringman, J. J., Gerlag, D. M., Zwinderman, A. H., Smeets, T. J. M., Kraan, M. C., Baeten, D., Mcinnes, I. B., Bresnihan, B., and Tak, P. P. (2005). Synovial tissue macrophages: a sensitive biomarker for response to treatment in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 64, 834–838.
- Heo, Y.-J., Joo, Y.-B., Oh, H.-J., Park, M.-K., Heo, Y.-M., Cho, M.-L., Kwok, S.-K., Ju, J.-H., Park, K.-S., Cho, S. G., Park, S.-H., Kim, H.-Y., and Min, J.-K. (2010). IL-10 suppresses Th17 cells and promotes regulatory T cells in the CD4+ T cell population of rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Immunol. Lett.* 127, 150–156.

Hong, C., Walczak, R., Dhamko, H., Bradley, M. N., Marathe, C., Boyadjian, R., Salazar, J. V., and Tontonoz, P. (2011). Constitutive activation of LXR in macrophages regulates metabolic and inflammatory gene expression: identification of ARL7 as a direct target. J. Lipid Res. 52, 531–539.

- Huang, Q., Ma, Y., Adebayo, A., and Pope, R. M. (2007). Increased macrophage activation mediated through toll-like receptors in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 56, 2192–2201.
- Huber, L. C., Brock, M., Hemmatazad, H., Giger, O. T., Moritz, F., Trenkmann, M., Distler, J. H. W., Gay, R. E., Kolling, C., Moch, H., Michel, B. A., Gay, S., Distler, O., and Jüngel, A. (2007). Histone deacetylase/acetylase activity in total synovial tissue derived from rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis patients. Arthritis Rheum. 56, 1087–1093.
- Janusz, M., and Hare, M. (1993). Cartilage degradation by cocultures of transformed macrophage and fibroblast cell lines. A model of metalloproteinase-mediated connective tissue degradation. J. Immunol. 150, 1922–1931.
- Ji, J.-D., Tassiulas, I., Park-Min, K.-H., Aydin, A., Mecklenbrauker, I., Tarakhovsky, A., Pricop, L., Salmon, J. E., and Ivashkiv, L. B. (2003). Inhibition of interleukin 10 signaling after Fc receptor ligation and during rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Exp. Med.* 197, 1573–1583.
- Joosten, L. A. B., Koenders, M. I., Smeets, R. L., Heuvelmans-Jacobs, M., Helsen, M. M. A., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Lubberts, E., Van De Loo, F. A. J., and Van Den Berg, W. B. (2003). Toll-like receptor 2 pathway drives streptococcal cell wallinduced joint inflammation: critical role of myeloid differentiation factor 88. J. Immunol. 171, 6145–6153.
- Keffer, J., Probert, L., Cazlaris, H., Georgopoulos, S., Kaslaris, E., Kioussis, D., and Kollias, G. (1991). Transgenic mice expressing human tumour necrosis factor: a predictive genetic model of arthritis. *EMBO J.* 10, 4025–4031.
- Kraan, M. C., Versendaal, H., Jonker, M., Bresnihan, B., Post, W. J., T Hart, B. A., Breedveld, F. C., and Tak, P. P. (1998). Asymptomatic synovitis precedes clinically manifest arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 41, 1481–1488.
- Krausgruber, T., Blazek, K., Smallie, T., Alzabin, S., Lockstone, H., Sahgal, N., Hussell, T., Feldmann, M., and Udalova, I. A. (2011). IRF5 promotes inflammatory macrophage polarization and TH1-TH17

responses. Nat. Immunol. 12, 231–238.

- Kronke, G., Katzenbeisser, J., Uderhardt, S., Zaiss, M. M., Scholtysek, C., Schabbauer, G., Zarbock, A., Koenders, M. I., Axmann, R., Zwerina, J., Baenckler, H. W., Van Den Berg, W., Voll, R. E., Kuhn, H., Joosten, L. A. B., and Schett, G. (2009). 12/15-Lipoxygenase counteracts inflammation and tissue damage in arthritis. J. Immunol. 183, 3383–3389.
- Kruithof, E., Rycke, L. D., Vandooren, B., Keyser, F. D., Fitzgerald, O., Mcinnes, I., Tak, P. P., Bresnihan, B., Veys, E. M., Baeten, D., and OMERACT Special Interest Group on Synovial Analysis in Clinical Trials. (2006). Identification of synovial biomarkers of response to experimental treatment in early-phase clinical trials in spondylarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 54, 1795–1804.
- Laurent, L., Clavel, C., Lemaire, O., Anquetil, F., Cornillet, M., Zabraniecki, L., Nogueira, L., Fournie, B., Serre, G., and Sebbag, M. (2011). Fc-gamma receptor profile of monocytes and macrophages from rheumatoid arthritis patients and their response to immune complexes formed with autoantibodies to citrullinated proteins. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 70, 1052–1059.
- Leibovich, S. J., Polverini, P. J., Shepard, H. M., Wiseman, D. M., Shively, V., and Nuseir, N. (1987). Macrophageinduced angiogenesis is mediated by tumour necrosis factor-[alpha]. *Nature* 329, 630–632.
- Maderna, P., Yona, S., Perretti, M., and Godson, C. (2005). Modulation of phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by supernatant from dexamethasone-treated macrophages and annexin-derived peptide Ac2–26. J. Immunol. 174, 3727–3733.
- Mantovani, A., Sica, A., Sozzani, S., Allavena, P., Vecchi, A., and Locati, M. (2004). The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol.* 25, 677–686.
- Marlor, C., Webb, D., Bombara, M., Greve, J., and Blue, M. (1992). Expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in fibroblast like synoviocytes after stimulation with tumor necrosis factor. *Am. J. Pathol.* 140, 1055–1060.
- Martinez, F. O., Sica, A., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2008). Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 453–461.
- Mauri, C., Gray, D., Mushtaq, N., and Londei, M. (2003). Prevention of arthritis by interleukin 10producing B cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 197, 489–501.

- McInnes, I. B., Leung, B. P., and Liew, F. Y. (2000). Cell-cell interactions in synovitis: interactions between T lymphocytes and synovial cells. *Arthritis Res.* 2, 374–378.
- Miceli-Richard, C., Comets, E., Loiseau, P., Puechal, X., Hachulla, E., and Mariette, X. (2007). Association of an IRF5 gene functional polymorphism with Sjögren's syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 56, 3989–3994.
- Milman, N., Karsh, J., and Booth, R. A. (2010). Correlation of a multicytokine panel with clinical disease activity in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin. Biochem.* 43, 1309–1314.
- Miltenburg, A. M. M., Van Laar, J. M., De Kniper, M. R., Daha, M. R., and Breedveld, F. C. (1992). T cells cloned from human rheumatoid synovial membrane functionally represent the Th1 subset. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 35, 603–610.
- Morales-Lara, M., Conesa-Zamora, P., Garcia-Simon, M., Pedrero, F., Santaclara, V., Perez-Guillermo, M., and Soriano-Navarro, E. (2010). Association between the FCGR3A V158F polymorphism and the clinical response to infliximab in rheumatoid arthritis and spondyloarthritis patients. Scand. J. Rheumatol. 39, 518–520.
- Morgan, A. W., Barrett, J. H., Griffiths, B., Subramanian, D., Robinson, J. I., Keyte, V. H., Ali, M., Jones, E. A., Old, R. W., Ponchel, F., Boylston, A. W., Situnayake, R. D., Markham, A. F., Emery, P., and Isaacs, J. D. (2006). Analysis of Fcgamma receptor haplotypes in rheumatoid arthritis: FCGR3A remains a major susceptibility gene at this locus, with an additional contribution from FCGR3B. Arthritis Res. Ther. 8, R5.
- Mottonen, M., Isomaki, P., Saario, R., Toivanen, P., Punnonen, J., and Lassila, O. (1998). Interleukin-10 inhibits the capacity of synovial macrophages to function as antigenpresenting cells. *Rheumatology* 37, 1207–1214.
- Mulherin, D., Fitzgerald, O., and Bresnihan, B. (1996). Synovial tissue macrophage populations and articular damage in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 39, 115–124.
- Mullan, R. H., Bresnihan, B., Golden-Mason, L., Markham, T., O'hara, R., Fitzgerald, O., Veale, D. J., and Fearon, U. (2006). Acutephase serum amyloid A stimulation of angiogenesis, leukocyte recruitment, and matrix degradation in rheumatoid arthritis through an NFkappaB-dependent signal transduction pathway. Arthritis Rheum. 54, 105–114.

- Murphy, E. P., Mcevoy, A., Conneely, O. M., Bresnihan, B., and Fitzgerald, O. (2001). Involvement of the nuclear orphan receptor NURR1 in the regulation of corticotropin-releasing hormone expression and actions in human inflammatory arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 44, 782–793.
- Murray, P. J., and Wynn, T. A. (2011). Obstacles and opportunities for understanding macrophage polarization. J. Leukoc. Biol. 89, 557–563.
- Nasu, Y., Nishida, K., Miyazawa, S., Komiyama, T., Kadota, Y., Abe, N., Yoshida, A., Hirohata, S., Ohtsuka, A., and Ozaki, T. (2008). Trichostatin A, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, suppresses synovial inflammation and subsequent cartilage destruction in a collagen antibody-induced arthritis mouse model. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 16, 723–732.
- Nawroth, P., Bank, I., Handley, D., Cassimeris, J., Chess, L., and Stern, D. (1986). Tumor necrosis factor/cachectin interacts with endothelial cell receptors to induce release of interleukin 1. J. Exp. Med. 163, 1363–1375.
- O'Hara, R., Murphy, E. P., Whitehead, A. S., Fitzgerald, O., and Bresnihan, B. (2000). Acute-phase serum amyloid A production by rheumatoid arthritis synovial tissue. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 2, 142–144.
- Okamura, Y., Watari, M., Jerud, E. S., Young, D. W., Ishizaka, S. T., Rose, J., Chow, J. C., and Strauss, J. F. (2001). The extra domain A of fibronectin activates toll-like receptor 4. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 10229–10233.
- Oosterveer, M. H., Grefhorst, A., Groen, A. K., and Kuipers, F. (2010). The liver X receptor: control of cellular lipid homeostasis and beyond: implications for drug design. *Prog. Lipid Res.* 49, 343–352.
- Park, J. S., Svetkauskaite, D., He, Q., Kim, J.-Y., Strassheim, D., Ishizaka, A., and Abraham, E. (2004). Involvement of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in cellular activation by high mobility group box 1 protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 7370–7377.
- Park, M.-C., Kwon, Y.-J., Chung, S.-J., Park, Y.-B., and Lee, S.-K. (2010). Liver X receptor agonist prevents the evolution of collagen-induced arthritis in mice. *Rheumatology* 49, 882–890.
- Pei, L., Castrillo, A., and Tontonoz, P. (2006). Regulation of macrophage inflammatory gene expression by the orphan nuclear receptor Nur77. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 20, 786–794.
- Perlman, H., Pagliari, L. J., Liu, H., Koch, A. E., Haines, G. K., and Pope, R. M. (2001). Rheumatoid arthritis synovial macrophages express the Fas-associated death domain–like

interleukin-1β–converting enzyme– inhibitory protein and are refractory to Fas-mediated apoptosis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 44, 21–30.

- Perretti, M., and Dalli, J. (2009). Exploiting the annexin A1 pathway for the development of novel antiinflammatory therapeutics. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 158, 936–946.
- Podgorski, M. R., Goulding, N. J., Hall, N. D., Flower, R. J., and Maddison, P. J. (1992). Autoantibodies to lipocortin-1 are associated with impaired glucocorticoid responsiveness in rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Rheumatol.* 19, 1668–1671.
- Porta, C., Rimoldi, M., Raes, G., Brys, L., Ghezzi, P., Di Liberto, D., Dieli, F., Ghisletti, S., Natoli, G., De Baetselier, P., Mantovani, A., and Sica, A. (2009). Tolerance and M2 (alternative) macrophage polarization are related processes orchestrated by p50 nuclear factor kB. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 106, 14978–14983.
- Roiniotis, J., Dinh, H., Masendycz, P., Turner, A., Elsegood, C. L., Scholz, G. M., and Hamilton, J. A. (2009). Hypoxia prolongs monocyte/macrophage survival and enhanced glycolysis is associated with their maturation under aerobic conditions. J. Immunol. 182, 7974–7981.
- Saccani, A., Schioppa, T., Porta, C., Biswas, S. K., Nebuloni, M., Vago, L., Bottazzi, B., Colombo, M. P., Mantovani, A., and Sica, A. (2006). p50 Nuclear factor-kB overexpression in tumor-associated macrophages inhibits M1 inflammatory responses and antitumor resistance. *Cancer Res.* 66, 11432–11440.
- Salmon, M., Scheel-Toellner, D., Huissoon, A. P., Pilling, D., Shamsadeen, N., Hyde, H., D'angeac, A. D., Bacon, P. A., Emery, P., and Akbar, A. N. (1997). Inhibition of T cell apoptosis in the rheumatoid synovium. *J. Clin. Invest.* 99, 439–446.
- Sampey, A. V., Hutchinson, P., and Morand, E. F. (2000). Annexin I surface binding sites and their regulation on human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. *Arthritis Rheum.* 43, 2537–2542.
- Satoh, T., Takeuchi, O., Vandenbon, A., Yasuda, K., Tanaka, Y., Kumagai, Y., Miyake, T., Matsushita, K., Okazaki, T., Saitoh, T., Honma, K., Matsuyama, T., Yui, K., Tsujimura, T., Standley, D. M., Nakanishi, K., Nakai, K., and Akira, S. (2010). The Jmjd3-Irf4 axis regulates M2 macrophage polarization and host responses against helminth infection. Nat. Immunol. 11, 936–944.
- Scannell, M., Flanagan, M. B., Destefani, A., Wynne, K. J., Cagney, G., Godson, C., and Maderna, P. (2007).

Annexin-1 and peptide derivatives are released by apoptotic cells and stimulate phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 178, 4595–4605.

- Schulze-Koops, H., and Kalden, J. R. (2001). The balance of Th1/Th2 cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 15, 677–691.
- Serhan, C. N., Hamberg, M., and Samuelsson, B. (1984). Lipoxins: novel series of biologically active compounds formed from arachidonic acid in human leukocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 81, 5335–5339.
- Sodin-Semrl, S., Spagnolo, A., Mikus, R., Barbaro, B., Varga, J., and Fiore, S. (2004). Opposing regulation of interleukin-8 and NF-kappaB responses by lipoxin A4 and serum amyloid A via the common lipoxin A receptor. Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol. 17, 145–156.
- Ståhl, T. D. D., Andrén, M., Martinsson, P., Verbeek, J. S., and Kleinau, S. (2002). Expression of FcγRIII is required for development of collagen-induced arthritis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32, 2915–2922.
- Stout, R. D., Jiang, C., Matta, B., Tietzel, I., Watkins, S. K., and Suttles, J. (2005). Macrophages sequentially change their functional phenotype in response to changes in microenvironmental influences. *J. Immunol.* 175, 342–349.
- Tagoe, C. E., Marjanovic, N., Park, J. Y., Chan, E. S., Abeles, A. M., Attur, M., Abramson, S. B., and Pillinger, M. H. (2008). Annexin-1 mediates TNF-a stimulated matrix metalloproteinase secretion from rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. *J. Immunol.* 181, 2813–2820.
- Tak, P. P., Smeets, T. J. M., Daha, M. R., Kluin, P. M., Meijers, K. A. E., Brand, R., Meinders, A. E., and Breedveld, F. C. (1997). Analysis of the synovial cell infiltrate in early rheumatoid synovial tissue in relation to local disease activity. *Arthritis Rheum.* 40, 217–225.
- Tamura, T., Tailor, P., Yamaoka, K., Kong, H. J., Tsujimura, H., Oâ'shea, J. J., Singh, H., and Ozato, K. (2005). IFN regulatory factor-4 and -8 govern dendritic cell subset development and their functional diversity. *J. Immunol.* 174, 2573–2581.
- Thabet, M. M., Huizinga, T. W. J., Marques, R. B., Stoeken-Rijsbergen, G., Bakker, A. M., Kurreeman, F. A., White, S. J., Toes, R. E. M., and Van Der Helm-Van Mil, A. H. M. (2009). Contribution of Fcgamma receptor IIIA gene 158V/F polymorphism and copy number variation to

the risk of ACPA-positive rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 68, 1775–1780.

- Thomas, E., Leroux, J. L., Blotman, F., and Chavis, C. (1995). Conversion of endogenous arachidonic acid to 5,15-diHETE and lipoxins by polymorphonuclear cells from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Inflamm. Res.* 44, 121–124.
- Thurlings, R. M., Vos, K., Wijbrandts, C. A., Zwinderman, A. H., Gerlag, D. M., and Tak, P. P. (2008). Synovial tissue response to rituximab: mechanism of action and identification of biomarkers of response. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 67, 917–925.
- Tsao, P. W., Suzuki, T., Totsuka, R., Murata, T., Takagi, T., Ohmachi, Y., Fujimura, H., and Takata, I. (1997). The effect of dexamethasone on the expression of activated NF-[kappa]B in adjuvant arthritis. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 83, 173–178.
- Vallejo, A. N., Yang, H., Klimiuk, P. A., Weyand, C. M., and Goronzy, J. J. (2003). Synoviocyte-mediated expansion of inflammatory T cells in rheumatoid synovitis is dependent on CD47-thrombospondin 1 interaction. J. Immunol. 171, 1732–1740.
- van Lent, P. L. E. M., Licht, R., Dijkman, H., Holthuysen, A. E. M., Berden, J. H. M., and Van Den Berg, W. B. (2001). Uptake of apoptotic leukocytes by synovial lining macrophages inhibits immune complex–mediated arthritis. J. Leukoc. Biol. 70, 708–714.
- Vandooren, B., Noordenbos, T., Ambarus, C., Krausz, S., Cantaert, T., Yeremenko, N., Boumans, M., Lutter, R., Tak, P. P., and Baeten, D. (2009). Absence of a classically activated macrophage cytokine signature in peripheral spondylarthritis, including psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 60, 966–975.
- Waaler, E. (1940). On the occurrence of a factor in human serum activating the specific agglutintion of sheep blood corpuscles. *APMIS* 115, 422–438.
- Wahid, S., Blades, M. C., Lord, D. D., Brown, I., Blake, G., Yanni, G., Haskard, D. O., Panayi, G. S., and Pitzalis, C. (2000). Tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) enhances lymphocyte migration into rheumatoid synovial tissue transplanted into severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 122, 133–142.
- Wakamatsu, K., Nanki, T., Miyasaka, N., Umezawa, K., and Kubota, T. (2005). Effect of a small molecule inhibitor of nuclear factor-κB nuclear translocation in a murine model of arthritis and cultured human synovial cells. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 7, R1348–R1359.

- Wallet, M. A., Wallet, S. M., Guiulfo, G., Sleasman, J. W., and Goodenow, M. M. (2010). IFN-gamma primes macrophages for inflammatory activation by high molecular weight hyaluronan. *Cell. Immunol.* 262, 84–88.
- Walmsley, M., Katsikis, P. D., Abney, E., Parry, S., Williams, R. O., Maini, R. N., and Feldmann, M. (1996). Interleukin-10 inhibition of the progression of established collageninduced arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 39, 495–503.
- Whalen, J. D., Lechman, E. L., Carlos,
  C. A., Weiss, K., Kovesdi, I., Glorioso, J. C., Robbins, P. D., and Evans,
  C. H. (1999). Adenoviral transfer of the viral IL-10 Gene periarticularly to mouse paws suppresses

development of collagen-induced arthritis in both injected and uninjected paws. *J. Immunol.* 162, 3625–3632.

- Williams, R. O., Feldmann, M., and Maini, R. N. (1992). Anti-tumor necrosis factor ameliorates joint disease in murine collagen-induced arthritis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 89, 9784–9788.
- Williams, S. L., Milne, I. R., Bagley, C. J., Gamble, J. R., Vadas, M. A., Pitson, S. M., and Khew-Goodall, Y. (2010). A proinflammatory role for proteolytically cleaved annexin A1 in neutrophil transendothelial migration. *J. Immunol.* 185, 3057–3063.
- Yang, Y., Hutchinson, P., and Morand, E. F. (1999). Inhibitory effect

of annexin I on synovial inflammation in rat adjuvant arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 42, 1538–1544.

Yang, Y. H., Hutchinson, P., Santos, L. L., and Morand, E. F. (1998). Glucocorticoid inhibition of adjuvant arthritis synovial macrophage nitric oxide production: role of lipocortin 1. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 111, 117–122.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research conducted in the was absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 June 2011; paper pending published: 26 July 2011; accepted: 19 September 2011; published online: 10 October 2011.

Citation: Kennedy A, Fearon U, Veale DJ and Godson C (2011) Macrophages in synovial inflammation. Front. Immun. 2:52. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00052

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2011 Kennedy, Fearon, Veale and Godson. This is an open-access article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.



## Frustrated phagocytosis on micro-patterned immune complexes to characterize lysosome movements in live macrophages

# Arnaud M. Labrousse<sup>1,2</sup>, Etienne Meunier<sup>1,2†</sup>, Julien Record<sup>1,2†</sup>, Anna Labernadie<sup>1,2,3,4</sup>, Amélie Beduer<sup>3,4</sup>, Christophe Vieu<sup>3,4</sup>, Thouraya Ben Safta<sup>1,2</sup> and Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini<sup>1,2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> UMR5089, CNRS, Institut de Pharmacologie et de Biologie Structurale, Toulouse, France

<sup>2</sup> Université de Toulouse, Université Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, France

<sup>3</sup> CNRS ; LAAS ; 7 avenue du colonel Roche, F-31077 Toulouse, France

<sup>4</sup> Université de Toulouse ; UPS, INSA, INP, ISAE ; UT1, UTM, LAAS ; F-31077 Toulouse, France

#### Edited by:

Patrizia Rovere Querini, Fondazione Centro San Raffaele del Monte Tabor and Vita-Salute University, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Pablo Pelegrin, Hospital Universitario Virgen Arrixaca, Spain Patrizia Rovere Querini, Fondazione Centro San Raffaele del Monte Tabor and Vita-Salute University, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini, UMR5089, CNRS, Institut de Pharmacologie et de Biologie Structurale, 205 route de Narbonne, 31077 Toulouse Cedex, France. e-mail: isabelle.maridonneau-parini@ ipbs.fr

<sup>+</sup>Etienne Meunier and Julien Record have contributed equally to this work.

Lysosome mobilization is a key cellular process in phagocytes for bactericidal activities and trans-matrix migration. The molecular mechanisms that regulate lysosome mobilization are still poorly known. Lysosomes are hard to track as they move toward phagosomes throughout the cell volume. In order to anticipate cell regions where lysosomes are recruited to, human and RAW264.7 macrophages were seeded on surfaces that were micro-patterned with immune complexes (ICs) as  $4 \mu$ m-side squares. Distances between IC patterns were adapted to optimize cell spreading in order to constrain lysosome movements mostly in two dimensions. Fcy receptors triggered local frustrated phagocytosis, frustrated phagosomes appeared as rings of F-actin dots around the IC patterns as early as 5 min after cells made contact with the substratum. Frustrated phagosomes recruited actin-associated proteins (vinculin, paxillin, and gelsolin). The fusion of lysosomes with frustrated phagosomes was shown by the release of beta-hexosaminidase and the recruitment of Lamp1 to frustrated phagosomes. Lysosomes of RAW264.7 macrophages were labeled with cathepsin-D-mCherry to visualize their movements toward frustrated phagosomes. Lysosomes saltatory movements were markedly slowed down compared to cells layered on non-opsonized patterns. In addition, the linearity of the trajectories and the frequency and duration of contacts of lysosomes with frustrated phagosomes were measured. Our experimental set-up is the first step toward deciphering molecular mechanisms which are involved in lysosome movements in the cytoplasm (speed, directionality, and interaction with phagosomes), and opens the door to approaches such as RNA interference, pharmacological inhibition, or mutant expression.

Keywords: lysosome, frustrated phagocytosis, macrophages, micro-patterned immune complexes

## **INTRODUCTION**

Secretion of lysosomes and related granules is a cellular process that is essential for the bactericidal functions of specialized immune cells such as phagocytes (see Luzio et al., 2007 for review). In macrophages, these secretory lysosomes constitute a population of vesicles which is different from the classical ubiquitous lysosomes dedicated to the digestion of nutriments (Rabinowitz et al., 1992; Claus et al., 1998; Astarie-Dequeker et al., 2002). Lysosomes are also at least in part associated with the biogenesis of podosomes that are F-actin rich structures responsible for adhering to and degrading the extracellular environment of phagocytes. Lysosome mobilization is therefore a crucial process for phagocyte migration and bactericidal function, but the molecular mechanisms that control this process remain unclear. It was shown that lysosomes and lysosome-related organelles travel over long distances along microtubules within the cell cytoplasm. This movement mainly entails kinesin motors, with a switch to actin rails when lysosomes reach the cell periphery (Barral and

Seabra, 2004). However, detailed characterization of lysosome movements during phagocytosis has not yet been carried out, probably because of the technical challenge of tracking vesicles in three dimensions within the cytoplasm, where phagosomes themselves move around. Here, in order to (1) anticipate where lysosomes are recruited to, and (2) spread cells out as much as possible to neglect the third dimension during vesicle tracking, we set-up frustrated phagocytosis on micro-patterned immune complex surfaces. Frustrated phagocytosis has already been used in the past in immobilized phagocytosing macrophages (Wright and Silverstein, 1984; Takemura et al., 1986; Bainton et al., 1989). More recently, Eng et al. (2007) were able to demonstrate and measure the reorientation of the Golgi apparatus during frustrated phagocytosis in live RAW264.7 cells. In a more sophisticated experimental set-up, patterned antigen arrays were used to study exocytosis in mast cells in response to local activation of the IgE receptor (Wu et al., 2007). In that study, the authors used total internal reflection fluorescence microscopy (TIRF) to differentiate

the location of exocytosis of early endosomes and lysosomes in response to local activation of IgE receptors. TIRF and frustrated phagocytosis have been combined (Touret et al., 2005) to visualize whether the endoplasmic reticulum fuses with the plasma membrane in response to the activation of phagocytic receptors. None of the above studies, however, explored the regulation of the mobilization of lysosomes during their upstream movement through the cell cytoplasm, toward their fusion with the target membrane. Here, for the first time, we have been able to follow and characterize lysosome movements during phagocytosis in live macrophages.

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### **PRODUCTS AND ANTIBODIES**

Ovalbumin, Nocodazole, Cytochalasin-D1, and Latrunculin-A, antibodies against gelsolin (1/100), paxillin (1/100) and vinculin (1/100) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (France). Lysotracker Red, phalloidin-Alexa488 and -Alexa350 were from Molecular Probes (Fisher Scientific, France) and used at 50 nM and a 1/500 dilution, respectively. Anti-CD16/CD32 monoclonal antibodies were from Immunostep (clone 2.4G2, Caltag medsystems, UK). Rabbit anti-ovalbumin serum was home-made by classical intra-dermal immunization and used at a 1/10 dilution to generate immune complexes (ICs). Bovine serum albumin (BSA, fraction V) was from Euromedex (France).

### **CELL CULTURE**

RAW264.7 stably expressing actin-GFP (RAW–GFP) were kindly provided by S. Grinstein (Canada). They were cultured as described (Verollet et al., 2010). RAW–GFP cells were transfected with  $2\mu g$  of the cathepsin-D-mCherry construct kindly provided by F. Darchen (Paris) and with the Amaxa electroporator apparatus according to the manufacturer's indications. Human monocyte-derived macrophages (hMDM) were prepared from healthy donors and cultured as described (Van Goethem et al., 2010). Bone-marrow derived macrophages (BMDM) were prepared from wild-type C57/bl6 mice and cultured as described (Cougoule et al., 2005).

#### MICRO-CONTACT PRINTING AND OPSONIZATION OF THE SUBSTRATA

PDMS stamps patterned with squares of 4 µm edges spaced by  $5\,\mu\text{m}$  were prepared as described (Labernadie et al., 2010). Stamps were incubated for 20 min at room temperature (RT) in a phosphate-buffer saline (PBS) solution containing 50 µg/mL of either unlabeled ovalbumin or a 8:2 mixture of unlabeled ovalbumin and ovalbumin-TRITC (OVA-TRITC), or human IgG, as indicated in the text. Stamps were then dried under a nitrogen flow and brought into contact with glass cover slips for 1 min. These cover slips had been pre-cleaned in HCl/methanol solution 1/2 vol/vol for 2 h, then rinsed for 1 h in distilled water, for 30 min in ethanol (75% vol), and dried under airflow and sterilized. For studies of fixed samples, patterned cover slips of 12-mm diameter were placed at the bottom of 24-wells plates (VWR, France) and incubated with cell culture medium for 30 min at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> before adding the cells. For live cell imaging, we patterned 24-mm cover slips that had been glued to the bottom of pre-drilled plastic Petri dishes (3-cm diameter). Alternatively, two-chamber

Labtek-II (Nunc, Fisher Scientific, France) were micro-patterned. Ovalbumin-patterned cover slips were then opsonized with homemade anti-ovalbumin sera from rabbit at a 1/10 dilution for 30 min at RT, leading to patterned ICs. IgG-patterned cover slips were used directly. Cells were trypsinized at 37°C, washed in PBS and directly added to the prepared cover slips, either for later fixation and immunofluorescence studies or for live imaging.

### FRUSTRATED PHAGOCYTOSIS

RAW cells or hMDM were trypsinized, washed in PBS and layered on micro-patterned cover slips at a density of  $5 \times 10^4$  cells/mL or  $10^4$  cells/mL, respectively. For blocking experiments, RAW cells were treated with the anti-CD16/CD32 antibodies at a 1/50 dilution for 1 h at RT, before being washed in PBS and layered on the micro-patterned surfaces.

### IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE

Cells were fixed for 45 min at RT with 3.7% paraformaldehyde in PBS containing 15 mM sucrose. Unreacted aldehyde functions were quenched with 50 mM NH<sub>4</sub>Cl in PBS for 2 min at RT. Cells were then permeabilized with PBS containing 0.3% TX100 for 10 min at RT before being saturated with PBS containing 5% BSA for 1 h at RT. Cells were then stained with primary antibodies at indicated dilutions (see above) in the presence of 5% BSA (PBS/BSA) for 1 h at RT, washed three times in PBS/BSA and incubated with a mixture of the corresponding secondary antibodies and fluorescent phalloidin for 30 min at RT in the dark. Samples were then mounted on slides with the fluorescent mounting medium from DAKO (France). Immunofluorescent samples were observed with a DM-RB up-right microscope (Leica Microsystems, Paris, France) equipped with a CoolSnap HQ camera (Roper Scientific, France) and the appropriate FITC or TRITC filter cubes.

### ATOMIC FORCE MICROSCOPY

Height measurements and profiles of micro-patterned ovalbumin alone or ICs were obtained by atomic force microscopy (AFM) in contact mode in liquid at RT. See (Labernadie et al., 2010) for technical details.

### LIVE CELL IMAGING AND IMAGE PROCESSING

Cells performing frustrated phagocytosis on micro-patterned surfaces were imaged with a DM-IRB inverted microscope equipped with a  $63 \times$  objective (n.a. = 1.3), a heated stage and a chamber to maintain temperature and CO<sub>2</sub> at constant values. Images of CathD-mCherry- or LysoTracker Red-positive lysosomes were acquired every 250 ms and images of actin-GFP were acquired every 10 s. Actin images (green) were used to delineate frustrated phagosome areas on the lysosomes images (red). Distances were calibrated using a graduated slide (1 pixel corresponds to 0.102  $\mu$ m) and lysosome movements were tracked with the manual tracking plug in imbedded in the Image J software version 1.44F. Instant velocities were calculated between two consecutive frames. Linearity of trajectories was measured as the correlation coefficient ( $r^2$ ) of the linear regression of sets of three consecutive positions, sliding along individual tracks.

## STATISTICS

A *t* test or one-way ANOVA analysis with Tukey's multiple comparisons posttest was performed using GraphPad Prism. Statistical significance is indicated as follows: \*\*\*P < 0.001;\*\*P < 0.01; \*P < 0.05.

## **RESULTS**

## PREPARATION OF THE SUBSTRATA

Glass cover slips were micro-texturized with ovalbumin (OVA) or OVA-TRITC by micro-contact printing as described recently, and outlined briefly in the Section "Materials and Methods" (Labernadie et al., 2010). Patterns were then opsonized with

anti-ovalbumin rabbit serum. We used AFM to characterize the OVA-TRITC patterns, and found out that they have an average height of 7 nm, whereas height was about 14 nm when anti-OVA IgGs were added (**Figures 1A,C**). Their shape was very regular with very sharp and vertical edges (**Figure 1B**). As anticipated from the AFM results, fluorescence microscopy confirmed that anti-ovalbumin IgGs did not bind outside the OVA patterns (**Figure 1D**).

### FRUSTRATED PHAGOCYTOSIS ON OPSONIZED OVALBUMIN PATTERNS

When RAW264.7 cells were layered on IgG-ovalbumin patterns, actin rearranged rapidly as dots mainly present around the



FIGURE 1 | Micro-contact printing of immune complexes. Micro-patterns of ovalbumin (OVA) were applied to glass cover slips and those were then incubated with anti-OVA antibodies. (A) Micro-patterned surfaces were scanned by AFM. Squares of  $4 \,\mu$ m-sides are separated by  $5 \,\mu$ m. Heights were measured as detailed in the Section "Materials and Methods" for OVA alone (left) and OVA-IgG (right) patterns." **(B)** Profiles of OVA patterns (dotted line) are compared to that of immune complexes patterns (solid line). **(C)** Heights are measured for more than 50 patterns and mean  $\pm$  SD are plotted. **(D)** Immune-detection of micro-patterned ovalbumin-TRITC using an anti-OVA primary serum and Alexa488-coupled secondary antibodies revealed a homogenous repartition of immune complexes on micro-patterned surfaces.

patterns (Figure 2A). As early as 5 min after cell suspension was added to the micro-texturized cover slips, 50% of cells presented such actin rearrangements, and this number rose up to 83% after 30 min of adhesion. Formation of frustrated phagosomes was dependent on the Fcy receptors since it was not observed in the absence of opsonization (Figure 2B) or when macrophages were pre-incubated withanti-CD16/CD32 blocking antibodies (Figure A1 in Appendix). In our experimental conditions, about 85% of the patterns that were covered by a cell triggered a frustrated phagosome (not shown). Frustrated phagocytosis was also obtained with human macrophages derived from monocytes (Figure 2C) and mouse BMDM (see Figure 5). These larger cells could form up to 30 frustrated phagosomes with the actin rings sometimes surrounding several patterns (Figure 2C). As expected, biogenesis of frustrated phagosomes was dependent on actin dynamics since it was completely abolished when cells where pre-treated for 15 min with 0.5 µM Latrunculin A or 10 µM Cytochalasin-D1 (data not shown). Their stability was also dependent on actin polymerization since frustrated phagosomes disassembled after a 10-min treatment with either drug (not shown).

In order to observe frustrated phagocytosis in live cells, we used RAW264.7 cells that constitutively express actin-GFP, hereafter designated as RAW–GFP. The process could be divided into three phases. First, actin concentrated as dots at the point of contact of the cells with the substratum; second, actin dots moved rapidly to the cells' periphery like a growing belt as the cells spread on the cover-slip, and third, dots rearranged into rings around patterns when the cells were completely spread out (see Movie S1



FIGURE 2 | Frustrated phagocytosis of macrophages on micro-texturized surfaces. Micro-patterns of OVA-TRITC were laid on glass cover slips as in Figure 1, and then incubated (A,C) or not (B) with anti-OVA antibodies. RAW–GFP (A,B) or hMDMs (C) were layered on the substrata for 15 min, then fixed and stained (C) with phalloidin-FITC and imaged. OVA-TRITC and actin-GFP (A,B). Bars =  $5 \,\mu$ m.

in Supplementary Material). These actin rings could last as long as 10 min, but could also disassemble as cells moved to another position. Sometimes, one could observe a dynamic exchange of actin between two rings (see Movie S2 in Supplementary Material). Whatever the behavior of the ring was, each actin dot proved to be very dynamic by itself, with cycles of appearance/disappearance of about 2 min 40 s (not shown).

## CHARACTERIZATION OF THE FRUSTRATED PHAGOSOMES

We further went on to characterize the rings of actin dots by staining cells undergoing frustrated phagocytosis for several actinlinked proteins that are classically found at phagosomes. **Figure 3** shows that vinculin, paxillin, and gelsolin were present at the actin rings. Paxillin described a clear outline of the rings, whereas vinculin was found around each dot of actin and gelsolin colocalized with actin.

Since we wanted to use this model to measure lysosome mobilization in live cells, we first looked for evidence that lysosomes fused with the frustrated phagosomes. As a first indirect approach, we measured the release of the lysosomal enzyme betahexosaminidase in the extracellular environment. We observed that RAW264.7 macrophages increased their secretion activity by  $25.8 \pm 4.4\%$  (mean  $\pm$  SD) when they were layered on IgG-opsonized patterns for 1 h, as compared to non-opsonized patterns (not shown, two independent experiments with measurements in triplicates). However, this protocol did not tell us whether secretion was occurring at the frustrated phagosomes or not. If lysosomes fuse with the frustrated phagosome, then we should detect the accumulation of lamp1 at the level of the patterns. Figure 4 shows that Lamp1 was indeed recruited to the membrane of the frustrated phagosome as early as 10 min after cells spread on the micro-patterned ICs.

It has been described that the integrity of the microtubule network was dispensable for the biogenesis of  $Fc\gamma R$ -triggered phagosomes (Newman et al., 1991) and we wanted to check whether this holds true for frustrated phagosomes. Mouse bone-marrow derived macrophages were treated with nocodazole either pre- or post-adhesion on patterned ICs, and we observed that neither of these treatments had an effect on the formation or the stability of frustrated phagosomes (**Figure 5**).

## TRACKING LYSOSOMES IN LIVE MACROPHAGES

The advantages of this experimental set-up are (1) to have all the phagocytosis-related signaling pathways initiated at the ventral side of the cell; (2) to anticipate where lysosomes get recruited to fuse with the phagosomal membrane; (3) to have the cells as spread out as possible in order to minimize the third dimension during characterization of the vesicle movements. RAW cells spread reasonably well on 5  $\mu$ m-spaced patterns. However, they would form frustrated phagosomes that were too close to each other to unambiguously evaluate the direction of moving lysosomes. Thus, we looked for the appropriate distance between patterns to obtain cells that would be sufficiently spread out to form frustrated phagosomes which are sufficiently distant from each other. We compared our initial 5  $\mu$ m-spaced patterns to patterns with spaces of 7, 9, 15, or 20  $\mu$ m (not shown). We found out that a distance



FIGURE 3 | Actin-associated proteins are recruited to the frustrated phagosomes. RAW–GFP (A,C) or hMDM (B) were plated on micro-patterned immune complexes for 15 min, fixed and stained for Factin (B), vinculin (A),

paxillin **(B)**, and gelsolin **(C)**. Actin in RAW cells was visualized thanks to GFP fluorescence **(A,C)**. Zoomed images correspond to the areas indicated by white boxes in the corresponding merged images. Bars =  $5 \,\mu$ m.

of 7  $\mu$ m between two frustrated phagosomes was not enough to track lysosome efficiently, and RAW cells layered on 15  $\mu$ m-spaced patterns did not form more than one frustrated phagosome (not shown). When the distance between patterns was 9  $\mu$ m, about 25% of the cells formed two to four frustrated phagosomes and lysosome tracking was feasible (not shown). Thus, 9  $\mu$ m was a good compromise and we carried out all lysosome tracking with such a pattern.

For the following experiments, we used RAW-GFP macrophages either stably expressing the lysosomal protease Cathepsin-D (CathD)-mCherry or stained with LysoTracker Red<sup>®</sup>. Since the same results were obtained with both methods, only the results with CathD-mCherry are shown. Lysosomes are numerous in macrophages and even in cells that are extensively spread out on the substratum, we found that we could not use automated tracking software (see Movie S3 in Supplementary Material). Thus we decided to track vesicles manually, using the "manual tracking" PlugIn of the ImageJ software, after calibration of the images to have the pixel-to-µm correspondence. The actin/lysosome double staining allowed us to visualize frustrated phagosomes and lysosomes at the same time, hence to sort lysosomes moving "toward" a frustrated phagosome from those moving "outward" or "on" a frustrated phagosome, i.e., inside a ring of actin dots. Lysosomes with no clear destination over the time span of the experiment were



**FIGURE 4 | Lamp1 is recruited to the frustrated phagosomes.** RAW–GFP cells were added to micro-patterned immune complexes for 10 min before being fixed and stained for Lamp1 (red) without cell permeabilization. Actin was visualized thanks to GFP fluorescence (green). Bar =  $5 \,\mu$ m.

called "Off" (**Figure 6A** and see also Movie S3 in Supplementary Material). Only lysosomes that could be individually tracked over a minimum of four frames, which corresponds to 1 s, were considered. Most of the time, tracking was stopped because lysosomes encountered an area of the cell over-crowded with lysosomes and could not be distinguished as an individual vesicle anymore. Very rarely, we had to stop tracking because the vesicle went out of



focus. This observation comforted us into our decision to neglect the Z dimension in our measurements. As a control, we tracked lysosomes of resting macrophages that were layered on glass, in the absence of IgGs. We specifically chose "control" cells that were as spread as possible to be able to track lysosomes.

### ACTIVATION OF PHAGOCYTOSIS RECEPTORS DECREASES LYSOSOME MOBILITY

As shown on Figure 6A, lysosomes in resting macrophages had an instant speed of about 1.8 µm/s. Surprisingly when macrophages were performing frustrated phagocytosis, lysosomes velocity was significantly lower than in resting macrophages (Figure 6A). This slowing down was observed for all lysosomes, but, lysosomes moving away from a frustrated phagosome were found to be less affected than lysosomes moving toward, on or off a frustrated phagosome. The duration of pauses during lysosomes saltatory movements (see Movie S3 in Supplementary Material) was slightly longer during frustrated phagocytosis but this difference remained below statistical significance (Figure 6B), and no difference was detected in the linearity of the trajectories (Figure 6C). This parameter is shown for lysosomes moving toward a frustrated phagosome but no difference was observed for lysosomes moving outward either (not shown). We showed that the integrity of the microtubule network was required for lysosome movement since no movement at all could be tracked when cells were treated with 10 µM nocodazole after they had formed frustrated phagosomes (not shown). We were also able to measure the frequency of lysosome arrival in the vicinity of a frustrated phagosome, and



**PIGURE 6 | Parameters of the lysosomal movement during instrated phagocytosis and roles of Src kinases.** RAW–GFP expressing cathepsin-D-mCherry were layered on glass cover slips that were micro-patterned with OVA alone (–IgG, "Resting") or OVA + anti-OVA antibodies (+IgG). Tracking of lysosomes was carried out as described in the Section "Materials and Methods." (A) Instant velocity of lysosomes as a function of their direction relative to the position of frustrated phagosomes (see text for details). **(B)** Length of the pauses of lysosomes during their saltatory movements. **(C)** Linearity of the trajectories for lysosomes were measured on three to six different cells per conditions; mean ± SEM.

observed that, under our experimental conditions,  $3.7 \pm 0.5$  lysosomes per minute (mean  $\pm$  SEM) come into contact with the same frustrated phagosome. We did not look at the fusion process itself, but we could measure the length of time that a lysosome stays in contact with a frustrated phagosome. This parameter was called "interaction" and was measured to be  $7.9 \pm 0.8$  s (mean  $\pm$  SEM).

#### **DISCUSSION**

In this study, we describe a new experimental set-up to measure several parameters of lysosome movements in macrophages. When layered on micro-patterned ICs, macrophages spread, and formed frustrated phagosomes. As a consequence, we were able to anticipate where lysosomes were recruited to, to image them in live cells and measure their speed, saltatory movements, directionality, and interaction with frustrated phagosomes.

A frustrated phagosome was defined as a ring of actin dots surrounding an immune complex pattern. Previous experiments involving frustrated phagocytosis had been designed on glass supports uniformly coated with ICs. Under these conditions, macrophages adhere very strongly to the surface, forming a tight sealing zone that separates the area underneath the cell from the rest of the medium, where secreted material is confined (Wright and Silverstein, 1984; Heiple et al., 1990), much like the sealing zone described for the macrophage-derived osteoclasts (Saltel et al., 2008). In our present study, we stained F-actin and noticed that frustrated phagosomes were delineated by F-actin dots triggered by activation of Fcy receptors. The actin cores positioned just outside the IgG patterns and the space that was often visible between the dots and the pattern underneath may represent the scaffold of actin-linked proteins that are necessary to maintain the structure. Vinculin and paxillin did not co-localize with F-actin cores but displayed the same organization as in podosomes (Linder and Aepfelbacher, 2003; Van Goethem et al., 2011). The reason why actin rearranged as individual dots around the IgG patterns remains to be clarified. Under conditions of frustrated phagocytosis, actin polymerization is unable to form pseudopodia which normally appear in three dimensions around IgG-coated particles. Thus the actin dots could constitute "stable vestiges" of the protrusive machinery of frustrated pseudopodia.

We chose to work with the macrophage cell line RAW264.7 for its amenability to molecular manipulations. Our experimental procedure can also be applied to hMDMs and BMDMs. However, when we tried to label lysosomes of hMDMs with LysoTracker, most of the labeled compartments were tubular and interconnected, as previously described (Knapp and Swanson, 1990; not shown), and tracking lysosomes in such cells was not as easy as in RAW264.7 cells.

The optimization of the micro-pattern geometry for RAW264.7 cells led us to use squares that were spaced by 9 µm for optimal imaging of lysosomes. With this set-up, we could characterize for the first time the movement of lysosomes in phagocytic macrophages by anticipating where lysosomes are recruited to and by tracking lysosomes almost exclusively in two dimensions as cells spread strongly on patterned ICs and became very flat. The instant speed of lysosomes in macrophages adhering on glass was about 2 µm/s. We do not know of any previously published data documenting lysosome speed in macrophages. However, it appeared to be about five times greater than Hckpositive lysosomes in NIH-3T3 fibroblasts (Vincent et al., 2007) and twice as fast as the most rapid Lamp1-positive lysosomes in immortalized skin fibroblasts (Falcon-Perez et al., 2005). This, together with the observation that lysosomes are slowing down in macrophages that formed frustrated phagosomes thus suggests that lysosomes may be moving through some active, microtubule-dependent mechanism in the cytoplasm of nonphagocytic macrophages, and that these movements could then become hindered by the lysosomes becoming tethered to the cytoskeleton upon activation of phagocytosis. The decrease in the velocity of lysosomes that we observed during the frustrated phagocytosis process may be a feature of polarized secretion. We will modify our set-up to micro-texturize cover slips with proteins that induce the formation of podosomes (Labernadie et al., 2010), we will see whether lysosomes addressed to podosomes move also slowlier, when compared to lysosomes that are not targeted to podosomes.

Lysosome movements in macrophages were found to be dependent on intact microtubules, in agreement with previous studies (Astarie-Dequeker et al., 2002; Harrison et al., 2003; Huynh et al., 2007). The saltatory property of lysosome movement is clearly the same in resting and phagocytic macrophages. Pauses during movement have been described *in vitro* as time that vesicles spend at across-road of two microtubules or a microtubule and a microfilament before "choosing" to go on the same track or to switch track (Ross et al., 2008; Schroeder et al., 2010). However, such mechanisms have not been shown to exist in live cells, as yet.

Frustrated phagosomes being easily identified by the ring of actin dots, two additional parameters were measured: the frequency and the duration of lysosome/phagosome interactions. We called "interaction" the presence of a motionless lysosome in the vicinity of a frustrated phagosome, i.e., detected either inside the ring of actin dots or apparently touching the ring. Interaction of lysosomes with the frustrated phagosome lasted about 8 s, which is very close to the duration of the interaction of MT1-MMP-positive vesicles with podosomes actin rich structures where MT1-MMP is supposed to be delivered (Wiesner et al., 2010). Most of the time, interactions between lysosomes and phagosomes were transient and the same incoming lysosome was observed moving away from the phagosome. Although we could detect lysosomal enzymes in the extracellular medium, whether lysosomes delivered part of their content during the docking time in a kiss-and-run process (Desjardins, 1995) is not clear yet. Sometimes, cathepsin-D-positive lysosomes disappeared when the vesicles interacted with frustrated phagosomes, as if fusion occurred. In order to visualize the kiss-and-run and the fusion processes properly, we plan to use TIRF microscopy in future experiments, which should bring significant improvement to our current experimental set-up. This should also provide an answer to the questions raised by others as to whether lysosomes need to interact with actin structures before fusion with the phagosomes (Kjeken et al., 2004; Liebl and Griffiths, 2009).

The molecular mechanisms which control the movements and fusion of lysosomes in response to IgG receptor activation is of particular interest in the context of infections with pathogens which target these mechanisms to survive in the host (see Kumar and Valdivia, 2009 for review). Moreover, lysosomes are also secreted in a spatially controlled manner in different contexts than IgGmediated phagocytosis. They fuse to the plasma membrane to repair injuries induced by migration on glass supports (Reddy et al., 2001); they fuse at podosomes to release their lytic content and degrade the extracellular matrix (Cougoule et al., 2005, 2010; Tu et al., 2008; Linder et al., 2010); and polarized exocytosis of secretory lysosomes takes place at the immunological synapse in cytotoxic lymphocytes and Natural Killers (see for Holt et al., 2006 review). Our set-up will be used to examine which parameter of lysosome movements actors of the lysosome trafficking such as Lyst [lysosomal trafficking regulator; (Stinchcombe et al., 2000)] or Hck (Cougoule et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2007; Guiet et al., 2008) are involved in, using, for instance, sh- or siRNA-mediated knock-down approaches.

In conclusion, the experimental approach described here will facilitate studies dedicated to the identification of the actors which play a role in lysosome movement, directionality, speed, docking, and also fusion once TIRF microscopy is coupled to the present set-up. Taking into account that lysosome secretion is a phenomenon that is crucial not only for bactericidal activities, but also for extracellular matrix degradation during trans-tissular migration, the molecular actors of this process could then be essential effectors of the inflammation response.

### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The vector encoding Cathepsin-D-mCherry was a kind gift from Dr. François Darchen (Paris, France); Raw264.7 cells stably expressing actin-GFP were provided by Dr. Sergio Grinstein (Toronto, Canada). We thank Dr. Joly for critical reading of our manuscript, Dr. Charrière and Mr. Romain Guiet for helpful discussions during the advancement of this work. A. Labrousse was funded by the University of Toulouse; this work was supported by Assocation pour la Recherche contre le Cancer (SSFI 20101201733) and Agence National de la Recherche (2010 Midi 01301: Migreflame).

#### REFERENCES

- Astarie-Dequeker, C., Carreno, S., Cougoule, C., and Maridonneau-Parini, I. (2002). The protein tyrosine kinase Hck is located on lysosomal vesicles that are physically and functionally distinct from CD63-positive lysosomes in human macrophages. J. Cell Sci. 115, 81–89.
- Bainton, D. F., Takemura, R., Stenberg, P. E., and Werb, Z. (1989). Rapid fragmentation and reorganization of Golgi membranes during frustrated phagocytosis of immobile immune complexes by macrophages. Am. J. Pathol. 134, 15–26.
- Barral, D. C., and Seabra, M. C. (2004). The melanosome as a model to study organelle motility in mammals. *Pigment Cell Res.* 17, 111–118.
- Claus, V., Jahraus, A., Tjelle, T., Berg, T., Kirschke, H., Faulstich, H., and Griffiths, G. (1998). Lysosomal enzyme trafficking between phagosomes, endosomes, and lysosomes in J774 macrophages. Enrichment of cathepsin H in early endosomes. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 9842–9851.
- Cougoule, C., Carreno, S., Castandet, J., Labrousse, A., Astarie-Dequeker, C., Poincloux, R., Le Cabec, V., and Maridonneau-Parini, I. (2005). Activation of the lysosome-associated p61Hck isoform triggers the biogenesis of podosomes. *Traffic* 6, 682–694.
- Cougoule, C., Le Cabec, V., Poincloux, R., Al Saati, T., Mege, J. L., Tabouret, G., Lowell, C. A., Laviolette-Malirat, N., and Maridonneau-Parini, I. (2010). Three-dimensional migration of macrophages requires Hck for podosome organization and

extracellular matrix proteolysis. *Blood* 115, 1444–1452.

- Desjardins, M. (1995). Biogenesis of phagolysosomes: the "kiss and run" hypothesis. *Trends Cell Biol.* 5, 183–186.
- Eng, E. W., Bettio, A., Ibrahim, J., and Harrison, R. E. (2007). MTOC reorientation occurs during FcgammaR-mediated phagocytosis in macrophages. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 18, 2389–2399.
- Falcon-Perez, J. M., Nazarian, R., Sabatti, C., and Dell'angelica, E. C. (2005). Distribution and dynamics of Lamp1-containing endocytic organelles in fibroblasts deficient in BLOC-3. J. Cell Sci. 118, 5243–5255.
- Guiet, R., Poincloux, R., Castandet, J., Marois, L., Labrousse, A., Le Cabec, V., and Maridonneau-Parini, I. (2008). Hematopoietic cell kinase (Hck) isoforms and phagocyte duties – from signaling and actin reorganization to migration and phagocytosis. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 87, 527–542.
- Harrison, R. E., Bucci, C., Vieira, O. V., Schroer, T. A., and Grinstein, S. (2003). Phagosomes fuse with late endosomes and/or lysosomes by extension of membrane protrusions along microtubules: role of Rab7 and RILP. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 6494–6506.
- Heiple, J. M., Wright, S. D., Allen, N. S., and Silverstein, S. C. (1990). Macrophages form circular zones of very close apposition to IgG-coated surfaces. *Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton* 15, 260–270.
- Holt, O. J., Gallo, F., and Griffiths, G. M. (2006). Regulating secretory lysosomes. J. Biochem. 140, 7–12.

#### **SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL**

The Movies 1–3 for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/Inflammation/10.3389/fimmu.2011. 00051/abstract

**Movie S1** | RAW267.4 RAW267.4 macrophage stably expressing GFP-actin undergoes frustrated phagocytosis on micro-patterned immune complexes. The cell makes contact with the substratum at the top right corner of the field and form two successive frustrated phagosomes toward the left in the lower part of the field. Accelerated 2 times.

**Movie S2** | RAW267.4 macrophage stably expressing GFP-actin undergoes frustrated phagocytosis on micro-patterned immune complexes. This cell rapidly forms two frustrated phagosomes, which seem to be linked by a dynamic actin structure. Accelerated 2 times.

**Movie S3** | RAW267.4 macrophage stably co-expressing GFP-actin (left panel) and CathepsinD-mCherry (right panel). Images of GFP and mCherry fluorescence were taken every 10 sec to avoid bleaching, and 250 ms, respectively. Arrows show examples of tracked lysosomes. Accelerated 4 times.

- Huynh, K. K., Eskelinen, E. L., Scott, C. C., Malevanets, A., Saftig, P., and Grinstein, S. (2007). LAMP proteins are required for fusion of lysosomes with phagosomes. *EMBO J.* 26, 313–324.
- Kjeken, R., Egeberg, M., Habermann, A., Kuehnel, M., Peyron, P., Floetenmeyer, M., Walther, P., Jahraus, A., Defacque, H., Kuznetsov, S. A., and Griffiths, G. (2004). Fusion between phagosomes, early and late endosomes: a role for actin in fusion between late, but not early endocytic organelles. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 15, 345–358.
- Knapp, P. E., and Swanson, J. A. (1990). Plasticity of the tubular lysosomal compartment in macrophages. J. Cell Sci. 95(Pt 3), 433–439.
- Kumar, Y., and Valdivia, R. H. (2009). Leading a sheltered life: intracellular pathogens and maintenance of vacuolar compartments. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 593–601.
- Labernadie, A., Thibault, C., Vieu, C., Maridonneau-Parini, I., and Charriere, G. M. (2010). Dynamics of podosome stiffness revealed by atomic force microscopy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 21016–21021.
- Liebl, D., and Griffiths, G. (2009). Transient assembly of F-actin by phagosomes delays phagosome fusion with lysosomes in cargo-overloaded macrophages. J. Cell Sci. 122, 2935–2945.
- Linder, S., and Aepfelbacher, M. (2003). Podosomes: adhesion hot-spots of invasive cells. *Trends Cell Biol.* 13, 376–385.
- Linder, S., Wiesner, C., and Himmel, M. (2010). Degrading devices:

invadosomes in proteolytic cell invasion. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 27, 24.1–24.27.

- Luzio, J. P., Pryor, P. R., and Bright, N. A. (2007). Lysosomes: fusion and function. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8, 622–632.
- Newman, S. L., Mikus, L. K., and Tucci, M. A. (1991). Differential requirements for cellular cytoskeleton in human macrophage complement receptor- and Fc receptormediated phagocytosis. *J. Immunol.* 146, 967–974.
- Rabinowitz, S., Horstmann, H., Gordon, S., and Griffiths, G. (1992). Immunocytochemical characterization of the endocytic and phagolysosomal compartments in peritoneal macrophages. *J. Cell Biol.* 116, 95–112.
- Reddy, A., Caler, E. V., and Andrews, N. W. (2001). Plasma membrane repair is mediated by Ca(2(+)-regulated exocytosis of lysosomes. *Cell* 106, 157–169.
- Ross, J. L., Shuman, H., Holzbaur, E. L., and Goldman, Y. E. (2008). Kinesin and dynein-dynactin at intersecting microtubules: motor density affects dynein function. *Biophys. J.* 94, 3115–3125.
- Saltel, F., Chabadel, A., Bonnelye, E., and Jurdic, P. (2008). Actin cytoskeletal organisation in osteoclasts: a model to decipher transmigration and matrix degradation. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 87, 459–468.
- Schroeder, H. W. III, Mitchell, C., Shuman, H., Holzbaur, E. L., and Goldman, Y. E. (2010). Motor number controls cargo switching at actinmicrotubule intersections in vitro. *Curr. Biol.* 20, 687–696.

- Stinchcombe, J. C., Page, L. J., and Griffiths, G. M. (2000). Secretory lysosome biogenesis in cytotoxic T lymphocytes from normal and Chediak Higashi syndrome patients. *Traffic* 1, 435–444.
- Takemura, R., Stenberg, P. E., Bainton, D. F., and Werb, Z. (1986). Rapid redistribution of clathrin onto macrophage plasma membranes in response to Fc receptor-ligand interaction during frustrated phagocytosis. J. Cell Biol. 102, 55–69.
- Touret, N., Paroutis, P., Terebiznik, M., Harrison, R. E., Trombetta, S., Pypaert, M., Chow, A., Jiang, A., Shaw, J., Yip, C., Moore, H. P., Van Der Wel, N., Houben, D., Peters, P. J., De Chastellier, C., Mellman, I., and Grinstein, S. (2005). Quantitative and dynamic assessment of the contribution of the ER to phagosome formation. *Cell* 123, 157–170.
- Tu, C., Ortega-Cava, C. F., Chen, G., Fernandes, N. D., Cavallo-Medved, D., Sloane, B. F., Band, V., and Band, H. (2008). Lysosomal cathepsin B participates in the podosome-mediated extracellular matrix degradation and

invasion via secreted lysosomes in v-Src fibroblasts. *Cancer Res.* 68, 9147–9156.

- Van Goethem, E., Guiet, R., Balor, S., Charrière, G. M., Poincloux, R., Labrousse, A., Maridonneau-Parini, I., and Le Cabec, V. (2011). Macrophage podosomes go 3D. *Eur J. Cell. Biol.* 90, 224–236.
- Van Goethem, E., Poincloux, R., Gauffre, F., Maridonneau-Parini, I., and Le Cabec, V. (2010). Matrix architecture dictates three-dimensional migration modes of human macrophages: differential involvement of proteases and podosome-like structures. *J. Immunol.* 184, 1049–1061.
- Verollet, C., Zhang, Y. M., Le Cabec, V., Mazzolini, J., Charriere, G., Labrousse, A., Bouchet, J., Medina, I., Biessen, E., Niedergang, F., Benichou, S., and Maridonneau-Parini, I. (2010). HIV-1 Nef triggers macrophage fusion in a p61Hckand protease-dependent manner. J. Immunol. 184, 7030–7039.
- Vincent, C., Maridonneau-Parini, I., Le Clainche, C., Gounon, P., and Labrousse, A. (2007). Activation

of p61Hck triggers WASp- and Arp2/3-dependent actin-comet tail biogenesis and accelerates lysosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 19565–19574.

- Wiesner, C., Faix, J., Himmel, M., Bentzien, F., and Linder, S. (2010). KIF5B and KIF3A/KIF3B kinesins drive MT1-MMP surface exposure, CD44 shedding, and extracellular matrix degradation in primary macrophages. *Blood* 116, 1559–1569.
- Wright, S. D., and Silverstein, S. C. (1984). Phagocytosing macrophages exclude proteins from the zones of contact with opsonized targets. *Nature* 309, 359–361.
- Wu, M., Baumgart, T., Hammond, S., Holowka, D., and Baird, B. (2007). Differential targeting of secretory lysosomes and recycling endosomes in mast cells revealed by patterned antigen arrays. *J. Cell Sci.* 120, 3147–3154.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 04 July 2011; paper pending published: 25 July 2011; accepted: 19 September 2011; published online: 12 October 2011.

Citation: Labrousse AM, Meunier E, Record J, Labernadie A, Beduer A, Vieu C, Ben Safta T and Maridonneau-Parini I (2011) Frustrated phagocytosis on micro-patterned immune complexes to characterize lysosome movements in live macrophages. Front. Immun. 2:51. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00051

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2011 Labrousse, Meunier, Record, Labernadie, Beduer, Vieu, Ben Safta and Maridonneau-Parini. This is an open-access article subject to a nonexclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.

## **APPENDIX**



#### FIGURE A1 | Fc-receptors are necessary to trigger frustrated

**phagocytosis.** RAW267.4 macrophage stably expressing GFP-actin (green) were pre-treated with anti-CD16/CD32 blocking antibodies, layered on micro-patterned immune complexes (red) for 15 minutes before being fixed.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 08 November 2011 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00057



## Modulation of macrophage efferocytosis in inflammation

## Darlynn Korns, S. Courtney Frasch, Ruby Fernandez-Boyanapalli, Peter M. Henson and Donna L. Bratton\*

Division of Cell Biology, Department of Pediatrics, National Jewish Health, Denver, CO, USA

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Angelika Bierhaus, University of Heidelberg, Germany Udo S. Gaipl, University Hospital Erlangen, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Donna L. Bratton, Division of Cell Biology, Department of Pediatrics, National Jewish Health, Smith Building Room A540, 1400 Jackson Street, Denver, CO 80206, USA. e-mail: brattond@njhealth.org A critical function of macrophages within the inflammatory milieu is the removal of dying cells by a specialized phagocytic process called efferocytosis ("to carry to the grave"). Through specific receptor engagement and induction of downstream signaling, efferocytosing macrophages promote resolution of inflammation by (i) efficiently engulfing dying cells, thus avoiding cellular disruption and release of inflammatory contents, and (ii) producing anti-inflammatory mediators such as IL-10 and TGF-B that dampen pro-inflammatory responses. Evidence suggests that plasticity in macrophage programming, in response to changing environmental cues, modulates efferocytic capability. Essential to programming for enhanced efferocytosis is activation of the nuclear receptors PPARy, PPAR8, LXR, and possibly RXR $\alpha$ . Additionally, a number of signals in the inflammatory milieu, including those from dying cells themselves, can influence efferocytic efficacy either by acting as immediate inhibitors/enhancers or by altering macrophage programming for longer-term effects. Importantly, sustained inflammatory programming of macrophages can lead to defective apoptotic cell clearance and is associated with development of autoimmunity and other chronic inflammatory disorders. This review summarizes the current knowledge of the multiple factors that modulate macrophage efferocytic ability and highlights emerging therapeutic targets with significant potential for limiting chronic inflammation.

Keywords: macrophage, efferocytosis, inflammation, alternative activation, classical activation, apoptotic cell

### **INTRODUCTION**

Efferocytosis, or engulfment of apoptotic cells by macrophages is an essential process with roles in tissue homeostasis, embryologic development, immunity, and resolution of inflammation, the latter, the focus of this review. Apoptotic cells exhibit surface changes, especially exposure of the plasma membrane inner leaflet phospholipid phosphatidylserine (PS) or its oxidized forms (Fadok et al., 1992; Greenberg et al., 2006), that distinguish them from viable cells and allow recognition by a multiplicity of macrophage efferocytic receptors (Table 1). Other surface ligands on apoptotic cells, e.g., calreticulin and deposited complement, are reviewed elsewhere (Henson and Bratton, 2009). In many instances, factors in plasma (or serum), often produced by macrophages themselves, are utilized as bridge molecules to couple apoptotic cells to the macrophage receptors (Table 1). Engagement of efferocytic receptors initiates signaling events modulated by two main complexes, CrkII/ELMO/Dock180 (Gumienny et al., 2001) or ABCA1/GULP (Kinchen et al., 2005), both resulting in activation of Rac1, which initiates cytoskeletal rearrangement and subsequent engulfment. Rac1 and RhoA, two small Rho GTPases, have opposing roles in regulating efferocytosis; Rac1 enhances, while RhoA inhibits the process (Leverrier and Ridley, 2001; Nakaya et al., 2006). Thus, the relative balance between them plays a key role in determining macrophage efferocytic ability, and imbalance favoring active RhoA can lead to defective clearance.

Macrophages subserve key roles during inflammation and its resolution. As innate immune sentinels, resident tissue macrophages detect and interpret signals indicating tissue injury or pathogen infiltration and initiate responses through release of cytokines and other mediators. Consequently, leukocyte recruitment ensues, including blood monocytes that differentiate into macrophages. Changing cues in the inflammatory milieu alter macrophage programming and modulate various endocytic functions. Phagocytosis and macropinocytosis are essential for removal of infectious agents, antigen presentation, and activation of adaptive immune responses, while efferocytosis can help initiate restoration of tissue structure and function. Mechanistically, efferocytosis resembles stimulated macropinocytosis and is morphologically distinct from classic forms of phagocytosis (Ogden et al., 2001; Henson and Bratton, 2009). Due to differences in recognition mechanisms, engagement, and signaling pathways, it is not surprising that environmental factors have differential effects on the various forms of endocytosis (Gratchev et al., 2006; Feng et al., 2011).

Apoptotic cell recognition and efferocytosis by macrophages has a profound influence on resolution of inflammation, largely through secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as TGF- $\beta$ and IL-10 that inhibit inflammatory mediator production (Voll et al., 1997; Fadok et al., 1998). Thus, macrophages responding to PS on apoptotic cells have been shown to accelerate resolution of LPS-induced lung inflammation in a TGF- $\beta$  dependent manner (Huynh et al., 2002), and infusion of PS liposomes attenuated inflammation in murine skin edema and myocardial infarction models (Ramos et al., 2007; Harel-Adar et al., 2011). Additionally, local injection of PS liposomes decreased the amplitude of a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response (Hoffmann et al., 2005) indicating that apoptotic cell signaling can modulate adaptive immune responses. Finally, efferocytosis of dying cells prevents their deterioration and release Table 1 | Phosphatidylserine, bridge molecules, and receptors for apoptotic cells including those known to be modulated by nuclear receptor signaling.

Ligand on apoptotic cell	Bridge molecules	Efferocytic receptor
PS	None	BAI1
PS	None	TIM1, TIM3, TIM4
PS	None	Stabilin-1, stabilin-2
PS	None	Receptor for advanced gly- cation end products (RAGE)
PS; oxidized PS	C1q* <sup>,</sup> **, MBL	Calreticulin/LRP (CD91)*
PS; oxidized PS	Gas6**, protein S	Mer* <sup>, **,^</sup> , Axl* <sup>, **</sup> , Tyro3
PS; oxidized PS	MFG-E8*,** Thrombospondin**	αVβ3/5 integrins CD36*
PS; oxidized PS	Collectins (SP-A, SP-D)	LRP (CD91)*

Ligands, bridge molecules, and receptors are more comprehensively discussed in reference (Henson and Bratton, 2009) and references therein.

\*Expression regulated by PPAR-γ (Berry et al., 2007; Majai et al., 2007; Roszer et al., 2011).

\*\*Expression regulated by PPAR-& (Mukundan et al., 2009).

^ Expression regulated by LXR (A-Gonzalez et al., 2009).

of phlogistic intracellular contents that can contribute to inflammation and autoimmunity. Given the impact of efferocytosis on suppression of inflammation, restoration of tissue homeostasis, and shaping the immune response, this review will focus on factors in the tissue environment that modulate the ability of macrophages to carry out these functions.

## SECTION 1: MACROPHAGE PROGRAMMING AND MODULATION OF EFFEROCYTOSIS

The increasingly complex list of so-called macrophage "phenotypes" have been comprehensively reviewed elsewhere (Benoit et al., 2008; Mosser and Zhang, 2008; Martinez et al., 2009) The concept of phenotypes, while useful, is oversimplified, because macrophages exhibit substantial plasticity, with markers and functions readily altered by external signals (Gratchev et al., 2006; Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2009). Accordingly, we argue that it is important to address the functional attributes of macrophages under study or discussion, leading us to focus, here, on those associated with differential capacity for efferocytosis. In general terms, "classically activated" or M1 macrophages demonstrate diminished efferocytosis, increased phagocytosis of foreign organisms, and enhanced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and nitric oxide (NO; Benoit et al., 2008; Figure 1). This M1 programming state results from stimulation with LPS and the innate cytokine IFNy, or can be elicited by IFNα/β-inducing TLR agonists (Mosser and Zhang, 2008), leading to inhibition of efferocytosis in part through TNFa and/or oxidant-mediated mechanisms (McPhillips et al., 2007; Michlewska et al., 2009). Because M1 macrophages are also associated with Th1 T cell polarization, they exhibit protection against bacterial infection. Such macrophages are evident early in the course of infection or injury, e.g., peritonitis (Fernandez-Boyanapalli

et al., 2010a) and are designated in this review as inflammatory, "efferocytic-low" macrophages.

On the opposite end of the spectrum, various "alternatively activated" or M2 macrophages can be elicited by IL-4 and IL-13 (M2a), a combination of TLR agonists and immune complexes (M2b), glucocorticoids and IL-10 (M2c), M-CSF, or TGF-B (Xu et al., 2006; Benoit et al., 2008; Mosser and Zhang, 2008; Martinez et al., 2009). Collectively, these macrophages exhibit increased expression and/or activity of the nuclear receptors, PPARy and PPARS, essential to their acquisition of "alternative activation" (Bouhlel et al., 2007; Odegaard et al., 2007). They often display increased levels of arginase, certain receptors (e.g., the macrophage mannose receptor) and anti-inflammatory cytokines, whereas production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, RNS, and ROS are downregulated (Benoit et al., 2008; Olefsky and Glass, 2010; Figure 1). The majority of these "alternative activation" states have been associated with enhanced efferocytosis of apoptotic cells (and likely also necrotic cells and cellular debris) supporting a role in resolution of inflammation. As such, these macrophages are seen later during the resolution phase of inflammation, and henceforth, are called pro-resolving, or "efferocytic-high" (Bystrom et al., 2008; Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2010a; Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). Whether the in vivo shift from inflammatory to pro-resolving state is attributable to recruitment, or expansion of different macrophage populations within the milieu at differing stages of inflammation (Jenkins et al., 2011), or rather represents given macrophages responding to the changing milieu with a switch in programming (Bystrom et al., 2008), or a combination, remains an important, and largely unanswered question for most inflammatory processes. Importantly, two additional caveats deserve mention: (i) much of the literature is based on programming of murine macrophages which likely differs from human, and (ii) cultured macrophages (e.g., M-CSF-treated human monocytederived macrophages or murine bone marrow macrophages) are programmed during culture with substantial influences on subsequent responses (Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2009).

## MACROPHAGE PROGRAMMING FOR ENHANCED EFFEROCYTOSIS AND ANTI-INFLAMMATORY CONSEQUENCES

Of the pro-resolving programming states, those elicited by IL-4 and IL-13 are the most thoroughly studied in relation to enhanced efferocytic capacity. IL-4 and IL-13 increase expression and activity of the nuclear receptor PPARy via STAT6 (Welch et al., 2003; Berry et al., 2007; Szanto et al., 2010). IL-4 also induces production of potential PPARy-activating ligands, 13-HODE and 15-HETE through 15-lipoxygenase activity (Huang et al., 1999). Macrophage PPARy activation, in turn, has three consequences relevant to this review: (i) "alternative activation" with increased efferocytic surface receptors (Table 1) and secretion of the bridge molecule adiponectin; (ii) enhanced efferocytic capability; and (iii) suppression of inflammation. For some macrophage populations, IL-4/IL-13-induced PPARy signaling enhances efferocytosis specifically (Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2009), while in others, it nonspecifically enhances other phagocytic functions: e.g., uptake of opsonized cells (Aronoff et al., 2004), parasitized RBCs (Serghides and Kain, 2001), and yeast (Gales et al., 2010). An overall increase in phagocytic ability, especially for fungal and parasitic pathogens,



is likely associated with PPAR $\gamma$ -mediated upregulation of fungal and parasitic recognition receptors and related to the role of "alternatively activated" macrophages in immunity against Th2 response-inducing pathogens (Raes et al., 2005; Gales et al., 2010).

IL-4/IL-13 also enhanced macrophage PPARδ expression, and expression and release of bridge molecules (**Table 1**), and acquisition of anti-inflammatory functions (Kang et al., 2008). Both these PPARs are known to heterodimerize with other nuclear receptors to exert these actions, and accordingly, roles for LXR and RXRα in enhanced efferocytosis have been demonstrated (A-Gonzalez et al., 2009; Mukundan et al., 2009; Rebe et al., 2009; Roszer et al., 2011). Direct connections between IL-4/IL-13 and LXR and RXRα are still to be determined.

IL-4 also increases expression of the efferocytic receptors, stabilin-1 and stabilin-2, although connections with nuclear receptor signaling have not been made (Park et al., 2009). Efferocytic programming of macrophages by cytokines, such as M-CSF, IL-10, and TGF- $\beta$ , are described but less understood. Likewise, pathways for the expression of other apoptotic cell receptors, and indeed the differences in the repertoire of receptors utilized by macrophages in different tissues/milieus is poorly defined (Henson and Bratton, 2009).

An important and emerging concept is that macrophage recognition of apoptotic cells themselves can reinforce signaling pathways that shift their programming toward enhanced efferocytic ability in a feedforward manner (**Figure 1**): e.g., apoptotic cellinduced PPAR $\gamma$ , PPAR $\delta$ , and LXR activation results in enhanced CD36 and Mer expression and secretion of efferocytic bridge molecules (A-Gonzalez et al., 2009; Mukundan et al., 2009; Roszer et al., 2011). One mechanism by which apoptotic cells enhance efferocytic programming is through PS-dependent induction of IL-4 signaling to upregulate PPAR $\gamma$  (Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2009). Autocrine stimulation by TGF- $\beta$  produced in response to apoptotic cell recognition may similarly enhance PPAR $\gamma$  expression (Freire-de-Lima et al., 2006).

Suppression of inflammation also results from activation of these signaling pathways. Stimulation of PPARy, PPARô, and LXR, RXRa are associated with reduced production of proinflammatory mediators (Ghisletti et al., 2007; Mukundan et al., 2009; Roszer et al., 2011). For example, PPARy and LXR associate with the co-repressor complex NCoR inhibiting its removal from transcriptional binding sites driven by inflammatory cytokines. Sustained NCoR occupation inhibits NF-KB down-regulating transcription of its target genes, e.g., TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  (Pascual et al., 2005; Ghisletti et al., 2007; Jennewein et al., 2008). Recognition of apoptotic cells also down-regulates pro-inflammatory mediators through PS-induced stimulation of TGF-B production (Huynh et al., 2002; Freire-de-Lima et al., 2006). Observations such as these reinforce the concept of plasticity in macrophage programming during the course of an inflammatory response with early induction of protective properties and later development of restorative activities to promote resolution (Figure 1). Though the focus here is the role of efferocytic macrophages in the resolution of acute inflammation, it should also be noted that "pro-resolving" macrophages ameliorate chronic inflammation (Wang et al., 2007; Gordon and Martinez, 2010). Alternatively, depending on context, consequences of such programming may be detrimental. For instance, sustained production of TGFB may lead to over-exuberant fibrotic responses, and there is increasing evidence that the cultivation of immunosuppressive tumor-associated macrophages promote the growth, invasion, and immune evasion of tumors (Martinez et al., 2009; Sica, 2010). While important, these downstream consequences are beyond the scope of this review and the reader is directed to recent references on the subject.

## MECHANISMS BY WHICH INFLAMMATORY MACROPHAGE PROGRAMMING DECREASES EFFEROCYTIC CAPACITY

In the other direction, suppression of efferocytosis, but not other forms of phagocytosis, is likely mediated both by early acting inhibitors (below) as well as inflammatory macrophage programming (Michlewska et al., 2009; Feng et al., 2011). This suggests effects on pathways that are unique to the recognition and uptake of apoptotic cells. Evidence for programming-related suppression of efferocytosis stems from studies of macrophages stimulated with LPS demonstrating decreased expression of PPARy (Welch et al., 2003), and decreased transcription and serum levels of efferocytosis-associated bridge molecules Gas6 and MFG-E8 (Komura et al., 2009; Feng et al., 2011). Likewise, LPS induces the transcription factor IRF5, which suppresses expression of efferocytic receptors CD36 and CD14 along with "alternative activation" markers as it up-regulates pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Krausgruber et al., 2011). Thus, the balance between expression of IRF5 and IRF4, the latter driven by IL-4, governs "alternative activation" marker expression (El Chartouni et al., 2010) and likely plays a role in determining macrophage efferocytic capacity. Interestingly, stimulation of macrophages with the other "classical activation" stimulus IFNy by itself enhances phagocytosis of both apoptotic cells and IgG opsonized targets in a NO-dependent manner involving Rac activation (Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2010b) suggesting further complexity in the regulation of efferocytosis.

## SECTION 2: EARLY ACTING ENHANCERS AND INHIBITORS IN THE INFLAMMATORY MILIEU THAT MODULATE EFFEROCYTOSIS

In addition to macrophage programming modulators, the inflammatory milieu contains numerous serum and cell-derived factors that have immediate (or near immediate) early effects on efferocytosis (**Figure 2**) separate from the slower and more prolonged consequences of macrophage programming. Many of these early acting effectors have been found to shift the balance between Rho A activation (inhibitory) and Rac 1 activation (enhancing; **Figure 2**).

### EARLY ACTING INHIBITORS

Previous studies demonstrated that LPS-mediated suppression of efferocytosis was TNF $\alpha$  dependent (Michlewska et al., 2009; Feng et al., 2011) and that short-term exposure to TNF $\alpha$  inhibited macrophage efferocytosis in an oxidant-dependent manner involving RhoA activation (McPhillips et al., 2007; Moon et al., 2010). Similarly, lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) inhibits efferocytosis through activation of RhoA (Morimoto et al., 2006). Other inhibitors of efferocytosis in the inflammatory milieu act by blocking macrophage recognition of apoptotic cells. These include high mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1), soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE), and annexin A5. HMGB1 binds various macrophage receptors: its binding to RAGE blocks its recognition of PS, and binding to  $\alpha$ V integrins blocks interactions with the bridge molecule, MFG-E8 (**Table 1**; Banerjee et al., 2010; Friggeri et al., 2010, 2011; He et al., 2011). HMGB1 binding to RAGE also reinforces an inflammatory macrophage state by stimulating NF- $\kappa$ B and enhancing pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Qin et al., 2009). Alternatively, masking of PS on apoptotic cells also impairs efferocytosis: soluble RAGE (He et al., 2011) and annexin A5 (unlike annexin A1, see below; Kenis et al., 2006) block macrophage recognition of apoptotic cells by this mechanism. Collectively, these signals downregulate efferocytosis and are likely to reinforce properties of inflammatory macrophages.

## EARLY ACTING ENHANCERS

Early acting enhancers are defined operationally as agents that rapidly augment the capacity and/or the capability of macrophages to engulf apoptotic cells, often by increasing Rac 1 activity (**Figure 2**). Such factors are found on apoptotic cells and in the milieu, and many are made and released by macrophages themselves. Most enhancers identified to date appear to be modified lipids. A distinguishing feature is their inability to drive efferocytosis on their own (Frasch et al., 2011), i.e., they act by enhancing existing stimuli. By contrast, PS or oxidized PS (**Table 1**), termed inducers, drive macrophages to take up even viable cells when they are inserted into the target cell membrane (Fadok et al., 1992; Greenberg et al., 2006).

A modified phosphatidylserine species, lysophosphatidylserine (lyso-PS), is an early acting enhancer produced in activated and apoptosing neutrophils through an NADPH-oxidase dependent pathway. In sterile peritonitis, lyso-PS is localized to the neutrophil surface with its accumulation peaking at a time immediately preceding rapid neutrophil clearance by macrophages (Frasch et al., 2008). Lyso-PS acts through the macrophage G2A receptor stimulating the production of prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE<sub>2</sub>) leading to cAMP and PKA-dependent augmentation of Rac1 activity. While it has previously been reported that PGE2 inhibits efferocytosis, this effect appears to be concentration dependent; concentrations less than or equal to 1 nM in fact enhance efferocytosis, whereas concentrations greater than 10 nM are inhibitory (Rossi et al., 1998; Frasch et al., 2011). Macrophage production of PGE<sub>2</sub> following efferocytosis (Voll et al., 1997; Fadok et al., 1998) has been demonstrated to impair anti-microbial functions of macrophages (Aronoff et al., 2004; Medeiros et al., 2009), and whether this PGE<sub>2</sub> ultimately enhances or inhibits subsequent efferocytosis is unknown and is likely to be context and concentration dependent.

Lipoxins are a class of pro-resolving eicosanoids derived from arachidonic acid that are produced and released by macrophages during the resolution phase of inflammation via lipoxygenase enzymes (Serhan et al., 2008). Lipoxin A<sub>4</sub> is reported to enhance efferocytosis *in vitro* (Godson et al., 2000) and *in vivo* (Mitchell et al., 2002) by acting through the macrophage ALX receptor (ALXR), which is also utilized by the PS-recognizing bridge molecule, annexin A1 (Scannell et al., 2007; Maderna et al., 2010). Several other pro-resolution lipids derived from essential omega-3 fatty acids, have also been identified, including resolvins, protectins (PD1), and maresins, all of which enhance macrophage phagocytosis of pathogens, particles, and apoptotic cells (Schwab et al., 2007; Serhan et al., 2008). How these pro-resolving lipids enhance



efferocytosis, the mechanisms and precise receptors involved, are not well understood. For instance, resolvin E1 (RvE1), but not the related RvD1, exerts its effects in part via the chimerin receptor, ChemR23. Importantly, decreased production of proinflammatory cytokines, perhaps as a result of efferocytosis, have been observed with these pro-resolving lipids (Schwab et al., 2007). Interestingly, the transition toward production of these proresolving lipids (lipoxins, resolvins, and protectins) is mediated through PGE<sub>2</sub> (Serhan et al., 2008).

In addition to the short-term influences of enhancers or inhibitors, these factors are likely to have downstream contributions in shaping subsequent macrophage programming. For example, since apoptotic cell recognition and efferocytosis enhances the macrophage programming transition from inflammatory to pro-resolving, influencing this initial process may thwart this transition (inhibitors), or speed, reinforce, and/or sustain it (enhancers). For example, PGE<sub>2</sub> and subsequent cAMP production appear to be pivotal to programming inflammatory macrophages to a pro-resolving phenotype under some conditions (Bystrom et al., 2008). As such, early signals, e.g., lyso-PS, PGE<sub>2</sub>, and cAMP, and possibly the other pro-resolving lipids, may contribute collaboratively to initiate the transition from inflammatory macrophage to resolving macrophage by carefully orchestrated signaling.

## SECTION 3: CONSEQUENCES OF DECREASED EFFEROCYTOSIS AND PROLONGED INFLAMMATORY PROGRAMMING

Defective apoptotic cell clearance is associated with many autoimmune and chronic inflammatory disorders including SLE (Koh et al., 2000; Gaipl et al., 2007), type I diabetes (Haskins et al., 2003), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Hodge et al., 2008), and cardiovascular disease (Li et al., 2009). Mechanistically, disintegration of uncleared late apoptotic cells releases toxic intracellular contents that spur inflammation (e.g., HMGB1) and provide epitopes (e.g., nuclear DNA) for autoantibody production, a hallmark of autoimmune disorders such as SLE (Ma et al., 2010). As a consequence, the resulting increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNFa and IFNa; Koh et al., 2000; Haskins et al., 2003) prolongs inflammatory, efferocyticlow macrophage programming. Similarly, polymorphisms resulting in over-expression of the M1-associated transcription factor IRF5 are associated with many inflammatory diseases (Dideberg et al., 2007; Dieguez-Gonzalez et al., 2008; Kristjansdottir et al., 2008).

Ineffective apoptotic cell clearance, and enhanced inflammation are also demonstrated where there are defects in "alternative activation" mechanisms. Mice with PPARy deficient macrophages have impaired efferocytosis, decreased expression of efferocytic receptors including CD36 and Mer tyrosine kinase, increased kidney inflammation, and autoantibody production (Roszer et al., 2011). PPAR $\delta$  and LXR-deficient mice also develop systemic autoimmune disease associated with defective clearance and decreased efferocytic receptor/bridge molecule expression (A-Gonzalez et al., 2009; Mukundan et al., 2009). In a murine model of chronic granulomatous disease (CGD), which exhibits chronic inflammation, and mild autoimmunity, macrophages maintain a "classically activated" phenotype, illustrated by enhanced pro-inflammatory cytokine production, impaired efferocytosis, and decreased expression of PPAR $\gamma$ , MMR, CD36, and CD14 (Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2009, 2010a).

The above evidence suggests that defective efferocytosis in autoimmune and chronic inflammatory conditions may result from continual exaggerated inflammatory activation of macrophages and/or ineffective induction of signals associated with programming toward pro-resolving macrophages. As such, further investigation of the mechanisms leading to impaired macrophage efferocytosis in these conditions, and approaches for its reversal, may lead to the development of more effective therapeutic strategies.

## SECTION 4: THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES TO ENHANCE EFFEROCYTOSIS AND REDUCE INFLAMMATION

## **CURRENTLY AVAILABLE THERAPEUTICS**

Based on the experimental evidence, enhancement of macrophage efferocytosis, either by early acting mediators or through programming changes, may have efficacy in treating disorders linked to chronic inflammation and aberrant macrophage function. Many anti-inflammatory drugs utilized clinically likely stimulate apoptotic cell uptake, though for the most part, mechanisms are poorly understood. For example, glucocorticoids with protean effects on inflammation also enhance efferocytosis (Rhen and Cidlowski, 2005). In this regard they appear to act through a number of mechanisms: (i) induced expression of the phospholipid binding protein annexin A1 and its receptor ALXR, which also binds lipoxin A<sub>4</sub> (Maderna et al., 2005), (ii) enhanced signaling via Mer and its ligand, protein S (McColl et al., 2009), (iii) altered Rac/Rho balance (Giles et al., 2001), and (iv) PPARy-induced programming (Majai et al., 2007). Statins, cholesterol lowering drugs, are used with increasing frequency to treat inflammatory diseases also enhance phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. The mode of action is likely complex, but may work in part by reducing prenylation and membrane association of inhibitory RhoA (Morimoto et al., 2006), as well as by inducing programmingrelated changes through activation of PPARy (Yano et al., 2007). Another class of anti-inflammatory agents known to enhance efferocytosis is the macrolide group of antibiotics. These likely alter macrophage programming as well as increase levels of bridge molecules in vivo to enhance uptake of apoptotic cells (Yamaryo et al., 2003; Hodge et al., 2008). Many of these current treatments have diverse targets, making it difficult to determine the precise role of enhanced efferocytosis in their anti-inflammatory effects. Furthermore, many have adverse side effects. Accordingly, novel therapies that more closely mimic normal resolution processes or target reprogramming of macrophages to specifically enhance efferocytosis are needed.

### NOVEL THERAPEUTIC TARGETS TO ENHANCE EFFEROCYTOSIS

Potential new therapeutic targets include modulation of signaling pathways and mediators involved in both early acting events and subsequent macrophage programming. Oxidant-mediated activation of RhoA and suppression of efferocytosis, may be amenable to antioxidant treatment. In a LPS-induced lung injury model, antioxidants reduced inflammation, and improved macrophage efferocytosis by inhibiting RhoA activation (Moon et al., 2010). Similarly, antioxidant treatment in autoimmune NOD mice dampened pro-inflammatory cytokine production and repaired the macrophage efferocytic defect (Haskins et al., 2003). Another potential therapy to enhance efferocytosis could be via lipoxins, including the related aspirin triggered 15-epi-lipoxins (Spite and Serhan, 2010) that signal through ALXR. Lipoxins as well as resolvins and protectins have been shown to reduce inflammation and tissue damage in a variety of rodent models (Serhan et al., 2008). Whether, and to what degree, any of these effects are a direct result of enhanced efferocytosis remains to be determined.

Given that nuclear receptor signaling is strongly associated with enhanced efferocytosis and suppression of inflammation, PPARy, PPARδ, and LXR agonists are natural therapeutic targets for inflammatory diseases. LXR agonists were shown to reverse defective macrophage efferocytosis and reduce disease severity in a murine model of SLE (A-Gonzalez et al., 2009). Additionally, PPARy agonists reduced neutrophil numbers in rodent models of acute inflammation, COPD, and asthma (Belvisi and Hele, 2008; Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2010a). PPARy and PPARS activation were also shown to decrease inflammation and disease severity in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the murine model of multiple sclerosis (Feinstein et al., 2002; Polak et al., 2005). Recently, a direct association between improved efferocytosis and treatment efficacy has been demonstrated: treatment with a PPARy agonist resolved prolonged zymosan-induced inflammation in a mouse model of CGD, which corresponded with macrophage "alternative activation" enhanced efferocytosis, and increased TGFB and IL-10 production (Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2010a).

In vivo administration of apoptotic cells exploits their signaling to alter inflammatory programming in inflamed tissues; their stimulation of phagocytes shapes subsequent immune and inflammatory responses (Jonson et al., 2008). This has been especially successful in graft versus host disease where a shift in Th1 to Th2 T cell responses was driven by macrophagedependent induction of tolerogenic dendritic cells (DC) and regulatory T cells (Gorgun et al., 2002; Kleinclauss et al., 2006). In EAE, infusion of autoantigen-expressing apoptotic cells induced tolerance to self antigens and reduced disease progression in a manner-dependent on macrophage-mediated regulation of DC efferocytosis (Miyake et al., 2007). The mechanisms involved in apoptotic cell infusion-induced regulation of inflammation and induction of tolerance are not well studied, however, it is likely mediated in part through apoptotic cellinduced alterations in macrophage programming. Treatment with PS liposomes, which simulate signaling by apoptotic cells, has also been effective. In sterile inflammatory models, administration of PS liposomes led to macrophage re-programming from pro-inflammatory to anti-inflammatory states. As consequences, efferocytosis was enhanced (Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2009), tissue swelling and pro-inflammatory cytokine production were reduced (Ramos et al., 2007), and repair of infarct tissue was enhanced (Harel-Adar et al., 2011). As a cautionary note, however, administration of both apoptotic cells and PS liposomes into inflamed tissues, and likely to inflammatory macrophages, can also contribute (at least transiently) to exacerbated inflammation (Medan et al., 2002; Borges et al., 2009), and disabled host defense against pathogens (Medeiros et al., 2009). These observations underscore the need to better understand the signaling pathways involved in therapeutic induction of macrophage anti-inflammatory programming and enhancement of efferocytic capacity.

### **CONCLUSION**

Macrophages, through their phagocytic functions and production of cytokines and mediators, profoundly shape the course of inflammation. Interpreting cues from the environment, they orchestrate early pro-inflammatory responses to pathogens and

#### REFERENCES

- A-Gonzalez, N., Bensinger, S. J., Hong, C., Beceiro, S., Bradley, M. N., Zelcer, N., Deniz, J., Ramirez, C., Diaz, M., Gallardo, G., De Galarreta, C. R., Salazar, J., Lopez, F., Edwards, P., Parks, J., Andujar, M., Tontonoz, P., and Castrillo, A. (2009). Apoptotic cells promote their own clearance and immune tolerance through activation of the nuclear receptor LXR. *Immunity* 31, 245–258.
- Aronoff, D. M., Canetti, C., and Peters-Golden, M. (2004). Prostaglandin E2 inhibits alveolar macrophage phagocytosis through an E-prostanoid 2 receptor-mediated increase in intracellular cyclic AMP. J. Immunol. 173, 559–565.
- Banerjee, S., Friggeri, A., Liu, G., and Abraham, E. (2010). The C-terminal acidic tail is responsible for the inhibitory effects of HMGB1 on efferocytosis. J. Leukoc. Biol. 88, 973–979.
- Belvisi, M. G., and Hele, D. J. (2008). Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors as novel targets in lung disease. *Chest* 134, 152–157.
- Benoit, M., Desnues, B., and Mege, J. L. (2008). Macrophage polarization in bacterial infections. *J. Immunol.* 181, 3733–3739.
- Berry, A., Balard, P., Coste, A., Olagnier, D., Lagane, C., Authier, H., Benoit-Vical, F., Lepert, J. C., Seguela, J. P., Magnaval, J. F., Chambon, P., Metzger, D., Desvergne, B., Wahli, W., Auwerx, J., and Pipy, B. (2007). IL-13 induces expression of CD36 in human monocytes through PPARgamma activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 37, 1642–1652.
- Borges, V. M., Vandivier, R. W., Mcphillips, K. A., Kench, J. A.,

- Morimoto, K., Groshong, S. D., Richens, T. R., Graham, B. B., Muldrow, A. M., Van Heule, L., Henson, P. M., and Janssen, W. J. (2009). TNFalpha inhibits apoptotic cell clearance in the lung, exacerbating acute inflammation. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 297, L586–L595.
- Bouhlel, M. A., Derudas, B., Rigamonti, E., Dievart, R., Brozek, J., Haulon, S., Zawadzki, C., Jude, B., Torpier, G., Marx, N., Staels, B., and Chinetti-Gbaguidi, G. (2007). PPARgamma activation primes human monocytes into alternative M2 macrophages with anti-inflammatory properties. *Cell Metab.* 6, 137–143.
- Bystrom, J., Evans, I., Newson, J., Stables, M., Toor, I., Van Rooijen, N., Crawford, M., Colville-Nash, P., Farrow, S., and Gilroy, D. W. (2008). Resolution-phase macrophages possess a unique inflammatory phenotype that is controlled by cAMP. *Blood* 112, 4117–4127.
- Dideberg, V., Kristjansdottir, G., Milani, L., Libioulle, C., Sigurdsson, S., Louis, E., Wiman, A. C., Vermeire, S., Rutgeerts, P., Belaiche, J., Franchimont, D., Van Gossum, A., Bours, V., and Syvanen, A. C. (2007). An insertion-deletion polymorphism in the interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) gene confers risk of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 3008–3016.
- Dieguez-Gonzalez, R., Calaza, M., Perez-Pampin, E., De La Serna, A. R., Fernandez-Gutierrez, B., Castaneda, S., Largo, R., Joven, B., Narvaez, J., Navarro, F., Marenco, J. L., Vicario, J. L., Blanco, F. J., Fernandez-Lopez, J. C., Caliz, R., Collado-Escobar, M. D., Carreno, L., Lopez-Longo, J.,

tissue injury, and ultimately produce anti-inflammatory lipids and cytokines for the active suppression of inflammation and restoration of tissue homeostasis. Their recognition and removal of apoptotic cells are crucial to these latter events, and a considerable body of data supports that their dysregulation contributes to diverse autoimmune and chronic disease states. An increasing understanding of the normal resolution mechanisms, especially those that modulate apoptotic cell clearance through the stimulation and programming of macrophages will undoubtedly bring new therapeutic strategies to the forefront and will allow for the development of more effective targeted and/or combinatorial treatments.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The authors would like to acknowledge the assistance of Ms. Brenda Sebern in the preparation of the manuscript. Funding for this work came from NIH HL034303, AI058228, HL081151, GM061031, and the Chronic Granulomatous Disorder Research Trust.

- Canete, J. D., Gomez-Reino, J. J., and Gonzalez, A. (2008). Association of interferon regulatory factor 5 haplotypes, similar to that found in systemic lupus erythematosus, in a large subgroup of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 58, 1264–1274.
- El Chartouni, C., Schwarzfischer, L., and Rehli, M. (2010). Interleukin-4 induced interferon regulatory factor (Irf) 4 participates in the regulation of alternative macrophage priming. *Immunobiology* 215, 821–825.
- Fadok, V. A., Bratton, D. L., Konowal, A., Freed, P. W., Westcott, J. Y., and Henson, P. M. (1998). Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 890–898.
- Fadok, V. A., Voelker, D. R., Campbell, P. A., Cohen, J. J., Bratton, D. L., and Henson, P. M. (1992). Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers specific recognition and removal by macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 148, 2207–2216.
- Feinstein, D. L., Galea, E., Gavrilyuk, V., Brosnan, C. F., Whitacre, C. C., Dumitrescu-Ozimek, L., Landreth, G. E., Pershadsingh, H. A., Weinberg, G., and Heneka, M. T. (2002). Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-gamma agonists prevent experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Ann. Neurol.* 51, 694–702.
- Feng, X., Deng, T., Zhang, Y., Su, S., Wei, C., and Han, D. (2011).

Lipopolysaccharide inhibits macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by regulating the production of tumour necrosis factor and growth arrest-specific gene 6. *Immunology* 132, 287–295.

- Fernandez-Boyanapalli, R., Frasch, S. C., Riches, D. W., Vandivier, R. W., Henson, P. M., and Bratton, D. L. (2010a). PPARgamma activation normalizes resolution of acute sterile inflammation in murine chronic granulomatous disease. *Blood* 116, 4512–4522.
- Fernandez-Boyanapalli, R., Mcphillips, K. A., Frasch, S. C., Janssen, W. J., Dinauer, M. C., Riches, D. W., Henson, P. M., Byrne, A., and Bratton, D. L. (2010b). Impaired phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages in chronic granulomatous disease is reversed by IFN-gamma in a nitric oxidedependent manner. J. Immunol. 185, 4030–4041.
- Fernandez-Boyanapalli, R. F., Frasch, S. C., Mcphillips, K., Vandivier, R. W., Harry, B. L., Riches, D. W., Henson, P. M., and Bratton, D. L. (2009). Impaired apoptotic cell clearance in CGD due to altered macrophage programming is reversed by phosphatidylserinedependent production of IL-4. *Blood* 113, 2047–2055.
- Frasch, S. C., Berry, K. Z., Fernandez-Boyanapalli, R., Jin, H. S., Leslie, C., Henson, P. M., Murphy, R. C., and Bratton, D. L. (2008). NADPH oxidase-dependent generation of lysophosphatidylserine enhances clearance of activated and dying neutrophils via G2A. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 33736–33749.

- Frasch, S. C., Fernandez-Boyanapalli, R. F., Berry, K. Z., Leslie, C. C., Bonventre, J. V., Murphy, R. C., Henson, P. M., and Bratton, D. L. (2011). Signaling via macrophage G2A enhances efferocytosis of dying neutrophils by augmentation of Rac activity. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 12108–12122.
- Freire-de-Lima, C. G., Xiao, Y. Q., Gardai, S. J., Bratton, D. L., Schiemann, W. P., and Henson, P. M. (2006). Apoptotic cells, through transforming growth factor-beta, coordinately induce anti-inflammatory and suppress pro-inflammatory eicosanoid and NO synthesis in murine macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 38376–38384.
- Friggeri, A., Banerjee, S., Biswas, S., De Freitas, A., Liu, G., Bierhaus, A., and Abraham, E. (2011). Participation of the receptor for advanced glycation end products in efferocytosis. *J. Immunol.* 186, 6191–6198.
- Friggeri, A., Yang, Y., Banerjee, S., Park, Y. J., Liu, G., and Abraham, E. (2010). HMGB1 inhibits macrophage activity in efferocytosis through binding to the alphavbeta3-integrin. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 299, C1267– C1276.
- Gaipl, U. S., Munoz, L. E., Grossmayer, G., Lauber, K., Franz, S., Sarter, K., Voll, R. E., Winkler, T., Kuhn, A., Kalden, J., Kern, P., and Herrmann, M. (2007). Clearance deficiency and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). *J. Autoimmun.* 28, 114–121.
- Gales, A., Conduche, A., Bernad, J., Lefevre, L., Olagnier, D., Beraud, M., Martin-Blondel, G., Linas, M. D., Auwerx, J., Coste, A., and Pipy, B. (2010). PPARgamma controls dectin-1 expression required for host antifungal defense against *Candida albicans. PLoS Pathog.* 6, e1000714. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000714
- Ghisletti, S., Huang, W., Ogawa, S., Pascual, G., Lin, M. E., Willson, T. M., Rosenfeld, M. G., and Glass, C. K. (2007). Parallel SUMOylationdependent pathways mediate geneand signal-specific transrepression by LXRs and PPARgamma. *Mol. Cell* 25, 57–70.
- Giles, K. M., Ross, K., Rossi, A. G., Hotchin, N. A., Haslett, C., and Dransfield, I. (2001). Glucocorticoid augmentation of macrophage capacity for phagocytosis of apoptotic cells is associated with reduced p130Cas expression, loss of paxillin/pyk2 phosphorylation, and high levels of active Rac. J. Immunol. 167, 976–986.
- Godson, C., Mitchell, S., Harvey, K., Petasis, N. A., Hogg, N., and

Brady, H. R. (2000). Cutting edge: lipoxins rapidly stimulate nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by monocytederived macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 164, 1663–1667.

- Gordon, S., and Martinez, F. O. (2010). Alternative activation of macrophages: mechanism and functions. *Immunity* 32, 593–604.
- Gorgun, G., Miller, K. B., and Foss, F. M. (2002). Immunologic mechanisms of extracorporeal photochemotherapy in chronic graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* 100, 941–947.
- Gratchev, A., Kzhyshkowska, J., Kothe, K., Muller-Molinet, I., Kannookadan, S., Utikal, J., and Goerdt, S. (2006). Mphi1 and Mphi2 can be re-polarized by Th2 or Th1 cytokines, respectively, and respond to exogenous danger signals. *Immunobiology* 211, 473–486.
- Greenberg, M. E., Sun, M., Zhang, R., Febbraio, M., Silverstein, R., and Hazen, S. L. (2006). Oxidized phosphatidylserine-CD36 interactions play an essential role in macrophage-dependent phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 2613–2625.
- Gumienny, T. L., Brugnera, E., Tosello-Trampont, A. C., Kinchen, J. M., Haney, L. B., Nishiwaki, K., Walk, S. F., Nemergut, M. E., Macara, I. G., Francis, R., Schedl, T., Qin, Y., Van Aelst, L., Hengartner, M. O., and Ravichandran, K. S. (2001). CED-12/ELMO, a novel member of the CrkII/Dock180/Rac pathway, is required for phagocytosis and cell migration. *Cell* 107, 27–41.
- Harel-Adar, T., Ben Mordechai, T., Amsalem, Y., Feinberg, M. S., Leor, J., and Cohen, S. (2011). Modulation of cardiac macrophages by phosphatidylserine-presenting liposomes improves infarct repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1827–1832.
- Haskins, K., Bradley, B., Powers, K., Fadok, V., Flores, S., Ling, X., Pugazhenthi, S., Reusch, J., and Kench, J. (2003). Oxidative stress in type 1 diabetes. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1005, 43–54.
- He, M., Kubo, H., Morimoto, K., Fujino, N., Suzuki, T., Takahasi, T., Yamada, M., Yamaya, M., Maekawa, T., Yamamoto, Y., and Yamamoto, H. (2011). Receptor for advanced glycation end products binds to phosphatidylserine and assists in the clearance of apoptotic cells. *EMBO Rep.* 12, 358–364.
- Henson, P., and Bratton, D. (2009). "Recognition and removal of apoptotic cells," in *Phagocyte-Pathogen Interactions: Macrophages and the*

Host Responses to Infection, Section VI Bridging the Gap Between the Innate and Acquired Immune Response, eds D. G. Russel and S. Gordon (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 341–365.

- Hodge, S., Hodge, G., Jersmann, H., Matthews, G., Ahern, J., Holmes, M., and Reynolds, P. N. (2008).
  Azithromycin improves macrophage phagocytic function and expression of mannose receptor in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 178, 139–148.
- Hoffmann, P. R., Kench, J. A., Vondracek, A., Kruk, E., Daleke, D. L., Jordan, M., Marrack, P., Henson, P. M., and Fadok, V. A. (2005). Interaction between phosphatidylserine and the phosphatidylserine receptor inhibits immune responses in vivo. *J. Immunol.* 174, 1393–1404.
- Huang, J. T., Welch, J. S., Ricote, M., Binder, C. J., Willson, T. M., Kelly, C., Witztum, J. L., Funk, C. D., Conrad, D., and Glass, C. K. (1999). Interleukin-4-dependent production of PPAR-gamma ligands in macrophages by 12/15lipoxygenase. *Nature* 400, 378–382.
- Huynh, M. L., Fadok, V. A., and Henson, P. M. (2002). Phosphatidylserinedependent ingestion of apoptotic cells promotes TGF-beta1 secretion and the resolution of inflammation. *J. Clin. Invest.* 109, 41–50.
- Jenkins, S. J., Ruckerl, D., Cook, P. C., Jones, L. H., Finkelman, F. D., Van Rooijen, N., Macdonald, A. S., and Allen, J. E. (2011). Local macrophage proliferation, rather than recruitment from the blood, is a signature of TH2 inflammation. *Science* 332, 1284–1288.
- Jennewein, C., Kuhn, A. M., Schmidt, M. V., Meilladec-Jullig, V., Von Knethen, A., Gonzalez, F. J., and Brune, B. (2008). Sumoylation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma by apoptotic cells prevents lipopolysaccharide-induced NCoR removal from kappaB binding sites mediating transrepression of proinflammatory cytokines. J. Immunol. 181, 5646–5652.
- Jonson, C. O., Pihl, M., Nyholm, C., Cilio, C. M., Ludvigsson, J., and Faresjo, M. (2008). Regulatory T cell-associated activity in photopheresis-induced immune tolerance in recent onset type 1 diabetes children. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 153, 174–181.
- Kang, K., Reilly, S. M., Karabacak, V., Gangl, M. R., Fitzgerald, K., Hatano, B., and Lee, C. H. (2008). Adipocyte-derived Th2 cytokines and myeloid PPARdelta

regulate macrophage polarization and insulin sensitivity. *Cell Metab.* 7, 485–495.

- Kenis, H., Van Genderen, H., Deckers, N. M., Lux, P. A., Hofstra, L., Narula, J., and Reutelingsperger, C. P. (2006). Annexin A5 inhibits engulfment through internalization of PS-expressing cell membrane patches. *Exp. Cell Res.* 312, 719–726.
- Kinchen, J. M., Cabello, J., Klingele, D., Wong, K., Feichtinger, R., Schnabel, H., Schnabel, R., and Hengartner, M. O. (2005). Two pathways converge at CED-10 to mediate actin rearrangement and corpse removal in *C. elegans. Nature* 434, 93–99.
- Kleinclauss, F., Perruche, S., Masson, E., De Carvalho Bittencourt, M., Biichle, S., Remy-Martin, J. P., Ferrand, C., Martin, M., Bittard, H., Chalopin, J. M., Seilles, E., Tiberghien, P., and Saas, P. (2006). Intravenous apoptotic spleen cell infusion induces a TGFbeta-dependent regulatory T-cell expansion. Cell Death Differ. 13, 41–52.
- Koh, J. S., Wang, Z., and Levine, J. S. (2000). Cytokine dysregulation induced by apoptotic cells is a shared characteristic of murine lupus. *J. Immunol.* 165, 4190–4201.
- Komura, H., Miksa, M., Wu, R., Goyert, S. M., and Wang, P. (2009). Milk fat globule epidermal growth factor-factor VIII is down-regulated in sepsis via the lipopolysaccharide-CD14 pathway. *J. Immunol.* 182, 581–587.
- Krausgruber, T., Blazek, K., Smallie, T., Alzabin, S., Lockstone, H., Sahgal, N., Hussell, T., Feldmann, M., and Udalova, I. A. (2011). IRF5 promotes inflammatory macrophage polarization and TH1-TH17 responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 231–238.
- Kristjansdottir, G., Sandling, J. K., Bonetti, A., Roos, I. M., Milani, L., Wang, C., Gustafsdottir, S. M., Sigurdsson, S., Lundmark, A., Tienari, P. J., Koivisto, K., Elovaara, I., Pirttila, T., Reunanen, M., Peltonen, L., Saarela, J., Hillert, J., Olsson, T., Landegren, U., Alcina, A., Fernandez, O., Leyva, L., Guerrero, M., Lucas, M., Izquierdo, G., Matesanz, F., and Syvanen, A. C. (2008). Interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) gene variants are associated with multiple sclerosis in three distinct populations. J. Med. Genet. 45, 362-369.
- Leverrier, Y., and Ridley, A. J. (2001). Requirement for Rho GTPases and PI 3-kinases during apoptotic cell phagocytosis by macrophages. *Curr. Biol.* 11, 195–199.

- Li, S., Sun, Y., Liang, C. P., Thorp, E. B., Han, S., Jehle, A. W., Saraswathi, V., Pridgen, B., Kanter, J. E., Li, R., Welch, C. L., Hasty, A. H., Bornfeldt, K. E., Breslow, J. L., Tabas, I., and Tall, A. R. (2009). Defective phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages in atherosclerotic lesions of ob/ob mice and reversal by a fish oil diet. *Circ. Res.* 105, 1072–1082.
- Ma, C. Y., Jiao, Y. L., Zhang, J., Yang, Q. R., Zhang, Z. F., Shen, Y. J., Chen, Z. J., and Zhao, Y. R. (2010). Elevated plasma level of HMGB1 is associated with disease activity and combined alterations with IFN-alpha and TNF-alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatol. Int.* 1–8.
- Maderna, P., Cottell, D. C., Toivonen, T., Dufton, N., Dalli, J., Perretti, M., and Godson, C. (2010). FPR2/ALX receptor expression and internalization are critical for lipoxin A4 and annexin-derived peptidestimulated phagocytosis. *FASEB J.* 24, 4240–4249.
- Maderna, P., Yona, S., Perretti, M., and Godson, C. (2005). Modulation of phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by supernatant from dexamethasone-treated macrophages and annexin-derived peptide Ac(2-26). J. Immunol. 174, 3727–3733.
- Majai, G., Sarang, Z., Csomos, K., Zahuczky, G., and Fesus, L. (2007). PPARgamma-dependent regulation of human macrophages in phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 37, 1343–1354.
- Martinez, F. O., Helming, L., and Gordon, S. (2009). Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27, 451–483.
- McColl, A., Bournazos, S., Franz, S., Perretti, M., Morgan, B. P., Haslett, C., and Dransfield, I. (2009). Glucocorticoids induce protein S-dependent phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by human macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 183, 2167–2175.
- McPhillips, K., Janssen, W. J., Ghosh, M., Byrne, A., Gardai, S., Remigio, L., Bratton, D. L., Kang, J. L., and Henson, P. (2007). TNFalpha inhibits macrophage clearance of apoptotic cells via cytosolic phospholipase A2 and oxidantdependent mechanisms. J. Immunol. 178, 8117–8126.
- Medan, D., Wang, L., Yang, X., Dokka, S., Castranova, V., and Rojanasakul, Y. (2002). Induction of neutrophil apoptosis and secondary necrosis during endotoxin-induced pulmonary inflammation in mice. J. Cell. Physiol. 191, 320–326.
- Medeiros, A. I., Serezani, C. H., Lee, S. P., and Peters-Golden, M. (2009).

Efferocytosis impairs pulmonary macrophage and lung antibacterial function via PGE2/EP2 signaling. *J. Exp. Med.* 206, 61–68.

- Michlewska, S., Dransfield, I., Megson, I. L., and Rossi, A. G. (2009). Macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils is critically regulated by the opposing actions of pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory agents: key role for TNF-alpha. *FASEB J.* 23, 844–854.
- Mitchell, S., Thomas, G., Harvey, K., Cottell, D., Reville, K., Berlasconi, G., Petasis, N. A., Erwig, L., Rees, A. J., Savill, J., Brady, H. R., and Godson, C. (2002). Lipoxins, aspirintriggered epi-lipoxins, lipoxin stable analogues, and the resolution of inflammation: stimulation of macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils in vivo. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 2497–2507.
- Miyake, Y., Asano, K., Kaise, H., Uemura, M., Nakayama, M., and Tanaka, M. (2007). Critical role of macrophages in the marginal zone in the suppression of immune responses to apoptotic cell-associated antigens. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117, 2268–2278.
- Moon, C., Lee, Y. J., Park, H. J., Chong, Y. H., and Kang, J. L. (2010). Nacetylcysteine inhibits RhoA and promotes apoptotic cell clearance during intense lung inflammation. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 181, 374–387.
- Morimoto, K., Janssen, W. J., Fessler, M. B., Mcphillips, K. A., Borges, V. M., Bowler, R. P., Xiao, Y. Q., Kench, J. A., Henson, P. M., and Vandivier, R. W. (2006). Lovastatin enhances clearance of apoptotic cells (efferocytosis) with implications for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J. Immunol.* 176, 7657–7665.
- Mosser, D. M., and Zhang, X. (2008). Activation of murine macrophages. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* Chapter 14, Unit 14.12.
- Mukundan, L., Odegaard, J. I., Morel, C. R., Heredia, J. E., Mwangi, J. W., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R. R., Goh, Y. P., Eagle, A. R., Dunn, S. E., Awakuni, J. U., Nguyen, K. D., Steinman, L., Michie, S. A., and Chawla, A. (2009). PPAR-delta senses and orchestrates clearance of apoptotic cells to promote tolerance. *Nat. Med.* 15, 1266–1272.
- Nakaya, M., Tanaka, M., Okabe, Y., Hanayama, R., and Nagata, S. (2006). Opposite effects of rho family GTPases on engulfment of apoptotic cells by macrophages. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 8836–8842.
- Odegaard, J. I., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R. R., Goforth, M. H., Morel, C. R., Subramanian, V., Mukundan, L., Red Eagle, A., Vats, D., Brombacher,

E, Ferrante, A. W., and Chawla, A. (2007). Macrophage-specific PPARgamma controls alternative activation and improves insulin resistance. *Nature* 447, 1116–1120.

- Ogden, C. A., Decathelineau, A., Hoffmann, P. R., Bratton, D., Ghebrehiwet, B., Fadok, V. A., and Henson, P. M. (2001). C1q and mannose binding lectin engagement of cell surface calreticulin and CD91 initiates macropinocytosis and uptake of apoptotic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 194, 781–795.
- Olefsky, J. M., and Glass, C. K. (2010). Macrophages, inflammation, and insulin resistance. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 72, 219–246.
- Park, S. Y., Jung, M. Y., Lee, S. J., Kang, K. B., Gratchev, A., Riabov, V., Kzhyshkowska, J., and Kim, I. S. (2009). Stabilin-1 mediates phosphatidylserine-dependent clearance of cell corpses in alternatively activated macrophages. J. Cell Sci. 122, 3365–3373.
- Pascual, G., Fong, A. L., Ogawa, S., Gamliel, A., Li, A. C., Perissi, V., Rose, D. W., Willson, T. M., Rosenfeld, M. G., and Glass, C. K. (2005). A SUMOylation-dependent pathway mediates transrepression of inflammatory response genes by PPAR-gamma. *Nature* 437, 759–763.
- Polak, P. E., Kalinin, S., Dello Russo, C., Gavrilyuk, V., Sharp, A., Peters, J. M., Richardson, J., Willson, T. M., Weinberg, G., and Feinstein, D. L. (2005). Protective effects of a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorbeta/delta agonist in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J. Neuroimmunol. 168, 65–75.
- Qin, Y. H., Dai, S. M., Tang, G. S., Zhang, J., Ren, D., Wang, Z. W., and Shen, Q. (2009). HMGB1 enhances the proinflammatory activity of lipopolysaccharide by promoting the phosphorylation of MAPK p38 through receptor for advanced glycation end products. *J. Immunol.* 183, 6244–6250.
- Raes, G., Brys, L., Dahal, B. K., Brandt, J., Grooten, J., Brombacher, F., Vanham, G., Noel, W., Bogaert, P., Boonefaes, T., Kindt, A., Van Den Bergh, R., Leenen, P. J., De Baetselier, P., and Ghassabeh, G. H. (2005). Macrophage galactose-type C-type lectins as novel markers for alternatively activated macrophages elicited by parasitic infections and allergic airway inflammation. J. Leukoc. Biol. 77, 321–327.
- Ramos, G. C., Fernandes, D., Charao, C. T., Souza, D. G., Teixeira, M. M., and Assreuy, J. (2007). Apoptotic mimicry: phosphatidylserine liposomes

reduce inflammation through activation of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors (PPARs) in vivo. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 151, 844–850.

- Rebe, C., Raveneau, M., Chevriaux, A., Lakomy, D., Sberna, A. L., Costa, A., Bessede, G., Athias, A., Steinmetz, E., Lobaccaro, J. M., Alves, G., Menicacci, A., Vachenc, S., Solary, E., Gambert, P., and Masson, D. (2009). Induction of transglutaminase 2 by a liver X receptor/retinoic acid receptor alpha pathway increases the clearance of apoptotic cells by human macrophages. *Circ. Res.* 105, 393–401.
- Rhen, T., and Cidlowski, J. A. (2005). Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids – new mechanisms for old drugs. N. Engl. J. Med. 353, 1711–1723.
- Rossi, A. G., Mccutcheon, J. C., Roy, N., Chilvers, E. R., Haslett, C., and Dransfield, I. (1998). Regulation of macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by cAMP. *J. Immunol.* 160, 3562–3568.
- Roszer, T., Menendez-Gutierrez, M. P., Lefterova, M. I., Alameda, D., Nunez, V., Lazar, M. A., Fischer, T., and Ricote, M. (2011). Autoimmune kidney disease and impaired engulfment of apoptotic cells in mice with macrophage peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma or retinoid X receptor alpha deficiency. J. Immunol. 186, 621–631.
- Scannell, M., Flanagan, M. B., Destefani, A., Wynne, K. J., Cagney, G., Godson, C., and Maderna, P. (2007). Annexin-1 and peptide derivatives are released by apoptotic cells and stimulate phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages. J. Immunol. 178, 4595–4605.
- Schif-Zuck, S., Gross, N., Assi, S., Rostoker, R., Serhan, C. N., and Ariel, A. (2011). Saturated-efferocytosis generates pro-resolving CD11b low macrophages: modulation by resolvins and glucocorticoids. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 366–379.
- Schwab, J. M., Chiang, N., Arita, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolvin E1 and protectin D1 activate inflammation-resolution programmes. *Nature* 447, 869–874.
- Serghides, L., and Kain, K. C. (2001). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma-retinoid X receptor agonists increase CD36-dependent phagocytosis of plasmodium falciparum-parasitized erythrocytes and decrease malaria-induced TNF-alpha secretion by monocytes/macrophages. J. Immunol. 166, 6742–6748.

- Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2008). Resolving inflammation: dual anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 349–361.
- Sica, A. (2010). Role of tumourassociated macrophages in cancerrelated inflammation. *Exp. Oncol.* 32, 153–158.
- Spite, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2010). Novel lipid mediators promote resolution of acute inflammation: impact of aspirin and statins. *Circ. Res.* 107, 1170–1184.
- Szanto, A., Balint, B. L., Nagy, Z. S., Barta, E., Dezso, B., Pap, A., Szeles, L., Poliska, S., Oros, M., Evans, R. M., Barak, Y., Schwabe, J., and Nagy, L. (2010). STAT6 transcription factor is a facilitator of the nuclear receptor PPARgamma-regulated gene expression in macrophages and dendritic cells. *Immunity* 33, 699–712.
- Voll, R. E., Herrmann, M., Roth, E. A., Stach, C., Kalden, J. R., and Girkontaite, I. (1997). Immunosuppressive effects of

apoptotic cells. Nature 390, 350-351.

- Wang, Y., Wang, Y. P., Zheng, G., Lee, V. W., Ouyang, L., Chang, D. H., Mahajan, D., Coombs, J., Wang, Y. M., Alexander, S. I., and Harris, D. C. (2007). Ex vivo programmed macrophages ameliorate experimental chronic inflammatory renal disease. *Kidney Int.* 72, 290–299.
- Welch, J. S., Ricote, M., Akiyama, T. E., Gonzalez, F. J., and Glass, C. K. (2003). PPARgamma and PPARdelta negatively regulate specific subsets of lipopolysaccharide and IFN-gamma target genes in macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 100, 6712–6717.
- Xu, W., Roos, A., Schlagwein, N., Woltman, A. M., Daha, M. R., and Van Kooten, C. (2006). IL-10-producing macrophages preferentially clear early apoptotic cells. *Blood* 107, 4930–4937.
- Yamaryo, T., Oishi, K., Yoshimine, H., Tsuchihashi, Y., Matsushima,

K., and Nagatake, T. (2003). Fourteen-member macrolides promote the phosphatidylserine receptor-dependent phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by alveolar macrophages. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 47, 48–53.

Yano, M., Matsumura, T., Senokuchi, T., Ishii, N., Murata, Y., Taketa, К., Motoshima, H., Taguchi, Т., Sonoda, K., Kukidome, Takuwa, Y., Kawada, T., D. Brownlee, M., Nishikawa, T., and Araki, E. (2007). Statins activate peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma through extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 and p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase-dependent cyclooxygenase-2 expression in macrophages. Circ. Res. 100, 1442-1451.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 07 July 2011; paper pending published: 05 August 2011; accepted: 16 October 2011; published online: 08 November 2011.

Citation: Korns D, Frasch SC, Fernandez-Boyanapalli R, Henson PM and Bratton DL (2011) Modulation of macrophage efferocytosis in inflammation. Front. Immun. 2:57. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00057

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2011 Korns, Frasch, Fernandez-Boyanapalli, Henson and Bratton. This is an open-access article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.


# Macrophages in injured skeletal muscle: a *perpetuum mobile* causing and limiting fibrosis, prompting or restricting resolution and regeneration

# Lidia Bosurgi, Angelo A. Manfredi and Patrizia Rovere-Querini\*

Unit of Innate Immunity and Tissue Remodelling, Division of Regenerative Medicine, Stem Cells and Gene Therapy, Istituto Scientifico San Raffaele, Milano, Italy

#### Edited by:

Heiko Mühl, University Hospital Goethe University, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Ralf J. Ludwig, University of Lübeck, Germany Andreas Ludwig, RWTH Aachen University, Germany Itamar Goren, J. W. Goethe University, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Patrizia Rovere-Querini, Unit of Innate Immunity and Tissue Remodelling, Division of Regenerative Medicine, Stem Cells and Gene Therapy, Istituto Scientifico San Raffaele, 20132 Milano, Italy. e-mail: rovere.patrizia@hsr.it Macrophages are present in regenerating skeletal muscles and participate in the repair process. This is due to a unique feature of macrophages, i.e., their ability to perceive signals heralding ongoing tissue injury and to broadcast the news to cells suited at regenerating the tissue such as stem and progenitor cells. Macrophages play a complex role in the skeletal muscle, probably conveying information on the pattern of healing which is appropriate to ensure an effective healing of the tissue, yielding novel functional fibers. Conversely, they are likely to be involved in limiting the efficacy of regeneration, with formation of fibrotic scars and fat replacement of the tissue when the original insult persists. In this review we consider the beneficial versus the detrimental actions of macrophages during the response to muscle injury, with attention to the available information on the molecular code macrophages rely on to guide, throughout the various phases of muscle healing, the function of conventional and unconventional stem cells. Decrypting this code would represent a major step forward toward the establishment of novel targeted therapies for muscle diseases.

Keywords: macrophages, skeletal muscle, innate immunity, wound healing, alternative activation

# MUSCLE INJURY AND INFLAMMATION

Resident leukocytes in the healthy skeletal muscle are exceedingly rare. Thereafter, the skeletal muscle represents a microenvironment in which immunologic reactions depend on the characteristics of the noxious event and on the nature and the function of newly recruited immune cells (Wiendl et al., 2005). Muscle inflammation is a common physiologic response to exercise and the hallmark of acute and chronic damages such as strain injury or muscular dystrophies. Muscle inflammation has been felt to run a rather stereotypical course; recent data however indicate that when persistent triggers cause muscle damage, differences exist in the recruitment of the humoral innate immunity at the site of tissue injury. For example, activation of the complement cascade occurs and contributes to the disease in dysferlin-deficient mice, a model for the muscle wasting diseases referred to as dysferlinopathies, but not in mdx mice, a mouse model of Duchenne Muscle Dystrophy (Han et al., 2010).

The inflammation in acutely damaged muscle is characterized by a rapid and sequential invasion of leukocyte populations that persist while muscle repair, regeneration, and growth occur (Paulsen et al., 2010). Neutrophils represent the first leukocyte population in the damaged tissue. They were found in muscle early after exercise completion (Fielding et al., 1993) and infiltrate the tissue for as long as 5 days. Neutrophils release molecules that may contribute to the muscle membrane lysis that follows injury (Nguyen et al., 2005). The actual final effect of neutrophil recruitment in damaged skeletal muscle is however not completely elucidated and recent results suggest that infiltration by neutrophils *per se* may not be harmful but additional inflammatory stimuli are required to reveal their detrimental potential (Dumont et al., 2008). Some such stimuli may be directly generated as a consequence of myofiber lysis and ensuing release of endogenous inflammatory molecules or may be contributed by other recruited cells, such as platelets (Maugeri et al., 2009; Manfredi et al., 2010).

Interestingly, genetic disruption of the chemokine pathway related to inflammatory leukocyte recruitment reveals an apparent balance between the extent and the duration of tissue infiltration by leukocytes: absence of CXCL16 not only resulted in defective homing of macrophages and severely jeopardized tissue regeneration, but was associated with a persistent and important infiltration of the tissue by neutrophils, with unrestrained inflammation and eventual fibrosis (Zhang et al., 2009b). Conversely, a significant increase in macrophage accumulation and cell proliferation was observed in mice in which a transient neutropenia was induced at early times after injury (Godbout et al., 2010). In general, macrophages represent the dominant leukocyte population in the late phases of the homeostatic response to injury or in conditions in which the original inflammatory noxa persists. Their ability to perceive environmental cues and orchestrate the functional activities of other cells populations, such as immune cells or myogenic precursors (Figure 1), makes them an intriguing field of study in muscle biology.

# **MACROPHAGES: WHAT'S IN A NAME?**

Macrophages were originally identified as phagocytic cells responsible for pathogen elimination and housekeeping functions in



FIGURE 1 | Macrophages, recruited to the skeletal muscle after acute sterile injury, are necessary for effective tissue regeneration. Two months old C57BL/6 mice were treated i.m. with cardiotoxin (CTX). Mice were treated or not with clodronate-containing liposomes to deplete macrophages and sacrificed 15 days after CTX injection. *Tibialis anterior* and *quadriceps* muscles were collected. (A) Healthy muscles of untreated control mice. (B) The muscle of macrophage-competent mice undergoes effective and almost complete regeneration in 15 days: regenerating centronucleated fibers are evident throughout the section. (C) In the absence of macrophages, 15 days after acute sterile injury regenerating fibers are hardly evident. Degenerated fibers and cell remnants persist.

a wide range of organisms (Metchnikoff, 1905): they were thus included in the Mononuclear Phagocyte System, a population of cells, derived from bone marrow progenitors, that differentiate, enter the blood as monocytes and then the peripheral tissues to become resident macrophages or antigen presenting cells (Van Furth and Cohn, 1968).

Monocyte half-life in the blood is of about 1 day. This observation has fostered the concept that blood monocytes replenish macrophage or dendritic cell (DC) pools in peripheral tissues to maintain homeostasis (Ziegler-Heitbrock, 2000). This loop, by which tissues control the size and distribution of their macrophage populations, becomes evident when acute events, such as injury or infection occur.

Inflammation restricts the growth of invading microbes and guides, when the pathogen has been eliminated, its healing. Macrophages in particular represent an active link between innate and adaptive immunity, by regulating T lymphocyte activation and possibly shaping their polarization and function. The pioneering work on the role of T-cell-dependent protective autoimmunity in the healing of sterile spinal cord injuries makes this contention particularly cogent (Schwartz and Ziv, 2008; Shechter et al., 2009).

The role of macrophages is non-redundant. Depletion in the spleen of marginal zone macrophages, which interact with apoptotic material entering from the circulation, accelerated autoimmunity in mice genetically prone to systemic lupus erythematosus and caused significant mortality in wild-type mice repeatedly exposed to apoptotic cells (Mcgaha et al., 2011). Accumulation of apoptotic cell material per se triggers acceleration of systemic lupus erythematosus (Bondanza et al., 2003, 2004; Munoz et al., 2010). Macrophages recognize tags expressed by apoptotic cells: as a consequence they on one hand dispose of potentially reservoirs of autoantigens; on the other hand secrete regulatory cytokines that contribute to maintain self-tolerance (Manfredi et al., 2009; Elliott and Ravichandran, 2010). The clearance function of macrophages is crucial to limit the actual cross-presentation of apoptotic cell antigens and possibly to modify the cytokine environment in which the productive T-cell activation take place, thus favoring the establishment of protective, or at least not directly damaging, immune responses (Acharya et al., 2010; Elliott and Ravichandran, 2010; Brereton and Blander, 2011; Peng and Elkon, 2011).

Macrophages also support matrix remodeling and neoangiogenesis and have been implicated in conditions in which neoangiogenesis is potentially deleterious, including cancer (Qian and Pollard, 2010) but also non-neoplastic conditions, such as rheumatoid arthritis or endometriosis (Barrera et al., 2000; Bacci et al., 2009; Capobianco et al., 2010, 2011). All-together the data strongly support the ability of macrophages to perceive ongoing injury of various tissues, and to activate homeostatic programs that through the clearance of dying cells, the organization of neovessel generation, the regulation of the extracellular matrix remodeling and the activation of appropriate T lymphocyte responses leads to the effective healing.

Macrophage activation is clearly protective in the case of intense, short lasting injuries. In contrast, macrophage action sustaining regenerative and vascular responses can be deleterious in conditions such as persisting infectious diseases, chronic tissue damage, or event more notably tumors, in which the initial stimulus perceived by macrophages persists. Several excellent reviews have addressed the latter issue (e.g., see Biswas and Mantovani, 2010; Gordon and Martinez, 2010; Mantovani and Sica, 2010; Qian and Pollard, 2010; Squadrito and De Palma, 2011) and we will not discuss the issue further in this essay.

Dedicated pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) are nonclonally expressed by most innate immune cells (Palm and Medzhitov, 2009). PRRs allow to indentify molecular structures shared by ample classes of microbes, referred to as pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs; Janeway, 1992). The activation of PRRs results in cascade of tightly coordinated events, including: (i) the production of cytokines and chemokines, which attract and activate leukocytes (Nathan, 2002) (ii) the activation of an acute phase response, with the production of conserved soluble PRRs, such as pentraxins (Manfredi et al., 2008) which tune leukocyte activation and limit their ability to damage the tissue; (iii) the migration of APC to draining lymph nodes, with productive activation of naïve T lymphocytes. The expansion of antigen-specific T-cells is a key event in the establishment of an adaptive immunological response (Bevan, 2011).

Damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP), an array of heterogeneous molecules that are released during cell and tissue necrosis, although non-microbial, share the ability to activate PRRs (**Table 1**). Ss a consequence DAMPs recognition elicits inflammation and prompts tissue regeneration and acquired Tcell-dependent immune responses even in the context of sterile injuries (Bianchi, 2007; Lotze et al., 2007; Rubartelli and Lotze, 2007; Urbonaviciute et al., 2008; Bianchi and Manfredi, 2009; Manfredi and Rovere-Querini, 2010; Maroso et al., 2010; Castiglioni et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2011b; Zhang et al., 2011). Macrophages undergo an extensive reprogramming of their functional properties in response to PAMPs (Nau et al., 2002; Martinon et al., 2010), but also to signals released directly from damaged tissues (London et al., 2011) and from lymphocytes (Tiemessen et al., 2007; Wong et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2011a).

Studies with various probes reveal a phenotype heterogeneity in macrophages that possibly reflects peculiar features and function of macrophages sub-populations within the microenvironment. In response to microenvironmental cues, macrophages in the tissue become potent effector cells integrated in a T helper (Th)-1 response, which kill microorganisms and tumor cells and

#### Table 1 | Inflammatory sterile stimuli and associated diseases

(Manfredi and Rovere-Querini, 2010; Rock et al., 2010, 2011; Zhang et al., 2010a; Castiglioni et al., 2011).

Molecule	Associated inflammatory conditions
Asbestos*	Asbestosis: lung inflammation and fibrosis. Mesothelioma and lung cancer
ATP, ADP, adenosine	Airway inflammation
Calcium pyrophosphate	Pseudogout: chronic inflammatory arthritis
Cholesterol crystal	Atherosclerosis: arterial inflammation and occlusion
DNA constituents	Systemic autoimmunity (SLE)
HMGB1	Sepsis, systemic autoimmunity (SLE), rheumatoid arthritis
Matrix constituents (hyaluronate, heparan sulfate, fibronectin, fibrinogen, elastin, and collagen derived peptide)	ldiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, COPD, nephritis, arthritis
Mitochondrial DNA	Trauma, systemic inflammatory response syn- drome (SIRS)
Mitochondrial formyl peptides	Trauma, SIRS
Silica	Silicosis: lung Inflammation and fibrosis
Uric acid	Gout: chronic inflammatory arthritis

\*via HMGB1 release? See (Yang et al., 2010).

produce copious amounts of cytokines. Microbial destruction is mediated at least partially by the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and nitric oxide (NO). The amount of NO produced is instrumental for the ability of macrophages to control the intracellular parasite *L. mexicana* (Mylonas et al., 2009). In humans, classically activated macrophages are important for resistance to mycobacteria and *Leishmania major* infection (Darrah et al., 2007). Macrophages may undergo an alternative activation pathway (referred to as "alternative activation") that endows them with the ability to tune inflammatory responses and adaptive immunity, scavenge debris, and promote angiogenesis, tissue remodeling, and repair (Mantovani et al., 2004).

Macrophages that infiltrate regenerating tissues in general belong to the second class of healing macrophages (Corna et al., 2010; Daley et al., 2010; O'brien et al., 2010; Schwartz, 2010; Brancato and Albina, 2011; Cairo et al., 2011; David and Kroner, 2011; Harel-Adar et al., 2011; Jaeschke, 2011; London et al., 2011; Wang and Harris, 2011), while unrestrained polarization toward a classically activated phenotype associates with defective healing and persistent inflammation (Sindrilaru et al., 2011). Healing (or alternatively activated) macrophages can be propagated *in vitro* by exposure to monocyte precursors to low concentrations of M-CSF in the presence of IL4, IL13, or IL10 (Mantovani et al., 2004). In contrast exposure to microbial components such as LPS in the presence of  $\gamma$ IFN or to GM-CSF is an effective stimulus to elicit classically activated, inflammatory macrophages (**Figure 2**).

The dichotomy between inflammatory and tissue healing macrophages represents a "useful over-simplification" (Mantovani et al., 2009) of a sophisticated array of functions exerted by macrophage populations in injured tissues. The plasticity of macrophages in response to environmental cues has been characterized with particular attention in a model tissue, the skeletal muscle (Brunelli and Rovere-Querini, 2008; Chazaud et al., 2009; Tidball and Villalta, 2010).

### A CASE FOR MACROPHAGES IN THE SKELETAL MUSCLE

Macrophages have been known for a long time to be associated with skeletal muscle injury (Robertson et al., 1993; Mclennan, 1996). Moreover they play a critical role in the pathogenesis and in the natural history of self sustaining muscle diseases, specifically including primary inflammatory myopathies (necrotizing autoimmune myositis, inclusion body myositis and polymyositis) and genetic diseases of the tissue (Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies; Dalakas, 2002; Villalta et al., 2009). In vivo studies have unequivocally shown that macrophages actually participate in the tissue repair process (St Pierre and Tidball, 1994; Mclennan, 1996; Chazaud et al., 2003; Warren et al., 2005; Summan et al., 2006; Arnold et al., 2007; Tidball and Wehling-Henricks, 2007; Segawa et al., 2008; Ruffell et al., 2009; Sun et al., 2009; Brigitte et al., 2010; Dumont and Frenette, 2010; Martinez et al., 2010; Vezzoli et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2011b). Macrophages, as discussed above, are professional scavengers of apoptotic cells and debris and produce a vast array of signals involved in matrix remodeling and neovessel formation. Data in various models of skeletal muscle injury, including hindlimb ischemia, freeze-injury, unloading/reloading sequences, and myotoxic agent injection indicate



#### FIGURE 2 | Environment cues control and influence macrophage

**polarization.** Inflammatory macrophage activation is driven by stimulation with LPS or bacteria, and/or IFN-γ or GM-CSF. These molecules induce iNOS activity on macrophages and consequent production of RNI. Treatment with IL4 and/or IL13, IL10 and/or M-CSF supports the activation of tissue healing macrophages. The cytokine network activates an arginase-dependent metabolism of arginine. In macrophages, acquisition of a specific polarization state determines a differential expression of receptors and secretion of molecules. LPS, lipopolysaccharide; IFN-γ, interferon-γ; GM-CSF, granulocyte

that the recruitment of macrophages in the tissue occurs regardless of the characteristics of the original *noxa* (Tidball, 2002).

Arnold et al. (2007) identified a population of circulating monocytes selectively recruited in damaged muscle where they acquire a anti-inflammatory phenotype, correlated to tissue healing. Which are the signals involved in the functional polarization of macrophages in the injured/regenerating muscles? The phagocytosis of muscle cells debris is most likely to favor this transition (Arnold et al., 2007).

A macrophage population associated to the epimysial and perimysial connective tissue plays a crucial non-redundant role in monocyte attraction and activation in acutely injured skeletal muscle, providing signals that control their switch to tissue healing macrophages (Brigitte et al., 2010). Resident macrophages also attract in the injured skeletal muscle cells that express the CD11c integrin, a *bona fide* marker of myeloid DCs. These cells are endowed with antigen presenting capacity and with the ability to migrate from the muscle into draining lymph nodes (Brigitte et al., 2010). They represent attractive candidates to link the response to injury in the tissue to the local activation and recruitment of T lymphocytes, a hallmark of persistent skeletal muscle inflammation.

Activated myogenic precursors also generate chemoattractive signals for inflammatory cells, and their ability to recruit them at the site of muscle injury is further upregulated by the interaction with macrophages (Chazaud et al., 2003). After injury, myogenic precursors, injured fibers, resident macrophages, and recruited monocytes are a source of CCL2/MCP1 (Chazaud et al., 2003; Brigitte et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2011a). Indeed, severe impairments in skeletal muscle regeneration occur in mice defective of the chemokine-CC-motif receptor 2-deficient (CCR2<sup>-/-</sup>), which is activated by CCL2/MCP1 (Warren et al., 2005). CCR2 expression

macrophage-colony stimulating factor; M-CSF, macrophage-colony stimulating factor; MHCII, major histocompatibility complex class II; GR, galactose receptor; CD163, haptoglobin–hemoglobin complex receptor; CD206, mannose receptor; TfR1, transferrin receptor 1; Fpn, ferroportin; TGF $\beta$ , transforming growth factor  $\beta$ ; IGF1, insulin like growth factor 1; PTX-3, pentraxin 3; PGE2, prostaglandin E2; MMP-9, matrix metalloproteinase 9; Fizz, resistin like molecule; Ym1/2, chitinase like protein 1/2; TNF $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ ; IFN, interferon type I; RNI, reactive nitrogen intermediate; ROI, reactive oxygen intermediate.

on bone marrow derived cells is essential for robust macrophage recruitment after acute sterile injury and muscle regeneration. Surprisingly, injured muscle of lethally irradiated mice transplanted with CCR2-deficient bone marrow cells contain, despite impaired muscle regeneration, increased numbers of myogenic progenitor cells (Sun et al., 2009), suggesting that macrophages are required for precursor cells to fuse and yield effective myofiber formation. Drastic reduction of macrophage recruitment in injured muscle of CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice associates to a dramatically reduced expression of insulin like growth factor 1 (IGF1), a central regulator of muscle regeneration (Lu et al., 2011b). This observation suggests that macrophages regulate muscle healing through IGF1. Indeed, in CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, local IGF1 injection at least partially makes up for the lack of recruited macrophages (Lu et al., 2011b).

*In vitro*, IGF1 elicits in muscle cells a biphasic response, first stimulating cell proliferation and subsequently enhancing myogenic differentiation (Rosenthal and Cheng, 1995), a sequence of events that could be teleologically suited to sustain the repair of damaged tissue. *In vivo*, expression of a muscle specific transgene encoding a locally acting isoform of IGF1 prompts hypertrophy and regeneration in senescent skeletal muscle (Musaro et al., 2001).

# THE MUSCLE MICROENVIRONMENT AND THE INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE

The muscle environment and the mechanisms through which it modulates regeneration have attracted much attention in the recent years (Paylor et al., 2011). Several studies have investigated in particular whether similar events occur during the regeneration of adult skeletal muscle and during embryogenesis (Charge and Rudnicki, 2004). The microenvironment in which the two events occur is strikingly diverse: specifically muscle development occurs without any substantial contribution by infiltrating cells, which are instead present in regenerating muscle at concentrations that exceed 100,000 inflammatory cells/mm<sup>3</sup> of tissue (Wehling et al., 2001; Paylor et al., 2011). Recent evidences suggest that a model in which myogenesis occurs independently of the activation of inflammatory pathway may be far too simplistic: for example, myoblasts of mouse embryos and regenerating myocytes in injured adult mouse skeletal muscle, but not mature myocytes, express the receptor for granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF). Moreover, the C-CSF/G-CSF receptor pathway is crucial for skeletal myocyte development and regeneration (Hara et al., 2011).

Although several molecules have been identified not to be dispensable for muscle regeneration, the overall array of signals macrophages deliver in the tissue and the hierarchy among them is far from being elucidated. At early stages after acute injury macrophages mostly secrete inflammatory molecules, including CCL2/MCP1 and TNF $\alpha$ , which may favor tissue wasting *via* activation of the FoxO transcription factor (Sandri et al., 2004; Zhao et al., 2007). Simultaneously, they dispose of apoptotic cells and fiber remnants: apoptotic cell clearance has been shown in other systems to trigger the release of cytokines involved in the termination of the inflammatory response and in immune regulation, such as TGF $\beta$  and IL10 (Huynh et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2011; see also below).

At later stages macrophages actively sustain fiber reconstitution (Summan et al., 2006; Arnold et al., 2007; Shireman et al., 2007). At this stage they mainly secrete cytokines that may play a trophic function, such as IGF1 (Musaro et al., 2001; Summan et al., 2006; Pelosi et al., 2007) or IL10 (Strle et al., 2007, 2008; Tidball and Villalta, 2010).

In *mdx* mice, a well-accepted model for human Duchenne's muscular dystrophy, the expression of IL10 modulates macrophage activation and reduces the membrane damage: in this system, IL10 has been proposed to deactivate the inflammatory profile of macrophages infiltrating damaged muscle at the early, acute stage of muscle disease, promoting a switch toward an alternative activation profile (Villalta et al., 2010). At later phases however the persistence of alternatively activated macrophages in conditions in which the tissue can not heal may actually play a deleterious role: for example the sustained production in *mdx* mice of TGF $\beta$  may be involved in the fibrotic substitution of the myofibers, a hallmark of the advanced phases of muscular dystrophy: the cytokine indeed is associated to fibroblast activation and proliferation, leading to sustained collagen production and eventually to fibrosis (Vidal et al., 2008).

An exclusive population of progenitors of both fibroblasts and adipocytes has been recently clearly identified in skeletal muscle (Joe et al., 2010; Uezumi et al., 2010), referred to as fibro/adipogenic progenitors (FAP). These cells remain in a quiescent state in normal conditions, undergo a dramatic but transient proliferation in response to injury, contextually delivering trophic signals for proliferating myogenic precursors. Fibrotic scar substitution and accumulation of lipid filled adipocytes is a feature of conditions of the failed regeneration of the skeletal muscle, like it occurs dramatically in muscle dystrophies but at some extent also during physiological aging: when myogenic precursors fail to replace the damaged tissue, FAP would according to recent models (Rodeheffer, 2010; Paylor et al., 2011) take over, differentiating into adipocytes and possibly fibroblasts, thus ensuring the structural continuity of the tissue.

Various stem cell populations, including mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) and neural precursor cells (NPC), regulate the leukocyte fate, through mechanisms involving cell-cell contact and/or various soluble factor. MSC inhibit proliferation of various immune cells, including T, B, and NK lymphocytes (Groh et al., 2005; Krampera et al., 2006; Sotiropoulou et al., 2006; Spaggiari et al., 2006) and specifically influence affect DCs function through the release of IL6, (Djouad et al., 2007), of the Notch ligand Jagged-2, which induces the generation of regulatory DCs (Zhang et al., 2009a) and of prostaglandin E2 (Spaggiari et al., 2009), while NPC restrict the activation of DCs via a BMP-4-dependent-mechanism (Pluchino et al., 2009). MSC also reprogramming macrophages toward an alternatively activated profile (Ohtaki et al., 2008; Kim and Hematti, 2009), which is instrumental in a model of skin wound healing for effective wound repair (Zhang et al., 2010b). The possible cross-talk between FAPs and other precursors of mesenchymal origin and inflammatory cells infiltrating injured skeletal muscle, although demonstrated in other model tissues (Stappenbeck and Miyoshi, 2009; Zhang et al., 2010b; Ehninger and Trumpp, 2011), has not to the best of our knowledge been directly investigated so far.

### **MACROPHAGES AND MYOGENIC PRECURSORS**

In the absence of macrophages injured muscle fail to regenerate (**Figure 1**; see also above), even if the number and function of the cell populations with myogenic potential in the tissue, the eventual effectors of muscle healing that repair or replace injured or dead fibers (Mauro, 1961), are not directly affected. The results indicate that macrophages actively "license" myogenic precursors to carry out their program, i.e., to proliferate, differentiate, and fuse and thus to regenerate the tissue. This is not an isolated feature of the skeletal muscle: macrophages for example sustain the stem cell survival in various tissues, including the skin and the bone marrow, a limiting step for their regeneration (Tothova and Gilliland, 2007; Blanpain and Fuchs, 2009; Discher et al., 2009; Gurumurthy et al., 2010).

It is still not clear at which level(s) macrophages actually specifically act. For example, myogenic progenitor cells were significantly increased in injured muscle of mice with CCR2-defective bone marrow cells even if muscle regeneration is severely affected (Sun et al., 2009). Satellite cells are considered the resident "stem-like" cells in skeletal muscle and are responsible for muscle growth and regeneration in postnatal life (Holterman and Rudnicki, 2005). In response to muscle injuries, quiescent satellite cells undergo activation, proliferate, and fuse with each other or with damaged fibers (Kuang et al., 2008); conversely, some precursors undergo self-renewal, and thus maintain the integrity of the quiescent satellite cell pool (Zammit, 2008; Kang and Krauss, 2010). A pathway strictly associated to the control of neoangiogenesis, which comprises the interaction between angiopoietin 1 (Ang1) and its receptor Tie-2 and the downstream activation of the ERK1/2 kinase, has been in elegant studies implicated in the ability of satellite cells to re-enter the stem cell niche (Abou-Khalil et al., 2009; Mounier et al., 2011), thus suggesting that endothelial cells and possibly other non-muscle cells, are involved in the maintenance of the satellite cell niche. The observation that even single transplanted satellite cells both differentiate and self-renew after transplantation *in vivo* (Sacco et al., 2008) provides a formal demonstration that satellite cells are indeed endowed with stem cell properties. Telomeres length in muscle cells and the control of muscle stem cell regenerative capacity represents, in particular in the setting of muscular dystrophies, a particular attractive target for the action of inflammatory molecules (Sacco et al., 2010).

Despite the concentrated effort of several groups, our actual insight on the role of the microenvironment in determining the overall outcome of the tissue response to injury is still fragmentary. Recent studies specifically highlight the importance of mechanical factors, such as tissue rigidity/elasticity in regulating the fate of muscle stem cells (Gilbert et al., 2010), revealing important caveats that apply to the *in vitro* systems that are commonly used. Other environmental influences are possibly as relevant: for example, we have recently observed that regeneration after an acute sterile injury of the skeletal muscle is accompanied by the substantial generation of ROS production, which is counterbalanced and rapidly overcome by the generation of antioxidant moieties. Mitochondria are initially responsible for ROS formation while at later time points, non-mitochondrial sources are involved. Both regenerating fibers and macrophages express high levels of free thiols and antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) and thioredoxin (Vezzoli et al., 2011). The well-characterized role of a reduced environment in maintaining the extracellular function of DAMP molecules (Lotze et al., 2007; Rubartelli and Lotze, 2007; Carta et al., 2009; Rubartelli and Sitia, 2009), either directly released by damaged fibers of actively secreted by infiltrating macrophages suggests that the antioxidant response directly contributes in the acutely injured tissue to homeostasis.

Preliminary data from our laboratory indicate that macrophages also influence other cells with myogenic potential, such as mesoangioblasts. Mesoangioblasts are vessel-associated progenitors that ameliorate defective muscle structure and function in dystrophic mice and dogs (Sampaolesi et al., 2003, 2006; Tedesco et al., 2010). A clonal analysis of embryonic explanted organ rudiments led to the positive identification of a "mesoangioblast" cell population in the embryonic dorsal aorta (De Angelis et al., 1999) and later studies implicated pericytes associated with microvascular walls in the human skeletal muscle as their human counterpart (Dellavalle et al., 2007). Mesoangioblasts are endowed

REFERENCES

- Abou-Khalil, R., Le Grand, F., Pallafacchina, G., Valable, S., Authier, F. J., Rudnicki, M. A., Gherardi, R. K., Germain, S., Chretien, F., Sotiropoulos, A., Lafuste, P., Montarras, D., and Chazaud, B. (2009). Autocrine and paracrine angiopoietin 1/Tie-2 signaling promotes muscle satellite cell self-renewal. *Cell Stem Cell* 5, 298–309.
- Acharya, M., Mukhopadhyay, S., Paidassi, H., Jamil, T., Chow, C., Kissler, S., Stuart, L. M., Hynes, R. O., and Lacy-Hulbert, A. (2010). αν Integrin expression by DCs is

required for Th17 cell differentiation and development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 120, 4445–4452. Arnold, L., Henry, A., Poron, F., Baba-

- Amer, Y., Van Rooijen, N., Plonquet, A., Gherardi, R. K., and Chazaud, B. (2007). Inflammatory monocytes recruited after skeletal muscle injury switch into antiinflammatory macrophages to support myogenesis. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 1057–1069.
- Bacci, M., Capobianco, A., Monno, A., Cottone, L., Di Puppo, F., Camisa, B., Mariani, M., Brignole, C., Ponzoni,

with the ability to cross the vessel wall, a feature missing in satellite cell-derived myogenic precursors (Dellavalle et al., 2007): when injected into the blood, mesoangioblasts are indeed able to migrate outside the vessel toward injured and inflamed tissues, including the dystrophic muscle (Sampaolesi et al., 2003), possibly following chemotactic signals generated by activated innate cells, macrophages in particular (Lolmede et al., 2009). These features allow a systemic delivery of mesoangioblasts, thus overcoming migration-related problems described for other stem cell populations. In the recent years various tools were investigated to improve mesoangioblast migration toward damaged muscle and their local differentiation to optimize future cell therapy protocols for muscular dystrophies (Tedesco et al., 2010).

Macrophages are important to recruit and locally activate mesoangioblasts, committing them to myogenic differentiation. Conversely, we have observed that mesoangioblasts regulate gene expression of *in vitro* bone marrow derived macrophages (Bosurgi et al., unpublished results). Genes associated to macrophage scavenger function, phagocytic activity, chemokines release, and response to cytokines, which are regulated at the expression level, are all targets of mesoangioblast action. Their regulation is selective, since several other genes associated to macrophage housekeeping functions, to the iron metabolism and to the redox control are unaffected. We are actively verifying the possibility that mesoangioblasts prime the macrophages function toward a regulatory activity and this finely tuned cross-talk regulates the outcome of tissue remodeling.

### CONCLUSION

In summary, myogenic precursors derived from satellite cells and other muscle stem cells are the final effectors of muscle regeneration. Substantial evidence indicates that they need licensing by accessory cells, in particular by inflammatory cells such as macrophages. Other mesenchymal precursors expand when muscle regeneration fails, leading to the eventual fibrotic scar and fat replacement of the tissue. The latter event is again possibly dependent on the inflammatory environment of the tissue. The efforts of the next years are likely to break the code by which the immune response controls the regeneration of the skeletal muscle, thus leading to the development of effective targeted therapies for genetic defects of the tissue and for the most common causes of physiological muscle wasting and sarcopenia.

M., Ferrari, S., Panina-Bordignon, P., Manfredi, A. A., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2009). Macrophages are alternatively activated in patients with endometriosis and required for growth and vascularization of lesions in a mouse model of disease. *Am. I. Pathol.* 175, 547–556.

Barrera, P., Blom, A., Van Lent, P. L., Van Bloois, L., Beijnen, J. H., Van Rooijen, N., De Waal Malefijt, M. C., Van De Putte, L. B., Storm, G., and Van Den Berg, W. B. (2000). Synovial macrophage depletion with clodronatecontaining liposomes in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 43, 1951–1959.

- Bevan, M. J. (2011). Understand memory, design better vaccines. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 463–465.
- Bianchi, M. E. (2007). DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J. Leukoc. Biol. 81, 1–5.
- Bianchi, M. E., and Manfredi, A. A. (2009). Immunology. Dangers in and out. Science 323, 1683–1684.
- Biswas, S. K., and Mantovani, A. (2010). Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 889–896.

- Blanpain, C., and Fuchs, E. (2009). Epidermal homeostasis: a balancing act of stem cells in the skin. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 10, 207–217.
- Bondanza, A., Zimmermann, V. S., Dell'antonio, G., Cin, E. D., Balestrieri, G., Tincani, A., Amoura, Z., Piette, J. C., Sabbadini, M. G., Rovere-Querini, P., and Manfredi, A. A. (2004). Requirement of dying cells and environmental adjuvants for the induction of autoimmunity. Arthritis Rheum. 50, 1549–1560.
- Bondanza, A., Zimmermann, V. S., Dell'antonio, G., Dal Cin, E., Capobianco, A., Sabbadini, M. G., Manfredi, A. A., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2003). Cutting edge: dissociation between autoimmune response and clinical disease after vaccination with dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 170, 24–27.
- Brancato, S. K., and Albina, J. E. (2011). Wound macrophages as key regulators of repair: origin, phenotype, and function. Am. J. Pathol. 178, 19–25.
- Brereton, C. F., and Blander, J. M. (2011). The unexpected link between infection-induced apoptosis and a TH17 immune response. J. Leukoc. Biol. 89, 565–576.
- Brigitte, M., Schilte, C., Plonquet, A., Baba-Amer, Y., Henri, A., Charlier, C., Tajbakhsh, S., Albert, M., Gherardi, R. K., and Chretien, F. (2010). Muscle resident macrophages control the immune cell reaction in a mouse model of notexin-induced myoinjury. *Arthritis Rheum.* 62, 268–279.
- Brunelli, S., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2008). The immune system and the repair of skeletal muscle. *Pharmacol. Res.* 58, 117–121.
- Cairo, G., Recalcati, S., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2011). Iron trafficking and metabolism in macrophages: contribution to the polarized phenotype. *Trends Immunol.* 32, 241–247.
- Capobianco, A., Cottone, L., Monno, A., Ferrari, S., Panina-Bordignon, P., Manfredi, A. A., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2010). Innate immune cells: gatekeepers of endometriotic lesions growth and vascularization. J. Endometriosis 2, 55–62.
- Capobianco, A., Monno, A., Cottone, L., Venneri, M., Biziato, D., Di Puppo, F., Ferrari, S., De Palma, M., Manfredi, A. A., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2011). Pro-angiogenic Tie2+ macrophages infiltrate human and murine endometriotic lesions and dictate their growth in a mouse model of the disease. Am. J. Pathol. 179, 2651–2659.

- Carta, S., Castellani, P., Delfino, L., Tassi, S., Vene, R., and Rubartelli, A. (2009). DAMPs and inflammatory processes: the role of redox in the different outcomes. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 86, 549–555.
- Castiglioni, A., Canti, V., Rovere-Querini, P., and Manfredi, A. A. (2011). High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) as a master regulator of innate immunity. *Cell Tissue Res.* 343, 189–199.
- Charge, S. B., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2004). Cellular and molecular regulation of muscle regeneration. *Physiol. Rev.* 84, 209–238.
- Chazaud, B., Brigitte, M., Yacoub-Youssef, H., Arnold, L., Gherardi, R., Sonnet, C., Lafuste, P., and Chretien, F. (2009). Dual and beneficial roles of macrophages during skeletal muscle regeneration. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 37, 18–22.
- Chazaud, B., Sonnet, C., Lafuste, P., Bassez, G., Rimaniol, A. C., Poron, F., Authier, F. J., Dreyfus, P. A., and Gherardi, R. K. (2003). Satellite cells attract monocytes and use macrophages as a support to escape apoptosis and enhance muscle growth. J. Cell Biol. 163, 1133–1143.
- Corna, G., Campana, L., Pignatti, E., Castiglioni, A., Tagliafico, E., Bosurgi, L., Campanella, A., Brunelli, S., Manfredi, A., Apostoli, P., Silvestri, L., Camaschella, C., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2010). Polarization dictates iron handling by inflammatory and alternatively activated macrophages. *Haematologica* 95, 1814–1822.
- Dalakas, M. C. (2002). Muscle biopsy findings in inflammatory myopathies. *Rheum. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 28, 779–798.
- Daley, J. M., Brancato, S. K., Thomay, A. A., Reichner, J. S., and Albina, J. E. (2010). The phenotype of murine wound macrophages. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 87, 59–67.
- Darrah, P. A., Patel, D. T., De Luca, P. M., Lindsay, R. W., Davey, D. F., Flynn, B. J., Hoff, S. T., Andersen, P., Reed, S. G., Morris, S. L., Roederer, M., and Seder, R. A. (2007). Multifunctional TH1 cells define a correlate of vaccine-mediated protection against *Leishmania major. Nat. Med.* 13, 843–850.
- David, S., and Kroner, A. (2011). Repertoire of microglial and macrophage responses after spinal cord injury. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 388–399.
- De Angelis, L., Berghella, L., Coletta, M., Lattanzi, L., Zanchi, M., Cusella-De Angelis, M. G., Ponzetto, C., and Cossu, G. (1999). Skeletal myogenic progenitors originating from

embryonic dorsal aorta coexpress endothelial and myogenic markers and contribute to postnatal muscle growth and regeneration. *J. Cell Biol.* 147, 869–878.

- Dellavalle, A., Sampaolesi, M., Tonlorenzi, R., Tagliafico, E., Sacchetti, B., Perani, L., Innocenzi, A., Galvez, B. G., Messina, G., Morosetti, R., Li, S., Belicchi, M., Peretti, G., Chamberlain, J. S., Wright, W. E., Torrente, Y., Ferrari, S., Bianco, P., and Cossu, G. (2007). Pericytes of human skeletal muscle are myogenic precursors distinct from satellite cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9, 255–267.
- Discher, D. E., Mooney, D. J., and Zandstra, P. W. (2009). Growth factors, matrices, and forces combine and control stem cells. *Science* 324, 1673–1677.
- Djouad, F., Charbonnier, L. M., Bouffi, C., Louis-Plence, P., Bony, C., Apparailly, F., Cantos, C., Jorgensen, C., and Noel, D. (2007). Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit the differentiation of dendritic cells through an interleukin-6-dependent mechanism. *Stem Cells* 25, 2025–2032.
- Dumont, N., Bouchard, P., and Frenette, J. (2008). Neutrophil-induced skeletal muscle damage: a calculated and controlled response following hindlimb unloading and reloading. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 295, R1831–R1838.
- Dumont, N., and Frenette, J. (2010). Macrophages protect against muscle atrophy and promote muscle recovery in vivo and in vitro: a mechanism partly dependent on the insulin-like growth factor-1 signaling molecule. *Am. J. Pathol.* 176, 2228–2235.
- Ehninger, A., and Trumpp, A. (2011). The bone marrow stem cell niche grows up: mesenchymal stem cells and macrophages move in. *J. Exp. Med.* 208, 421–428.
- Elliott, M. R., and Ravichandran, K. S. (2010). Clearance of apoptotic cells: implications in health and disease. *J. Cell Biol.* 189, 1059–1070.
- Fielding, R. A., Manfredi, T. J., Ding, W., Fiatarone, M. A., Evans, W. J., and Cannon, J. G. (1993). Acute phase response in exercise. III. Neutrophil and IL-1 beta accumulation in skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 265, R166–R172.
- Gilbert, P. M., Havenstrite, K. L., Magnusson, K. E., Sacco, A., Leonardi, N. A., Kraft, P., Nguyen, N. K., Thrun, S., Lutolf, M. P., and Blau, H. M. (2010). Substrate elasticity regulates skeletal muscle stem cell self-renewal in culture. *Science* 329, 1078–1081.
- Godbout, C., Bilodeau, R., Van Rooijen, N., Bouchard, P., and Frenette, J. (2010). Transient neutropenia

increases macrophage accumulation and cell proliferation but does not improve repair following intratendinous rupture of Achilles tendon. J. Orthop. Res. 28, 1084–1091.

- Gordon, S., and Martinez, F. O. (2010). Alternative activation of macrophages: mechanism and functions. *Immunity* 32, 593–604.
- Groh, M. E., Maitra, B., Szekely, E., and Koc, O. N. (2005). Human mesenchymal stem cells require monocyte-mediated activation to suppress alloreactive T cells. *Exp. Hematol.* 33, 928–934.
- Gurumurthy, S., Xie, S. Z., Alagesan, B., Kim, J., Yusuf, R. Z., Saez, B., Tzatsos, A., Ozsolak, F., Milos, P., Ferrari, F., Park, P. J., Shirihai, O. S., Scadden, D. T., and Bardeesy, N. (2010). The Lkb1 metabolic sensor maintains haematopoietic stem cell survival. *Nature* 468, 659–663.
- Han, R., Frett, E. M., Levy, J. R., Rader, E. P., Lueck, J. D., Bansal, D., Moore, S. A., Ng, R., Beltran-Valero De Bernabe, D., Faulkner, J. A., and Campbell, K. P. (2010). Genetic ablation of complement C3 attenuates muscle pathology in dysferlindeficient mice. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 4366–4374.
- Hara, M., Yuasa, S., Shimoji, K., Onizuka, T., Hayashiji, N., Ohno, Y., Arai, T., Hattori, F., Kaneda, R., Kimura, K., Makino, S., Sano, M., and Fukuda, K. (2011). G-CSF influences mouse skeletal muscle development and regeneration by stimulating myoblast proliferation. J. Exp. Med. 208, 715–727.
- Harel-Adar, T., Ben Mordechai, T., Amsalem, Y., Feinberg, M. S., Leor, J., and Cohen, S. (2011). Modulation of cardiac macrophages by phosphatidylserine-presenting liposomes improves infarct repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1827–1832.
- Holterman, C. E., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2005). Molecular regulation of satellite cell function. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 16, 575–584.
- Huynh, M. L., Fadok, V. A., and Henson, P. M. (2002). Phosphatidylserinedependent ingestion of apoptotic cells promotes TGF-beta1 secretion and the resolution of inflammation. *J. Clin. Invest.* 109, 41–50.
- Jaeschke, H. (2011). Reactive oxygen and mechanisms of inflammatory liver injury: present concepts. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 26(Suppl. 1), 173–179.
- Janeway, C. A. Jr. (1992). The immune system evolved to discriminate infectious nonself from noninfectious self. *Immunol. Today* 13, 11–16.

- Joe, A. W., Yi, L., Natarajan, A., Le Grand, F., So, L., Wang, J., Rudnicki, M. A., and Rossi, F. M. (2010). Muscle injury activates resident fibro/adipogenic progenitors that facilitate myogenesis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 153–163.
- Kang, J. S., and Krauss, R. S. (2010). Muscle stem cells in developmental and regenerative myogenesis. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 13, 243–248.
- Kim, J., and Hematti, P. (2009). Mesenchymal stem cell-educated macrophages: a novel type of alternatively activated macrophages. *Exp. Hematol.* 37, 1445–1453.
- Krampera, M., Cosmi, L., Angeli, R., Pasini, A., Liotta, F., Andreini, A., Santarlasci, V., Mazzinghi, B., Pizzolo, G., Vinante, F., Romagnani, P., Maggi, E., Romagnani, S., and Annunziato, F. (2006). Role for interferon-gamma in the immunomodulatory activity of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells* 24, 386–398.
- Kuang, S., Gillespie, M. A., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2008). Niche regulation of muscle satellite cell self-renewal and differentiation. *Cell Stem Cell* 2, 22–31.
- Liu, G., Ma, H., Qiu, L., Li, L., Cao, Y., Ma, J., and Zhao, Y. (2011a). Phenotypic and functional switch of macrophages induced by regulatory CD4+CD25+ T cells in mice. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 89, 130–142.
- Liu, Y., Chen, G. Y., and Zheng, P. (2011b). Sialoside-based pattern recognitions discriminating infections from tissue injuries. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 23, 41–45.
- Lolmede, K., Campana, L., Vezzoli, M., Bosurgi, L., Tonlorenzi, R., Clementi, E., Bianchi, M. E., Cossu, G., Manfredi, A. A., Brunelli, S., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2009). Inflammatory and alternatively activated human macrophages attract vesselassociated stem cells, relying on separate HMGB1- and MMP-9dependent pathways. J. Leukoc. Biol. 85, 779–787.
- London, A., Itskovich, E., Benhar, I., Kalchenko, V., Mack, M., Jung, S., and Schwartz, M. (2011). Neuroprotection and progenitor cell renewal in the injured adult murine retina requires healing monocyte-derived macrophages. *J. Exp. Med.* 208, 23–39.
- Lotze, M. T., Zeh, H. J., Rubartelli, A., Sparvero, L. J., Amoscato, A. A., Washburn, N. R., Devera, M. E., Liang, X., Tor, M., and Billiar, T. (2007). The grateful dead: damage-associated molecular pattern molecules and reduction/oxidation regulate

immunity. *Immunol. Rev.* 220, 60–81.

- Lu, H., Huang, D., Ransohoff, R. M., and Zhou, L. (2011a). Acute skeletal muscle injury: CCL2 expression by both monocytes and injured muscle is required for repair. *FASEB J.* 25, 3344–3355.
- Lu, H., Huang, D., Saederup, N., Charo, I. F., Ransohoff, R. M., and Zhou, L. (2011b). Macrophages recruited via CCR2 produce insulin-like growth factor-1 to repair acute skeletal muscle injury. *FASEB J.* 25, 358–369.
- Manfredi, A. A., Capobianco, A., Bianchi, M. E., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2009). Regulation of dendriticand T-cell fate by injury-associated endogenous signals. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 29, 69–86.
- Manfredi, A. A., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2010). The mitochondrion –a Trojan horse that kicks off inflammation? N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 2132–2134.
- Manfredi, A. A., Rovere-Querini, P., Bottazzi, B., Garlanda, C., and Mantovani, A. (2008). Pentraxins, humoral innate immunity and tissue injury. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 20, 538–544.
- Manfredi, A. A., Rovere-Querini, P., and Maugeri, N. (2010). Dangerous connections: neutrophils and the phagocytic clearance of activated platelets. *Curr. Opin. Hematol.* 17, 3–8.
- Mantovani, A., and Sica, A. (2010). Macrophages, innate immunity and cancer: balance, tolerance, and diversity. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 22, 231–237.
- Mantovani, A., Sica, A., Allavena, P., Garlanda, C., and Locati, M. (2009). Tumor-associated macrophages and the related myeloid-derived suppressor cells as a paradigm of the diversity of macrophage activation. *Hum. Immunol.* 70, 325–330.
- Mantovani, A., Sica, A., Sozzani, S., Allavena, P., Vecchi, A., and Locati, M. (2004). The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol.* 25, 677–686.
- Maroso, M., Balosso, S., Ravizza, T., Liu, J., Aronica, E., Iyer, A. M., Rossetti, C., Molteni, M., Casalgrandi, M., Manfredi, A. A., Bianchi, M. E., and Vezzani, A. (2010). Toll-like receptor 4 and high-mobility group box-1 are involved in ictogenesis and can be targeted to reduce seizures. *Nat. Med.* 16, 413–419.
- Martinez, C. O., Mchale, M. J., Wells, J. T., Ochoa, O., Michalek, J. E., Mcmanus, L. M., and Shireman, P. K. (2010). Regulation of skeletal muscle regeneration by CCR2activating chemokines is directly related to macrophage recruitment.

Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 299, R832–R842.

- Martinon, F., Chen, X., Lee, A. H., and Glimcher, L. H. (2010). TLR activation of the transcription factor XBP1 regulates innate immune responses in macrophages. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 411–418.
- Maugeri, N., Rovere-Querini, P., Baldini, M., Sabbadini, M. G., and Manfredi, A. A. (2009). Translational mini-review series on immunology of vascular disease: mechanisms of vascular inflammation and remodelling in systemic vasculitis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 156, 395–404.
- Mauro, A. (1961). Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 9, 493–495.
- Mcgaha, T. L., Chen, Y., Ravishankar, B., Van Rooijen, N., and Karlsson, M. C. (2011). Marginal zone macrophages suppress innate and adaptive immunity to apoptotic cells in the spleen. *Blood* 117, 5403–5412.
- Mclennan, I. S. (1996). Degenerating and regenerating skeletal muscles contain several subpopulations of macrophages with distinct spatial and temporal distributions. *J. Anat.* 188, 17–28.
- Metchnikoff, E. (1905). *Immunity in the Infectious Diseases*. New York: Macmillan.
- Mounier, R., Chretien, F., and Chazaud, B. (2011). Blood vessels and the satellite cell niche. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.* 96, 121–138.
- Munoz, L. E., Lauber, K., Schiller, M., Manfredi, A. A., and Herrmann, M. (2010). The role of defective clearance of apoptotic cells in systemic autoimmunity. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 6, 280–289.
- Musaro, A., Mccullagh, K., Paul, A., Houghton, L., Dobrowolny, G., Molinaro, M., Barton, E. R., Sweeney, H. L., and Rosenthal, N. (2001). Localized Igf-1 transgene expression sustains hypertrophy and regeneration in senescent skeletal muscle. *Nat. Genet.* 27, 195–200.
- Mylonas, K. J., Nair, M. G., Prieto-Lafuente, L., Paape, D., and Allen, J. E. (2009). Alternatively activated macrophages elicited by helminth infection can be reprogrammed to enable microbial killing. *J. Immunol.* 182, 3084–3094.
- Nathan, C. (2002). Points of control in inflammation. *Nature* 420, 846–852.
- Nau, G. J., Richmond, J. F., Schlesinger, A., Jennings, E. G., Lander, E. S., and Young, R. A. (2002). Human macrophage activation programs induced by bacterial pathogens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 1503–1508.
- Nguyen, H. X., Lusis, A. J., and Tidball, J. G. (2005). Null mutation

of myeloperoxidase in mice prevents mechanical activation of neutrophil lysis of muscle cell membranes in vitro and in vivo. *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 565, 403–413.

- O'brien, J., Lyons, T., Monks, J., Lucia, M. S., Wilson, R. S., Hines, L., Man, Y. G., Borges, V., and Schedin, P. (2010). Alternatively activated macrophages and collagen remodeling characterize the postpartum involuting mammary gland across species. *Am. J. Pathol.* 176, 1241–1255.
- Ohtaki, H., Ylostalo, J. H., Foraker, J. E., Robinson, A. P., Reger, R. L., Shioda, S., and Prockop, D. J. (2008). Stem/progenitor cells from bone marrow decrease neuronal death in global ischemia by modulation of inflammatory/immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 105, 14638–14643.
- Palm, N. W., and Medzhitov, R. (2009). Pattern recognition receptors and control of adaptive immunity. *Immunol. Rev.* 227, 221–233.
- Paulsen, G., Crameri, R., Benestad, H. B., Fjeld, J. G., Morkrid, L., Hallen, J., and Raastad, T. (2010). Time course of leukocyte accumulation in human muscle after eccentric exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 42, 75–85.
- Paylor, B., Natarajan, A., Zhang, R. H., and Rossi, F. (2011). Nonmyogenic cells in skeletal muscle regeneration. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.* 96, 139–165.
- Pelosi, L., Giacinti, C., Nardis, C., Borsellino, G., Rizzuto, E., Nicoletti, C., Wannenes, F., Battistini, L., Rosenthal, N., Molinaro, M., and Musaro, A. (2007). Local expression of IGF-1 accelerates muscle regeneration by rapidly modulating inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. *FASEB 1*, 21, 1393–1402.
- Peng, Y., and Elkon, K. B. (2011). Autoimmunity in MFG-E8-deficient mice is associated with altered trafficking and enhanced crosspresentation of apoptotic cell antigens. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2221–2241.
- Pluchino, S., Zanotti, L., Brambilla, E., Rovere-Querini, P., Capobianco, A., Alfaro-Cervello, C., Salani, G., Cossetti, C., Borsellino, G., Battistini, L., Ponzoni, M., Doglioni, C., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., Comi, G., Manfredi, A. A., and Martino, G. (2009). Immune regulatory neural stem/precursor cells protect from central nervous system autoimmunity by restraining dendritic cell function. *PLoS ONE* 4, e5959. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005959
- Qian, B. Z., and Pollard, J. W. (2010). Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell* 141, 39–51.

- Robertson, T. A., Maley, M. A., Grounds, M. D., and Papadimitriou, J. M. (1993). The role of macrophages in skeletal muscle regeneration with particular reference to chemotaxis. *Exp. Cell Res.* 207, 321–331.
- Rock, K. L., Lai, J. J., and Kono, H. (2011). Innate and adaptive immune responses to cell death. *Immunol. Rev.* 243, 191–205.
- Rock, K. L., Latz, E., Ontiveros, F., and Kono, H. (2010). The sterile inflammatory response. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 28, 321–342.
- Rodeheffer, M. S. (2010). Tipping the scale: muscle versus fat. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 102–104.
- Rosenthal, S. M., and Cheng, Z. Q. (1995). Opposing early and late effects of insulin-like growth factor I on differentiation and the cell cycle regulatory retinoblastoma protein in skeletal myoblasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 10307–10311.
- Rubartelli, A., and Lotze, M. T. (2007). Inside, outside, upside down: damage-associated molecularpattern molecules (DAMPs) and redox. *Trends Immunol.* 28, 429–436.
- Rubartelli, A., and Sitia, R. (2009). Stress as an intercellular signal: the emergence of stress-associated molecular patterns (SAMP). *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 11, 2621–2629.
- Ruffell, D., Mourkioti, F., Gambardella, A., Kirstetter, P., Lopez, R. G., Rosenthal, N., and Nerlov, C. (2009). A CREB-C/EBP beta cascade induces M2 macrophage-specific gene expression and promotes muscle injury repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 17475–17480.
- Sacco, A., Doyonnas, R., Kraft, P., Vitorovic, S., and Blau, H. M. (2008). Self-renewal and expansion of single transplanted muscle stem cells. *Nature* 456, 502–506.
- Sacco, A., Mourkioti, F., Tran, R., Choi, J., Llewellyn, M., Kraft, P., Shkreli, M., Delp, S., Pomerantz, J. H., Artandi, S. E., and Blau, H. M. (2010). Short telomeres and stem cell exhaustion model Duchenne muscular dystrophy in mdx/mTR mice. *Cell* 143, 1059–1071.
- Sampaolesi, M., Blot, S., D'antona, G., Granger, N., Tonlorenzi, R., Innocenzi, A., Mognol, P., Thibaud, J. L., Galvez, B. G., Barthelemy, I., Perani, L., Mantero, S., Guttinger, M., Pansarasa, O., Rinaldi, C., Cusella De Angelis, M. G., Torrente, Y., Bordignon, C., Bottinelli, R., and Cossu, G. (2006). Mesoangioblast stem cells ameliorate muscle function in dystrophic dogs. *Nature* 444, 574–579.

- Sampaolesi, M., Torrente, Y., Innocenzi, A., Tonlorenzi, R., D'antona, G., Pellegrino, M. A., Barresi, R., Bresolin, N., De Angelis, M. G., Campbell, K. P., Bottinelli, R., and Cossu, G. (2003). Cell therapy of alpha-sarcoglycan null dystrophic mice through intra-arterial delivery of mesoangioblasts. *Science* 301, 487–492.
- Sandri, M., Sandri, C., Gilbert, A., Skurk, C., Calabria, E., Picard, A., Walsh, K., Schiaffino, S., Lecker, S. H., and Goldberg, A. L. (2004). Foxo transcription factors induce the atrophyrelated ubiquitin ligase atrogin-1 and cause skeletal muscle atrophy. *Cell* 117, 399–412.
- Schwartz, M. (2010). "Tissue-repairing" blood-derived macrophages are essential for healing of the injured spinal cord: from skin-activated macrophages to infiltrating bloodderived cells? *Brain Behav. Immun.* 24, 1054–1057.
- Schwartz, M., and Ziv, Y. (2008). Immunity to self and self-maintenance: a unified theory of brain pathologies. *Trends Immunol.* 29, 211–219.
- Segawa, M., Fukada, S., Yamamoto, Y., Yahagi, H., Kanematsu, M., Sato, M., Ito, T., Uezumi, A., Hayashi, S., Miyagoe-Suzuki, Y., Takeda, S., Tsujikawa, K., and Yamamoto, H. (2008). Suppression of macrophage functions impairs skeletal muscle regeneration with severe fibrosis. *Exp. Cell Res.* 314, 3232–3244.
- Shechter, R., London, A., Varol, C., Raposo, C., Cusimano, M., Yovel, G., Rolls, A., Mack, M., Pluchino, S., Martino, G., Jung, S., and Schwartz, M. (2009). Infiltrating bloodderived macrophages are vital cells playing an anti-inflammatory role in recovery from spinal cord injury in mice. *PLoS Med.* 6, e1000113. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000113
- Shireman, P. K., Contreras-Shannon, V., Ochoa, O., Karia, B. P., Michalek, J. E., and Mcmanus, L. M. (2007). MCP-1 deficiency causes altered inflammation with impaired skeletal muscle regeneration. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 81, 775–785.
- Sindrilaru, A., Peters, T., Wieschalka, S., Baican, C., Baican, A., Peter, H., Hainzl, A., Schatz, S., Qi, Y., Schlecht, A., Weiss, J. M., Wlaschek, M., Sunderkotter, C., and Scharffetter-Kochanek, K. (2011). An unrestrained proinflammatory M1 macrophage population induced by iron impairs wound healing in humans and mice. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 985–997.
- Sotiropoulou, P. A., Perez, S. A., Gritzapis, A. D., Baxevanis, C. N., and

Papamichail, M. (2006). Interactions between human mesenchymal stem cells and natural killer cells. *Stem Cells* 24, 74–85.

- Spaggiari, G. M., Abdelrazik, H., Becchetti, F., and Moretta, L. (2009). MSCs inhibit monocyte-derived DC maturation and function by selectively interfering with the generation of immature DCs: central role of MSC-derived prostaglandin E2. *Blood* 113, 6576–6583.
- Spaggiari, G. M., Capobianco, A., Becchetti, S., Mingari, M. C., and Moretta, L. (2006). Mesenchymal stem cell-natural killer cell interactions: evidence that activated NK cells are capable of killing MSCs, whereas MSCs can inhibit IL-2induced NK-cell proliferation. *Blood* 107, 1484–1490.
- Squadrito, M. L., and De Palma, M. (2011). Macrophage regulation of tumor angiogenesis: implications for cancer therapy. *Mol. Aspects Med.* 32, 123–145.
- St Pierre, B. A., and Tidball, J. G. (1994). Differential response of macrophage subpopulations to soleus muscle reloading after rat hindlimb suspension. J. Appl. Physiol. 77, 290–297.
- Stappenbeck, T. S., and Miyoshi, H. (2009). The role of stromal stem cells in tissue regeneration and wound repair. *Science* 324, 1666–1669.
- Strle, K., Mccusker, R. H., Johnson, R. W., Zunich, S. M., Dantzer, R., and Kelley, K. W. (2008). Prototypical anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 prevents loss of IGF-I-induced myogenin protein expression caused by IL-1beta. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 294, E709–E718.
- Strle, K., Mccusker, R. H., Tran, L., King, A., Johnson, R. W., Freund, G. G., Dantzer, R., and Kelley, K. W. (2007). Novel activity of an antiinflammatory cytokine: IL-10 prevents TNFalpha-induced resistance to IGF-I in myoblasts. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 188, 48–55.
- Summan, M., Warren, G. L., Mercer, R. R., Chapman, R., Hulderman, T., Van Rooijen, N., and Simeonova, P. P. (2006). Macrophages and skeletal muscle regeneration: a clodronate-containing liposome depletion study. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 290, R1488–R1495.
- Sun, D., Martinez, C. O., Ochoa, O., Ruiz-Willhite, L., Bonilla, J. R., Centonze, V. E., Waite, L. L., Michalek, J. E., Mcmanus, L. M., and Shireman, P. K. (2009). Bone marrowderived cell regulation of skeletal muscle regeneration. *FASEB J.* 23, 382–395.

- Tedesco, F. S., Dellavalle, A., Diaz-Manera, J., Messina, G., and Cossu, G. (2010). Repairing skeletal muscle: regenerative potential of skeletal muscle stem cells. *J. Clin. Invest.* 120, 11–19.
- Tidball, J. G. (2002). Interactions between muscle and the immune system during modified musculoskeletal loading. *Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res.* (Suppl. 403), S100–S109.
- Tidball, J. G., and Villalta, S. A. (2010). Regulatory interactions between muscle and the immune system during muscle regeneration. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 298, R1173–R1187.
- Tidball, J. G., and Wehling-Henricks, M. (2007). Macrophages promote muscle membrane repair and muscle fibre growth and regeneration during modified muscle loading in mice in vivo. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 578, 327–336.
- Tiemessen, M. M., Jagger, A. L., Evans, H. G., Van Herwijnen, M. J., John, S., and Taams, L. S. (2007). CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce alternative activation of human monocytes/macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 19446–19451.
- Tothova, Z., and Gilliland, D. G. (2007). FoxO transcription factors and stem cell homeostasis: insights from the hematopoietic system. *Cell Stem Cell* 1, 140–152.
- Uezumi, A., Fukada, S., Yamamoto, N., Takeda, S., and Tsuchida, K. (2010). Mesenchymal progenitors distinct from satellite cells contribute to ectopic fat cell formation in skeletal muscle. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 143–152.
- Urbonaviciute, V., Furnrohr, B. G., Meister, S., Munoz, L., Heyder, P., De Marchis, F., Bianchi, M. E., Kirschning, C., Wagner, H., Manfredi, A. A., Kalden, J. R., Schett, G., Rovere-Querini, P., Herrmann, M., and Voll, R. E. (2008). Induction of inflammatory and immune responses by HMGB1-nucleosome complexes: implications for the pathogenesis of SLE. J. Exp. Med. 205, 3007–3018.
- Van Furth, R., and Cohn, Z. A. (1968). The origin and kinetics of mononuclear phagocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 128, 415–435.
- Vezzoli, M., Castellani, P., Campana, L., Corna, G., Bosurgi, L., Manfredi, A. A., Bianchi, M. E., Rubartelli, A., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2010). Redox remodeling: a candidate regulator of HMGB1 function in injured skeletal muscle. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1209, 83–90.

- Vezzoli, M., Castellani, P., Corna, G., Castiglioni, A., Bosurgi, L., Monno, A., Brunelli, S., Manfredi, A. A., Rubartelli, A., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2011). High-mobility group box 1 release and redox regulation accompany regeneration and remodeling of skeletal muscle. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 15, 2161–2174.
- Vidal, B., Serrano, A. L., Tjwa, M., Suelves, M., Ardite, E., De Mori, R., Baeza-Raja, B., Martinez De Lagran, M., Lafuste, P., Ruiz-Bonilla, V., Jardi, M., Gherardi, R., Christov, C., Dierssen, M., Carmeliet, P., Degen, J. L., Dewerchin, M., and Munoz-Canoves, P. (2008). Fibrinogen drives dystrophic muscle fibrosis via a TGF beta/alternative macrophage activation pathway. *Genes Dev.* 22, 1747–1752.
- Villalta, S. A., Nguyen, H. X., Deng, B., Gotoh, T., and Tidball, J. G. (2009). Shifts in macrophage phenotypes and macrophage competition for arginine metabolism affect the severity of muscle pathology in muscular dystrophy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 482–496.
- Villalta, S. A., Rinaldi, C., Deng, B., Liu, G., Fedor, B., and Tidball, J. G. (2010). Interleukin-10 reduces the pathology of mdx muscular dystrophy by deactivating M1 macrophages and modulating macrophage phenotype. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 790–805.
- Wang, Y., and Harris, D. C. (2011). Macrophages in renal dis-

ease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 22, 21–27.

- Warren, G. L., Hulderman, T., Mishra, D., Gao, X., Millecchia, L., O'farrell, L., Kuziel, W. A., and Simeonova, P. P. (2005). Chemokine receptor CCR2 involvement in skeletal muscle regeneration. *FASEB J.* 19, 413–415.
- Wehling, M., Spencer, M. J., and Tidball, J. G. (2001). A nitric oxide synthase transgene ameliorates muscular dystrophy in mdx mice. J. Cell Biol. 155, 123–131.
- Wiendl, H., Hohlfeld, R., and Kieseier, B. C. (2005). Immunobiology of muscle: advances in understanding an immunological microenvironment. *Trends Immunol.* 26, 373–380.
- Wong, S. C., Puaux, A. L., Chittezhath, M., Shalova, I., Kajiji, T. S., Wang, X., Abastado, J. P., Lam, K. P., and Biswas, S. K. (2010). Macrophage polarization to a unique phenotype driven by B cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 40, 2296–2307.
- Yang, H., Rivera, Z., Jube, S., Nasu, M., Bertino, P., Goparaju, C., Franzoso, G., Lotze, M. T., Krausz, T., Pass, H. I., Bianchi, M. E., and Carbone, M. (2010). Programmed necrosis induced by asbestos in human mesothelial cells causes high-mobility group box 1 protein release and resultant inflammation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 12611–12616.
- Zammit, P. S. (2008). All muscle satellite cells are equal, but are some more

equal than others? J. Cell Sci. 121, 2975–2982.

- Zhang, B., Liu, R., Shi, D., Liu, X., Chen, Y., Dou, X., Zhu, X., Lu, C., Liang, W., Liao, L., Zenke, M., and Zhao, R. C. (2009a). Mesenchymal stem cells induce mature dendritic cells into a novel Jagged-2-dependent regulatory dendritic cell population. *Blood* 113, 46–57.
- Zhang, L., Ran, L., Garcia, G. E., Wang, X. H., Han, S., Du, J., and Mitch, W. E. (2009b). Chemokine CXCL16 regulates neutrophil and macrophage infiltration into injured muscle, promoting muscle regeneration. Am. J. Pathol. 175, 2518–2527.
- Zhang, M., Xu, S., Han, Y., and Cao, X. (2011). Apoptotic cells attenuate fulminant hepatitis by priming Kupffer cells to produce interleukin-10 through membrane-bound TGFbeta. *Hepatology* 53, 306–316.
- Zhang, Q., Raoof, M., Chen, Y., Sumi, Y., Sursal, T., Junger, W., Brohi, K., Itagaki, K., and Hauser, C. J. (2010a). Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. *Nature* 464, 104–107.
- Zhang, Q. Z., Su, W. R., Shi, S. H., Wilder-Smith, P., Xiang, A. P., Wong, A., Nguyen, A. L., Kwon, C. W., and Le, A. D. (2010b). Human gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cells elicit polarization of m2 macrophages and enhance cutaneous wound healing. *Stem Cells* 28, 1856–1868.
- Zhao, J., Brault, J. J., Schild, A., Cao, P., Sandri, M., Schiaffino,

S., Lecker, S. H., and Goldberg, A. L. (2007). FoxO3 coordinately activates protein degradation by the autophagic/lysosomal and proteasomal pathways in atrophying muscle cells. *Cell Metab.* 6, 472–483.

Ziegler-Heitbrock, H. W. (2000). Definition of human blood monocytes. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 67, 603–606.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 05 August 2011; accepted: 28 October 2011; published online: 16 November 2011.

Citation: Bosurgi L, Manfredi AA and Rovere-Querini P (2011) Macrophages in injured skeletal muscle: a perpetuum mobile causing and limiting fibrosis, prompting or restricting resolution and regeneration. Front. Immun. 2:62. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00062

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2011 Bosurgi, Manfredi and Rovere-Querini. This is an open-access article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.



# Acute lung injury: how macrophages orchestrate resolution of inflammation and tissue repair

# Susanne Herold \*, Konstantin Mayer and Juergen Lohmeyer

Department of Internal Medicine II, University of Giessen Lung Center, Giessen, Germany

#### Edited by:

Isabelle Maridonneau-Parini, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

#### Reviewed by:

Marco Emilio Bianchi, Universita' Vita Salute San Raffaele, Italy Carolyn Louise Geczy, University of New South Wales, Australia

#### \*Correspondence:

Susanne Herold, Department of Internal Medicine II, University of Giessen Lung Center, Klinikstr. 36, D-35392 Giessen, Germany. e-mail: susanne.herold@innere.med. uni-giessen.de

**INTRODUCTION** 

Alveolar macrophages are tissue-resident or recruited cells with key functions in recognition of pathogens, initiation of host defense via protective inflammation, and in clearance of pathogens from the airways. Forming the first line of defense toward foreign invaders, alveolar macrophages scavenge and phagocytose pathogens and sense microbial patterns via toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors (NODs), and intracellular helicases like retinoic acid inducible gene I (RIG-I) and other pattern recognition receptors. Upon activation they release early response cytokines such as type I IFN, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-1 $\beta$  in an IRF- or NF-KB-dependent way. These cytokines stimulate neighboring alveolar epithelial cells and tissue-resident macrophages in an auto- and paracrine manner to produce a variety of chemokines which in turn mediate the recruitment of neutrophils, and later on, exudate macrophages and lymphocytes to the site of infection, ultimately resulting in clearance of pathogens.

Lung inflammation is not merely terminated when the pathogen is cleared and pro-inflammatory signaling events, previously initiated by recognition of foreign antigen or host-derived alarmins, decline. In fact, resolution of lung inflammation and return to tissue homeostasis is an active, tightly coordinated process which reverses all of the steps involved in initiation of the inflammatory response and induces counter-regulatory mechanisms which terminate these. This process includes cessation of granulocyte emigration from blood vessels, restoration of normal vascular permeability and removal of extravasated fluids, termination of monocyte emigration and induction of their maturation into resident alveolar macrophages, removal of apoptotic neutrophils, and finally, repair of "bystander" injury to restore functional endothelial and epithelial monolayers. Apart from their well-known role in phagocytosis and recognition of foreign antigens it is increasingly recognized that alveolar macrophages are

Lung macrophages are long living cells with broad differentiation potential, which reside in the lung interstitium and alveoli or are organ-recruited upon inflammatory stimuli. A role of resident and recruited macrophages in initiating and maintaining pulmonary inflammation in lung infection or injury has been convincingly demonstrated. More recent reports suggest that lung macrophages are main orchestrators of termination and resolution of inflammation. They are also initiators of parenchymal repair processes that are essential for return to homeostasis with normal gas exchange. In this review we will discuss cellular cross-talk mechanisms and molecular pathways of macrophage plasticity which define their role in inflammation resolution and in initiation of lung barrier repair following lung injury.

Keywords: macrophage, lung, inflammation, resolution, repair

endowed with high functional plasticity allowing them to acquire different pro- or anti-inflammatory as well as tissue-reparative phenotypes during the course of inflammation, dependent on the signals they receive from surrounding cells or from the pathogen itself. The ability to integrate these various signals in the course of inflammation and to mount a differential response empowers the mononuclear phagocyte, either lung resident or recruited, to terminate and resolve alveolar inflammation in the later phases of acute lung injury and to tightly coordinate parenchymal repair processes that are essential for return to homeostasis (**Figure 1**).

## CHANGE IN LOCAL LIPID AND MEDIATOR PROFILE INITIATES MACROPHAGE-MEDIATED RESOLUTION OF INFLAMMATION LIPOXINS

Lipid mediators are key players in termination of pulmonary inflammation and initiation of resolution (Serhan et al., 2008), characterized by an active switch of the lipid mediator profile found at the inflamed site (Levy et al., 2001). During the initial inflammatory response, prostaglandins and leukotrienes, generated from arachidonic acid, an omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) by endothelial cells, neutrophils, and tissue-recruited and resident macrophages, amplify inflammation (Funk, 2001). Later on, the prostaglandins PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGD<sub>2</sub>, generated in a cyclooxygenase-dependent way, gradually promote the synthesis of lipid mediators with anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving activity, such as the lipoxins. Lipoxins are lipoxygenase-derived double oxygenated eicosanoids which were shown to inhibit neutrophil recruitment to inflamed sites and suppress their proinflammatory actions, but promote recruitment of macrophage precursors (Maddox et al., 1997; Chiang et al., 2006). Lipoxin A4 rapidly stimulates macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic neutrophils (Godson et al., 2000), induces RhoA- and Rac-dependent cytoskeleton re-organization of macrophages (Maderna et al.,



2002), and inhibits macrophage CXCL8 release (Jozsef et al., 2002), supporting macrophage-mediated resolution of inflammation. In turn, as a result of engulfment of apoptotic neutrophils, macrophages themselves become a primary source of lipoxins (Freire-de-Lima et al., 2006). With regard to acute lung injury, it was recently demonstrated that Lipoxin  $A_4$  acts as a potent proapoptotic signal for alveolar neutrophils, thereby increasing their engulfment by macrophages (El Kebir et al., 2009) and triggering further release of anti-inflammatory agents.

### **RESOLVINS AND PROTECTINS**

Resolvins and protectins represent another class of pro-resolving lipid mediators derived from omega-3 PUFA, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA; Serhan et al., 2002, 2008; Ariel and Serhan, 2007). Resolvin (Rv)E<sub>1</sub> binds to the receptor ChemR23 expressed on macrophages and their precursors and attenuate TNF-mediated NF- $\kappa$ B activation, thus activating an anti-inflammatory signaling pathway (Arita et al., 2007). Ligation of the pro-inflammatory leukotriene B<sub>4</sub> receptor BLT1 on leukocytes by RvE<sub>1</sub> has antagonizing, anti-inflammatory effects (Arita et al., 2005, 2007). Similar to the lipoxins, RvD<sub>1</sub> and the related DHA-derived lipid mediator protectin D<sub>1</sub> stimulate clearance of inflammatory infiltrates by macrophage phagocytosis (Schwab et al., 2007). Recently, another anti-inflammatory lipid mediator termed macrophage mediator in resolving inflammation 1

(maresin 1) was identified (Serhan et al., 2009) which is synthesized by conversion of DHA by resident tissue macrophages involving 12/15-lipoxygenase. Similarly to resolvins, maresin 1 was found to decrease neutrophil accumulation while enhancing the recruitment of macrophage precursors to sites of inflammation in a murine peritonitis model. Furthermore, maresin 1 induces the uptake of zymosan particles by macrophages and might therefore promote macrophage uptake of apoptotic neutrophils (Serhan et al., 2009). Recent evidence highlights a crucial role of resolvins in mediating the emergence of a "pro-resolution" CD11b<sup>low</sup> tissue macrophage subset, which was characterized by a distinct protein expression profile, enhanced apoptotic leukocyte engulfment, unresponsiveness to TLR ligands, and increased emigration to draining lymph nodes (Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). Resolvins were demonstrated to be important players in resolution of chronic (Uddin and Levy, 2011) and acute lung injury, as demonstrated in mouse models of aspiration and intratracheal LPS challenge, by decreasing the pro-inflammatory potential of macrophages via cross-talk with the lipoxin A<sub>4</sub> pathway (Seki et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2011). Increasing the Rv precursor omega-3 PUFA in the transgenic fat-1 mouse model likewise attenuated LPS-induced lung injury (Mayer et al., 2009). Acute administration of these PUFA seems to exert beneficial effects on alveolar macrophages and monocytes by decreasing the adhesion and release of proinflammatory cytokines like TNF-a. These effects were mediated in part by platelet activating factor (PAF), another important lipid mediator (Mayer et al., 2002; Schaefer et al., 2007). However, other pathways seem to be operative under chronic exposure as in *fat*-1 mice (Mayer et al., 2009) the TNF- $\alpha$  generation remained unchanged.

#### CHEMERIN

A similar role was recently ascribed to chemerin-derived peptides. Chemerin is a chemoattractant present in diverse inflammatory exudates. It was identified as a natural ligand for the G protein-coupled receptor ChemR23 expressed by epithelial cells (Campbell et al., 2007), dendritic cells (Vermi et al., 2005), and macrophages (Luangsay et al., 2009). ChemR23 binds RvE<sub>1</sub> and shares phylogenetic homology with other chemoattractant receptors, including those for lipoxin A<sub>4</sub> and the neutrophil chemotaxins C5a and C3a. Recently, another chemerin receptor, GPR1, was identified (Cash et al., 2008, 2010). In a murine model of LPS-induced acute lung injury, chemerin binding to ChemR23 decreased both neutrophil invasion into the lung and pro-inflammatory cytokine generation while increasing recruitment of macrophages (Luangsay et al., 2009).

# MACROPHAGES ACTIVELY TERMINATE AND RESOLVE NEUTROPHIL INFILTRATES

#### **TERMINATION OF NEUTROPHIL INFLUX**

Apart from initiating neutrophil influx after recognition of pathogens or intrinsic danger signals, macrophages acquire functional profiles which actively terminate neutrophil recruitment. As recently outlined by our group, GR-1<sup>high</sup>CCR2<sup>high</sup> exudate macrophages express IL-1ra upon recruitment into the lung parenchyma in LPS- and Klebsiella pneumoniae-induced lung injury. Upon blockade of IL-1ß actions at the receptor IL-1R1 expressed on alveolar epithelium, macrophage-derived IL-1ra downregulates alveolar release of the neutrophil chemokine MIP-2 and of the epithelial adhesion molecule ICAM-1, attenuating alveolar neutrophil recruitment (Herold et al., 2011). In a model of LPS-induced lung inflammation (Dean et al., 2008), MMP12 that is mainly macrophage-derived cleaves CXC-chemokines within the ELR motif, which is crucial for receptor binding resulting in loss of neutrophil-recruiting activity. MMP-dependent chemokine cleavage also affects CC-chemokines such as CCL7, which may result in dampened inflammation. Similar findings were reported for CCL2, CCL8, and CCL13 following cleavage by MMP1 and MMP3 (McQuibban et al., 2000, 2002).

#### INDUCTION OF NEUTROPHIL APOPTOSIS

Neutrophils are rather short-lived cells, but once they have reached inflammatory sites they might initially be exposed to survival signals such as G-CSF or IL-1 $\beta$  (Kantari et al., 2008) to prolong their anti-bacterial actions. By providing IL-1 $\beta$  antagonism at the receptor level, it is likely that exudate macrophage-derived IL-1ra might force neutrophil apoptosis (Herold et al., 2011) as a first step to clear the inflammatory infiltrate in the lung. Furthermore, alveolar macrophages are a primary source of TNF- $\alpha$  in different models of pulmonary inflammation (Herold et al., 2006; Cabanski et al., 2008; Cakarova et al., 2009) which, at higher concentrations such as found during human ARDS (Maus et al., 1998; Park et al.,

2001), promotes apoptosis of neutrophils (van den Berg et al., 2001). Similarly, resident and GR-1<sup>high</sup>CCR2<sup>high</sup> exudate alveolar macrophages were found to highly express the death ligand TRAIL in murine and human influenza and RSV infection (Zhou et al., 2006; Herold et al., 2008; Bern et al., 2010) and TRAIL significantly contributed to neutrophil apoptosis in LPS-induced lung injury (McGrath et al., 2011).

# PHAGOCYTOSIS OF APOPTOTIC NEUTROPHILS – "FIND ME" AND "EAT ME"

Coordinated removal of apoptotic cells by alveolar macrophages prevents the release of their toxic, tissue-damaging intracellular contents. In contrast to necrosis, apoptosis of neutrophils provides signals to alveolar macrophages to initiate clearance to limit tissue injury and to promote resolution, rather than persistence, of inflammation. First, apoptotic neutrophils advertise their own presence at the earliest stages of death and attract their scavengers via specific "find me" signals. Apart from the welldescribed lysophosphatidylcholine, recognized by the G-proteincoupled macrophage chemotaxis receptor G2A (Peter et al., 2008), these include fractalkine (CX<sub>3</sub>CL1), the nucleotides ATP and uridine 5' triphosphate (UTP), S19 ribosomal protein dimer, split tyrosyl-tRNA synthetase, thrombospondin 1, and sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P; Savill and Fadok, 2000; Ravichandran, 2010; Soehnlein and Lindbom, 2010). Just recently, Pannexin 1 channels were identified as mediators to release nucleotides as "find me" signals (Elliott et al., 2009). All of these are capable of attracting macrophages or their precursors, although only fractalkine and nucleotides have been shown to act as "find me" signals in vivo (Truman et al., 2008; Elliott et al., 2009). Whereas ATP and UTP are recognized by the G-protein-coupled macrophage receptor P2Y2, the receptor for CX<sub>3</sub>CL1, CX<sub>3</sub>CR1, defines a GR-1<sup>low</sup>CCR2<sup>low</sup> circulating lung macrophage precursor (Landsman et al., 2007) which has been attributed a wound healing and tissue-reparative phenotype similar to the one ascribed to "alternatively activated" macrophages (Geissmann et al., 2010).

Surfaces of dving cells express or allow the access to a number of "eat me" signals that replace the native "don't eat me" signals such as CD31 or CD47/SIRP-a present on living cells (Janssen et al., 2008). These signals may be membrane-associated (e.g., phosphatidylserine) or are released from intracellular compartments at later stages of programmed cell death (Savill and Fadok, 2000). Macrophages express a variety of receptors that bind either directly to the exposed "eat me" flags or indirectly through bridging molecules. These receptors include a phosphatidylserine receptor, the tyrosine kinase receptor MeR, integrins, scavenger receptors, and complement receptors (Mevorach et al., 1998; Grimsley and Ravichandran, 2003; Li et al., 2003; Greenberg et al., 2006; Miyanishi et al., 2007; Kennedy and DeLeo, 2009). Soluble innate immune pattern recognition proteins identifying non-self or altered-self molecular patterns are found in the immune-privileged surfaces of the lung and serve as bridging molecules. These include ficolins, pentraxins, thrombospondin, sCD14, MFG-E8, natural IgM, collections, C1q, and annexin A1 (Janssen et al., 2008; Kennedy and DeLeo, 2009; Litvack and Palaniyar, 2010). Annexin A1, released from neutrophil granules upon activation, inhibits the recruitment of leukocytes including inflammatory macrophage precursors, promotes neutrophil apoptosis, and acts on macrophages to enhance removal of dead neutrophils (Perretti and D'acquisto, 2009). In a mouse model of LPSinduced acute lung injury alveolar recruited, exudate rather than resident macrophages were shown to clear apoptotic granulocytes from the airways (Janssen et al., 2008).

### INGESTION OF APOPTOTIC NEUTROPHILS CHANGES THE MACROPHAGE PHENOTYPE

Following ingestion of apoptotic neutrophils, macrophages are stimulated to release anti-inflammatory and pro-repair mediators. One of the first studies in this field showed that co-culture of LPS-activated monocytes with apoptotic lymphocytes inhibited monocyte expression of the pro-inflammatory TNF- $\alpha$  and increased the release of the immunosuppressive cytokines TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10 (Voll et al., 1997). In following studies, ingestion of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages, more recently termed "efferocytosis," had a similar effect on human monocyte-derived and murine alveolar macrophages, inducing the anti-inflammatory mediators TGF-B, PGE<sub>2</sub>, and PAF (Fadok et al., 1998; Medeiros et al., 2009). Phagocytosis of apoptotic – but not of necrotic – cells not only prevented these macrophages from killing tissue-resident cells but also triggered the release of growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF; Golpon et al., 2004) or hepatocyte growth factor (HGF; Amano et al., 2004) being crucial for tissue repair after injury. Impairment of efficient phagocytosis of apoptotic airway cells may therefore contribute to the pathogenesis of chronic airways diseases like COPD, asthma, and cystic fibrosis (Krysko et al., 2010; Mukaro and Hodge, 2011).

The signaling pathways activated during the phagocytosisdependent induction of an anti-inflammatory macrophage program in the resolution phase of tissue injury were studied in detail (Patel et al., 2007). The anti-inflammatory activity of apoptotic cells lead to an inhibition of the release of pro-inflammatory mediators from phagocytosing macrophages (Voll et al., 1997; Fadok et al., 1998). In contrast, necrotic cells, which are recognized by another distinct mechanism, rather enhance a proinflammatory macrophage program (Cocco and Ucker, 2001). Acquisition of anti-inflammatory activity consists in the loss of the pro-inflammatory response to inflammatory stimuli and a shift to an anti-inflammatory profile that is induced by the apoptotic neutrophil. This anti-inflammatory potential is maintained at all stages of neutrophil apoptotic cell death, irrespective of cell membrane integrity (Cocco and Ucker, 2001; Cvetanovic and Ucker, 2004; Patel et al., 2006). Recognition of apoptotic cells targets the pro-inflammatory transcriptional machinery of interacting macrophages, without apparent effect on proximal steps of TLR signaling. This modulatory activity is exerted directly upon binding to the macrophage and decreases IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- $\alpha$ expression in an NF-KB-dependent way. These effects were dependent on apoptotic cell recognition and independent of engulfment (Cocco and Ucker, 2001; Cvetanovic and Ucker, 2004). Apart from the counter-inflammatory response, phagocytosis (but not mere recognition of apoptotic cells) provides a PI3K/AKT-dependent survival signal to prolong the macrophage life-span to facilitate clearance of neutrophil corpses (Reddy et al., 2002). In contrast, the effects of apoptotic versus necrotic targets on the MAPK pathway

depended on recognition. Exposure to apoptotic cells strongly inhibited phosphorylation of ERK1/2 but induced activation of JNK1/2 and p38, a process which did not require phagocytosis. Exposure to necrotic cells stimulated proliferation and activated ERK1/2 (Reddy et al., 2002; Patel et al., 2006).

### MECHANISMS AND EFFECTS OF ALTERNATIVE MACROPHAGE PROGRAMMING MACROPHAGE SUBSETS AND POLARIZATION

#### WACKUPHAGE SUBSETS AND PULARIZATION Pathogen elimination and restoration of ho

Pathogen elimination and restoration of homeostasis following infection and tissue damage requires resident tissue macrophages and a coordinated mobilization of two circulating precursor subsets defined according to lineage marker and chemokine receptor expression in mice, namely the GR-1<sup>low</sup>CCR2<sup>low</sup>CX<sub>3</sub>CR1<sup>high</sup> and the GR-1<sup>high</sup>CCR2<sup>high</sup>CX<sub>3</sub>CR1<sup>low</sup> peripheral blood monocytes. GR-1<sup>low</sup>CCR2<sup>low</sup>CX<sub>3</sub>CR1<sup>high</sup> monocytes patrol the resting vasculature, populate normal or inflammatory sites CX<sub>3</sub>CR1dependently, and participate in resolution of inflammation and tissue repair (Auffray et al., 2007; Geissmann et al., 2010). GR-1<sup>high</sup>CCR2<sup>high</sup>CX<sub>3</sub>CR1<sup>low</sup> monocytes are predominantly inflammatory and migrate to injured and infected sites. In humans, most monocytes are CD14<sup>hi</sup>CD16<sup>-</sup> and are referred to as "classical" monocytes, whereas CD14<sup>+</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup> monocytes are referred to as "non-classical" monocytes. CCR2 and its major ligand, CCL2, are evidently important in both emigration of these cells from the bone marrow into the blood stream and their immigration into inflamed tissues, where they undergo differentiation into macrophages that are categorized as either classically activated (CAM, M1) or alternatively activated (AAM, M2; Benoit et al., 2008; Martinez et al., 2008; Gordon and Martinez, 2010). Several genes define CAM and AAM, e.g., inos, tnf, il-12, and arg1, ym1, ym2, fizz1, mrc1, ccl22, respectively, although a clear-cut association of those genes with the functional profile of the respective subset is lacking, except for Fizz1, also known as RELM-α (Nair et al., 2009). The M1 program is associated with release of proinflammatory mediators such as iNOS-derived NO, TNF-a, IFN- $\gamma$ , and IL-12 and critically contributes to pathogen elimination (Benoit et al., 2008; Serbina et al., 2008). In contrast, AAM, which secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1ra, IL-10, and TGFβ, downregulate IL-12, upregulate scavenger receptors, promote angiogenesis, and support wound healing and tissue remodeling (Mosser and Edwards, 2008). They are renowned for their heterogeneity and plasticity, which is reflected by their further subdivision into M2a, M2b, and M2c subsets (Mosser and Edwards, 2008; Ricardo et al., 2008; Gordon and Martinez, 2010).

# SIGNAL INTEGRATION IN THE SHAPING OF PULMONARY MACROPHAGE PHENOTYPES

As a key component of the inflammatory response that determines lung tissue destruction or recovery, increasing evidence suggests that pulmonary macrophages do not remain committed to a single activation profile. They may regress to a resting state and can subsequently be reactivated with a different polarization. Functionally distinct subsets of macrophages may exist in the same tissue and play critical roles in both initiation and recovery of inflammation. Therefore, the origin and activation state of the macrophages and the microenvironment, in which they reside, are critical determinants of their response to lung injury. The heterogeneity of macrophages, their diverse role in lung inflammation and tissue remodeling, and the coordinated activation and programming by other inflammatory and parenchymal cells are not fully understood. However, it becomes increasingly evident that cross-talk of various signals at different levels impinges on the generation of functional macrophage programs, with a variety of signals being integrated to shape a distinct phenotype at a defined stage of inflammation.

With respect to lung inflammation and injury, several of those signal steps have been defined. First, growth factors such as granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) or M-CSF drive differentiation and activation of macrophage progenitors or lineage precursors but also of well-differentiated alveolar macrophages (Berclaz et al., 2002, 2007; Baleeiro et al., 2006; Ballinger et al., 2006). In addition, GM-CSF was shown to induce an M1 phenotype (Krausgruber et al., 2011). Second, at the stage of transendo/epithelial recruitment to the airspace, macrophages obtain signals from chemokines or CAMs (Srivastava et al., 2005). Then, at the site of inflammation, macrophages are primed by cytokines like IFN- $\gamma$  (M1) or IL-4 and IL-13 (M2), or via Th2

cell-expressed IL-25 and IL-33 (M2; Gordon and Martinez, 2010). Next, PAMPs or DAMPs deliver signals via TLR, NLR, or other pattern recognition receptors. Exposure to LPS promotes the differentiation toward M1-like cells, whereas addition of further cytokines differentiates them toward M2-like macrophages (Martinez et al., 2008; Cabanski et al., 2009; Arora et al., 2011). Recently, a critical role for type I IFN/IFNAR signaling in differentiation of peripheral blood monocytes toward defined lung macrophage phenotypes, either classical or alternative, with different functions in control of alveolar inflammation, was demonstrated in influenza virusinduced lung injury (Seo et al., 2011). Later on, phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages may add on these signals and support an anti-inflammatory, resolving and tissue-reparative phenotype with release of IL-10, TGF-B, VEGF, and HGF, as outlined above. IL-10 and TGF-B, for example, were shown to be protective in P. aeruginosa- (Buff et al., 2010) or LPS-induced lung injury (D'alessio et al., 2009) by abrogating alveolar neutrophil recruitment and by mediating counter-inflammatory effects of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells, respectively (**Figure 2**).

With respect to the role of macrophage phenotypes in acute lung injury, the M1 program clearly correlates with pathogen



#### FIGURE 2 | Different extracellular signals are integrated to shape pulmonary macrophage phenotypes during lung inflammation. First, growth factors such as GM-CSF, M-CSF, or type I interferons (IFN) drive differentiation and activation of macrophage progenitors or lineage precursors (1), second, macrophages obtain signals from chemokines or cellular adhesion molecules upon transendo/epithelial recruitment to the alveoli (2), third, macrophages receive signals from cytokines like GM-CSF and interferons (M1) or IL-4, IL-13, IL-25, or IL-33 (M2) (3); fourth,

pathogens, PAMPs, or DAMPs deliver signals via TLR, NLR, or other pattern recognition receptors (4). Later on, cell–cell communications during phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils (PMN) or via CD200–CD200R interaction with AEC add on these signals and may support an anti-inflammatory macrophage phenotype (5). JAMs, junctional adhesion molecules; HSP, heat shock proteins; HMGB-1, high mobility group box-1; S. pn., *Streptococcus pneumoniae*; K. pn., *Klebsiella pneumoniae*; AEC, alveolar epithelial cells. clearance, but as well with inflammation and mortality, e.g., after S. pneumoniae infection (Smith et al., 2007). A mouse model of Sendai virus infection demonstrated that NKT cells produce IL-13 through a CD1d-glycolipid-dependent mechanism, initiating pulmonary M2 amplification in late stages of infection, when virus had already been cleared from the lungs (Kim et al., 2008). Similarly, macrophage-derived IL-13 induced an M2 phenotype via STAT6 in an autocrine way upon RSV-induced lung injury (Shirey et al., 2010). GR-1<sup>high</sup>CCR2<sup>high</sup> exudate macrophages, which are tissue-recruited in LPS- or K. pneumoniae-induced lung injury, express high levels of IL-1ra, a classical M2 marker (Benoit et al., 2008) which directly antagonizes IL-1ß derived from (M1 activated) resident alveolar macrophages, thereby exerting antiinflammatory and tissue-protective effects. Adoptive transfer studies using IL-1ra<sup>-/-</sup> monocytes revealed that IL-1ra-expressing, M2 polarized exudate macrophages reduced alveolar epithelial cell damage and increased pulmonary barrier function (Herold et al., 2011).

These data suggest that, in the inflamed lung, different macrophage phenotypes are induced by distinct signals at defined time points to fulfill discriminative tasks during infection, resolution, and repair. Moreover, these differentially programmed macrophage populations cross-talk during the time course of acute pulmonary inflammation. While resident versus recruited macrophages were found to be differentially polarized (Herold et al., 2011), the question arises to what extent a functional macrophage program might be lineage-confined in monocyte/macrophage subsets (Nahrendorf et al., 2007).

# TRANSCRIPTIONAL AND EPIGENETIC REGULATION OF MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION

The signal transduction pathways and transcription factors involved in macrophage polarization, especially with respect to lung inflammation, are still incompletely understood. Activation of the transcription factor NF-KB subunit p50 has been associated with the inhibition of M1-polarizing genes including IFN- $\beta$  in vivo (Porta et al., 2009), whereas induction of the basic region-leucine zipper transcription factors CREB and C/EBPB has been shown to upregulate M2 genes in macrophages, which promoted tissue repair after injury (Ruffell et al., 2009). Subsequent data suggested that in mice, an IRF4-dependent pathway initiates an M2 program by stimulating the expression of M2specific markers (Satoh et al., 2010). In contrast, M1 macrophages were characterized by increased expression of IRF5, which was induced by GM-CSF during their differentiation. Forced expression of IRF5 in M2 macrophages drove M1-specific cytokines, chemokines, and costimulatory molecules and led to a potent Th1-Th17 response, whereas induction of M1-markers was impaired in *irf*5<sup>-/-</sup> macrophages (Krausgruber et al., 2011). Together with the data of Satoh et al. (2010) these findings establish a new paradigm of IRF5–IRF4 balance mediating M1–M2 polarization. Liao et al. (2011) identified Krüppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) as a critical regulator of macrophage polarization. KLFs represent a large family of transcription factors involved in development, differentiation, and activation of leukocytes. Macrophage KLF4 expression was robustly induced in M2 macrophages and strongly reduced in M1 macrophages, and was found to cooperate with

Stat6 to induce an M2 genetic program and inhibit M1 targets via sequestration of coactivators required for NF- $\kappa$ B activation. KLF4-deficient macrophages demonstrated enhanced pro-inflammatory gene expression and increased bactericidal activity. Whether these transcriptional programs are operative during processes of lung macrophage polarization in lung infection, injury, and repair, however, remains to be established.

With respect to epigenetic control of macrophage polarization, reports showed that induced M2 signature genes of IL-4-treated mouse macrophages like arg1, ym1, fizz1, and mrc1, revealed reciprocal changes in histone H3K4 and H3K27 methylation (Ishii et al., 2009). These modifications depended on STAT6 activation, which bound to the demethylase Jmjd3 promoter, contributing to decreased H3K27 methylation, as well as to transcriptional activation of M2 marker genes. Moreover, the kinase AKT regulated LPS-induced microRNA in macrophages and was implicated in LPS tolerance. AKT1 and AKT2 isoforms thereby had differential effects on TLR4 and SOCS1 signaling in macrophages, depending on the microRNAs let7e and miR155 (Androulidaki et al., 2009). A possible effect of IL-4 and IL-13 on AKT isoforms has not been reported. Other studies have linked microRNA-dependent regulation with macrophage activation programs (Taganov et al., 2006; Tili et al., 2007).

## AIRWAY EPITHELIAL-MACROPHAGE CROSS-TALK CONTROLS MACROPHAGE RESPONSES

Recently, a new concept of the pulmonary "innate immune rheostat" arose from findings by Snelgrove et al. (2008) demonstrating that the phenotype of airway macrophages depends on the finetuned balance between negative regulatory pathways and those that amplify immunity (Snelgrove et al., 2008; Wissinger et al., 2009). As innate immunity at lung surfaces requires restraint to prevent inflammation to innocuous antigens or commensals to guarantee gas exchange, the threshold above which airway macrophages become activated must be increased by local factors. Furthermore, excessive and prolonged pathogen-induced inflammation has to be controlled to resolve infiltrates after pathogen clearance and to prevent collateral lung tissue damage. Data from an influenza virus pneumonia model demonstrated that one such key regulator is CD200R, transmitting a suppressive signal and critically regulating activation of airway macrophages on which it is expressed at high levels. CD200R levels are maintained by epithelial expression of IL-10 and TGF-B. Its ligand, CD200, is exposed on the apical side of the airway epithelium and limits alveolar macrophage-mediated inflammation.  $Cd200^{-/-}$  mice displayed increased pro-inflammatory macrophage activity and enhanced sensitivity to influenza infection, with delayed resolution of inflammation and increased mortality. These data suggest that macrophage pro- versus anti-inflammatory phenotypes are under tight control of nearby airway epithelial cells during the course of infection, which on one side represent primary targets for infection (that has to be effectively cleared by a mounted immune response) but on the other side have to maintain lung barrier integrity and organ function. Epithelial-macrophage cross-talk by soluble and surface-expressed factors therefore seems to be an important mechanism to keep the balance between efficient host defense and excessive inflammation and injury during pneumonia.

### LUNG MACROPHAGES IN TISSUE REPAIR AND REMODELING REPAIR OF THE AIRWAY EPITHELIUM

Acute lung inflammatory diseases or infection and the following innate and adaptive host responses leave a damaged alveolar endo/epithelial barrier. Alveolar epithelial cell apoptosis was found as major underlying cause of severe lung parenchymal damage in sterile or infectious lung injury (Albertine et al., 2002; Herold et al., 2008; Ma et al., 2010; Budinger et al., 2011). Re-epithelialization (given an intact basement membrane) and endothelial re-sealing following bronchoalveolar injury is considered as critical step to re-establish normal gas exchange conditions in the lung. Alveolar epithelium is comprised of two morphologically and functionally distinct cell types, alveolar epithelial cells type I (AEC I) and type II (AEC II). The flattened AEC I, covering a high percentage of the alveolar surface, are presumed to be terminally differentiated and exhibit a very limited potential to divide, features that make them particularly susceptible to irreparable damage (Fehrenbach, 2001; Tesfaigzi, 2003). The smaller, cuboidal AEC II retain progenitor cell properties and therefore, together with the CCSP<sup>+</sup> Clara cells, represent a distal transit-amplifying cell pool (Stripp, 2008; Rock and Hogan, 2011). AEC II are assumed to play a central role in alveolar repair processes after injury by trans-differentiation into AEC I. This involves tightly regulated alveolar epithelial cell proliferation, migration, and polar differentiation with restoration of junctional structures (Fehrenbach, 2001). More recently, studies in mice revealed that endogenous airway epithelial progenitor cells are located within the adult lung in the basal layer of the upper airways, or within bronchoalveolar junctions.. These cells, termed bronchoalveolar stem cells (BASCs) and expressing both AEC II and Clara cell properties, are defined as EpCamhigh CD104+ integrin  $\alpha 6\beta 4^+$ , are resistant to damage, proliferate after injury *in vivo*, are multipotent in clonal assays in vitro and give rise to different ciliated and non-ciliated epithelial cell populations of the distal lung (McQualter et al., 2010; Chapman et al., 2011). In humans, recent data define lung stem cells as positive for c-kit (Kajstura et al., 2011), whereas others found them included in the p63<sup>+</sup>ck5<sup>+</sup> basal cell pool (Whitsett and Kalinichenko, 2011). Following acute lung injury, in accordance with data obtained from a rat model (Berthiaume et al., 2006), we demonstrated that alveolar repair processes in terms of AEC II proliferation were initiated 4 days after LPS instillation, when alveolar inflammation decreased virtually to baseline levels. However as a first step, trans-differentiation of existing AEC II into AEC I might occur fast and precedes AEC II proliferation peaking at 48–96 h post injury. We were able to delineate this feature from the notion that alveolar leakage was associated with AEC I apoptosis and declined upon recovery of the AEC I pool (Cakarova et al., 2009).

Since the earliest reports on alternatively activated M2 macrophages, it has been assumed that these cells promote repair of host tissues after inflammation, e.g., by expression of fibronectin 1 (FN-1), the TGF- $\beta$ -induced matrix associated proteins BIG-H3, and IGF-1, which provide signals for tissue repair and proliferation (Gordon, 2003). However, although involvement of resident or tissue-recruited macrophages in these processes has been demonstrated for several organ systems like liver, skin, heart, kidney, and gut mucosa (Duffield, 2003; Takaba et al., 2010; Harel-Adar et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2011; Lu et al., 2011; Mahdavian

Delavary et al., 2011), studies demonstrating a direct contribution of macrophages in lung epithelial regeneration after injury, e.g., by using macrophage depletion strategies, are lacking.

Several studies at least indirectly suggest that these cells are similarly involved in repair of the injured lung. In this regard, the cytokines keratinocyte growth factor (KGF, FGF7), VEGF, epidermal growth factor (EGF), heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), GM-CSF, fibroblast growth factors 2 and 10 (FGF2, FGF10) were shown to act as potent lung epithelial mitogens (Panos et al., 1993; Melloni et al., 1996; Huffman Reed et al., 1997; Van Winkle et al., 1997; Li et al., 2001; Ray, 2005; Mura et al., 2006; Pogach et al., 2007; Gupte et al., 2009; Crosby and Waters, 2010). Anti-inflammatory or regenerative alveolar macrophages were noted to directly release the epithelial growth factors PDGF, FGFs, HGF, TGF-B, and VEGF following inflammation or lung injury (Melloni et al., 1996; Leslie et al., 1997; Morimoto et al., 2001; Mivake et al., 2007; Medeiros et al., 2009; Granata et al., 2010). Notably, our own studies demonstrate that epithelial repair processes were primed already in the pro-inflammatory phase of acute lung injury and elucidate a key role of alveolar macrophage TNF-α inducing AEC repair via induction of autocrine epithelial GM-CSF signaling (Cakarova et al., 2009). In support of these findings, GM-CSF has been recognized as potent growth factor for AEC in vitro and in lung injury models in vivo (Huffman Reed et al., 1997; Paine et al., 2003). Furthermore, we demonstrated proliferative effects of the macrophage cytokine MIF (macrophage migration inhibitory factor) which were mediated by the MIF receptor CD74 expressed on AEC II (Marsh et al., 2009). The M2 phenotype-associated cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 stimulated proliferation and migration of both murine and human bronchial epithelial cells (Booth et al., 2001; White et al., 2009). As opposed to data derived from our group, demonstrating a detrimental, tissue-damaging role of pro-apoptotic, highly inflammatory GR-1<sup>high</sup>CCR2<sup>+</sup> exudate macrophages in murine influenza virus pneumonia (Herold et al., 2008), Narasaraju et al. (2010) argued that HGF produced by this macrophage population may contribute to the resolution of inflammation and regeneration of alveolar epithelium.

# RESTORATION OF STRUCTURAL AND FUNCTIONAL LUNG BARRIER INTEGRITY

Successful lung barrier repair after injury is critically linked to the survival of the patient (Ware and Matthay, 2001). Epithelial junction formation during alveolar repair represents a crucial event for restoration of alveolar barrier function. Tight junctions are important to maintain discrete compartments in the lung and tightly regulate the flow of molecules between apical and basolateral compartments, whereas gap junctions permit direct transmission of small signaling molecules between neighboring cells. Transmembrane proteins of the occludin and claudin families are the major transmembrane structural elements of tight junctions. It has previously been shown that alveolar epithelial cells express occludins and zona occludens 1 protein (ZO-1) as part of the tight junctional complex. Tight junctions are highly dynamic structures, whose degree of sealing varies in response to external stimuli (e.g., cytokines) via MAPK, PI3K, and PKC-mediated re-organization of their sub-structures (Gonzalez-Mariscal et al., 2008). Ganter et al. (2008) previously demonstrated that IL-1 $\beta$  causes alveolar endothelial and epithelial permeability increase via integrin-mediated epithelial TGF- $\beta$  release which induced phosphorylation of endothelial VE-cadherin and stress fiber formation. Although reports on the role of macrophages herein are limited, there is evidence that IL-1ra-expressing exudate macrophages prevent disruption and disassembly of the tight junctional protein ZO-1 in alveolar epithelial cells by IL-1 $\beta$  antagonism (Ganter et al., 2008; Herold et al., 2011). Macrophage-released growth factors might in turn increase tightness of junctions in airway epithelial cells (Terakado et al., 2011).

To restore normal gas exchange in the alveoli, edema fluid accumulating in the airspaces during lung injury is cleared by active sodium transport via apical membrane epithelial Na+ channels (ENaC). The electrochemical gradient for Na+ influx is maintained by the basolateral Na, K-ATPase. Transport of sodium promotes a transepithelial osmotic gradient, causing water to move passively from the airspaces to the interstitium thereby removing excess alveolar fluid (Morty et al., 2007; Eaton et al., 2009). Infection of the lung epithelium and release of pro-inflammatory mediators such as IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , but as well TGF- $\beta$ , were shown to inhibit ENaC function (Dickie et al., 2000; Kunzelmann et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2004; Roux et al., 2005; Hickman-Davis et al., 2006; Wolk et al., 2008). Similarly, LPS-stimulated, pro-inflammatory alveolar macrophages were found to decrease ENaC expression and activity (Dickie et al., 2000). In contrast, the epithelial growth factors KGF and EGF upregulated transepithelial sodium transport and increased alveolar fluid clearance in animal models of acute lung injury by affecting the Na, K-ATPase (Morty et al., 2007), and at least EGF was shown to be expressed by lung tissue macrophages in vivo (Temelkovski et al., 1997). Moreover, recombinant IL-1ra increased ENaC  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunit expression in primary murine and human AEC by antagonizing IL-1ß in vitro, and IL-1ra-expressing M2-programmed GR-1<sup>high</sup>CCR2<sup>+</sup> exudate macrophages similarly reverted IL-1β-induced downregulation of ENaC expression in lung parenchyma in an LPS injury mouse model in vivo (Herold et al., 2011).

Macrophages or subsets thereof are involved in neoangiogenesis either by secreting cytokines/growth factors or by providing a physical scaffold fostering endothelial cell fusion. However, signaling pathways activating an angiogenic program in macrophages, especially in the lung, are still poorly defined, and most data derive from in vitro studies in the field of tumor angiogenesis. Hence, it was shown that apoptotic cells release the lipid mediator sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), which activates S1P1/3 on macrophages to upregulate cyclooxygenase-2. The liberation of PGE<sub>2</sub> then stimulates migration of endothelial cells in vitro (Brecht et al., 2011). Other findings demonstrated a role for M2 macrophages in angiogenesis which was linked to release of IL-8 (Medina et al., 2011). In the lung microvasculature, the angiopoietin (Ang)-Tie ligand-receptor system has a key regulatory role in endothelial integrity and quiescence. Whereas Ang-1-mediated Tie2 activation is required to maintain the quiescent state of the resting endothelium, Ang-2 destabilizes the quiescent endothelium and primes it to respond to exogenous stimuli, thereby facilitating the activities of inflammatory mediators, but as well of the angiogenic cytokine VEGF to promote endothelial barrier repair

(Fiedler and Augustin, 2006). As outlined above, the ingestion of apoptotic cells results in release of VEFG from macrophages, one of the most important growth factors for endothelial cells (Golpon et al., 2004; Granata et al., 2010). However, although recent data suggest a link between decreased pulmonary VEGF and impaired endothelial barrier function and angiogenesis (Jesmin et al., 2011), a clear role of macrophage-derived VEGF and pulmonary microvascular angiogenesis after injury has not been defined.

### LUNG TISSUE REMODELING AND FIBROSIS

Tightly controlled remodeling processes are important to restore tissue homeostasis after injury and involve transient fibroblast proliferation and production and degradation of matrix components. Excessive scarring and tissue fibrosis may result from an imbalanced action of M1 and M2 polarized macrophages after prolonged lung inflammation. Whereas M1 macrophages play a role in resolution of scarring and matrix degradation by release of a variety of anti-fibrotic cytokines such as CXCL10 (Tighe et al., 2011) or of matrix metalloproteinases (Strieter, 2008), M2 macrophages were found to support fibroproliferative tissue remodeling (Meneghin and Hogaboam, 2007; Strieter, 2008) by increased expression of TGF-B, fibronectin, proline, arginase, and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase (TIMPs). Prolonged IL-13 effects on alveolar macrophages, as found in several lung infectious diseases (Meneghin and Hogaboam, 2007), promotes the presence of M2-programmed macrophages and, ultimately, excessive fibrogenesis. They also express the pro-fibrotic cytokines IL-10 (Sun et al., 2011), and CCL17 which binds CCR4, and the interaction between these two drives fibrogenesis in several mouse models of lung disease (Meneghin and Hogaboam, 2007). Arginase-1mediated metabolism of L-arginine in M2 macrophages may result in the formation of L-proline, which is used by myofibroblasts to produce collagen (Strieter, 2008). M2 macrophage numbers were increased in the lungs of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF; Prasse et al., 2006; Pechkovsky et al., 2010). Analyses of cellular cross-talk within the lung mononuclear phagocyte system revealed that Gr-1<sup>+</sup> circulating macrophage precursors directed M2-programmed, pro-fibrotic, tissue-resident macrophages to enhance lung fibrosis in a mouse model of bleomycin injury (Gibbons et al., 2011). Apart from macrophage-mediated fibrogenic tissue remodeling, as often observed after acute or chronic infectious lung disease (Meneghin and Hogaboam, 2007), a role for M2 polarized macrophages was described in similar processes resulting in COPD or pulmonary hypertension (Benoit and Holtzman, 2010; Vergadi et al., 2011). However, although there is increasing interest in the field of macrophage polarization in tissue remodeling, the definite role of the M1/M2 balance in the process of (scarless) alveolar regeneration after acute lung injury/pneumonia is still poorly defined.

### CONCLUSION

Although numerous studies clearly demonstrate a crucial role of resident and recruited lung macrophages with an antiinflammatory, regenerative potential in resolution of pulmonary inflammation and in initiation of tissue repair processes, much remains to be learned about the underlying signaling pathways and the mechanisms of cell–cell communications herein. Important questions to be answered include the putative cross-talk between these macrophages and other anti-inflammatory, injury-resolving immune cells such as regulatory T cells, or their interaction with local endothelial or airway epithelial progenitors during the process of alveolar regeneration. Further issues to be addressed in future studies concern organ-related plasticity of macrophages *in vivo*, the question whether or to what extent macrophage phenotypes are lineage-confined or induced by an organ-specific inflammatory milieu, and the definition of robust markers for 'beneficial'

#### **REFERENCES**

- Albertine, K. H., Soulier, M. F., Wang, Z., Ishizaka, A., Hashimoto, S., Zimmerman, G. A., Matthay, M. A., and Ware, L. B. (2002). Fas and fas ligand are up-regulated in pulmonary edema fluid and lung tissue of patients with acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am. J. Pathol.* 161, 1783–1796.
- Amano, H., Morimoto, K., Senba, M., Wang, H., Ishida, Y., Kumatori, A., Yoshimine, H., Oishi, K., Mukaida, N., and Nagatake, T. (2004). Essential contribution of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1/C-C chemokine ligand-2 to resolution and repair processes in acute bacterial pneumonia. J. Immunol. 172, 398–409.
- Androulidaki, A., Iliopoulos, D., Arranz, A., Doxaki, C., Schworer, S., Zacharioudaki, V., Margioris, A. N., Tsichlis, P. N., and Tsatsanis, C. (2009). The kinase Akt1 controls macrophage response to lipopolysaccharide by regulating microRNAs. *Immunity* 31, 220–231.
- Ariel, A., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolvins and protectins in the termination program of acute inflammation. *Trends Immunol.* 28, 176–183.
- Arita, M., Bianchini, F., Aliberti, J., Sher, A., Chiang, N., Hong, S., Yang, R., Petasis, N. A., and Serhan, C. N. (2005). Stereochemical assignment, antiinflammatory properties, and receptor for the omega-3 lipid mediator resolvin E1. *J. Exp. Med.* 201, 713–722.
- Arita, M., Ohira, T., Sun, Y. P., Elangovan, S., Chiang, N., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolvin E1 selectively interacts with leukotriene B4 receptor BLT1 and ChemR23 to regulate inflammation. *J. Immunol.* 178, 3912–3917.
- Arora, S., Olszewski, M. A., Tsang, T. M., Mcdonald, R. A., Toews, G. B., and Huffnagle, G. B. (2011). Effect of cytokine interplay on macrophage polarization during chronic pulmonary infection with *Cryptococcus*

neoformans. Infect. Immun. 79, 1915–1926.

- Auffray, C., Fogg, D., Garfa, M., Elain, G., Join-Lambert, O., Kayal, S., Sarnacki, S., Cumano, A., Lauvau, G., and Geissmann, F. (2007). Monitoring of blood vessels and tissues by a population of monocytes with patrolling behavior. *Science* 317, 666–670.
- Baleeiro, C. E., Christensen, P. J., Morris, S. B., Mendez, M. P., Wilcoxen, S. E., and Paine, R. III. (2006). GM-CSF and the impaired pulmonary innate immune response following hyperoxic stress. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 291, L1246–L1255.
- Ballinger, M. N., Paine, R. III, Serezani, C. H., Aronoff, D. M., Choi, E. S., Standiford, T. J., Toews, G. B., and Moore, B. B. (2006). Role of granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor during gram-negative lung infection with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 34, 766–774.
- Bem, R. A., Bos, A. P., Wosten-Van Asperen, R. M., Bruijn, M., Lutter, R., Sprick, M. R., and Van Woensel, J. B. (2010). Potential role of soluble TRAIL in epithelial injury in children with severe RSV infection. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 42, 697–705.
- Benoit, L. A., and Holtzman, M. J. (2010). New immune pathways from chronic post-viral lung disease. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1183, 195–210.
- Benoit, M., Desnues, B., and Mege, J. L. (2008). Macrophage polarization in bacterial infections. *J. Immunol.* 181, 3733–3739.
- Berclaz, P. Y., Carey, B., Fillipi, M. D., Wernke-Dollries, K., Geraci, N., Cush, S., Richardson, T., Kitzmiller, J., O'connor, M., Hermoyian, C., Korfhagen, T., Whitsett, J. A., and Trapnell, B. C. (2007). GM-CSF regulates a PU.1-dependent transcriptional program determining the pulmonary response to LPS. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 36, 114–121.
- Berclaz, P. Y., Shibata, Y., Whitsett, J. A., and Trapnell, B. C. (2002). GM-CSF, via PU.1, regulates alveolar macrophage Fcgamma R-mediated phagocytosis and

macrophage phenotypes in the context of acute lung disease, to ultimately decipher how their polarization can be manipulated to improve the outcome of acute lung disease.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This work was supported by the German Research Council [SFB/TR84 "Innate Immunity of the Lung," grant LO271/4-1, and Excellence Cluster Cardio-Pulmonary System (ECCPS)], and by the German Federal Ministry of Research and Education (Clinical Research Group "Infectious Diseases" grant 01 KI 0770).

the IL-18/IFN-gamma -mediated molecular connection between innate and adaptive immunity in the lung. *Blood* 100, 4193–4200.

- Berthiaume, Y., Voisin, G., and Dagenais, A. (2006). The alveolar type I cells: the new knight of the alveolus? *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 572, 609–610.
- Booth, B. W., Adler, K. B., Bonner, J. C., Tournier, F., and Martin, L. D. (2001). Interleukin-13 induces proliferation of human airway epithelial cells in vitro via a mechanism mediated by transforming growth factoralpha. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 25, 739–743.
- Brecht, K., Weigert, A., Hu, J., Popp, R., Fisslthaler, B., Korff, T., Fleming, I., Geisslinger, G., and Brune, B. (2011). Macrophages programmed by apoptotic cells promote angiogenesis via prostaglandin E2. *FASEB* J. 25, 2408–2417.
- Budinger, G. R., Mutlu, G. M., Urich, D., Soberanes, S., Buccellato, L. J., Hawkins, K., Chiarella, S. E., Radigan, K. A., Eisenbart, J., Agrawal, H., Berkelhamer, S., Hekimi, S., Zhang, J., Perlman, H., Schumacker, P. T., Jain, M., and Chandel, N. S. (2011). Epithelial cell death is an important contributor to oxidantmediated acute lung injury. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 183, 1043–1054.
- Buff, S. M., Yu, H., Mccall, J. N., Caldwell, S. M., Ferkol, T. W., Flotte, T. R., and Virella-Lowell, I. L. (2010). IL-10 delivery by AAV5 vector attenuates inflammation in mice with *Pseudomonas pneumonia. Gene Ther.* 17, 567–576.
- Cabanski, M., Steinmuller, M., Marsh, L. M., Surdziel, E., Seeger, W., and Lohmeyer, J. (2008). PKR regulates TLR2/TLR4-dependent signaling in murine alveolar macrophages. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 38, 26–31.
- Cabanski, M., Wilhelm, J., Zaslona, Z., Steinmuller, M., Fink, L., Seeger, W., and Lohmeyer, J. (2009). Genomewide transcriptional profiling of mononuclear phagocytes recruited to mouse lungs in response to alveolar challenge with the TLR2 agonist

Pam3CSK4. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 297, L608–L618.

- Cakarova, L., Marsh, L. M., Wilhelm, J., Mayer, K., Grimminger, F., Seeger, W., Lohmeyer, J., and Herold, S. (2009). Macrophage tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces epithelial expression of granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor: impact on alveolar epithelial repair. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 180, 521–532.
- Campbell, E. L., Louis, N. A., Tomassetti, S. E., Canny, G. O., Arita, M., Serhan, C. N., and Colgan, S. P. (2007). Resolvin E1 promotes mucosal surface clearance of neutrophils: a new paradigm for inflammatory resolution. *FASEB J.* 21, 3162–3170.
- Cash, J. L., Christian, A. R., and Greaves, D. R. (2010). Chemerin peptides promote phagocytosis in a ChemR23- and Syk-dependent manner. J. Immunol. 184, 5315–5324.
- Cash, J. L., Hart, R., Russ, A., Dixon, J. P., Colledge, W. H., Doran, J., Hendrick,
  A. G., Carlton, M. B., and Greaves,
  D. R. (2008). Synthetic chemerinderived peptides suppress inflammation through ChemR23. J. Exp. Med. 205, 767–775.
- Chapman, H. A., Li, X., Alexander, J. P., Brumwell, A., Lorizio, W., Tan, K., Sonnenberg, A., Wei, Y., and Vu, T. H. (2011). Integrin alpha6beta4 identifies an adult distal lung epithelial population with regenerative potential in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2855–2862.
- Chen, X. J., Seth, S., Yue, G., Kamat, P., Compans, R. W., Guidot, D., Brown, L. A., Eaton, D. C., and Jain, L. (2004). Influenza virus inhibits ENaC and lung fluid clearance. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 287, L366–L373.
- Chiang, N., Serhan, C. N., Dahlen, S. E., Drazen, J. M., Hay, D. W., Rovati, G. E., Shimizu, T., Yokomizo, T., and Brink, C. (2006). The lipoxin receptor ALX: potent ligand-specific and stereoselective actions in vivo. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 58, 463–487.

- Cocco, R. E., and Ucker, D. S. (2001). Distinct modes of macrophage recognition for apoptotic and necrotic cells are not specified exclusively by phosphatidylserine exposure. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12, 919–930.
- Crosby, L. M., and Waters, C. M. (2010). Epithelial repair mechanisms in the lung. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 298, L715–L731.
- Cvetanovic, M., and Ucker, D. S. (2004). Innate immune discrimination of apoptotic cells: repression of proinflammatory macrophage transcription is coupled directly to specific recognition. J. Immunol. 172, 880–889.
- D'alessio, F. R., Tsushima, K., Aggarwal, N. R., West, E. E., Willett, M. H., Britos, M. F., Pipeling, M. R., Brower, R. G., Tuder, R. M., Mcdyer, J. F., and King, L. S. (2009). CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Tregs resolve experimental lung injury in mice and are present in humans with acute lung injury. *J. Clin. Invest.* 119, 2898–2913.
- Dean, R. A., Cox, J. H., Bellac, C. L., Doucet, A., Starr, A. E., and Overall, C. M. (2008). Macrophagespecific metalloelastase (MMP-12) truncates and inactivates ELR+ CXC chemokines and generates CCL2, -7, -8, and -13 antagonists: potential role of the macrophage in terminating polymorphonuclear leukocyte influx. *Blood* 112, 3455–3464.
- Dickie, A. J., Rafii, B., Piovesan, J., Davreux, C., Ding, J., Tanswell, A. K., Rotstein, O., and O'brodovich, H. (2000). Preventing endotoxinstimulated alveolar macrophages from decreasing epithelium Na+ channel (ENaC) mRNA levels and activity. *Pediatr. Res.* 48, 304–310.
- Duffield, J. S. (2003). The inflammatory macrophage: a story of Jekyll and Hyde. *Clin. Sci.* 104, 27–38.
- Eaton, D. C., Helms, M. N., Koval, M., Bao, H. F., and Jain, L. (2009). The contribution of epithelial sodium channels to alveolar function in health and disease. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 71, 403–423.
- El Kebir, D., Jozsef, L., Pan, W., Wang, L., Petasis, N. A., Serhan, C. N., and Filep, J. G. (2009). 15-epi-lipoxin A4 inhibits myeloperoxidase signaling and enhances resolution of acute lung injury. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 180, 311–319.
- Elliott, M. R., Chekeni, F. B., Trampont, P. C., Lazarowski, E. R., Kadl, A., Walk, S. F., Park, D., Woodson, R. I., Ostankovich, M., Sharma, P., Lysiak, J. J., Harden, T. K., Leitinger, N., and Ravichandran, K. S. (2009). Nucleotides released by apoptotic

cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature* 461, 282–286.

- Fadok, V. A., Bratton, D. L., Konowal, A., Freed, P. W., Westcott, J. Y., and Henson, P. M. (1998). Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 890–898.
- Fehrenbach, H. (2001). Alveolar epithelial type II cell: defender of the alveolus revisited. *Respir. Res.* 2, 33–46. Fiedler, U., and Augustin, H. G. (2006).
- Angiopoietins: a link between angiogenesis and inflammation. *Trends Immunol.* 27, 552–558.
- Freire-de-Lima, C. G., Xiao, Y. Q., Gardai, S. J., Bratton, D. L., Schiemann, W. P., and Henson, P. M. (2006). Apoptotic cells, through transforming growth factor-beta, coordinately induce anti-inflammatory and suppress pro-inflammatory eicosanoid and NO synthesis in murine macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 38376–38384.
- Funk, C. D. (2001). Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: advances in eicosanoid biology. *Science* 294, 1871–1875.
- Ganter, M. T., Roux, J., Miyazawa, B., Howard, M., Frank, J. A., Su, G., Sheppard, D., Violette, S. M., Weinreb, P. H., Horan, G. S., Matthay, M. A., and Pittet, J. F. (2008). Interleukin-1beta causes acute lung injury via alphavbeta5 and alphavbeta6 integrin-dependent mechanisms. *Circ. Res.* 102, 804–812.
- Geissmann, F., Manz, M. G., Jung, S., Sieweke, M. H., Merad, M., and Ley, K. (2010). Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. *Science* 327, 656–661.
- Gibbons, M. A., Mackinnon, A. C., Ramachandran, P., Dhaliwal, K., Duffin, R., Phythian-Adams, A. T., Van Rooijen, N., Haslett, C., Howie, S. E., Simpson, A. J., Hirani, N., Gauldie, J., Iredale, J. P., Sethi, T., and Forbes, S. J. (2011). Ly6Chi monocytes direct alternatively activated pro-fibrotic macrophage regulation of lung fibrosis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 184, 569–581.
- Godson, C., Mitchell, S., Harvey, K., Petasis, N. A., Hogg, N., and Brady, H. R. (2000). Cutting edge: lipoxins rapidly stimulate nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by monocytederived macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 164, 1663–1667.
- Golpon, H. A., Fadok, V. A., Taraseviciene-Stewart, L., Scerbavicius, R., Sauer, C., Welte, T., Henson, P. M., and Voelkel, N. F.

(2004). Life after corpse engulfment: phagocytosis of apoptotic cells leads to VEGF secretion and cell growth. *FASEB J.* 18, 1716–1718.

- Gonzalez-Mariscal, L., Tapia, R., and Chamorro, D. (2008). Crosstalk of tight junction components with signaling pathways. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1778, 729–756.
- Gordon, S. (2003). Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3, 23–35.
- Gordon, S., and Martinez, F. O. (2010). Alternative activation of macrophages: mechanism and functions. *Immunity* 32, 593–604.
- Granata, F., Frattini, A., Loffredo, S., Staiano, R. I., Petraroli, A., Ribatti, D., Oslund, R., Gelb, M. H., Lambeau, G., Marone, G., and Triggiani, M. (2010). Production of vascular endothelial growth factors from human lung macrophages induced by group IIA and group X secreted phospholipases A2. J. Immunol. 184, 5232–5241.
- Greenberg, M. E., Sun, M., Zhang, R., Febbraio, M., Silverstein, R., and Hazen, S. L. (2006). Oxidized phosphatidylserine-CD36 interactions play an essential role in macrophage-dependent phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 2613–2625.
- Grimsley, C., and Ravichandran, K. S. (2003). Cues for apoptotic cell engulfment: eat-me, don't eat-me and come-get-me signals. *Trends Cell Biol.* 13, 648–656.
- Gupte, V. V., Ramasamy, S. K., Reddy, R., Lee, J., Weinreb, P. H., Violette, S. M., Guenther, A., Warburton, D., Driscoll, B., Minoo, P., and Bellusci, S. (2009). Overexpression of fibroblast growth factor-10 during both inflammatory and fibrotic phases attenuates bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in mice. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 180, 424–436.
- Harel-Adar, T., Ben Mordechai, T., Amsalem, Y., Feinberg, M. S., Leor, J., and Cohen, S. (2011). Modulation of cardiac macrophages by phosphatidylserine-presenting liposomes improves infarct repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1827–1832.
- Herold, S., Steinmueller, M., Von Wulffen, W., Cakarova, L., Pinto, R., Pleschka, S., Mack, M., Kuziel, W. A., Corazza, N., Brunner, T., Seeger, W., and Lohmeyer, J. (2008). Lung epithelial apoptosis in influenza virus pneumonia: the role of macrophage-expressed TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. J. Exp. Med. 205, 3065–3077.
- Herold, S., Tabar, T. S., Janssen, H., Hoegner, K., Cabanski, M., Lewe-

Schlosser, P., Albrecht, J., Driever, F., Vadasz, I., Seeger, W., Steinmueller, M., and Lohmeyer, J. (2011). Exudate macrophages attenuate lung injury by the release of IL-1 receptor antagonist in gram-negative pneumonia. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 183, 1380–1390.

- Herold, S., Von Wulffen, W., Steinmueller, M., Pleschka, S., Kuziel, W. A., Mack, M., Srivastava, M., Seeger, W., Maus, U. A., and Lohmeyer, J. (2006). Alveolar epithelial cells direct monocyte transepithelial migration upon influenza virus infection: impact of chemokines and adhesion molecules. J. Immunol. 177, 1817–1824.
- Hickman-Davis, J. M., Mcnicholas-Bevensee, C., Davis, I. C., Ma, H. P., Davis, G. C., Bosworth, C. A., and Matalon, S. (2006). Reactive species mediate inhibition of alveolar type II sodium transport during mycoplasma infection. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 173, 334–344.
- Huffman Reed, J. A., Rice, W. R., Zsengeller, Z. K., Wert, S. E., Dranoff, G., and Whitsett, J. A. (1997). GM-CSF enhances lung growth and causes alveolar type II epithelial cell hyperplasia in transgenic mice. Am. J. Physiol. 273, L715–L725.
- Ishii, M., Wen, H., Corsa, C. A., Liu, T., Coelho, A. L., Allen, R. M., Carson, W. F. T., Cavassani, K. A., Li, X., Lukacs, N. W., Hogaboam, C. M., Dou, Y., and Kunkel, S. L. (2009). Epigenetic regulation of the alternatively activated macrophage phenotype. *Blood* 114, 3244–3254.
- Janssen, W. J., Mcphillips, K. A., Dickinson, M. G., Linderman, D. J., Morimoto, K., Xiao, Y. Q., Oldham, K. M., Vandivier, R. W., Henson, P. M., and Gardai, S. J. (2008). Surfactant proteins A and D suppress alveolar macrophage phagocytosis via interaction with SIRP alpha. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 178, 158–167.
- Jesmin, S., Zaedi, S., Islam, A. M., Sultana, S. N., Iwashima, Y., Wada, T., Yamaguchi, N., Hiroe, M., and Gando, S. (2011). Time-dependent alterations of VEGF and its signaling molecules in acute lung injury in a rat model of sepsis. *Inflammation*. doi: 10.1007/s10753-011-9337-1. [Epub ahead of print].
- Jozsef, L., Zouki, C., Petasis, N. A., Serhan, C. N., and Filep, J. G. (2002). Lipoxin A4 and aspirintriggered 15-epi-lipoxin A4 inhibit peroxynitrite formation, NF-kappa B and AP-1 activation, and IL-8 gene expression in human leukocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 13266–13271.

- Kajstura, J., Rota, M., Hall, S. R., Hosoda, T., D'amario, D., Sanada, F., Zheng, H., Ogorek, B., Rondon-Clavo, C., Ferreira-Martins, J., Matsuda, A., Arranto, C., Goichberg, P., Giordano, G., Haley, K. J., Bardelli, S., Rayatzadeh, H., Liu, X., Quaini, F., Liao, R., Leri, A., Perrella, M. A., Loscalzo, J., and Anversa, P. (2011). Evidence for human lung stem cells. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 364, 1795–1806.
- Kantari, C., Pederzoli-Ribeil, M., and Witko-Sarsat, V. (2008). The role of neutrophils and monocytes in innate immunity. *Contrib. Microbiol.* 15, 118–146.
- Kennedy, A. D., and DeLeo, F. R. (2009). Neutrophil apoptosis and the resolution of infection. *Immunol. Res.* 43, 25–61.
- Kim, E. Y., Battaile, J. T., Patel, A. C., You, Y., Agapov, E., Grayson, M. H., Benoit, L. A., Byers, D. E., Alevy, Y., Tucker, J., Swanson, S., Tidwell, R., Tyner, J. W., Morton, J. D., Castro, M., Polineni, D., Patterson, G. A., Schwendener, R. A., Allard, J. D., Peltz, G., and Holtzman, M. J. (2008). Persistent activation of an innate immune response translates respiratory viral infection into chronic lung disease. *Nat. Med.* 14, 633–640.
- Krausgruber, T., Blazek, K., Smallie, T., Alzabin, S., Lockstone, H., Sahgal, N., Hussell, T., Feldmann, M., and Udalova, I. A. (2011). IRF5 promotes inflammatory macrophage polarization and TH1-TH17 responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 231–238.
- Krysko, O., Vandenabeele, P., Krysko, D. V., and Bachert, C. (2010). Impairment of phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and its role in chronic airway diseases. *Apoptosis* 15, 1137–1146.
- Kunzelmann, K., Beesley, A. H., King, N. J., Karupiah, G., Young, J. A., and Cook, D. I. (2000). Influenza virus inhibits amiloride-sensitive Na+ channels in respiratory epithelia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 10282–10287.
- Landsman, L., Varol, C., and Jung, S. (2007). Distinct differentiation potential of blood monocyte subsets in the lung. *J. Immunol.* 178, 2000–2007.
- Lee, S., Huen, S., Nishio, H., Nishio, S., Lee, H. K., Choi, B. S., Ruhrberg, C., and Cantley, L. G. (2011). Distinct macrophage phenotypes contribute to kidney injury and repair. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 22, 317–326.
- Leslie, C. C., Mccormick-Shannon, K., Shannon, J. M., Garrick, B., Damm, D., Abraham, J. A., and Mason, R. J. (1997). Heparin-binding EGFlike growth factor is a mitogen for rat alveolar type II cells.

Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 16, 379–387.

- Levy, B. D., Clish, C. B., Schmidt, B., Gronert, K., and Serhan, C. N. (2001). Lipid mediator class switching during acute inflammation: signals in resolution. *Nat. Immunol.* 2, 612–619.
- Li, C. M., Khosla, J., Hoyle, P., and Sannes, P. L. (2001). Transforming growth factor-beta(1) modifies fibroblast growth factor-2 production in type II cells. *Chest* 120, 60S–61S.
- Li, M. O., Sarkisian, M. R., Mehal, W. Z., Rakic, P., and Flavell, R. A. (2003). Phosphatidylserine receptor is required for clearance of apoptotic cells. *Science* 302, 1560–1563.
- Liao, X., Sharma, N., Kapadia, F., Zhou, G., Lu, Y., Hong, H., Paruchuri, K., Mahabeleshwar, G. H., Dalmas, E., Venteclef, N., Flask, C. A., Kim, J., Doreian, B. W., Lu, K. Q., Kaestner, K. H., Hamik, A., Clement, K., and Jain, M. K. (2011). Kruppel-like factor 4 regulates macrophage polarization. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2736–2749.
- Litvack, M. L., and Palaniyar, N. (2010). Review: soluble innate immune pattern-recognition proteins for clearing dying cells and cellular components: implications on exacerbating or resolving inflammation. *Innate Immun.* 16, 191–200.
- Lu, H., Huang, D., Ransohoff, R. M., and Zhou, L. (2011). Acute skeletal muscle injury: CCL2 expression by both monocytes and injured muscle is required for repair. *FASEB J.* 25, 3344–3355.
- Luangsay, S., Wittamer, V., Bondue, B., De Henau, O., Rouger, L., Brait, M., Franssen, J. D., De Nadai, P., Huaux, F., and Parmentier, M. (2009). Mouse ChemR23 is expressed in dendritic cell subsets and macrophages, and mediates an anti-inflammatory activity of chemerin in a lung disease model. J. Immunol. 183, 6489–6499.
- Ma, X., Xu, D., Ai, Y., Ming, G., and Zhao, S. (2010). Fas inhibition attenuates lipopolysaccharideinduced apoptosis and cytokine release of rat type II alveolar epithelial cells. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 37, 3051–3056.
- Maddox, J. F., Hachicha, M., Takano, T., Petasis, N. A., Fokin, V. V., and Serhan, C. N. (1997). Lipoxin A4 stable analogs are potent mimetics that stimulate human monocytes and THP-1 cells via a G-proteinlinked lipoxin A4 receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 6972–6978.
- Maderna, P., Cottell, D. C., Berlasconi, G., Petasis, N. A., Brady, H. R., and Godson, C. (2002). Lipoxins induce actin reorganization in monocytes

and macrophages but not in neutrophils: differential involvement of rho GTPases. *Am. J. Pathol.* 160, 2275–2283.

- Mahdavian Delavary, B., Van Der Veer, W. M., Van Egmond, M., Niessen, F. B., and Beelen, R. H. (2011). Macrophages in skin injury and repair. *Immunobiology* 216, 753–762.
- Marsh, L. M., Cakarova, L., Kwapiszewska, G., Von Wulffen, W., Herold, S., Seeger, W., and Lohmeyer, J. (2009). Surface expression of CD74 by type II alveolar epithelial cells: a potential mechanism for macrophage migration inhibitory factor-induced epithelial repair. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 296, L442–L452.
- Martinez, F. O., Sica, A., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2008). Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 453–461.
- Maus, U., Rosseau, S., Knies, U., Seeger, W., and Lohmeyer, J. (1998). Expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines by flow-sorted alveolar macrophages in severe pneumonia. *Eur. Respir. J.* 11, 534–541.
- Mayer, K., Kiessling, A., Ott, J., Schaefer, M. B., Hecker, M., Henneke, I., Schulz, R., Gunther, A., Wang, J., Wu, L., Roth, J., Seeger, W., and Kang, J. X. (2009). Acute lung injury is reduced in fat-1 mice endogenously synthesizing n-3 fatty acids. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 179, 474–483.
- Mayer, K., Merfels, M., Muhly-Reinholz, M., Gokorsch, S., Rosseau, S., Lohmeyer, J., Schwarzer, N., Krull, M., Suttorp, N., Grimminger, F., and Seeger, W. (2002). Omega-3 fatty acids suppress monocyte adhesion to human endothelial cells: role of endothelial PAF generation. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 283, H811–H818.
- McGrath, E. E., Marriott, H. M., Lawrie, A., Francis, S. E., Sabroe, I., Renshaw, S. A., Dockrell, D. H., and Whyte, M. K. (2011). TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) regulates inflammatory neutrophil apoptosis and enhances resolution of inflammation. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 90, 855–865.
- McQualter, J. L., Yuen, K., Williams, B., and Bertoncello, I. (2010). Evidence of an epithelial stem/progenitor cell hierarchy in the adult mouse lung. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 1414–1419.
- McQuibban, G. A., Gong, J. H., Tam, E. M., Mcculloch, C. A., Clark-Lewis, I., and Overall, C. M. (2000). Inflammation dampened by gelatinase A cleavage of monocyte chemoattractant protein-3. *Science* 289, 1202–1206.

- McQuibban, G. A., Gong, J. H., Wong, J. P., Wallace, J. L., Clark-Lewis, I., and Overall, C. M. (2002). Matrix metalloproteinase processing of monocyte chemoattractant proteins generates CC chemokine receptor antagonists with anti-inflammatory properties in vivo. *Blood* 100, 1160–1167.
- Medeiros, A. I., Serezani, C. H., Lee, S. P., and Peters-Golden, M. (2009). Efferocytosis impairs pulmonary macrophage and lung antibacterial function via PGE2/EP2 signaling. *J. Exp. Med.* 206, 61–68.
- Medina, R. J., O'neill C, L., O'doherty T, M., Knott, H., Guduric-Fuchs, J., Gardiner, T. A., and Stitt, A. W. (2011). Myeloid angiogenic cells act as alternative M2 macrophages and modulate angiogenesis through interleukin-8. *Mol. Med.* 17, 1045–1055.
- Melloni, B., Lesur, O., Bouhadiba, T., Cantin, A., Martel, M., and Begin, R. (1996). Effect of exposure to silica on human alveolar macrophages in supporting growth activity in type II epithelial cells. *Thorax* 51, 781–786.
- Meneghin, A., and Hogaboam, C. M. (2007). Infectious disease, the innate immune response, and fibrosis. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 530–538.
- Mevorach, D., Mascarenhas, J. O., Gershov, D., and Elkon, K. B. (1998). Complement-dependent clearance of apoptotic cells by human macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 188, 2313–2320.
- Miyake, Y., Kaise, H., Isono, K., Koseki, H., Kohno, K., and Tanaka, M. (2007). Protective role of macrophages in noninflammatory lung injury caused by selective ablation of alveolar epithelial type II Cells. J. Immunol. 178, 5001–5009.
- Miyanishi, M., Tada, K., Koike, M., Uchiyama, Y., Kitamura, T., and Nagata, S. (2007). Identification of Tim4 as a phosphatidylserine receptor. *Nature* 450, 435–439.
- Morimoto, K., Amano, H., Sonoda, F., Baba, M., Senba, M., Yoshimine, H., Yamamoto, H., Ii, T., Oishi, K., and Nagatake, T. (2001). Alveolar macrophages that phagocytose apoptotic neutrophils produce hepatocyte growth factor during bacterial pneumonia in mice. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 24, 608–615.
- Morty, R. E., Eickelberg, O., and Seeger, W. (2007). Alveolar fluid clearance in acute lung injury: what have we learned from animal models and clinical studies? *Intensive Care Med.* 33, 1229–1240.
- Mosser, D. M., and Edwards, J. P. (2008). Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 958–969.

- Mukaro, V. R., and Hodge, S. (2011). Airway clearance of apoptotic cells in COPD. *Curr. Drug Targets* 12, 460–468.
- Mura, M., Han, B., Andrade, C. F., Seth, R., Hwang, D., Waddell, T. K., Keshavjee, S., and Liu, M. (2006). The early responses of VEGF and its receptors during acute lung injury: implication of VEGF in alveolar epithelial cell survival. *Crit. Care* 10, R130.
- Nahrendorf, M., Swirski, F. K., Aikawa, E., Stangenberg, L., Wurdinger, T., Figueiredo, J. L., Libby, P., Weissleder, R., and Pittet, M. J. (2007). The healing myocardium sequentially mobilizes two monocyte subsets with divergent and complementary functions. J. Exp. Med. 204, 3037–3047.
- Nair, M. G., Du, Y., Perrigoue, J. G., Zaph, C., Taylor, J. J., Goldschmidt, M., Swain, G. P., Yancopoulos, G. D., Valenzuela, D. M., Murphy, A., Karow, M., Stevens, S., Pearce, E. J., and Artis, D. (2009). Alternatively activated macrophage-derived RELM-{alpha} is a negative regulator of type 2 inflammation in the lung, J. Exp. Med. 206, 937–952.
- Narasaraju, T., Ng, H. H., Phoon, M. C., and Chow, V. T. (2010). MCP-1 antibody treatment enhances damage and impedes repair of the alveolar epithelium in influenza pneumonitis. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 42, 732–743.
- Paine, R. III, Wilcoxen, S. E., Morris, S. B., Sartori, C., Baleeiro, C. E., Matthay, M. A., and Christensen, P. J. (2003). Transgenic overexpression of granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor in the lung prevents hyperoxic lung injury. *Am. J. Pathol.* 163, 2397–2406.
- Panos, R. J., Rubin, J. S., Csaky, K. G., Aaronson, S. A., and Mason, R. J. (1993). Keratinocyte growth factor and hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor are heparin-binding growth factors for alveolar type II cells in fibroblast-conditioned medium. J. Clin. Invest. 92, 969–977.
- Park, W. Y., Goodman, R. B., Steinberg, K. P., Ruzinski, J. T., Radella, F. II, Park, D. R., Pugin, J., Skerrett, S. J., Hudson, L. D., and Martin, T. R. (2001). Cytokine balance in the lungs of patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 164, 1896–1903.
- Patel, V. A., Longacre, A., Hsiao, K., Fan, H., Meng, F., Mitchell, J. E., Rauch, J., Ucker, D. S., and Levine, J. S. (2006). Apoptotic cells, at all stages of the death process, trigger characteristic signaling events that are divergent from and dominant over those triggered by necrotic cells: implications

for the delayed clearance model of autoimmunity. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 4663–4670.

- Patel, V. A., Longacre-Antoni, A., Cvetanovic, M., Lee, D. J., Feng, L., Fan, H., Rauch, J., Ucker, D. S., and Levine, J. S. (2007). The affirmative response of the innate immune system to apoptotic cells. *Autoimmunity* 40, 274–280.
- Pechkovsky, D. V., Prasse, A., Kollert, F., Engel, K. M., Dentler, J., Luttmann, W., Friedrich, K., Muller-Quernheim, J., and Zissel, G. (2010). Alternatively activated alveolar macrophages in pulmonary fibrosis-mediator production and intracellular signal transduction. *Clin. Immunol.* 137, 89–101.

Perretti, M., and D'acquisto, F. (2009). Annexin A1 and glucocorticoids as effectors of the resolution of inflammation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9,62–70.

- Peter, C., Waibel, M., Radu, C. G., Yang, L. V., Witte, O. N., Schulze-Osthoff, K., Wesselborg, S., and Lauber, K. (2008). Migration to apoptotic "find-me" signals is mediated via the phagocyte receptor G2A. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 5296–5305.
- Pogach, M. S., Cao, Y., Millien, G., Ramirez, M. I., and Williams, M. C. (2007). Key developmental regulators change during hyperoxiainduced injury and recovery in adult mouse lung. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 100, 1415–1429.
- Porta, C., Rimoldi, M., Raes, G., Brys, L., Ghezzi, P., Di Liberto, D., Dieli, F., Ghisletti, S., Natoli, G., De Baetselier, P., Mantovani, A., and Sica, A. (2009). Tolerance and M2 (alternative) macrophage polarization are related processes orchestrated by p50 nuclear factor kappaB. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 14978–14983.
- Prasse, A., Pechkovsky, D. V., Toews, G. B., Jungraithmayr, W., Kollert, F., Goldmann, T., Vollmer, E., Muller-Quernheim, J., and Zissel, G. (2006). A vicious circle of alveolar macrophages and fibroblasts perpetuates pulmonary fibrosis via CCL18. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 173, 781–792.
- Ravichandran, K. S. (2010). Find-me and eat-me signals in apoptotic cell clearance: progress and conundrums. J. Exp. Med. 207, 1807–1817.
- Ray, P. (2005). Protection of epithelial cells by keratinocyte growth factor signaling. *Proc. Am. Thorac. Soc.* 2, 221–225.
- Reddy, S. M., Hsiao, K. H., Abernethy, V. E., Fan, H., Longacre, A., Lieberthal, W., Rauch, J., Koh, J. S., and Levine, J. S. (2002). Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages induces novel signaling events leading to

cytokine-independent survival and inhibition of proliferation: activation of Akt and inhibition of extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2. *J. Immunol.* 169, 702–713.

- Ricardo, S. D., Van Goor, H., and Eddy, A. A. (2008). Macrophage diversity in renal injury and repair. J. Clin. Invest. 118, 3522–3530.
- Rock, J. R., and Hogan, B. L. (2011). Epithelial progenitor cells in lung development, maintenance, repair, and disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 10, 493–512.
- Roux, J., Kawakatsu, H., Gartland, B., Pespeni, M., Sheppard, D., Matthay, M. A., Canessa, C. M., and Pittet, J. F. (2005). Interleukin-1beta decreases expression of the epithelial sodium channel alpha-subunit in alveolar epithelial cells via a p38 MAPKdependent signaling pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 18579–18589.
- Ruffell, D., Mourkioti, F., Gambardella, A., Kirstetter, P., Lopez, R. G., Rosenthal, N., and Nerlov, C. (2009). A CREB-C/EBPbeta cascade induces M2 macrophage-specific gene expression and promotes muscle injury repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 17475–17480.
- Satoh, T., Takeuchi, O., Vandenbon, A., Yasuda, K., Tanaka, Y., Kumagai, Y., Miyake, T., Matsushita, K., Okazaki, T., Saitoh, T., Honma, K., Matsuyama, T., Yui, K., Tsujimura, T., Standley, D. M., Nakanishi, K., Nakai, K., and Akira, S. (2010). The Jmjd3-Irf4 axis regulates M2 macrophage polarization and host responses against helminth infection. Nat. Immunol. 11, 936–944.
- Savill, J., and Fadok, V. (2000). Corpse clearance defines the meaning of cell death. *Nature* 407, 784–788.
- Schaefer, M. B., Ott, J., Mohr, A., Bi, M. H., Grosz, A., Weissmann, N., Ishii, S., Grimminger, F., Seeger, W., and Mayer, K. (2007). Immunomodulation by n-3- versus n-6-rich lipid emulsions in murine acute lung injury – role of platelet-activating factor receptor. *Crit. Care Med.* 35, 544–554.
- Schif-Zuck, S., Gross, N., Assi, S., Rostoker, R., Serhan, C. N., and Ariel, A. (2011). Saturated-efferocytosis generates pro-resolving CD11b low macrophages: modulation by resolvins and glucocorticoids. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 366–379.
- Schwab, J. M., Chiang, N., Arita, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolvin E1 and protectin D1 activate inflammation-resolution programmes. *Nature* 447, 869–874.
- Seki, H., Fukunaga, K., Arita, M., Arai, H., Nakanishi, H., Taguchi, R., Miyasho, T., Takamiya, R., Asano,

K., Ishizaka, A., Takeda, J., and Levy, B. D. (2009). The anti-inflammatory and proresolving mediator resolvin E1 protects mice from bacterial pneumonia and acute lung injury. *J. Immunol.* 184, 836–843.

- Seo, S. U., Kwon, H. J., Ko, H. J., Byun, Y. H., Seong, B. L., Uematsu, S., Akira, S., and Kweon, M. N. (2011). Type I interferon signaling regulates Ly6C(hi) monocytes and neutrophils during acute viral pneumonia in mice. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1001304. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001304
- Serbina, N. V., Jia, T., Hohl, T. M., and Pamer, E. G. (2008). Monocytemediated defense against microbial pathogens. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 26, 421–452.
- Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2008). Resolving inflammation: dual anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 349–361.
- Serhan, C. N., Hong, S., Gronert, K., Colgan, S. P., Devchand, P. R., Mirick, G., and Moussignac, R. L. (2002). Resolvins: a family of bioactive products of omega-3 fatty acid transformation circuits initiated by aspirin treatment that counter proinflammation signals. *J. Exp. Med.* 196, 1025–1037.
- Serhan, C. N., Yang, R., Martinod, K., Kasuga, K., Pillai, P. S., Porter, T. F., Oh, S. F., and Spite, M. (2009). Maresins: novel macrophage mediators with potent antiinflammatory and proresolving actions. *J. Exp. Med.* 206, 15–23.
- Shirey, K. A., Pletneva, L. M., Puche, A. C., Keegan, A. D., Prince, G. A., Blanco, J. C., and Vogel, S. N. (2010). Control of RSV-induced lung injury by alternatively activated macrophages is IL-4R alpha-, TLR4-, and IFN-beta-dependent. *Mucosal Immunol.* 3, 291–300.
- Smith, M. W., Schmidt, J. E., Rehg, J. E., Orihuela, C. J., and Mccullers, J. A. (2007). Induction of pro- and antiinflammatory molecules in a mouse model of pneumococcal pneumonia after influenza. *Comp. Med.* 57, 82–89.
- Snelgrove, R. J., Goulding, J., Didierlaurent, A. M., Lyonga, D., Vekaria, S., Edwards, L., Gwyer, E., Sedgwick, J. D., Barclay, A. N., and Hussell, T. (2008). A critical function for CD200 in lung immune homeostasis and the severity of influenza infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 1074–1083.
- Soehnlein, O., and Lindbom, L. (2010). Phagocyte partnership during the onset and resolution of inflammation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 427–439.

- Srivastava, M., Jung, S., Wilhelm, J., Fink, L., Buhling, F., Welte, T., Bohle, R. M., Seeger, W., Lohmeyer, J., and Maus, U. A. (2005). The inflammatory versus constitutive trafficking of mononuclear phagocytes into the alveolar space of mice is associated with drastic changes in their gene expression profiles. *J. Immunol.* 175, 1884–1893.
- Strieter, R. M. (2008). What differentiates normal lung repair and fibrosis? Inflammation, resolution of repair, and fibrosis. *Proc. Am. Thorac. Soc.* 5, 305–310.
- Stripp, B. R. (2008). Hierarchical organization of lung progenitor cells: is there an adult lung tissue stem cell? *Proc. Am. Thorac. Soc.* 5, 695–698.
- Sun, L., Louie, M. C., Vannella, K. M., Wilke, C. A., Levine, A. M., Moore, B. B., and Shanley, T. P. (2011). New concepts of IL-10-induced lung fibrosis: fibrocyte recruitment and M2 activation in a CCL2/CCR2 axis. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 300, L341–L353.
- Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Chang, K. J., and Baltimore, D. (2006). NF-kappaB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 12481–12486.
- Takaba, J., Mishima, Y., Hatake, K., and Kasahara, T. (2010). Role of bone marrow-derived monocytes/macrophages in the repair of mucosal damage caused by irradiation and/or anticancer drugs in colitis model. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2010, 634145.
- Temelkovski, J., Kumar, R. K., and Maronese, S. E. (1997). Enhanced production of an EGF-like growth factor by parenchymal macrophages following bleomycin-induced pulmonary injury. *Exp. Lung Res.* 23, 377–391.

- Terakado, M., Gon, Y., Sekiyama, A., Takeshita, I., Kozu, Y., Matsumoto, K., Takahashi, N., and Hashimoto, S. (2011). The Rac1/JNK pathway is critical for EGFR-dependent barrier formation in human airway epithelial cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 300, L56–L63.
- Tesfaigzi, Y. (2003). Processes involved in the repair of injured airway epithelia. Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. (Warsz.) 51, 283–288.
- Tighe, R. M., Liang, J., Liu, N., Jung, Y., Jiang, D., Gunn, M. D., and Noble, P. W. (2011). Recruited exudative macrophages selectively produce CXCL10 after noninfectious lung injury. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 45, 781–788.
- Tili, E., Michaille, J. J., Cimino, A., Costinean, S., Dumitru, C. D., Adair, B., Fabbri, M., Alder, H., Liu, C. G., Calin, G. A., and Croce, C. M. (2007). Modulation of miR-155 and miR-125b levels following lipopolysaccharide/TNFalpha stimulation and their possible roles in regulating the response to endotoxin shock. J. Immunol. 179, 5082–5089.
- Truman, L. A., Ford, C. A., Pasikowska, M., Pound, J. D., Wilkinson, S. J., Dumitriu, I. E., Melville, L., Melrose, L. A., Ogden, C. A., Nibbs, R., Graham, G., Combadiere, C., and Gregory, C. D. (2008). CX3CL1/fractalkine is released from apoptotic lymphocytes to stimulate macrophage chemotaxis. *Blood* 112, 5026–5036.
- Uddin, M., and Levy, B. D. (2011). Resolvins: natural agonists for resolution of pulmonary inflammation. *Prog. Lipid Res.* 50, 75–88.
- van den Berg, J. M., Weyer, S., Weening, J. J., Roos, D., and Kuijpers, T. W. (2001). Divergent effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha on apoptosis of human neutrophils. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 69, 467–473.

- Van Winkle, L. S., Isaac, J. M., and Plopper, C. G. (1997). Distribution of epidermal growth factor receptor and ligands during bronchiolar epithelial repair from naphthaleneinduced Clara cell injury in the mouse. Am. J. Pathol. 151, 443–459.
- Vergadi, E., Chang, M. S., Lee, C., Liang, O. D., Liu, X., Fernandez-Gonzalez, A., Mitsialis, S. A., and Kourembanas, S. (2011). Early macrophage recruitment and alternative activation are critical for the later development of hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Circulation* 123, 1986–1995
- Vermi, W., Riboldi, E., Wittamer, V., Gentili, F., Luini, W., Marrelli, S., Vecchi, A., Franssen, J. D., Communi, D., Massardi, L., Sironi, M., Mantovani, A., Parmentier, M., Facchetti, F., and Sozzani, S. (2005). Role of ChemR23 in directing the migration of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells to lymphoid organs and inflamed skin. J. Exp. Med. 201, 509–515.
- Voll, R. E., Herrmann, M., Roth, E. A., Stach, C., Kalden, J. R., and Girkontaite, I. (1997). Immunosuppressive effects of apoptotic cells. *Nature* 390, 350–351.
- Wang, B., Gong, X., Wan, J. Y., Zhang, L., Zhang, Z., Li, H. Z., and Min, S. (2011). Resolvin D1 protects mice from LPS-induced acute lung injury. *Pulm. Pharmacol. Ther.* 24, 434–441.
- Ware, L. B., and Matthay, M. A. (2001). Alveolar fluid clearance is impaired in the majority of patients with acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 163, 1376–1383.
- White, S. R., Martin, L. D., Abe, M. K., Marroquin, B. A., Stern, R., and Fu, X. (2009). Insulin receptor substrate-1/2 mediates IL-4-induced migration of human airway epithelial cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 297, L164–L173.
- Whitsett, J. A., and Kalinichenko, V. V. (2011). Notch and basal cells take

center stage during airway epithelial regeneration. *Cell Stem Cell* 8, 597–598.

- Wissinger, E., Goulding, J., and Hussell, T. (2009). Immune homeostasis in the respiratory tract and its impact on heterologous infection. *Semin. Immunol.* 21, 147–155.
- Wolk, K. E., Lazarowski, E. R., Traylor, Z. P., Yu, E. N., Jewell, N. A., Durbin, R. K., Durbin, J. E., and Davis, I. C. (2008). Influenza A virus inhibits alveolar fluid clearance in BALB/c mice. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 178, 969–976.
- Zhou, J., Law, H. K., Cheung, C. Y., Ng, I. H., Peiris, J. S., and Lau, Y. L. (2006). Functional tumor necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand production by avian influenza virusinfected macrophages. *J. Infect. Dis.* 193, 945–953.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 August 2011; accepted: 08 November 2011; published online: 24 November 2011.

Citation: Herold S, Mayer K and Lohmeyer J (2011) Acute lung injury: how macrophages orchestrate resolution of inflammation and tissue repair. Front. Immun. 2:65. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00065

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

copyright 2011 Herold, Mayer and Lohmeyer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



# CRP/anti-CRP antibodies assembly on the surfaces of cell remnants switches their phagocytic clearance toward inflammation

# Christina Janko<sup>1†</sup>, Sandra Franz<sup>2,3\*†</sup>, Luis E. Munoz<sup>1†</sup>, Stefan Siebig<sup>1</sup>, Silke Winkler<sup>1</sup>, Georg Schett<sup>1</sup>, Kirsten Lauber<sup>4</sup>, Ahmed Sheriff<sup>5</sup>, Johan van der Vlag<sup>6</sup> and Martin Herrmann<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Internal Medicine 3, Friedrich-Alexander University Erlangen–Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany

<sup>2</sup> Department for Dermatology, Venerology and Allergology, University Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany

<sup>3</sup> MRC Centre for Inflammation and Research, Queen's Medical Research Institute, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK

<sup>4</sup> Department of Radiation Oncology, Ludwig-Maximilians University Munich, Munich, Germany

<sup>5</sup> Department of Nephrology and Internal Intensive Care Medicine, Charité Berlin, Germany

<sup>6</sup> Nephrology Research Laboratory, Nijmegen Centre for Molecular Life Sciences, Department of Nephrology, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, Netherlands

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Silvano Sozzani, University of Brescia, Italy

Patrizia Rovere Querini, Fondazione Centro San Raffaele del Monte Tabor and Vita-Salute University, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Sandra Franz, Department for Dermatology, Venerology and Allergology, Max Bürger Research Centre, University Leipzig, Johannisallee 30, 04103 Leipzig, Germany. e-mail: sandra.franz@medizin. uni-leipzig.de

<sup>†</sup>Christina Janko, Sandra Franz and Luis E. Munoz have contributed equally to this work.

### **INTRODUCTION**

Accumulation in blood and tissues of post-apoptotic remnants is discussed to be of etiological and pathological importance for patients with Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) since the pathognomonic autoantigens are sequestered inside viable cells. They are, therefore, not accessible to the immune system in healthy persons. These autoantigens are often exposed during cell death. The formation of major complexes containing cellular debris and autoantibodies has been observed in patients with SLE and proposed to be an important pathogen (Munoz et al., 2009). Sensibilization of cellular remnants with autoantibodies shifts the phagocytosis of dead cells from liver and spleen to blood-borne phagocytes, which do not take up unsensitized material. This antibody-dependent pro-inflammatory pathway initiates an amplification loop of inflammation and contributes to the chronification of the autoimmune response (Munoz et al., 2010c).

The recognition by macrophages, of dead cell remnants is based on phosphatidylserine (PS) or on sugar neo-epitopes exposed on the plasma membranes (Schlegel and Williamson, 2001; Bottcher et al., 2006; Franz et al., 2006; Ravichandran and Lorenz, 2007).

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic inflammatory disease characterized by the production of autoantibodies, formation of immune complexes (IC), and activation of complement that ultimately fuel acute and/or chronic inflammation. Accumulation in blood and tissues of post-apoptotic remnants is considered of etiological and pathological importance for patients with SLE. Besides receptors directly recognizing apoptotic cells, soluble opsonins of the innate immune system bind apoptotic material dependent on the stage of apoptosis. We describe the binding to the surface of secondary necrotic cells (SNEC) of the serum opsonin CRP and further opsonins. We show that anti-dsDNA and anti-CRP autoantibodies bind and sensitize SNEC. Autoantibody-sensitized SNEC were cleared by macrophages *in vitro* and induced a pro-inflammatory cytokine response. In conclusion, anti-CRP, CRP, and SNEC form a ternary pyrogen endowed with strong pro-inflammatory capabilities which is able to maintain and perpetuate chronic inflammation.

Keywords: immune complexes, opsonins, CRP, anti-dsDNA, inflammation, SLE

PS is recognized either directly by receptors as a "nude" lipid, or in combination with soluble proteins working as "adaptor molecules" or "opsonins" that bridge phagocytes and dead cells. These opsonins include milk fat globule protein MFGE8 (Hanayama et al., 2002), growth arrest specific gene product GAS-6 (ligand for the receptor tyrosine kinase MerTK; Scott et al., 2001), β-2-glycoprotein-1 (Balasubramanian and Schroit, 1998), serumderived protein S (Anderson et al., 2003), annexin I (Arur et al., 2003), annexin A5 (Bondanza et al., 2004), C-reactive protein (CRP; Janko et al., 2009), C1q (Taylor et al., 2000), mannosebinding lectin (Nauta et al., 2004), serum amyloid P-component (Manfredi et al., 2008), the long Pentraxin 3 (Rovere et al., 2000), and further phospholipid or carbohydrate recognizing proteins (Franz et al., 2006; Beer et al., 2008; Sarter et al., 2009). The binding of these opsonins is often dependent on the stage of apoptosis, with PS recognition preceding that of carboneoepitopes (Franz et al., 2007). All these molecules mediate recognition and uptake of dying cells by macrophages and act as bridging opsonins that modulate the inflammatory and immunogenic potential of apoptotic material. Some of them additionally participate in complement activation (Ogden and Elkon, 2006).

C-reactive protein binds to damaged cell membranes *via* (lyso)phosphatidylcholine and efficiently activates the classical complement pathway avoiding the assembly of the membrane attack complex (MAC). CRP acts as an opsonin supporting ingestion of apoptotic cells by human macrophages and plays a role in the clearance of apoptotic cells, especially during acute phase reactions (Gershov et al., 2000; Vogt et al., 2007). In the case of primary necrosis, the action of nucleases causes an increase in the binding of CRP to necrotic cells that may foster their silent elimination (Janko et al., 2009).

Generally opsonins for dead cells tend to be anti-inflammatory and ameliorate clearance. Their interaction with its cognate receptor of the phagocytic cell often attenuates inflammatory responses (Voll et al., 1997; Aderem and Underhill, 1999). In patients with chronic inflammatory autoimmune diseases these opsonins for dying or dead cells are often targets of autoantibodies (**Table 1**). Intriguingly, in almost all cases the autoantibodies target only the surface bound opsonins and ignore their circulating counterparts (Shoenfeld et al., 2007; Sjowall et al., 2007; Bigler et al., 2009). The autoimmune response is, therefore, directed against opsonized material and not against the fluid phase proteins (Bell et al., 1998; Shoenfeld et al., 2007; Schaller et al., 2009). The autoantibodydependent engagement of Fc $\gamma$  receptors may have devastating consequences since it is prone to shift the process of waste disposal toward inflammation.

Here we describe the exposure of binding sites of anti-dsDNA autoantibodies and of innate opsonins on the surfaces of postapoptotic remnants and the recognition of these targets by autoantibodies against dsDNA and against surface bound CRP, respectively. The autoantibodies promote the release of inflammatory cytokines by macrophages in both conditions. We postulate that anti-opsonin autoantibodies, opsonins, and (post)apoptotic material form a ternary pyrogen that fuels chronic inflammation in patients with SLE.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS PATIENTS

Thirty nine patients from our outpatient clinic met the classification criteria of the American College of Rheumatology for SLE were included in this study (Hochberg, 1997). Thirty

Table 1   Opsonins of dead and dying cells as targets of humoral	
autoimmunity.	

Opsonin	lgG autoantibodies reported in
C1q	Siegert et al. (1991)
Protein S	Oosting et al. (1993)
Annexin A5	Matsuda et al. (1994)
β2-GP1	Tincani et al. (1996)
(PS)	Manfredi et al. (1998)
CRP	Sjowall et al. (2002)
MBL	Seelen et al. (2003)
SAP	Zandman-Goddard et al. (2005)
PTX3	Bassi et al. (2010)
Annexin A1	Kretz et al. (2010)
Galectins	Own data

five NHD served as a control population. An informed consent was obtained from all blood donors and the study received the final approval from the ethics committee of the University Hospital Erlangen. Serum samples were obtained by centrifugation at 1000 g for 15 min of clotted blood, stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C, thawed once for ELISA, and stored again until phagocytosis assays.

#### **ISOLATION OF CRP**

Human CRP was purified from human serum by calciumdependent affinity chromatography with immobilized phosphorylcholine (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). The monomeric CPR was removed by filtration through Amicon Ultra centrifugation columns (Millipore, MA, USA). The purity of isolated CRP was assured by SDS PAGE and analytical HPLC.

#### SEROLOGICAL PARAMETERS

Anti-dsDNA autoantibodies were detected by the ability of specific serum antibodies to bind radiolabeled dsDNA employing the Farr method (Wold et al., 1968) adapted by Kredich et al. (1973).

Anti-CRP autoantibodies were detected by ELISA, briefly, NUNC maxisorp 96-well microtiter plates (Nalgene Nunc, New York, NY, USA) were coated overnight at 4°C with 2µg/well native human CRP in Coating buffer (0.1 M Na2CO3, 0.1 M Na HCo3, pH 9,6) and blocked for 2h with 1% BSA in PBS. Patient sera were diluted 1:100 in 1% BSA/PBS-0.05% Tween, added in duplicates and incubated for 60 min. After washing with PBS-0.05% Tween, HRP-conjugated rabbit F(ab')2 antihuman IgG (Southern Biotech) was diluted 1:10000 in PBS-Tween, added to each well and incubated for 60 min. After washing with PBS-Tween, the substrate (1 mg/ml TMB, 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.05 M Citric Acid, 0.006% H2O2, pH 5) was added to each well and incubated at room temperature. After 15 min the reaction was stopped with 25% sulfuric acid. Optical densities (OD) were measured at 450 nm. To discriminate positive from negative sera a cutoff was set at the mean value of NHD population plus 2 SD.

#### SECONDARY NECROTIC CELL-DERIVED MATERIAL

Periphereal blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) served as source for secondary necrotic cell-derived material (SNEC). PBMC were isolated from whole blood by Ficoll density gradient centrifugation using Lymphoflot (Bio-Rad, Dreieich, Germany). Remaining platelets were removed by centrifugation through heat inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS; Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany) and PBMC were subsequently reconstituted in PBS (Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany). Finally SNEC was produced by UVB irradiation (180 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>) of PBMC. In order to achieve uniform staining with Trypan blue (0.02%) or propidium iodide  $(1 \mu g/ml)$  in late stages of apoptosis, the lymphocytes were treated with heat (56°C) for 30 min and stored at 4°C in PBS until use. All particles generated by this method showed homogeneous fluorescence staining, scatter, and ligand-binding characteristics detected by flow-cytometry. We further characterized SNEC by analyzing the binding of the following fluorescent labeled dying and dead cell ligands as well as control proteins: BSA, Narcissus pseudonarcissus lectin (Npn), acetylated low density lipoprotein (acLDL), chicken

annexin A5 (AxA5), human CRP. Human complement components C1q and C3c, and human IgG were detected employing fluorescent labeled specific antibodies, as control served heat inactivated human serum and NHD serum, respectively. Fluorescence microscopy pictures were done by staining SNEC with propidium iodide and monoclonal antibodies recognizing dsDNA and apoptotic nucleosomes. In the phagocytosis assays SNEC stained with trypan blue was incubated with patients' sera, respectively for 30 min. Not bound serum proteins were removed by a washing step.

For the evaluation of the role of the opsonin CRP in the formation of ternary complexes, selected anti-dsDNA negative sera from patients with SLE were previously adsorbed  $2 \times$  against immobilized Phosphorylcholine (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) and SNEC to remove CRP and anti-SNEC antibodies, respectively.

#### LIGAND SPECIFIC INTERACTION EMPLOYING INERT PARTICLES

We employed Sephadex beads coated with protein G (Pharmacia) to immobilize the anti-dsDNA monoclonal antibody 33.C9 or normal human IgG. Sephadex beads coated with phosphorylcholine were used to immobilize CRP in the presence or absence of calcium. Coated beads were incubated with fluorescent SNEC for 30 min at room temperature and immediately analyzed by fluorescence microscopy.

#### **MACROPHAGE PREPARATION**

Leukocytes were isolated from heparinized human peripheral blood by density-gradient centrifugation (Ficoll-Paque PLUS, GE Healthcare). Monocytes were enriched by anti-CD14 microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec). Macrophages were generated by culturing CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes for 6 days in RPMI (Biochrome) supplemented with 1% penicillin/streptomycin and 1% glutamine (both Gibco) and 10% heat inactivated FCS (Biochrome), in the presence of 50 U/ml GM-CSF (Behringwerke, Marburg, Germany).

### PHAGOCYTOSIS ASSAYS

Phagocytosis assays were performed in two independent experiments with sera from two patients with SLE of each group (anti-dsDNA-/anti-CRP-, anti-dsDNA+/anti-CRP-, anti-dsDNA+/anti-CRP+, anti-dsDNA-/anti-CRP+) or NHD. Phagocytosis assays were performed as follows; macrophages were rinsed with PBS to wash off serum components of the macrophage differentiation medium. Macrophages were cocultured with trypan blue-labeled SNEC (non-opsonized or opsonized with different patients sera) in a ratio of 1:10 in serum free medium containing 100 ng/ml LPS at 37°C. After 1 h noninternalized SNEC were removed and macrophages detached with trypsin/EDTA. Phagocytosing macrophages were quantified by flow-cytometry.

### **CYTOKINE QUANTIFICATION**

Supernatants from phagocytosis cultures were collected after 18 or 24 h in co-culture with SNEC. Cytokines IL-8, TNF, and IL-10 were quantified by either ELISA (Peprotech) or multiplex bead array technology (Bender Medsystems, Vienna, Austria).

### STATISTICS

Association between parameters were evaluated by a bivariate correlation test. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD, with n = number of independent experiments. Statistical significance was evaluated using a Student's *t* test. All statistic calculations were done with the software SPSS-Statistics 18.0.

### **RESULTS**

# SECONDARY NECROTIC CELLS-DERIVED MATERIAL EXPOSES BINDING SITES FOR SEVERAL OPSONINS

Considering the importance of dsDNA as autoantigen in SLE and the tight interaction between degraded nuclear DNA and CRP, we analyzed its localization in SNEC by flow-cytometry, indirect immunofluorescence, and ligand specific interaction with inert particles. We observed that after execution of apoptosis, peripheral blood lymphocytes contain high amounts of degraded DNA (Figure 1A) and show low binding of C3c, high binding of acLDL, NPn lectin, AxA5, C1q, CRP, and IgG from patients with SLE (Figure 1B, gray curves). Black histograms correspond to BSA-FITC binding as control for AxA5, CRP, acLDL, NPn lectin; to anti-C3c and anti-C1q staining in the presence of decomplemented serum; and to anti-IgG in the presence of NHD serum, respectively. The binding to SNEC of C1q and of autoantibodies from patients with SLE but not that of CRP was abolished by treatment of SNEC with DNase. SNEC show a random distribution of autoantibody (anti-dsDNA and anti-apoptotic nucleosomes) targets on their surfaces that do not overlap with the nuclear chromatin (Figure 1C). To test whether the binding sites for antidsDNA and for CRP are not sequestered inside the SNEC but are accessible on their surfaces we employed anti-dsDNA antibodies and CRP immobilized on beads mimicking the curvature of effector phagocytes, respectively. Co-incubation of fluorescent SNEC demonstrates its specific interaction with both immobilized anti-dsDNA and immobilized CRP, respectively. SNEC was captured by beads coated with anti-dsDNA or with CRP but not by those coated with normal human IgG or with CRP-beads in absence of calcium (Figures 1D,E). These experiments reveal that (1) CRP binding sites are accessible for CRP and (2) that both dsDNA and CRP bound to CRP binding sites are accessible for autoantibodies and for professional phagocytes on the surfaces of SNEC.

### AUTOANTIBODIES AGAINST THE DEAD CELLS OPSONIN CRP ARE FREQUENTLY FOUND IN PATIENTS WITH SLE AND DO NOT CORRELATE WITH ANTI-dsDNA

C-reactive protein interacts with SNEC and may facilitate their phagocytic clearance. SNEC–CRP complexes characterize SLE patients and are seldom found in healthy persons, since apoptotic cells rarely get secondary necrotic in the latter. In the absence of proper clearance bound CRP may itself become a target for the autoimmune response. Therefore, we measured the anti-CRP and anti-dsDNA reactivity in sera from 39 patients with SLE and 35 NHD.

Autoantibodies of the IgG isotype were detected in 61.5 and 2.7% (p < 0.001) of the patients with SLE and of healthy donors, respectively (**Figure 2A**). Anti-CRP did not correlate with anti-dsDNA (Farr assay; **Figure 2B**). This allowed us to study the



FIGURE 1 | SNEC contain DNA, detected by staining with propidium iodide (PI) (A). SNEC bind AxA5, NPn lectin, acLDL, CRP, serum C1q, and C3c depicted as gray curves as detected by flow-cytometry (B). IgG from patients with SLE sensitize SNEC [(B), right histograms]. BSA–FITC for labeled opsonins, heat inactivated human serum for complement, and NHD serum for SLE serum served as controls, respectively and are shown as black histograms. After treatment with DNAse-1 [(B), lower row], the

individual contribution of these autoantibodies in the uptake by macrophages of sensitized SNEC and their subsequent cytokine responses.

#### SENSIBILIZATION OF SNEC WITH AUTOANTIBODIES PROMOTES THEIR UPTAKE BY MACROPHAGES AND FUELS AN INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE RESPONSE

Macrophages were co-cultured with (I) pure SNEC or (II) SNEC pre-incubated with serum from healthy donors, or (III) sera from patients with SLE. The latter contained (IIIa) neither antidsDNA nor anti-CRP, (IIIb) anti-dsDNA only, (IIIc) anti-CRP only; (IIId) anti-dsDNA; and anti-CRP (**Figure 3A**). Treatment of SNEC with autoantibody positive sera results in an elevated uptake by macrophages, whereas phagocytosis of SNEC incubated with autoantibody negative serum does not. Sensibilization of SNEC with anti-dsDNA and anti-CRP antibodies promoted the highest phagocytosis index (p < 0.05; **Figure 3B**).

Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells is typically anti-inflammatory. We, therefore, analyzed the cytokine profile of LPS triggered binding of complement proteins and of IgG from SLE patients is reduced. SNEC expose binding sites for monoclonal antibodies recognizing dsDNA [(C), upper slide] and apoptotic nucleosomes [(C), lower slide]. Binding sites for anti-dsDNA [(D) lower row] and for CRP [(E), lower row] are accessible on the surfaces of SNEC and may, therefore, be employed by phagocytes for uptake. Negative controls (see Materials and Methods) are displayed in the upper rows of D/E.



macrophages after the uptake of SNEC in the presence and absence of opsonins. SNEC sensitized with serum of patients with SLE induces an increased production of IL-8 and TNF and a reduced release of IL-10 when compared with SNEC treated with the serum of healthy donors. **Figures 3C,D** shows the ratios of IL-8 and TNF in relation to IL-10. However, phagocytosis of SNEC targeted with anti-dsDNA and anti-CRP antibodies promoted the strongest inflammatory cytokine response as seen by the highest IL-8 and TNF ratios (**Figures 3C,D**).

### SNEC, THE OPSONIN CRP, AND ANTI-CRP AUTOANTIBODIES FORM TERNARY COMPLEXES THAT SHIFT CLEARANCE OF APOPTOTIC CELLS TOWARD INFLAMMATION

To evaluate the role of CRP, of anti-CRP autoantibodies during the clearance process of SNEC, we depleted CRP and anti-SNEC from anti-dsDNA negative/anti-CRP positive sera. These procedures remove the target structure for anti-CRP antibodies as well as other possible anti-SNEC antibodies. Depleted and reconstituted anti-CRP containing sera were used to sensitize SNEC for phagocytosis. Opsonisation with CRP or sensibilization with anti-CRP antibodies of SNEC (**Figure 4A**). However, the cytokine profile measured in the culture supernatants showed a significant higher TNF/IL-10 ratio if SNEC was opsonized with CRP and sensitized with anti-CRP autoantibodies, respectively (**Figure 4B**). The ternary complex of SNEC, CRP, and anti-CRP fosters the pro-inflammatory response of the macrophages.

#### DISCUSSION

In previous work, we have definitely demonstrated that autoantibodies promote phagocytosis of SNEC by blood–borne phagocytes and suggested that shuttling autoantigens into the intracellular milieu of phagocytes is an important trigger of inflammatory cytokine responses in patients with SLE (Munoz et al., 2009). SNEC–IC containing nucleic acids can be considered as a binary pyrogen able to induce much more damage than its single components apart (Munoz et al., 2010b). Since patients with SLE continuously produce SNEC, we proposed SNEC–IC as a lupus "pathogen" playing a role in the chronification of inflammation in patients with SLE (Munoz et al., 2010c).

In the actual work we have demonstrated that not properly cleared SNEC displays not only dsDNA on its surface but binding sites for several further opsonins. Employing inert particles we showed the presence of binding sites for anti-dsDNA and for CRP on the surfaces of SNEC. These are accessible to be recognized by opsonins, autoantibodies, and finally by phagocytes. CRP reportedly binds to SNEC *via* (lyso)phosphatidylcholine of disturbed membranes (Volanakis and Wirtz, 1979), to nuclear components like histones (Du Clos et al., 1988), and to snRNPs (Jewell et al., 1993). Such DNA-associated proteins become more accessible after DNA degradation during apoptosis and in post-apoptotic cells (Janko et al., 2009).

Anti-CRP autoantibodies have a high prevalence in patients with SLE. This finding has also been reported by several other authors (Bell et al., 1998; Sjowall et al., 2002). The titer of anti-CRP is associated with clinical activity but not with the levels of circulating CRP (Sjowall et al., 2005). It has also been shown that anti-CRP recognizes neo-epitopes of surface bound CRP which displays a monomeric conformation (Bell et al., 1998; Sjowall





et al., 2002). The levels of anti-CRP and of anti-dsDNA do not correlate as already been shown by Sjowall et al. (2002). The independency of anti-CRP from anti-dsDNA confers target-bound CRP a role as further autoantigen in autoimmune responses of patients with SLE.

In this work we report the ability of sera to sensitize SNEC for phagocytic clearance by macrophages. Enhanced phagocytosis of SNEC by macrophages is observed in all conditions where anti-dsDNA or anti-CRP, or both are present. We previously reported that anti-dsDNA sensitize SNEC and enhance their uptake by blood–borne phagocytes (Munoz et al., 2009, 2010a). Macrophages play a very important role in the swift engulfment of dying cells (Voll et al., 1997). The involvement of these professional phagocytes in the aberrant clearance process may have additional deleterious consequences for patients with SLE, which often show an impaired clearance capability.

During an acute phase response CRP usually increases dramatically. In patients with SLE CRP is not considered as a marker for inflammation - often CRP levels increase only moderately during flares. This is in striking contrast to other rheumatic diseases with comparable amounts of tissue inflammation such as RA and gout (Becker et al., 1980). High IFNα levels, prototypic for SLE flares, have been shown to suppress IL-6 induced CRP levels by human hepatocytes in vitro (Enocsson et al., 2009). CRP has early been identified as a component of immune complexes (IC) circulating in the plasma of patients with SLE (Maire et al., 1983). CRP bound to circulating or sessile targets may escape detection, resulting in artificially low values of measurable CRP. In a clearance deficiency scenario where post-apoptotic remnants accumulate, CRP can be massively sequestered by this mechanism. We propose that in patients with SLE dead cell bound CRP is an important target for anti-CRP antibodies compromising the normal clearance process.

The complement system and CRP act together as an important backup mechanism for cells that have escaped the early PSdependent clearance process (Gaipl et al., 2001). After opsonization, CRP activates complement and facilitates silent clearance by macrophages (Gershov et al., 2000). If complement is low, CRP does not enhance the phagocytosis of late apoptotic neutrophils (Hart et al., 2005). To exclude influences of the serum levels of complement of individual sera we performed the phagocytosis assays in the absence of complement. This argues for an Fcy-receptor involvement during recognition and engulfment by macrophages of sensitized SNEC. Sensibilization of SNEC with either anti-dsDNA or with anti-CRP present in sera from patients with SLE significantly increased the production by macrophages of inflammatory cytokines. We have shown that SNEC exposes binding sites for anti-dsDNA and for CRP on their surfaces and suggest that autoantibodies recognize these targets and thereby form IC that can be taken up by macrophages in an inflammatory fashion. The maximal enhancement of uptake and inflammatory cytokine production was observed employing sera containing both antidsDNA and anti-CRP. This observation suggests that concomitant sensibilization with both autoantibody specificities results in a higher density of antibodies bound to the surfaces of the target particles. The spatial vicinity of the Fc portions is critical to trigger Fcy-receptor mediated phagocytosis (Allen and Aderem, 1996).

Kenyon et al. (2011) recently showed that anti-C3 antibodies in sera from autoimmune mice inhibited uptake of apoptotic cells by blocking C3 recognition by mouse macrophages suggesting that autoantibodies against the dead cell opsonin C3 may contribute to a further suppression of apoptotic cell disposal increasing severity and/or exacerbations in SLE (Kenyon et al., 2011). On the first view this contradicts our results. However, phagocytosis assays crucially depend on experimental details. In contrast to the settings of Kenyon et al. (2011) our phagocytosis assays were performed under serum free conditions. After opsonisation, SNEC was washed twice and resuspended in serum free medium. Therefore, only molecules bound to the target-cells influenced the outcome of phagocytosis.

We employed anti-dsDNA negative sera from patients with SLE and depleted CRP and anti-SNEC, to analyze if circulating CRP is part of a major IC containing SNEC and anti-CRP. Although the indices of SNEC phagocytosis by macrophages were not increased by opsonisation with CRP and/or sensibilization with anti-CRP, the presence of anti-CRP and SNEC-bound CRP induced a strong TNF response of macrophages. The presence of anti-CRP at the phagocytic synapse formed by phagocytes and SNEC might be decisive to start the signaling process that results in cytokine production. Our findings that anti-opsonin antibodies shift the clearance toward inflammation are in agreement with previous findings by Rovere et al. (1999) who reported that anti-beta 2-GP1 antibodies bound to apoptotic cells skew their immunogenicity, enabling DCs to present their antigen with higher efficiency and secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines.

The fact that many opsonins for dead cells are also targeted by IgG autoimmune responses (**Table 1**) place them in the "crime scene" during the challenge of the tolerance in germinal centers of patients with SLE (Baumann et al., 2002). Anti-CRP in a patient with persistent deficiency for the early anti-inflammatory clearance of apoptotic cells provides the optimal condition to form ternary pro-inflammatory IC composed of anti-CRP, CRP, and SNEC. The **Figure 5** shows a schematic representation of the usual and the alternative interactions among SNEC, opsonins, and phagocytes. We conclude that sensibilization by autoantibodies of SNEC, either directly or indirectly, shifts the clearance process by macrophages toward inflammation. The role of the individual receptors involved in this alternative and pathological phagocytosis pathway may differ amongst individual patients.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This project was supported by the Masterswitch project of the European Union (EU), by a DFG research fellowship (Sandra Franz), by SFB 643 (Luis E. Munoz), the training Grant GK SFB 643 from the DFG (Christina Janko), an intramural grant of

#### **REFERENCES**

- Aderem, A., and Underhill, D. M. (1999). Mechanisms of phagocytosis in macrophages. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 17, 593–623.
- Allen, L. A., and Aderem, A. (1996). Molecular definition of distinct cytoskeletal structures involved in complement- and Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis in macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 184, 627–637.
- Anderson, H. A., Maylock, C. A., Williams, J. A., Paweletz, C. P., Shu, H., and Shacter, E. (2003). Serumderived protein S binds to phosphatidylserine and stimulates the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 4, 87–91.
- Arur, S., Uche, U. E., Rezaul, K., Fong, M., Scranton, V., Cowan, A. E., Mohler, W., and Han, D. K. (2003). Annexin I is an endogenous ligand that mediates apoptotic cell engulfment. *Dev. Cell* 4, 587–598.
- Balasubramanian, K., and Schroit, A. J. (1998). Characterization of phosphatidylserine-dependent beta2-glycoprotein I macrophage interactions. Implications for apoptotic cell clearance by phagocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 29272–29277.
- Bassi, N., Ghirardello, A., Blank, M., Zampieri, S., Sarzi-Puttini, P., Mantovani, A., Shoenfeld, Y., and Doria,

A. (2010). IgG anti-pentraxin 3 antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 69, 1704–1710.

- Baumann, I., Kolowos, W., Voll, R. E., Manger, B., Gaipl, U., Neuhuber, W. L., Kirchner, T., Kalden, J. R., and Herrmann, M. (2002). Impaired uptake of apoptotic cells into tingible body macrophages in germinal centers of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 46, 191–201.
- Becker, G. J., Waldburger, M., Hughes, G. R., and Pepys, M. B. (1980). Value of serum C-reactive protein measurement in the investigation of fever in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 39, 50–52.
- Beer, A., Andre, S., Kaltner, H., Lensch, M., Franz, S., Sarter, K., Schulze, C., Gaipl, U. S., Kern, P., Herrmann, M., and Gabius, H. J. (2008). Human galectins as sensors for apoptosis/necrosisassociated surface changes of granulocytes and lymphocytes. *Cytometry* A 73, 139–147.
- Bell, S. A., Faust, H., Schmid, A., and Meurer, M. (1998). Autoantibodies to C-reactive protein (CRP) and other acute-phase proteins in systemic autoimmune diseases. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 113, 327–332.



the University Erlangen-Nürnberg (Frauenförderung; Christina Janko), by the IZKF of the University Clinic of Erlangen (Martin Herrmann), and the K. und R. Wucherpfennigstiftung. (Martin Herrmann).

- Bigler, C., Schaller, M., Perahud, I., Osthoff, M., and Trendelenburg, M. (2009). Autoantibodies against complement C1q specifically target C1q bound on early apoptotic cells. *J. Immunol.* 183, 3512–3521.
- Bondanza, A., Zimmermann, V. S., Rovere-Querini, P., Turnay, J., Dumitriu, I. E., Stach, C. M., Voll, R. E., Gaipl, U. S., Bertling, W., Poschl, E., Kalden, J. R., Manfredi, A. A., and Herrmann, M. (2004). Inhibition of phosphatidylserine recognition heightens the immunogenicity of irradiated lymphoma cells in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 200, 1157–1165.
- Bottcher, A., Gaipl, U. S., Furnrohr, B. G., Herrmann, M., Girkontaite, I., Kalden, J. R., and Voll, R. E. (2006). Involvement of phosphatidylserine, alphavbeta3, CD14, CD36, and complement C1q in the phagocytosis of primary necrotic lymphocytes by macrophages. *Arthritis Rheum.* 54, 927–938.
- Du Clos, T. W., Zlock, L. T., and Rubin, R. L. (1988). Analysis of the binding of C-reactive protein to histones and chromatin. *J. Immunol.* 141, 4266–4270.
- Enocsson, H., Sjowall, C., Skogh, T., Eloranta, M. L., Ronnblom, L., and Wettero, J. (2009). Interferonalpha mediates suppression of Creactive protein: explanation for

muted C-reactive protein response in lupus flares? *Arthritis Rheum.* 60, 3755–3760.

- Franz, S., Frey, B., Sheriff, A., Gaipl, U. S., Beer, A., Voll, R. E., Kalden, J. R., and Herrmann, M. (2006). Lectins detect changes of the glycosylation status of plasma membrane constituents during late apoptosis. *Cytometry A* 69, 230–239.
- Franz, S., Herrmann, K., Fuhrnrohr, B., Sheriff, A., Frey, B., Gaipl, U. S., Voll, R. E., Kalden, J. R., Jack, H. M., and Herrmann, M. (2007). After shrinkage apoptotic cells expose internal membrane-derived epitopes on their plasma membranes. *Cell Death Differ.* 14, 733–742.
- Gaipl, U. S., Kuenkele, S., Voll, R. E., Beyer, T. D., Kolowos, W., Heyder, P., Kalden, J. R., and Herrmann, M. (2001). Complement binding is an early feature of necrotic and a rather late event during apoptotic cell death. *Cell Death Differ.* 8, 327–334.
- Gershov, D., Kim, S., Brot, N., and Elkon, K. B. (2000). C-Reactive protein binds to apoptotic cells, protects the cells from assembly of the terminal complement components, and sustains an antiinflammatory innate immune response: implications for systemic autoimmunity. *J. Exp. Med.* 192, 1353–1364.

- Hanayama, R., Tanaka, M., Miwa, K., Shinohara, A., Iwamatsu, A., and Nagata, S. (2002). Identification of a factor that links apoptotic cells to phagocytes. *Nature* 417, 182–187.
- Hart, S. P., Alexander, K. M., Maccall, S. M., and Dransfield, I. (2005). C-reactive protein does not opsonize early apoptotic human neutrophils, but binds only membrane-permeable late apoptotic cells and has no effect on their phagocytosis by macrophages. J. Inflamm. (Lond.) 2, 5.
- Hochberg, M. C. (1997). Updating the American College of Rheumatology revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 40, 1725.
- Janko, C., Schorn, C., Weidner, D., Sarter, K., Chaurio, R., Sheriff, A., Schett, G., and Munoz, L. E. (2009). Treatment with DNAse I fosters binding to nec PBMC of CRP. *Autoimmunity* 42, 286–288.
- Jewell, W. S., Marnell, L. L., Rokeach, L. A., and Du Clos, T. W. (1993). C-reactive protein (CRP) binding to the Sm-D protein of snRNPS. Identification of a short polypeptide binding region. *Mol. Immunol.* 30, 701–708.
- Kenyon, K. D., Cole, C., Crawford, F., Kappler, J. W., Thurman, J. M., Bratton, D. L., Boackle, S. A., and Henson, P. M. (2011). IgG autoantibodies against deposited C3 inhibit macrophage-mediated apoptotic cell engulfment in systemic autoimmunity. J. Immunol. 187, 2101–2111.
- Kredich, N. M., Skyler, J. S., and Foote, L. J. (1973). Antibodies to native DNA in systemic lupus erythematosus. A technique of rapid and quantitative determination. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 131, 639–644.
- Kretz, C. C., Norpo, M., Abeler-Dorner, L., Linke, B., Haust, M., Edler, L., Krammer, P. H., and Kuhn, A. (2010). Anti-annexin 1 antibodies: a new diagnostic marker in the serum of patients with discoid lupus erythematosus. *Exp. Dermatol.* 19, 919–921.
- Maire, M. A., Barnet, M., Carpentier, N., Miescher, P. A., and Lambert, P. H. (1983). Identification of components of IC purified from human sera. I. Immune complexes purified from sera of patients with SLE. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 51, 215–224.
- Manfredi, A. A., Rovere, P., Galati, G., Heltai, S., Bozzolo, E., Soldini, L., Davoust, J., Balestrieri, G., Tincani, A., and Sabbadini, M. G. (1998). Apoptotic cell clearance in systemic

lupus erythematosus. I. Opsonization by antiphospholipid antibodies. *Arthritis Rheum.* 41, 205–214.

- Manfredi, A. A., Rovere-Querini, P., Bottazzi, B., Garlanda, C., and Mantovani, A. (2008). Pentraxins, humoral innate immunity and tissue injury. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 20, 538–544.
- Matsuda, J., Saitoh, N., Gohchi, K., Gotoh, M., and Tsukamoto, M. (1994). Anti-annexin V antibody in systemic lupus erythematosus patients with lupus anticoagulant and/or anticardiolipin antibody. *Am. J. Hematol.* 47, 56–58.
- Munoz, L. E., Janko, C., Chaurio, R. A., Schett, G., Gaipl, U. S., and Herrmann, M. (2010a). IgG opsonized nuclear remnants from dead cells cause systemic inflammation in SLE. *Autoimmunity* 43, 232–235.
- Munoz, L. E., Janko, C., Schulze, C., Schorn, C., Sarter, K., Schett, G., and Herrmann, M. (2010b). Autoimmunity and chronic inflammation – two clearance-related steps in the etiopathogenesis of SLE. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 10, 38–42.
- Munoz, L. E., Lauber, K., Schiller, M., Manfredi, A. A., and Herrmann, M. (2010c). The role of defective clearance of apoptotic cells in systemic autoimmunity. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 6, 280–289.
- Munoz, L. E., Janko, C., Grossmayer, G. E., Frey, B., Voll, R. E., Kern, P., Kalden, J. R., Schett, G., Fietkau, R., Herrmann, M., and Gaipl, U. S. (2009). Remnants of secondarily necrotic cells fuel inflammation in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 60, 1733–1742.
- Nauta, A. J., Castellano, G., Xu, W., Woltman, A. M., Borrias, M. C., Daha, M. R., Van Kooten, C., and Roos, A. (2004). Opsonization with C1q and mannose-binding lectin targets apoptotic cells to dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 173, 3044–3050.
- Ogden, C. A., and Elkon, K. B. (2006). Role of complement and other innate immune mechanisms in the removal of apoptotic cells. *Curr. Dir. Autoimmun.* 9, 120–142.
- Oosting, J. D., Derksen, R. H., Bobbink, I. W., Hackeng, T. M., Bouma, B. N., and De Groot, P. G. (1993). Antiphospholipid antibodies directed against a combination of phospholipids with prothrombin, protein C, or protein S: an explanation for their pathogenic mechanism? *Blood* 81, 2618–2625.
- Ravichandran, K. S., and Lorenz, U. (2007). Engulfment of apoptotic cells: signals for a good meal. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 964–974.

- Rovere, P., Peri, G., Fazzini, F., Bottazzi,
  B., Doni, A., Bondanza, A., Zimmermann, V. S., Garlanda, C., Fascio, U., Sabbadini, M. G., Rugarli,
  C., Mantovani, A., and Manfredi,
  A. A. (2000). The long pentraxin
  PTX3 binds to apoptotic cells and regulates their clearance by antigenpresenting dendritic cells. *Blood* 96, 4300–4306.
- Rovere, P., Sabbadini, M. G., Vallinoto, C., Fascio, U., Recigno, M., Crosti, M., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Balestrieri, G., Tincani, A., and Manfredi, A. A. (1999). Dendritic cell presentation of antigens from apoptotic cells in a proinflammatory context: role of opsonizing anti-beta2glycoprotein I antibodies. Arthritis Rheum. 42, 1412–1420.
- Sarter, K., Andre, S., Kaltner, H., Lensch, M., Schulze, C., Urbonaviciute, V., Schett, G., Herrmann, M., and Gabius, H. J. (2009). Detection and chromatographic removal of lipopolysaccharide in preparations of multifunctional galectins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 379, 155–159.
- Schaller, M., Bigler, C., Danner, D., Ditzel, H. J., and Trendelenburg, M. (2009). Autoantibodies against C1q in systemic lupus erythematosus are antigen-driven. *J. Immunol.* 183, 8225–8231.
- Schlegel, R. A., and Williamson, P. (2001). Phosphatidylserine, a death knell. Cell Death Differ. 8, 551–563.
- Scott, R. S., Mcmahon, E. J., Pop, S. M., Reap, E. A., Caricchio, R., Cohen, P. L., Earp, H. S., and Matsushima, G. K. (2001). Phagocytosis and clearance of apoptotic cells is mediated by MER. *Nature* 411, 207–211.
- Seelen, M. A., Trouw, L. A., Van Der Hoorn, J. W., Fallaux-Van Den Houten, F. C., Huizinga, T. W., Daha, M. R., and Roos, A. (2003). Autoantibodies against mannose-binding lectin in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 134, 335–343.
- Shoenfeld, Y., Szyper-Kravitz, M., Witte, T., Doria, A., Tsutsumi, A., Tatsuya, A., Dayer, J. M., Roux-Lombard, P., Fontao, L., Kallenberg, C. G., Bijl, M., Matthias, T., Fraser, A., Zandman-Goddard, G., Blank, M., Gilburd, B., and Meroni, P. L. (2007). Autoantibodies against protective molecules– C1q, C-reactive protein, serum amyloid P, mannose-binding lectin, and apolipoprotein A1: prevalence in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1108, 227–239.
- Siegert, C., Daha, M., Westedt, M. L., Van Der Voort, E., and Breedveld, F. (1991). IgG autoantibodies against C1q are correlated with nephritis,

hypocomplementemia, and dsDNA antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J. Rheumatol.* 18, 230–234.

- Sjowall, C., Bengtsson, A. A., Sturfelt, G., and Skogh, T. (2005). Anti-CRP autoantibody levels correlate with disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Semin. Arthritis Rheum.* 35, 65. [author reply 66].
- Sjowall, C., Eriksson, P., Almer, S., and Skogh, T. (2002). Autoantibodies to C-reactive protein is a common finding in SLE, but not in primary Sjogren's syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis or inflammatory bowel disease. *J. Autoimmun.* 19, 155–160.
- Sjowall, C., Wettero, J., Bengtsson, T., Askendal, A., Almroth, G., Skogh, T., and Tengvall, P. (2007). Solidphase classical complement activation by C-reactive protein (CRP) is inhibited by fluid-phase CRP-C1q interaction. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 352, 251–258.
- Taylor, P. R., Carugati, A., Fadok, V. A., Cook, H. T., Andrews, M., Carroll, M. C., Savill, J. S., Henson, P. M., Botto, M., and Walport, M. J. (2000). A hierarchical role for classical pathway complement proteins in the clearance of apoptotic cells in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 192, 359–366.
- Tincani, A., Spatola, L., Prati, E., Allegri, F., Ferremi, P., Cattaneo, R., Meroni, P., and Balestrieri, G. (1996). The anti-beta2-glycoprotein I activity in human anti-phospholipid syndrome sera is due to monoreactive low-affinity autoantibodies directed to epitopes located on native beta2glycoprotein I and preserved during species' evolution. J. Immunol. 157, 5732–5738.
- Vogt, B., Fuhrnrohr, B., Muller, R., and Sheriff, A. (2007). CRP and the disposal of dying cells: consequences for systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. *Autoimmunity* 40, 295–298.
- Volanakis, J. E., and Wirtz, K. W. (1979). Interaction of C-reactive protein with artificial phosphatidylcholine bilayers. *Nature* 281, 155–157.
- Voll, R. E., Herrmann, M., Roth, E. A., Stach, C., Kalden, J. R., and Girkontaite, I. (1997). Immunosuppressive effects of apoptotic cells. *Nature* 390, 350–351.
- Wold, R. T., Young, F. E., Tan, E. M., and Farr, R. S. (1968). Deoxyribonucleic acid antibody: a method to detect its primary interaction with deoxyribonucleic acid. *Science* 161, 806–807.
- Zandman-Goddard, G., Blank, M., Langevitz, P., Slutsky, L., Pras, M., Levy, Y., Shovman, O., Witte, T., Doria, A., Rovensky, J., and

Shoenfeld, Y. (2005). Anti-serum amyloid component P antibodies in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus correlate with disease activity. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 64, 1698–1702.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 August 2011; paper pending published: 05 October 2011; accepted: 14 November 2011; published online: 02 December 2011.

Citation: Janko C, Franz S, Munoz LE, Siebig S, Winkler S, Schett G, Lauber K, Sheriff A, van der Vlag J and Herrmann M (2011) CRP/anti-CRP antibodies assembly on the surfaces of cell remnants switches their phagocytic clearance toward inflammation. Front. Immun. 2:70. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011. 00070

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology. Copyright © 2011 Janko, Franz, Munoz, Siebig, Winkler, Schett, Lauber, Sheriff, van der Vlag and Herrmann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



# New lives given by cell death: macrophage differentiation following their encounter with apoptotic leukocytes during the resolution of inflammation

# Amiram Ariel<sup>1</sup>\* and Charles N. Serhan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biology, University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel

<sup>2</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, Center for Experimental Therapeutics and Reperfusion Injury, Perioperative and Pain Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

#### Edited by:

Jerrold S. Levine, University of Illinois at Chicago, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Pablo Pelegrin, Hospital Universitario Virgen Arrixaca, Spain Patrizia Rovere Querini, Vita-Salute University, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Amiram Ariel, Department of Biology, University of Haifa, Haifa 31905, Israel.

e-mail: amiram@research.haifa.ac.il

Monocytes that migrate into tissues during inflammatory episodes and differentiate to macrophages were previously classified as classically (M1) or alternatively (M2) activated macrophages, based on their exposure to different fate-determining mediators. These macrophage subsets display distinct molecular markers and differential functions. At the same time, studies from recent years found that the encounter of apoptotic leukocytes with macrophages leads to the clearance of this cellular "debris" by the macrophages, while concomitantly reprogramming/immune-silencing the macrophages. While some of the features of M2 differentiation, such as arginase-1 (murine) and 15-lipoxygenases (human and murine) expression, were also displayed by macrophages following the engulfment of apoptotic cells, it was not clear whether apoptotic cells can be regarded as an M2-like differentiating signal. In this manuscript we review the recent information regarding the impact of apoptotic cells on macrophage phenotype changes in molecular terms. We will focus on recent evidence for the in vivo existence of distinct pro-resolving macrophages and the role of apoptotic cells, specialized lipid mediators, and glucocorticoids in their generation. Consequently, we will suggest that these pro-resolving CD11b<sup>low</sup> macrophages have metamorphed from M2-like macrophages, and modulated their protein profile to accommodate the changes in their function.

Keywords: resolution of inflammation, macrophage differentiation, efferocytosis, pro-resolving lipid mediators

# **INTRODUCTION**

Macrophages are highly plastic monocyte-derived cells that acquire different molecular and functional phenotypes following exposure to different bioactive molecules and environments. The early studies on the interactions of macrophages and lymphocytes in battling bacterial infections revealed the T helper type 1 (Th1) secreted cytokine IFNy to be involved in the classical activation of macrophages (Nathan et al., 1983). However, seminal studies by the groups of Gordon and Mantovani have extensively characterized additional macrophage subtypes activated in alternative manners (reviewed in Mantovani et al., 2004; Martinez et al., 2009). Since the major polarizing cytokines initially found to be involved in classical and alternative activation were derived from Th1 (IFNy) and Th2 (IL-4 and IL-13) lymphocytes these activated macrophages were named M1 and M2, respectively. Later studies revealed that in addition to IL-4, alternative activation can also be induced by immune complexes and glucocorticoids (Martinez et al., 2008), and accordingly the subdivision of alternatively activated macrophages to M2a-c was instilled. M1 macrophages are important inducers and effectors in the Th1 response. They are instrumental in immune responses against intracellular microbes and tumors (Mantovani et al., 2005). M2 macrophages are more heterogeneous, but generally play a role in Th2 responses, such as killing and encapsulation of extracellular parasites, resolving type 1 inflammation, and promoting tissue repair and remodeling. M2 macrophages are also playing a role in immune regulation and promote tumor progression (Mantovani et al., 2005; Martinez et al., 2009). M1 and M2 macrophages are not only distinct in function, but also express different receptors and enzymes required for their activities. M1 macrophages express high levels of inflammatory cytokines (IL-12, IL-23, TNFa, IL-1β, and IL-6) and chemokines (CXCL9, 10, and 11, CCL2, 3, 4, and 5, and CXCL2), as well as enzymes involved in the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and nitric oxide (NO; Mantovani et al., 2005). M2 macrophages express lower levels of inflammatory mediators, but high levels of IL-10, scavenger, mannose, and galactose receptors. Importantly, in mice, M2 express the enzyme arginase-1 that intercepts the NO generation pathway [though inducible NO synthase (iNOS)] to generate ornithine and polyamines that are instrumental in tissue repair and fibrosis (Hesse et al., 2001). Hence, the expression of iNOS and arginase-1 are major markers deciphering M1 and M2 macrophages. Additional markers of M2, such as YM1 and FIZZ1, were later identified in mouse macrophages (Raes et al., 2002, 2005).

Macrophages also undergo dramatic molecular and functional changes upon encounter, interaction with, and uptake of apoptotic cells (efferocytosis) during the resolution of inflammation. In this article we will highlight some of the similarities between M2 differentiation and transcriptional events activated by early efferocytosis. In addition, we will discuss recent results that support the notion that efferocytosis can eventually transform macrophages to another phenotype that is postulated to limit tissue repair/fibrosis and promote macrophage regulatory properties at remote sites. In this regard, it is important to note the early studies that indicated "non-phlogistic" activation of monocytes by the pro-resolving lipid mediators lipoxins. This bioactivity of lipoxins resulted in increased adhesion and migration of human monocytes (Maddox and Serhan, 1996; Maddox et al., 1997, 1998) hence prompting the notion that resolution-driven monocyte/macrophage activation promotes tissue repair and wound healing.

# EFFEROCYTOSIS AS AN ALTERNATIVE MODE OF MACROPHAGE ACTIVATION

The recognition, engulfment, and responsiveness to apoptotic cells are cardinal properties of resident and inflammatory macrophages and play a role in processes, such as tissue morphogenesis and homeostasis, embryonic development, hematopoiesis, immunity, and the resolution of inflammation (Savill et al., 2002; Erwig and Henson, 2007; Ravichandran and Lorenz, 2007). The recognition and uptake of apoptotic cells by macrophages through "eat me" signals (and the absence of "do not eat me" signals) expressed on their surface and their cognate receptors have been extensively studied and reviewed (Ravichandran, 2011). However, apoptotic cells also transduce signals to the engulfing macrophages that result in significant molecular and functional adjustments that address physiological needs consequent to the identified cell death. During the resolution of inflammation, macrophages engulf apoptotic cells and consequently, apoptotic cell recognition evokes distinct signaling events (Patel et al., 2006) that block the release of pro-inflammatory mediators from macrophages. This release is activated by bacterial moieties, and its blockage, which is termed immune-silencing (Voll et al., 1997; Fadok et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2004), is accompanied by the production of TGF $\beta$ and IL-10 (Byrne and Reen, 2002; Huynh et al., 2002; Mitchell et al., 2002), cytokines that can promote resolution and wound repair. The engulfment of apoptotic leukocytes by macrophages also leads to inhibition of iNOS expression and stimulates the expression of arginase-1 in the RAW 264 macrophage cell line (Freire-De-Lima et al., 2006) thereby preventing reactive NO production. In addition, the production of angiogenic growth factors (Golpon et al., 2004) by macrophages is consequent to the uptake of apoptotic cells. Elucidation of the signaling pathways activated by efferocytosis revealed significant roles for nuclear transcriptional regulators, such as peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR)-γ (Freire-De-Lima et al., 2006; Johann et al., 2006) and -8 (Mukundan et al., 2009) as well as the liver X receptor (LXR; A-Gonzalez et al., 2009) in promoting anti-inflammatory properties.

It is important to note that while macrophages engulf tissueinfiltrating apoptotic PMN during the resolution of inflammation, different experimental models used different sources of apoptotic cells, including Jurkat T cells, mouse thymocytes, or human peripheral blood neutrophils. All types of apoptotic cells express phosphatidylserine on the outer leaflet of their cytoplasmic membrane, and this is apparently the major signaling module used by these cells to communicate their mortal status with phagocytic cells (Ravichandran, 2011). Nevertheless, it is conceivable that other molecules ("eat me signals") are expressed on apoptotic cells of different sources to give a more detailed "report" as to the consequences of their demise. Thus, the interpretation of the results obtained following incubations of macrophages with apoptotic cells of different sources should be evaluated carefully depending on the source of apoptotic cells used.

The prototypic Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-13, and IL-10, as well as immune responses to parasites were found to promote many of the outcomes of efferocytosis in macrophages. These cytokines are well appreciated antagonists of the M1 response and macrophage pro-inflammatory properties (Martinez et al., 2009) while IL-4 and IL-13 can also promote fibrosis through TGFB production (Fichtner-Feigl et al., 2006; Wynn, 2008). IL-13 was also found to promote vascular endothelial growth factor production during lung injury (Corne et al., 2000). Importantly, IL-4 and IL-13 also activate PPAR-y (Huang et al., 1999; Berry et al., 2007) and PPAR-δ (Kang et al., 2008) to promote monocyte/macrophage alternative activation. LXR was recently found to synergize with IL-4 in the induction of arginase-1 expression and promotion of an M2 phenotype in regressive atherosclerotic lesions (Pourcet et al., 2011). Thus, efferocytosis induces phenotypic and molecular switches and activates signaling pathways in macrophages that resemble M2 polarization. Moreover, M2 polarization promotes efferocytosis through induction of different molecular modules, whereas M1 macrophages exert reduced uptake of apoptotic cells. Along these lines, recent studies also found that efferocytosis is a self-promoting process, and that M2 pathways play key roles in mediating this feature of macrophage function. These aspects of efferocytosis are covered by Korns et al. (2011) in this research topic and will not be elaborated on here. Nevertheless, while macrophages are paradoxically involved in both the generation of fibrosis and its resolution (Wynn and Barron, 2010) and efferocytosis and M2 polarization generate a positive feedback loop during resolution of inflammation, it is much less clear what are the events and mediators that stop M2 differentiation and tissue repair/remodeling short of excessive, fibrotic outcomes. Such events and mediators are inevitably required to complete the resolution of inflammation and restore homeostasis rather than end every infection with a debilitating scar.

#### **15-LIPOXYGENASE AND ITS PRODUCTS**

A major enzymatic pathway that mediates key events in the resolution of inflammation involves the expression and activation of 12/15-lipoxygenase (LO) in mice and 15-LO-1 in humans. 15-LO expression and activity are upregulated by IL-4 and IL-13 in murine and human monocytes, macrophages, and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (Levy et al., 1993; Nassar et al., 1994; Heydeck et al., 1998; Huang et al., 1999; Ariel et al., 2005). This upregulation leads to the production of 15-LO products from eicosatetraenoic and docosahexaenoic acids (ETA and DHA, respectively), such as 15-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (15-HETE), lipoxin (LX) A<sub>4</sub> and B<sub>4</sub> (5*S*,6*S*,15*S*-trihydroxy-7*E*,9*E*,11*Z*,13*E*-EPA, and 5*S*,14*R*,15*S*trihydroxy-6*E*,8*Z*,10*E*,12E-EPA, respectively), 17*S*-hydroxy-DHA (17*S*-hydroxy-4*Z*,7*Z*,10*Z*,13*Z*,15*E*,19*Z*-DHA), and protectin D1 (10R,17S-dihydroxy-4Z,7Z,11E,13E,15Z,19Z-DHA). Macrophage expression of 12/15-LO was found to promote the production of resolvin (Rv) D1 (7S,8R,17S-trihydroxy-4Z,9E,11E,13Z,15E,19Z-DHA) and maresin 1 (7,14-dihydroxy-4Z,8,10,12,16Z,19Z-DHA), in addition to LXA4 and PD1 (Merched et al., 2008; Serhan et al., 2009). The expression of 12/15-LO was also found to be upregulated in mouse macrophages following their incubation with apoptotic cells (Freire-De-Lima et al., 2006; Schif-Zuck et al., 2011) and resulted in the production of 15-HETE and LXA<sub>4</sub> (Freire-De-Lima et al., 2006). Macrophages from chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) mice display impaired efferocytosis that could be repaired by IL-4 through the expression of 12/15-LO and activation of PPAR-y (Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2009). Hence, 15-LO-mediated signaling seems to be a major convergence point for efferocytosis and M2 polarization, and its down-stream signaling pathways could play a paramount role in deciphering whether macrophages will become pro-fibrotic or will finalize the resolution sequel to restore tissue homeostasis.

Along these reasoning, 12/15-LO products have been shown to be anti-inflammatory and to promote tissue repair, while playing an anti-fibrotic and immune-regulatory role (Serhan, 2010). The major bioactive 12/15-LO products could be produced from arachidonic acid to yield 15-HETE or lipoxins, or from DHA to generate protectin D (PD)1, resolvins of the D series, and the recently identified macrophage product maresin 1 (Serhan, 2010). While 15-HETE binds PPARy to mediate its anti-inflammatory actions (Huang et al., 1999), LXA4, PD1, and resolvin D1 seem to act through binding to cell surface GPCRs (Serhan et al., 2011), as well as the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (that binds LXA<sub>4</sub>; Machado et al., 2006). All these 12/15-LO products induce a broad spectrum of anti-inflammatory actions on neutrophils and macrophages, as well as other cell types (Wittwer and Hersberger, 2007; Serhan et al., 2011). Lipoxins and PD1 are produced during epithelial injury in the cornea and mediate wound repair in addition to counteracting inflammation (Gronert et al., 2005). On the other hand, 12/15-LO products also induce unique pro-resolving properties of macrophages and promote regulatory pathways in lymphocytes. LXA<sub>4</sub>, PD1, RvD1, and PPARy agonists were all found to promote efferocytosis and enhance PMN clearance during resolution (Godson et al., 2000; Schwab et al., 2007; Fernandez-Boyanapalli et al., 2009; Krishnamoorthy et al., 2010). In addition, PD1 and RvD1 were found to promote macrophage departure of resolving inflammation sites (Schwab et al., 2007; Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). LXA<sub>4</sub> and PD1 inhibited inflammatory cytokine secretion from T lymphocytes (Ariel et al., 2003, 2005) and enhanced CCR5 expression on apoptotic PMN to promote clearance of its proinflammatory ligands (Ariel et al., 2006). Moreover, LXA<sub>4</sub> was recently found to play a role in the generation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (Zhang et al., 2010). Of note, LXA<sub>4</sub>, PD1, and RvD1 are potent inhibitors of fibrosis in the lung and kidney (Duffield et al., 2006; Martins et al., 2009; Borgeson et al., 2011). Therefore, 15-LO products can be generated by macrophages following their interaction with apoptotic cells and/or polarization to the M2 phenotype. In turn, these products not only block inflammation but can also shift the macrophage healing balance from tissue repair/fibrosis to pro-resolution, anti-fibrotic, and regulatory functions. The exact mode of production and action for the different 15-LO products is probably dependent on substrate availability, concentration formed in the healing tissue and additional cues from the resolving environment. Nevertheless, they seem to act in concert to promote post-inflammation tissue healing and return to homeostasis.

# CD11B<sup>LOW</sup> MACROPHAGES – A NEW PHENOTYPE GENERATED FOLLOWING SATIATED-EFFEROCYTOSIS

Recent reports have indicated the co-existence of various macrophage phenotypes in resolving peritoneal cavities (Bystrom et al., 2008; Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). Macrophages from resolving murine peritonitis expressed an alternatively activated phenotype albeit with increase expression of M1 markers, such as cyclooxygenase 2 (COX 2) and iNOS (Bystrom et al., 2008). Thus, these macrophages were termed resolution-phase macrophages (rMs) and were postulated to have a hybrid phenotype of classically and alternatively activated macrophages (Bystrom et al., 2008). A recent report from the same group has indicated that rMs could be divided to at least three distinct populations based on F4/80 and Ly-6C expression, with varying expression of additional proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory markers as well as CD11b (Stables et al., 2011). Along these lines, we have recently characterized F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages from resolving peritoneal exudates into two distinct macrophage subtypes: CD11b<sup>high</sup> and CD11b<sup>low</sup> (Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). CD11b<sup>high</sup> macrophages were found to express low to intermediate levels of the M1 markers iNOS, COX 2, and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 and high levels of the M2 marker arginase-1. These cells also expressed very low levels of 12/15-LO. In addition, these macrophages secret medium levels of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, as well as IL-10, in response to TLR ligands, are highly phagocytic, and do not migrate to lymphoid tissues. CD11b<sup>low</sup> macrophages express even lower levels of iNOS, COX 2, and MMP-9 than CD11b<sup>high</sup> ones, but they also do not express arginase-1. In addition, these macrophages secrete very low levels of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and IL-10, but higher amounts of TGFB. Moreover, CD11blow macrophages, despite containing higher numbers of apoptotic PMN, are no longer phagocytic and are prone to emigrate to remote sites. Hence, CD11blow macrophages were termed "satiated" (Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). A seminal report from Ravichandran and colleagues (Park et al., 2011) has recently revealed that the mitochondrial membrane protein UCP2 controls satiation vs. continued clearance of apoptotic cells, and it would be interesting to examine its role in the generation of CD11b<sup>low</sup> macrophages. The integration of the results from Schif-Zuck et al., Bystrom et al., and Stables et al. suggests rM/CD11b<sup>high</sup> macrophages are a mixed macrophage population with dominant M2-like characteristics, and some low-grade M1 activity and that early efferocytosis promotes the conversion of the M1-like population to an M2-like phenotype (Fadok et al., 1998; Freire-De-Lima et al., 2006; Korns et al., 2011) as well as enhanced phagocytosis/efferocytosis. However, the CD11b<sup>low</sup> subset of macrophages, although converting from the CD11b<sup>high</sup> subset ex vivo and in vivo (following late, threshold-meeting, efferocytosis; Schif-Zuck et al., 2011), are not M2-like, but rather display a distinct phenotype with its own molecular and functional characteristic (Figure 1). Of interest, a similar series of macrophage phenotype switches was found to take place



#### FIGURE 1 | Macrophage phenotype conversions induced by

efferocytosis. A monocyte that infiltrated an inflamed tissue differentiates to a macrophage and adopts an M1-like phenotype previous to encounter with apoptotic PMNs (**A**). Once it encounters apoptotic PMN and starts to engulf them (early efferocytosis), the macrophage switches to an M2-like phenotype that is anti-inflammatory, highly efferocytic, and involved in tissue repair and return to homeostasis, but can also promote fibrosis and scar formation (**B**). As the engulfment of apoptotic PMN by the macrophage continues and reaches a threshold level determined by the resolving milieu (satiating-efferocytosis) the macrophage reduce the expression of pro-fibrotic arginase-1 and display reduced phagocytosis of extracellular particle including apoptotic cells. Consequently, rapid Mres departure of the

during muscle injury and repair. These switches were induced by the engulfment of muscle debris that promoted TGF $\beta$  production and muscle regeneration (Arnold et al., 2007; Perdiguero et al., 2011). Importantly, the macrophage phenotype switch was mediated by a signaling cascade involving MAPK (Perdiguero et al., 2011) an essential module in macrophage inflammatory signaling (Kim et al., 2008).

Macrophages are important in limiting inflammation, excessive tissue repair, and fibrosis (Wynn and Barron, 2010). They also act at remote sites, such as lymphoid organs and adipose tissue (Schwab et al., 2007; Mukundan et al., 2009; Odegaard et al., 2007; Titos et al., 2011) to regulate acquired immune responses and metabolism. Since CD11b<sup>low</sup> macrophages are distinct from either M1 or M2, do not express the pro-fibrotic enzyme arginase-1, stop phagocytosing foreign particles and can be found at lymphoid organs and adipose tissue (Schif-Zuck et al., 2011; Titos et al., 2011), we suggest these macrophages display a new phenotype, now termed resolution-promoting macrophages (Mres), which might be involved in anti-fibrotic, immune-regulatory, and metabolic processes, and hence is critical for the local and

resolving tissue and emigration to remote sites takes place. At these target organs Mres macrophages presumably produce 12/15-LO-derived pro-resolving lipid mediators, and deliver homeostatic signals to antigen presenting cells and lymphocytes. Moreover, Mres that stay in the resolving tissue might express higher levels of anti-inflammatory, anti-fibrotic, and anti-oxidant proteins to limit tissue damage and fibrosis. 12/15-LO-derived lipid mediators probably also contribute to the anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic properties of Mres in the resolving tissue. Early and satiating-efferocytosis can be modulated by pro-resolving, protectins, maresin, GC, IL-4, TGF $\beta$ , IL-10, and PPARy ligands **(D)**. This modulation can enhance the immune-silencing and departure of Mres to the lymphatics, where they can contribute to the termination of acquired immune responses.

systemic termination of inflammatory episodes. The "decisionmaking" of macrophages on which phenotype will be expressed at a given time and setting is probably controlled by multiple variants in their milieu, including the number of apoptotic PMN they acquired and local concentrations of pro-resolving lipid mediators (from 15-LO and other pathways) and glucocorticoids (Schif-Zuck et al., 2011; Titos et al., 2011). Other macrophageinactivating and resolution-promoting cytokines, growth factors and lipid mediators, such as IL-10, TGF $\beta$ , and PPAR $\gamma$  ligands are likely to also be important in regulating the fate of macrophages during the resolution of inflammation and the return of tissues to homeostasis.

### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This work was supported by grants from the Israel Science Foundation (number 534/09), the Nutricia Research Foundationl, and the Marc Rich Foundation (to Amiram Ariel) and the National Institute of Health (R01 GM38765 and P01 GM095467 to Charles N. Serhan). Amiram Ariel is a recipient of the young scientist award from Teva Pharmaceuticals Ltd.
#### **REFERENCES**

- A-Gonzalez, N., Bensinger, S. J., Hong, C., Beceiro, S., Bradley, M. N., Zelcer, N., Deniz, J., Ramirez, C., Diaz, M., Gallardo, G., De Galarreta, C. R., Salazar, J., Lopez, F., Edwards, P., Parks, J., Andujar, M., Tontonoz, P., and Castrillo, A. (2009). Apoptotic cells promote their own clearance and immune tolerance through activation of the nuclear receptor LXR. *Immunity* 31, 245–258.
- Ariel, A., Chiang, N., Arita, M., Petasis, N. A., and Serhan, C. N. (2003). Aspirin-triggered lipoxin A4 and B4 analogs block extracellular signal-regulated kinase-dependent TNF-alpha secretion from human T cells. J. Immunol. 170, 6266–6272.
- Ariel, A., Fredman, G., Sun, Y. P., Kantarci, A., Van Dyke, T. E., Luster, A. D., and Serhan, C. N. (2006). Apoptotic neutrophils and T cells sequester chemokines during immune response resolution through modulation of CCR5 expression. *Nat. Immunol.* 7, 1209–1216.
- Ariel, A., Li, P. L., Wang, W., Tang, W. X., Fredman, G., Hong, S., Gotlinger, K. H., and Serhan, C. N. (2005). The docosatriene protectin D1 is produced by TH2 skewing and promotes human T cell apoptosis via lipid raft clustering. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 43079–43086.
- Arnold, L., Henry, A., Poron, F., Baba-Amer, Y., Van Rooijen, N., Plonquet, A., Gherardi, R. K., and Chazaud, B. (2007). Inflammatory monocytes recruited after skeletal muscle injury switch into anti inflammatory macrophages to support myogenesis. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1057–1069.
- Berry, A., Balard, P., Coste, A., Olagnier, D., Lagane, C., Authier, H., Benoit-Vical, F., Lepert, J. C., Seguela, J. P., Magnaval, J. F., Chambon, P., Metzger, D., Desvergne, B., Wahli, W., Auwerx, J., and Pipy, B. (2007). IL-13 induces expression of CD36 in human monocytes through PPARgamma activation. Eur. J. Immunol. 37, 1642–1652.
- Borgeson, E., Docherty, N. G., Murphy, M., Rodgers, K., Ryan, A., O'sullivan, T. P., Guiry, P. J., Goldschmeding, R., Higgins, D. F., and Godson, C. (2011). Lipoxin A4 and benzo-lipoxin A4 attenuate experimental renal fibrosis. *FASEB J.* 25, 2967–2979.
- Byrne, A., and Reen, D. J. (2002). Lipopolysaccharide induces rapid production of IL-10 by monocytes in the presence of apoptotic

neutrophils. J. Immunol. 168, 1968–1977.

- Bystrom, J., Evans, I., Newson, J., Stables, M., Toor, I., Van Rooijen, N., Crawford, M., Colville-Nash, P., Farrow, S., and Gilroy, D. W. (2008). Resolution-phase macrophages possess a unique inflammatory phenotype that is controlled by cAMP. *Blood* 112, 4117–4127.
- Corne, J., Chupp, G., Lee, C. G., Homer, R. J., Zhu, Z., Chen, Q., Ma, B., Du, Y., Roux, F., Mcardle, J., Waxman, A. B., and Elias, J. A. (2000). IL-13 stimulates vascular endothelial cell growth factor and protects against hyperoxic acute lung injury. *J. Clin. Invest.* 106, 783–791.
- Duffield, J. S., Hong, S., Vaidya, V. S., Lu, Y., Fredman, G., Serhan, C. N., and Bonventre, J. V. (2006). Resolvin D series and protectin D1 mitigate acute kidney injury. *J. Immunol.* 177, 5902–5911.
- Erwig, L. P., and Henson, P. M. (2007). Immunological consequences of apoptotic cell phagocytosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 171, 2–8.
- Fadok, V. A., Bratton, D. L., Konowal, A., Freed, P. W., Westcott, J. Y., and Henson, P. M. (1998). Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 890–898.
- Fernandez-Boyanapalli, R. F., Frasch, S. C., Mcphillips, K., Vandivier, R. W., Harry, B. L., Riches, D. W., Henson, P. M., and Bratton, D. L. (2009). Impaired apoptotic cell clearance in CGD due to altered macrophage programming is reversed by phosphatidylserinedependent production of IL-4. *Blood* 113, 2047–2055.
- Fichtner-Feigl, S., Strober, W., Kawakami, K., Puri, R. K., and Kitani, A. (2006). IL-13 signaling through the IL-13alpha2 receptor is involved in induction of TGF-beta1 production and fibrosis. *Nat. Med.* 12, 99–106.
- Freire-De-Lima, C. G., Xiao, Y. Q., Gardai, S. J., Bratton, D. L., Schiemann, W. P., and Henson, P. M. (2006). Apoptotic cells, through transforming growth factor-beta, coordinately induce anti-inflammatory and suppress pro-inflammatory eicosanoid and NO synthesis in murine macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 38376–38384.
- Godson, C., Mitchell, S., Harvey, K., Petasis, N. A., Hogg, N., and Brady, H. R. (2000). Cutting edge:

lipoxins rapidly stimulate nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by monocytederived macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 164, 1663–1667.

- Golpon, H. A., Fadok, V. A., Taraseviciene-Stewart, L., Scerbavicius, R., Sauer, C., Welte, T., Henson, P. M., and Voelkel, N. F. (2004). Life after corpse engulfment: phagocytosis of apoptotic cells leads to VEGF secretion and cell growth. *FASEB J.* 18, 1716–1718.
- Gronert, K., Maheshwari, N., Khan, N., Hassan, I. R., Dunn, M., and Laniado Schwartzman, M. (2005). A role for the mouse 12/15lipoxygenase pathway in promoting epithelial wound healing and host defense. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 15267–15278.
- Hesse, M., Modolell, M., La Flamme, A. C., Schito, M., Fuentes, J. M., Cheever, A. W., Pearce, E. J., and Wynn, T. A. (2001). Differential regulation of nitric oxide synthase-2 and arginase-1 by type 1/type 2 cytokines in vivo: granulomatous pathology is shaped by the pattern of L-arginine metabolism. J. Immunol. 167, 6533–6544.
- Heydeck, D., Thomas, L., Schnurr, K., Trebus, F., Thierfelder, W. E., Ihle, J. N., and Kuhn, H. (1998). Interleukin-4 and -13 induce upregulation of the murine macrophage 12/15-lipoxygenase activity: evidence for the involvement of transcription factor STAT6. *Blood* 92, 2503–2510.
- Huang, J. T., Welch, J. S., Ricote, M., Binder, C. J., Willson, T. M., Kelly, C., Witztum, J. L., Funk, C. D., Conrad, D., and Glass, C. K. (1999). Interleukin-4-dependent production of PPAR-gamma ligands in macrophages by 12/15lipoxygenase. *Nature* 400, 378–382.
- Huynh, M. L., Fadok, V. A., and Henson, P. M. (2002). Phosphatidylserinedependent ingestion of apoptotic cells promotes TGF-beta1 secretion and the resolution of inflammation. *J. Clin. Invest.* 109, 41–50.
- Johann, A. M., Von Knethen, A., Lindemann, D., and Brune, B. (2006). Recognition of apoptotic cells by macrophages activates the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma and attenuates the oxidative burst. *Cell Death Differ*. 13, 1533–1540.
- Kang, K., Reilly, S. M., Karabacak, V., Gangl, M. R., Fitzgerald, K., Hatano, B., and Lee, C. H. (2008). Adipocyte-derived Th2 cytokines and myeloid PPARdelta

regulate macrophage polarization and insulin sensitivity. *Cell Metab.* 7, 485–495.

- Kim, C., Sano, Y., Todorova, K., Carlson, B. A., Arpa, L., Celada, A., Lawrence, T., Otsu, K., Brissette, J. L., Arthur, J. S., and Park, J. M. (2008). The kinase p38 alpha serves cell typespecific inflammatory functions in skin injury and coordinates pro- and anti-inflammatory gene expression. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 1019–1027.
- Kim, S., Elkon, K. B., and Ma, X. (2004). Transcriptional suppression of interleukin-12 gene expression following phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *Immunity* 21, 643–653.
- Korns, D., Frasch, S. C., Fernandez-Boyanapalli, R., Henson, P. M., and Bratton, D. L. (2011). Modulation of macrophage efferocytosis in inflammation. *Front. Immun.* 2:57. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00057
- Krishnamoorthy, S., Recchiuti, A., Chiang, N., Yacoubian, S., Lee, C. H., Yang, R., Petasis, N. A., and Serhan, C. N. (2010). Resolvin D1 binds human phagocytes with evidence for proresolving receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 1660–1665.
- Levy, B. D., Romano, M., Chapman, H. A., Reilly, J. J., Drazen, J., and Serhan, C. N. (1993). Human alveolar macrophages have 15-lipoxygenase and generate 15(S)-hydroxy-5,8,11*cis*-13-*trans*-eicosatetraenoic acid and lipoxins. *J. Clin. Invest.* 92, 1572–1579.
- Machado, F. S., Johndrow, J. E., Esper, L., Dias, A., Bafica, A., Serhan, C. N., and Aliberti, J. (2006). Antiinflammatory actions of lipoxin A4 and aspirin-triggered lipoxin are SOCS-2 dependent. *Nat. Med.* 12, 330–334.
- Maddox, J. F., Colgan, S. P., Clish, C. B., Petasis, N. A., Fokin, V. V., and Serhan, C. N. (1998). Lipoxin B4 regulates human monocyte/neutrophil adherence and motility: design of stable lipoxin B4 analogs with increased biologic activity. *FASEB J.* 12, 487–494.
- Maddox, J. F., Hachicha, M., Takano, T., Petasis, N. A., Fokin, V. V., and Serhan, C. N. (1997). Lipoxin A4 stable analogs are potent mimetics that stimulate human monocytes and THP-1 cells via a G-proteinlinked lipoxin A4 receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 6972–6978.
- Maddox, J. F., and Serhan, C. N. (1996). Lipoxin A4 and B4 are potent stimuli for human monocyte migration and adhesion: selective inactivation by dehydrogenation and reduction. *J. Exp. Med.* 183, 137–146.

- Mantovani, A., Sica, A., and Locati, M. (2005). Macrophage polarization comes of age. *Immunity* 23, 344–346.
- Mantovani, A., Sica, A., Sozzani, S., Allavena, P., Vecchi, A., and Locati, M. (2004). The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol.* 25, 677–686.
- Martinez, F. O., Helming, L., and Gordon, S. (2009). Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27, 451–483.
- Martinez, F. O., Sica, A., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2008). Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 453–461.
- Martins, V., Valenca, S. S., Farias-Filho, F. A., Molinaro, R., Simoes, R. L., Ferreira, T. P., E Silva, P. M., Hogaboam, C. M., Kunkel, S. L., Fierro, I. M., Canetti, C., and Benjamim, C. F. (2009). ATLa, an aspirin-triggered lipoxin A4 synthetic analog, prevents the inflammatory and fibrotic effects of bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. *J. Immunol.* 182, 5374–5381.
- Merched, A. J., Ko, K., Gotlinger, K. H., Serhan, C. N., and Chan, L. (2008). Atherosclerosis: evidence for impairment of resolution of vascular inflammation governed by specific lipid mediators. *FASEB J.* 22, 3595–3606.
- Mitchell, S., Thomas, G., Harvey, K., Cottell, D., Reville, K., Berlasconi, G., Petasis, N. A., Erwig, L., Rees, A. J., Savill, J., Brady, H. R., and Godson, C. (2002). Lipoxins, aspirintriggered epi-lipoxins, lipoxin stable analogues, and the resolution of inflammation: stimulation of macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils in vivo. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 2497–2507.
- Mukundan, L., Odegaard, J. I., Morel, C. R., Heredia, J. E., Mwangi, J. W., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R. R., Goh, Y. P., Eagle, A. R., Dunn, S. E., Awakuni, J. U., Nguyen, K. D., Steinman, L., Michie, S. A., and Chawla, A. (2009). PPAR-delta senses and orchestrates clearance of apoptotic cells to promote tolerance. *Nat. Med.* 15, 1266–1272.
- Nassar, G. M., Morrow, J. D., Roberts, L. N., Lakkis, F. G., and Badr, K. F. (1994). Induction of 15lipoxygenase by interleukin-13 in

human blood monocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 27631–27634.

- Nathan, C. F., Murray, H. W., Wiebe, M. E., and Rubin, B. Y. (1983). Identification of interferon-gamma as the lymphokine that activates human macrophage oxidative metabolism and antimicrobial activity. *J. Exp. Med.* 158, 670–689.
- Odegaard, J. I., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R. R., Goforth, M. H., Morel, C. R., Subramanian, V., Mukundan, L., Red Eagle, A., Vats, D., Brombacher, F., Ferrante, A. W., and Chawla, A. (2007). Macrophage-specific PPARgamma controls alternative activation and improves insulin resistance. *Nature* 447, 1116–1120.
- Park, D., Han, C. Z., Elliott, M. R., Kinchen, J. M., Trampont, P. C., Das, S., Collins, S., Lysiak, J. J., Hoehn, K. L., and Ravichandran, K. S. (2011). Continued clearance of apoptotic cells critically depends on the phagocyte Ucp2 protein. *Nature* 477, 220–224.
- Patel, V. A., Longacre, A., Hsiao, K., Fan, H., Meng, F., Mitchell, J. E., Rauch, J., Ucker, D. S., and Levine, J. S. (2006). Apoptotic cells, at all stages of the death process, trigger characteristic signaling events that are divergent from and dominant over those triggered by necrotic cells: implications for the delayed clearance model of autoimmunity. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 4663–4670.
- Perdiguero, E., Sousa-Victor, P., Ruiz-Bonilla, V., Jardi, M., Caelles, C., Serrano, A. L., and Munoz-Canoves, P. (2011). p38/MKP-1-regulated AKT coordinates macrophage transitions and resolution of inflammation during tissue repair. J. Cell Biol. 195, 307–322.
- Pourcet, B., Feig, J. E., Vengrenyuk, Y., Hobbs, A., Kepka-Lenhart, D., Garabedian, M., Morris, S. M. Jr., Fisher, E. A., and Pineda-Torra, I. (2011). LXR{alpha} regulates macrophage arginase 1 through PU.1 and interferon regulatory factor 8. *Circ. Res.* 109, 492–501.
- Raes, G., DE Baetselier, P., Noel, W., Beschin, A., Brombacher, F., and Hassanzadeh GH, G. (2002). Differential expression of FIZZ1 and Ym1 in alternatively versus classically activated macrophages. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 71, 597–602.
- Raes, G., Van Den Bergh, R., DE Baetselier, P., Ghassabeh, G. H., Scotton,

C., Locati, M., Mantovani, A., and Sozzani, S. (2005). Arginase-1 and Ym1 are markers for murine, but not human, alternatively activated myeloid cells. *J. Immunol.* 174, 6561; author reply 6561–6562.

- Ravichandran, K. S. (2011). Beginnings of a good apoptotic meal: the findme and eat-me signaling pathways. *Immunity* 35, 445–455.
- Ravichandran, K. S., and Lorenz, U. (2007). Engulfment of apoptotic cells: signals for a good meal. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 964–974.
- Savill, J., Dransfield, I., Gregory, C., and Haslett, C. (2002). A blast from the past: clearance of apoptotic cells regulates immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2, 965–975.
- Schif-Zuck, S., Gross, N., Assi, S., Rostoker, R., Serhan, C. N., and Ariel, A. (2011). Saturated-efferocytosis generates pro-resolving CD11b (low) macrophages: modulation by resolvins and glucocorticoids. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 366–379.
- Schwab, J. M., Chiang, N., Arita, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolvin E1 and protectin D1 activate inflammation-resolution programmes. *Nature* 447, 869–874.
- Serhan, C. N. (2010). Novel lipid mediators and resolution mechanisms in acute inflammation: to resolve or not? Am. J. Pathol. 177, 1576–1591.
- Serhan, C. N., Krishnamoorthy, S., Recchiuti, A., and Chiang, N. (2011). Novel anti-inflammatory – proresolving mediators and their receptors. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 11, 629–647.
- Serhan, C. N., Yang, R., Martinod, K., Kasuga, K., Pillai, P. S., Porter, T. F., Oh, S. F., and Spite, M. (2009). Maresins: novel macrophage mediators with potent antiinflammatory and proresolving actions. *J. Exp. Med.* 206, 15–23.
- Stables, M. J., Shah, S., Camon, E. B., Lovering, R. C., Newson, J., Bystrom, J., Farrow, S. and Gilroy, D. W. (2011). Transcriptomic analyses of murine resolution-phase macrophages. *Blood* 118, e192–e208.
- Titos, E., Rius, B., Gonzalez-Periz, A., Lopez-Vicario, C., Moran-Salvador, E., Martinez-Clemente, M., Arroyo, V., and Claria, J. (2011). Resolvin D1 and its precursor docosahexaenoic acid promote resolution of adipose tissue inflammation by eliciting macrophage polarization toward an

M2-like phenotype. *J. Immunol.* 187, 5408–5418.

- Voll, R. E., Herrmann, M., Roth, E. A., Stach, C., Kalden, J. R., and Girkontaite, I. (1997). Immunosuppressive effects of apoptotic cells. *Nature* 390, 350–351.
- Wittwer, J., and Hersberger, M. (2007). The two faces of the 15-lipoxygenase in atherosclerosis. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* 77, 67–77.
- Wynn, T. A. (2008). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. J. Pathol. 214, 199–210.
- Wynn, T. A., and Barron, L. (2010). Macrophages: master regulators of inflammation and fibrosis. *Semin. Liver Dis.* 30, 245–257.
- Zhang, B., Jia, H., Liu, J., Yang, Z., Jiang, T., Tang, K., Li, D., Huang, C., Ma, J., Shen, G. X., Ye, D., and Huang, B. (2010). Depletion of regulatory T cells facilitates growth of established tumors: a mechanism involving the regulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells by lipoxin A4. J. Immunol. 185, 7199–7206.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** Charles N. Serhan is an inventor on patents (resolvins) assigned to BWH and licensed to Resolvyx Pharmaceuticals. Charles N. Serhan is a scientific founder of Resolvyx Pharmaceuticals and owns equity in the company. Charles N. Serhan' interests were reviewed and are managed by the Brigham and Women's Hospital and Partners HealthCare in accordance with their conflict of interest policies.

Received: 29 August 2011; accepted: 07 January 2012; published online: 31 January 2012.

Citation: Ariel A and Serhan CN (2012) New lives given by cell death: macrophage differentiation following their encounter with apoptotic leukocytes during the resolution of inflammation. Front. Immun. **3**:4. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00004

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2012 Ariel and Serhan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



# Contrasting inflammation resolution during atherosclerosis and post myocardial infarction at the level of monocyte/macrophage phagocytic clearance

# Edward B. Thorp\*

Department of Pathology, Feinberg Cardiovascular Research Institute, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Angelika Bierhaus, University of Heidelberg, Germany Bodo Levkau, University of Duisburg-Essen, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Edward B. Thorp, Department of Pathology, Feinberg School of Medicine, Feinberg Cardiovascular Research Institute, Northwesterm University, 300 East Superior Street, Tarry Building 3-705, Chicago, IL 60611, USA. e-mail: ebthorp@northwestern.edu In cardiovascular disorders including advanced atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction (MI), increased cell death and tissue destabilization is associated with recruitment of inflammatory monocyte subsets that give rise to differentiated macrophages. These phagocytic cells clear necrotic and apoptotic bodies and promote inflammation resolution and tissue remodeling. The capacity of macrophages for phagocytosis of apoptotic cells (efferocytosis), clearance of necrotic cell debris, and repair of damaged tissue are challenged and modulated by local cell stressors that include increased protease activity, oxidative stress, and hypoxia. The effectiveness, or lack thereof, of phagocyte-mediated clearance, in turn is linked to active inflammation resolution signaling pathways, susceptibility to atherothrombosis and potentially, adverse post MI cardiac remodeling leading to heart failure. Previous reports indicate that in advanced atherosclerosis, defective efferocytosis is associated with atherosclerotic plaque destabilization. Post MI, the role of phagocytes and clearance in the heart is less appreciated. Herein we contrast the roles of efferocytosis in atherosclerosis and post MI and focus on how targeted modulation of clearance and accompanying resolution and reparative signaling may be a strategy to prevent heart failure post MI.

Keywords: macrophage, phagocytosis, cardiovascular, myocardial infarction, clearance, hypoxia

### **INTRODUCTION**

The sequence of events that are atherothrombosis, myocardial infarction (MI), and heart failure, combine to serve as a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the industrialized world (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2010). Advanced atherosclerosis and MI are mutually characterized by accelerated cell death followed by inflammatory cell recruitment. Though intimately linked, each disorder individually is distinguished by unique cell populations and cell stressors (Libby et al., 2008). In the intimal vascular wall of the atherosclerotic plaque, lipid-laden macrophage foam cells predominate after responding to retained lipoproteins that are embedded in the sub-endothelium (Williams and Tabas, 1995). As atherosclerotic lesions mature, a combinatorial array of stressors, including excess free cholesterol, pattern recognition receptor ligands, and oxidative stress, additively signal to activate cellular stress pathways, secretion of inflammatory cytokines, and accelerate apoptosis (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2010; Moore and Tabas, 2011). When combined with reduced apoptotic cell clearance efficiency (i.e., defective "efferocytosis"), this leads to secondary necrosis and plaque destabilization, the precursor to atherothrombosis (Tabas, 2005; Schrijvers et al., 2007). In turn, plaque rupture and MI lead to the release of chemotactic factors into the bloodstream and subsequent influx of neutrophils and monocytes into the heart (Kumar et al., 1997). In contrast to advanced atherosclerosis leading to MI, inflammation after a heart attack is often acute and resolving. This response is necessary to heal the heart and promote scar formation. Interestingly, recent and not-so-recent reports, suggest that modulation of the inflammatory response post MI contributes to the quality of heart repair (Roberts et al., 1976; Frangogiannis et al., 2002; Nahrendorf et al., 2007). Marginated leukocytes clear dying and necrotic cardiomyocytes and promote fibrogenic and angiogenic responses. In some cases, especially in the elderly, sub-optimal clearance efficiency may lead to maladaptive vascular remodeling and tissue repair in the healing heart and therefore accelerate transition into heart failure (Chen and Frangogiannis, 2010). Herein, we compare basic mechanisms of inflammation resolution by phagocytes in the vascular wall during atherosclerosis and in the myocardium post infarction, with a focus on monocyte/macrophage-mediated phagocytic clearance of dying tissue, particularly post MI. These concepts form a working model (**Figure 1**) of how clearance may modulate downstream inflammation and tissue repair in cardiovascular disease.

# DEFECTIVE INFLAMMATION RESOLUTION IN ATHEROSCLEROSIS

Though initially protective, inflammation must eventually subside in order to prevent further tissue damage. Many diseases of inflammatory cell recruitment, including advanced atherosclerosis leading to MI, are failures of inflammation to resolve that subsequently lead to tissue destabilization and injury. A key component of defective inflammation resolution in advanced atherosclerosis is defective efferocytosis (Schrijvers et al., 2007; Tabas, 2010). In non-diseased settings, apoptosis is typically followed by rapid and non-phlogistic uptake into neighboring phagocytic cells. During inflammation, active production of omega-3



poly-unsaturated fatty-acid-derived mediators promotes further phagocytic removal of dying cells (Schwab et al., 2007). The act of efferocytosis also triggers anti-inflammatory, or pro-resolving signaling that assists in dampening the immune response and restoring tissue equilibrium (Serhan and Savill, 2005). Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells inhibit pro-inflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-B, prostaglandin E2, and platelet-activating factor (Fadok et al., 1998). An important anti-inflammatory cytokine and proresolving factor that is linked to efficient efferocytosis IL-10 (Lingnau et al., 2007). Both in vitro and in vivo, IL-10 has been reported to enhance efferocytosis and transgenic over-expression of IL-10 has been shown to reduce atherogenesis in experimental rodents (Pinderski et al., 2002). In humans, IL-10 levels are reduced in patients with cardiovascular disease, consistent with the notion that reduced levels of this cytokine may accelerate atherosclerotic progression (Seljeflot et al., 2004). In vitro, "alternatively" activated M2 macrophages preferentially clear apoptotic cells and are often characterized by secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGFB (Xu et al., 2006). In the case of early atherosclerosis, cell turnover within the developing atherosclerotic lesion is rapidly countered by neighboring macrophage phagocytes that promote efficient efferocytosis (Tabas, 2005). Consistent with this, early atherosclerotic lesions rarely exhibit TUNEL-positive apoptotic nuclei (Kockx et al., 1999). Efficient clearance in early atheromata limits the cellular density of the

lesion and may also reduce further recruitment of blood-borne monocytes. In human advanced atherosclerosis, there is an accumulation of free, non-phagocytosed apoptotic cells (Schrijvers et al., 2005). The failure of these dying cells to be removed leads to the loss of cell membrane integrity, secondary post-apoptotic necrosis, liberation of potentially immunogenic epitopes, and release of damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that stimulate cell activation. Failed clearance may also be responsible for the aforementioned reductions in anti-inflammatory/proresolving mediators such as IL-10. Necrotic plaques are strongly associated with clinical acute atherothrombotic events and are a source of procoagulant materials (Kolodgie et al., 2003). It is not entirely clear why early stable atherosclerotic lesions mature into non-resolving and necrotic inflammatory advanced lesions, however recent reports in experimental mice, shed some light on key clearance pathways that may be involved, as described below.

# MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF EFFEROCYTOSIS IN ATHEROSCLEROSIS

Recognition of apoptotic cells in advanced atheromata requires bridging of apoptotic cell ligands such as phosphatidylserine, with phagocyte receptors, that trigger downstream activation of the phagocyte actin cytoskeleton. Bridging molecules, such as complement factor C1q, link apoptotic cell receptors to their apoptotic ligands (Ogden et al., 2001). During atherosclerosis for example, C1qa-/- mice on a fat-fed low density lipoprotein receptor (Ldlr) deficient background had larger atherosclerotic lesions and an increase in the number of lesional apoptotic cells, consistent with defective clearance (Bhatia et al., 2007). Another bridging molecule, milk fat globule-EGF-factor 8 (MFG-E8), a secreted glycoprotein, also links apoptotic cell receptors to their apoptotic ligands (Hanayama et al., 2002). MFGE-E8 (lactadherin) is expressed in atherosclerotic lesions and it promotes efferocytosis in vitro and in vivo. Mice lacking MFG-E8 in bone marrow precursors exhibit more necrosis and apoptotic cellular debris (Ait-Oufella et al., 2007). MFG-E8 is recognized by the macrophage cell-surface and protein cross-linking transglutaminase-2 (TG2). TG2, in cooperation with αvβ3 integrin, bind to MFG-E8 to promote efferocytosis (Toth et al., 2009). During atherosclerosis, mice reconstituted with Tg2-/- bone marrow cells exhibited larger necrotic cores relative to control (Boisvert et al., 2006). In addition, clearance of apoptotic cells also been reported to be significantly reduced in Ldlr related protein (Lrp) 1-/- lesions relative to control. By immunohistochemistry and relative to wild-type lesions, Lrp1-/- lesions exhibited more necrotic cores with more apoptotic cells not associated with macrophages (Yancey et al., 2010). LRP is activated to promote engulfment after binding calreticulin on apoptotic cells (Gardai et al., 2005). Another important efferocytosis receptor in atherosclerosis in MERTK. Mice deficient in the tyrosine kinase MER (MERTK), have a defect in macrophage efferocytosis and this correlated with an increase in plaque inflammation and plaque necrosis (Ait-Oufella et al., 2008; Thorp et al., 2008). MERTK is involved in both efferocytosis and in anti-inflammatory responses (Camenisch et al., 1999). It promotes clearance by binding to one of two bridging molecules, either GAS6 or protein S (Lemke and Rothlin, 2008). Interestingly, MERTK is proteolytically cleaved as a result of inflammatory stimuli such as LPS and this leads to the generation of a solubilized MER that can act as a competitive inhibitor of uptake (Sather et al., 2007). With the recent identification of the MERTK cleavage site, future tests will examine whether MERTK sheddase-mediated proteolysis contributes to defective efferocytosis in atherosclerosis (Thorp et al., 2011). The identification of the aforementioned key clearance players in atherosclerotic progression provides targets for testing relevance in humans with coronary artery disease. For example, in addition to soluble MER being linked to defective efferocytosis, it has also been identified in human inflammatory cardiovascular lesions (Hurtado et al., 2011). The fact that MERTK is rendered inactive through sheddase-mediated cleavage may provide a therapeutic opportunity. That is, if excess MERTK cleavage were a culprit of defective inflammation resolution through its anti-efferocytic properties in human advanced plaques, targeted inhibition of cleavage might suppress plaque necrosis and increase pro-resolving mediators as described above (Tabas, 2010). Thus, by defining the mechanisms of defective efferocytosis in vitro and establishing relevance in humans, specific hypotheses can be formulated toward designing clearance based therapeutic strategies that promote inflammation resolution. In the case of post MI inflammation and clearance, a more acute and resolving inflammation and dissimilar apoptotic and necrotic targets distinguish clearance in the heart from clearance in the vasculature, as described below.

# CARDIOMYOCYTE CLEARANCE POST MI AND ITS ASSOCIATION WITH MYOCARDIAL INFLAMMATION RESOLUTION AND REPAIR

Healing of the heart after interruption of blood supply and generation of an infarct requires scavenging of necrotic cellular debris and preservation of the remaining and irreplaceable cardiomyocytes. This wound repair is accomplished in part through acute mobilization of innate inflammatory cells that assist in degrading released macromolecules. The recruited phagocytes, which initially include neutrophils and monocytes, act in turn to directly remove necrotic and apoptotic cells. This is followed by formation of granulation tissue and extracellular matrix deposition. Neutrophils likely contribute to the clearance of necrotic debris from the infarct; however they also potentially damage neighboring myocytes through release of their proteolytic enzymes. Neutrophil depletion in animals post MI and reperfusion have been shown to reduce infarct size and myocardial injury (Romson et al., 1983). Neutrophils may also contribute to inflammation resolution through programmed cell death leading to efferocytosis by macrophages. Efferocytosis, as described above, induces signaling pathways that promote pro-resolving factors such as TGF-B and IL-10. Importantly, the effects of neutrophils and other myeloid cells post MI may be exacerbated during reperfusion of the infarct. For example, hallmarks of reperfusion injury post MI include the production of reactive oxygen species, mitochondrial dysfunction, and recruitment of elevated neutrophils and monocytes. These events can lead to increased myocardial injury and cardiomyocyte apoptosis that would increase the burden for dead cardiomyocyte clearance (Foo et al., 2005). Clearance per se may also be affected after reperfusion. For example, in a non-MI mouse intestinal arterial occlusion and reperfusion model, investigators found decreased levels of the "come-eat-me" mediator MFG-E8 mRNA in remote organs. Administration of rmMFG-E8 suppressed intestinal I/R injuryinduced organ injury and apoptotic cell accumulation (Matsuda et al., 2011). Thus, it will be important to compare and contrast clearance roles post MI versus post MI followed by reperfusion.

Post MI, most of the initial cell death is necrotic, and therefore, this promotes the release of pro-inflammatory intracellular contents such as heat shock proteins and DAMPs. These DAMPS, or "alarmins," activate innate phagocytes and may or may not exacerbate the repair response (Matzinger, 2002). For example, endogenous DAMPs such as HSP-60 and EDA can activate signaling pathways downstream of pattern recognition receptors. Pattern recognition receptors such as Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) activate post MI inflammation and are required for adverse myocardial left ventricular remodeling following infarction, indicating that part of the inflammatory response post MI is maladaptive (Timmers et al., 2008). This deficiency of TRL-4 is associated with reduced intercellular adhesion molecule expression and reduced monocyte homing to the infarct, in turn leading to markedly reduced myocardial inflammatory cytokine production and preservation of heart function. Importantly, clearance of dying cells is linked to phagocyte-mediated suppression of inflammation. For example, apoptotic cells promote their own clearance and activate of the nuclear receptor LXR to suppress inflammation (A-Gonzalez et al., 2009). Thus, clearance may play a role in dampening TLRmediated inflammation post MI. Cardiomyocyte necrosis also

leads to the release of mitochondrial DAMPs (MTDs). MTDs include formyl peptides and mitochondrial DNA and can activate neutrophils through formyl peptide receptor-1 and TLR signaling (Zhang et al., 2010). Due to the high energy requirements of cardiomyocytes and therefore the high density of mitochondria per cell, injury to the heart would be expected to promote a significant response to MTDs. Another intracellular factor that is released from dead cells and during acute inflammation is high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), which when located in the nucleus can act as an architectural chromatin-binding factor (Scaffidi et al., 2002). In vitro, extracellular HMGB1 has been shown to reduce macrophage efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils through binding to phosphatidylserine (Liu et al., 2008), suggesting that HMGB1 could delay engulfment of dying cells near and in the infarct, however, it is yet to be determined how HMGB1 affects clearance of cardiomyocytes by macrophages. Injection of HMGB1 into experimental hearts after coronary artery ligation has been shown to have beneficial effects in the heart when infused 3 weeks post MI (Takahashi et al., 2008). Also, injection of anti-HMGB1 just prior to reperfusion in rats resulted in increased infarct sizes compared to control (Oozawa et al., 2008). Multiple roles of HMGB1 are now emerging, including a regenerative role for accumulation of newly formed myocytes post MI (Limana et al., 2011) and it is becoming evident that this molecule can act at multiple levels, with an apparent overall beneficial effect. Downstream of DAMP and PRR signaling is NF-kB. NF-kB activity is elevated in both myocardial and inflammatory cells in ischemic heart disease (Frantz et al., 2004), however, the overall effect of NFкВ remains incomplete. Deletion of the p50 subunit of the NF-кВ complex has been shown to improve heart failure after MI (Frantz et al., 2006), suggesting a role for maladaptive signaling post MI. In addition, transgenic over-expression of NF-κB p65 in myocytes resulted in adverse cardiac remodeling and increased endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in cardiomyocytes post MI (Hamid et al., 2011), indicating that persistent NF-KB activation exacerbates cardiac remodeling. However, another study reported that NF-KB p50 deletion exacerbates cardiac function post MI, consistent with a cardioprotective role (Timmers et al., 2009). The role of the NF-kB is complex. Though predominantly associated with pro-inflammatory responses, NF-kB has also been linked to the resolution of inflammation. For example, NF-kB activation during inflammation resolution is associated with expression of anti-inflammatory genes and induction of apoptosis (Lawrence et al., 2001). The NF-kB complex includes RelA (p65), RelB, c-Rel, p50, and p52, as well as inhibitory IkB and stimulatory IkBkinse (IKK) regulators. NF-κB can form homodimers or heterodimers depending on its mode of activation. Only p65, c-Rel, and RelB contain transactivation domains, whereas p50 and p52 do not and can act to suppress gene transcription (Vallabhapurapu and Karin, 2009). NF-κB can also be directly regulated by receptors involved in efferocytosis per se. For example, in the case of the efferocytosis receptor tyrosine kinase, MERTK, suppression of NF-KB transcriptional activation is directly associated with downstream inflammatory signaling (Tibrewal et al., 2008). Thus, the overall role of NF-KBin heart failure is far from understood and future experiments are required to elucidate both cell-type specific effects (myocardial versus inflammatory) and how the kinetics of  $\rm NF{-}\kappa B$  activation may differentially affect inflammation versus inflammation resolution in the heart.

Though innate inflammatory activation may at certain levels promote adverse effects on the heart after injury, inflammation is nevertheless necessary to clear away dead cardiac tissue and begin inflammation resolution, as described below. Resolution of inflammation is not a passive process and instead relies on biosynthesis of pro-resolving mediators. Many of these mediators are derived from poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), including lipoxins, E-series resolvins, D-series resolvins, protectins, and, maresins (Serhan and Savill, 2005). One interesting resolvin is Resolvin E1. Resolvin E1, has been shown to promote the efferocytosis of neutrophils in vitro and in vivo (Schwab et al., 2007). In the context of the heart, Resolvin E1, which is derived from eicosapentaenoic acid, has been shown to directly protect cardiomyocyte cell lines from ischemia-reperfusion injury in vitro and in addition, limit infarct size after prophylactic injection (Keyes et al., 2010). Though pro-survival molecules in cardiomyocytes, such as AKT, were up-regulated, further experiments are required to determine mechanism at the causal level. Recently, the receptor for Resolvin E1 was identified as ChemR23, otherwise known as CMKLR1 (Ohira et al., 2010). Future studies utilizing knockout models of this receptor are required during MI. Thus, not only will pathways that suppress acute-phase inflammation be required, but also pathways that target active pro-resolution pathways, potentially downstream of efferocytosis. As one such proof of principle that such an approach is feasible and linked to phagocytic clearance, Harel-Adar et al. (2011) by simulating a macrophage response to an apoptotic cell, were able to modulate the activity of cardiac macrophages to improve infarct repair, post experimental MI. Specifically, the investigators injected phosphatidylserine (PS)-presenting liposomes intravenously to mimic the anti-inflammatory effects of apoptotic cells. Both in a rat model of acute MI, and in vitro, PSliposome uptake by macrophages promoted the secretion of the anti-inflammatory cytokines TGFB and IL-10. This was accompanied by down-regulation of pro-inflammatory tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ). Thus, an exciting proof of concept that modulation of macrophage pathways related to clearance may have therapeutic application and promote inflammation resolution.

Similar to atherosclerosis, the levels of IL-10 may be important in reducing inflammation post MI. For example, IL-10 deficient mice exhibited increased infarct size and myocardial necrosis associated with elevated neutrophil infiltration (Yang et al., 2000). IL-10 also inhibits inflammation and attenuates left ventricular remodeling after MI via activation of STAT3 and suppression of mRNA stabilizing protein HuR (Krishnamurthy et al., 2009). As further evidence that the type of inflammatory response may dictate post MI repair, Cheng et al. (2005) found IFN-gamma producing T-cells were significantly increased in patients post MI, creating a Th1/Th2 imbalance. Also, in patients with acute MI, significant increases in Th17 cytokines were found concomitant with reduced levels of T-regulatory associated cytokines (Cheng et al., 2008). Finally, monocytes and macrophages secrete growth factors that can promote angiogenesis, specifically through targeting and activating myofibroblasts. Myofibroblasts secrete extracellular matrix and accumulate within the first week after an infarct (van den Borne et al., 2010). These cells are critical for scar formation

and prevention of cardiac dilation. However, too much matrix deposition, particularly at areas remote to the infarct, can also lead to heart failure. Thus, fine-tuned modulation of the immune response post MI appears to be required to promote resolution pathways while suppressing maladaptive/excessive inflammation.

Certainly, the aforementioned example whereby infarct repair was improved after injection of PS-liposomes suggests there is indeed potential for inflammation-modulating agents during myocardial reperfusion, particularly at the level of clearance. Such a strategy may be proven even more efficacious if tested in a population that more closely resembles the advanced age of the average victim of MI. That is, older age is associated with increased mortality after a heart attack. In addition, aging-related defects have been reported to be associated with adverse cardiac remodeling in experimental mice. Specifically, Frangogiannis et al. (2002) showed by both histomorphometric and echocardiographic end points, that older mice exhibit significantly reduced neutrophil and macrophage infiltration after coronary ligation, and in turn, impaired phagocytosis of dead cardiomyocytes. This led to enhanced dilative and poor systolic function (Bujak et al., 2008). Additional analysis revealed reduced collagen deposition and hypertrophic remodeling in these hearts. The reduced inflammation seen in aged mice can also be measured in experimental models that inhibit inflammatory cell recruitment. For example, the effects of reduced macrophage recruitment have been tested in a model of MCP-1/CCL2 deficiency. Lack of MCP-1 is associated with delayed macrophage infiltration into the heart and delayed replacement of injured cardiomyocytes with granulation tissue (Dewald et al., 2005). In this scenario, reduced levels of myeloid cell infiltration was associated with delayed dying cell clearance and impaired healing. However, in the reverse direction, that is, excessive inflammation in the setting of atherosclerotic hyperlipidemia, Nahrendorf et al. (2007) examined the inflammatory response post MI in atherogenic apolipoprotein E deficient mice and discovered that a subset of monocytes, the Ly-6C(hi) and CCR2-recruited subset, were markedly elevated and this also correlated with impaired heart healing (Panizzi et al., 2010). The injured myocardium exhibited elevated inflammatory gene expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha, myeloperoxidase, and decreased transforming growth factor-beta and a higher abundance of proteases. Previous work from the same group identified two distinct phases of monocyte action post MI. In non-atherosclerotic (i.e., non-apoE-deficient mice), Ly-6C(hi) monocytes were the first to be recruited to the heart and were highly phagocytic. Though increased Ly-6c (hi) monocytosis in apoE deficient mice were detrimental, depletion of Ly-6c (hi) monocytes under non-dyslipidemic, non-apoE-deficient mice resulted in impaired heart healing, indicating a contribution of dyslipidemia to adversely modulateLy-6c (hi) function during heart inflammation. Ly-6C(lo) monocytes enter later and expressed vascular-endothelial growth factor and therefore promoted healing via myofibroblast accumulation, angiogenesis, and deposition of collagen (Nahrendorf et al., 2007).

### **OXYGEN AND CLEARANCE IN THE HEART**

Reduced perfusion to the infarct reduces nutrient availability and therefore stresses cellular metabolism. Low oxygen tensions and

nutrient deprivation lead to the induction of hypoxia-inducible transcription factors (HIF) in phagocytes. During normoxia, HIF-1α protein is constitutively degraded. During hypoxia, HIF-1α is stabilized and translocates to the nucleus, where it dimerizes with HIF-1B, and acts as a transcription factor for gene elements encoding hypoxic response elements (Maxwell et al., 1999). HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA can be detected in myocardial specimens with pathological evidence of acute ischemia within the first day post MI (Lee et al., 2000). In phagocytes, HIF isoforms mobilize and differentially coordinate intracellular signaling that regulate cell migration, glycolysis, cell-survival, and inflammatory cytokine secretion (Cramer et al., 2003). Deficiency of myeloid HIF-1a has been shown to reduce infiltration of leukocytes and improve cardiac function post MI. This reduced infiltration has been linked to the down-regulation of chemokine receptors (Dong et al., 2010). With respect to how oxygen tension affects clearance in the heart, little is known. In vitro, hypoxia promotes the phagocytosis of bacteria by macrophages, and this has been linked to p38 MAPK signaling (Anand et al., 2007). Less is known regarding effects of apoptotic cell clearance by macrophages during hypoxia, however, in retinal pigment epithelial cells, hypoxia enhanced efferocytosis concomitant with upregulation of the clearance receptor CD36 (Mwaikambo et al., 2009). In contrast, hypoxia has also been shown to potentiate secretion of factors that can inhibit phagocytosis (Wei et al., 2011). Finally, during reperfusion, the restoration of blood and oxygen can also promote additional myocardial damage and elevated reactive oxygen species as described above. Our understanding of how these factors intersect during ischemia to regulate phagocyte-mediated clearance and inflammation resolution, remain incomplete.

#### **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Cardiovascular disease is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Ischemic heart failure is on the rise, part and parcel with an increase in the aged population, who are at highest risk of cardiovascular disease. In addition, better therapeutics have led to the propensity of patients to survive acute coronary events such as MI (Stewart et al., 2003). Both atherosclerosis and MI are characterized by increased cell death. In the case of atherosclerosis, genetic causation experiments indicate that clearance factors are a required pathway toward reducing inflammation and stabilizing vulnerable plaques. Acute MI can lead to the loss of irreplaceable cardiomyocytes, deleterious ventricular remodeling, and reduced cardiac output. Despite significant advances in current standards of therapy, the prevalence of post MI heart failure remains high. Post MI, the causal demonstration of clearance pathways and how they affect post MI repair directly are still unknown. Thus, the magnitude of how clearance affects the heart is yet to be determined and must be formally tested. However, apoptotic cell death is programmed to lead to compartmentalization and non-phlogistic metabolism of intracellular self-antigens, and additionally, to activate pro-resolving signaling (Serhan and Savill, 2005). That is, given that phagocytosis of necrotic debris and clearance of apoptotic cells are intimately linked to downstream signaling pathways that modulate inflammation resolution and tissue repair, targeting of the innate immune system may be a strategy toward reducing adverse cardiac remodeling that leads to

heart failure. Thus, in our working model (Figure 1), we and others propose a need for efficient clearance pathways to promote dving cell engulfment in the heart that are coupled to downstream pro-resolving pathways that also suppress inflammation. In the case of advanced atherosclerosis, enhancing efferocytosis efficiency has previously been proposed as a critical step (Tabas, 2005). In the case of failed inflammation resolution leading to MI, optimizing cardiac repair pathways that lead to efficient cardiac output will also be required to prevent heart failure. Toward these ends, it will be important to elucidate the causal molecular pathways that regulate tissue repair during wound healing. This will include testing the effects of heart failure risk factors, including abnormal metabolism and aging. These approaches will be tested with methods of cell and molecular biology, both in vitro and in gene-targeted in vivo models. In addition, the effects of clearance during reperfusion injury, such as occurs in the clinical setting

#### REFERENCES

- A-Gonzalez, N., Bensinger, S. J., Hong, C., Beceiro, S., Bradley, M. N., Zelcer, N., Deniz, J., Ramirez, C., Díaz, M., Gallardo, G., de Galarreta, C. R., Salazar, J., Lopez, F., Edwards, P., Parks, J., Andujar, M., Tontonoz, P., and Castrillo, A. (2009). Apoptotic cells promote their own clearance and immune tolerance through activation of the nuclear receptor LXR. *Immunity* 31, 245–258.
- Ait-Oufella, H., Kinugawa, K., Zoll, J., Simon, T., Boddaert, J., Heeneman, S., Blanc-Brude, O., Barateau, V., Potteaux, S., Merval, R., Esposito, B., Teissier, E., Daemen, M. J., Lesèche, G., Boulanger, C., Tedgui, A., and Mallat, Z. (2007). Lactadherin deficiency leads to apoptotic cell accumulation and accelerated atherosclerosis in mice. *Circulation* 115, 2168–2177
- Ait-Oufella, H., Pouresmail, V., Simon, T., Blanc-Brude, O., Kinugawa, K., Merval, R., Offenstadt, G., Lesèche, G., Cohen, P. L., Tedgui, A., and Mallat, Z. (2008). Defective mer receptor tyrosine kinase signaling in bone marrow cells promotes apoptotic cell accumulation and accelerates atherosclerosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 28, 1429–1431.
- Anand, R. J., Gribar, S. C., Li, J., Kohler, J. W., Branca, M. F., Dubowski, T., Sodhi, C. P., and Hackam, D. J. (2007). Hypoxia causes an increase in phagocytosis by macrophages in a HIF-1alpha-dependent manner. J. Leukoc. Biol. 82, 1257–1265.
- Bhatia, V. K., Yun, S., Leung, V., Grimsditch, D. C., Benson, G. M., Botto, M. B., Boyle, J. J., and Haskard, D. O. (2007). Complement C1q reduces early atherosclerosis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 170, 416–426.

- Boisvert, W. A., Rose, D. M., Boullier, A., Quehenberger, O., Sydlaske, A., Johnson, K. A., Curtiss, L. K., and Terkeltaub, R. (2006). Leukocyte transglutaminase 2 expression limits atherosclerotic lesion size. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*26, 563–569.
- Bujak, M., Kweon, H. J., Chatila, K., Li, N., Taffet, G., and Frangogiannis, N. G. (2008). Aging-related defects are associated with adverse cardiac remodeling in a mouse model of reperfused myocardial infarction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51, 1384–1392.
- Camenisch, T. D., Koller, B. H., Earp, H. S., and Matsushima, G. K. (1999). A novel receptor tyrosine kinase, Mer, inhibits TNF-alpha production and lipopolysaccharide-induced endotoxic shock. J. Immunol. 162, 3498–3503.
- Chen, W., and Frangogiannis, N. G. (2010). The role of inflammatory and fibrogenic pathways in heart failure associated with aging. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 15, 415–422.
- Cheng, X., Liao, Y. H., Ge, H., Li, B., Zhang, J., Yuan, J., Wang, M., Liu, Y., Guo, Z., Chen, J., Zhang, J., and Zhang, L. (2005). TH1/TH2 functional imbalance after acute myocardial infarction: coronary arterial inflammation or myocardial inflammation. J. Clin. Immunol. 25, 246–253.
- Cheng, X., Yu, X., Ding, Y. J., Fu, Q. Q., Xie, J. J., Tang, T. T., Yao, R., Chen, Y., and Liao, Y. H. (2008). The Th17/Treg imbalance in patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Clin. Immunol.* 127, 89–97.
- Cramer, T., Yamanishi, Y., Clausen, B. E., Förster, I., Pawlinski, R., Mackman, N., Haase, V. H., Jaenisch, R., Corr, M., Nizet, V., Firestein, G. S., Gerber, H. P., Ferrara, N., and Johnson, R. S. (2003). HIF-1alpha is

will also have to be addressed. By defining the critical molecular pathways required for an optimal immune response, a pathway can be discovered toward promoting inflammation resolution and reducing myocardial necrosis and heart failure. In atherosclerosis, strategies to enhance clearance are currently being tested toward stabilizing plaque (Tabas, 2010). Post MI, not only will therapeutics that potentiate effective clearance be a testable strategy, but it will also be key to find the right balance of inflammation that promotes effective clearance of dying and dead tissue while limiting maladaptive inflammation.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

I acknowledge and appreciate previous discussions with Ira Tabas. I also acknowledge Jeremy Lipsitz for the creation of the figure. Funding from NIH 4R00HL097021-03 grant from the NHLBI (to Edward B. Thorp).

essential for myeloid cell-mediated inflammation. *Cell* 112, 645–657.

- Dewald, O., Zymek, P., Winkelmann, K., Koerting, A., Ren, G., Abou-Khamis, T., Michael, L. H., Rollins, B. J., Entman, M. L., and Frangogiannis, N. G. (2005). CCL2/monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 regulates inflammatory responses critical to healing myocardial infarcts. *Circ. Res.* 96, 881–889.
- Dong, F., Khalil, M., Kiedrowski, M., O'Connor, C., Petrovic, E., Zhou, X., and Penn, M. S. (2010). Critical role for leukocyte hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha expression in postmyocardial infarction left ventricular remodeling. *Circ. Res.* 106, 601–610.
- Fadok, V. A., Bratton, D. L., Konowal, A., Freed, P. W., Westcott, J. Y., and Henson, P. M. (1998). Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 890–898.
- Foo, R. S., Mani, K., and Kitsis, R. N. (2005). Death begets failure in the heart. *J. Clin. Invest.* 115, 565–571.
- Frangogiannis, N. G., Smith, C. W., and Entman, M. L. (2002). The inflammatory response in myocardial infarction. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 53, 31–47.
- Frantz, S., Hu, K., Bayer, B., Gerondakis, S., Strotmann, J., Adamek, A., Ertl, G., and Bauersachs, J. (2006). Absence of NF-kappaB subunit p50 improves heart failure after myocardial infarction. *FASEB J.* 20, 1918–1920.
- Frantz, S., Stoerk, S., Ok, S., Wagner, H., Angermann, C. E., Ertl, G., and Bauersachs, J. (2004). Effect of

chronic heart failure on nuclear factor kappa B in peripheral leukocytes. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 94, 671–673.

- Gardai, S. J., McPhillips, K. A., Frasch, S. C., Janssen, W. J., Starefeldt, A., Murphy-Ullrich, J. E., Bratton, D. L., Oldenborg, P. A., Michalak, M., and Henson, P. M. (2005). Cellsurface calreticulin initiates clearance of viable or apoptotic cells through trans-activation of LRP on the phagocyte. Cell 123, 321–334.
- Hamid, T., Guo, S. Z., Kingery, J. R., Xiang, X., Dawn, B., and Prabhu, S. D. (2011). Cardiomyocyte NF-kappaB p65 promotes adverse remodelling, apoptosis, and endoplasmic reticulum stress in heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 89, 129–138.
- Hanayama, R., Tanaka, M., Miwa, K., Shinohara, A., Iwamatsu, A., and Nagata, S. (2002). Identification of a factor that links apoptotic cells to phagocytes. *Nature* 417, 182–187.
- Harel-Adar, T., Ben Mordechai, T., Amsalem, Y., Feinberg, M. S., Leor, J., and Cohen, S. (2011). Modulation of cardiac macrophages by phosphatidylserine-presenting liposomes improves infarct repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1827–1832.
- Hurtado, B., Munoz, X., Recarte-Pelz, P., García, N., Luque, A., Krupinski, J., Sala, N., and García de Frutos, P. (2011). Expression of the vitamin K-dependent proteins GAS6 and protein S and the TAM receptor tyrosine kinases in human atherosclerotic carotid plaques. *Thromb. Haemost.* 105, 873–882.
- Keyes, K. T., Ye, Y., Lin, Y., Zhang, C., Perez-Polo, J. R., Gjorstrup, P., and Birnbaum, Y. (2010). Resolvin E1 protects the rat heart against reperfusion injury. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 299, H153–H164.

- Kolodgie, F. D., Gold, H. K., Burke, A. P., Fowler, D. R., Kruth, H. S., Weber, D. K., Farb, A., Guerrero, L. J., Hayase, M., Kutys, R., Narula, J., Finn, A. V., and Virmani, R. (2003). Intraplaque hemorrhage and progression of coronary atheroma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 349, 2316–2325.
- Krishnamurthy, P., Rajasingh, J., Lambers, E., Qin, G., Losordo, D. W., and Kishore, R. (2009). IL-10 inhibits inflammation and attenuates left ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction via activation of STAT3 and suppression of HuR. *Circ. Res.* 104, e9–e18.
- Kumar, A. G., Ballantyne, C. M., Michael, L. H., Kukielka, G. L., Youker, K. A., Lindsey, M. L., Hawkins, H. K., Birdsall, H. H., MacKay, C. R., LaRosa, G. J., Rossen, R. D., Smith, C. W., and Entman, M. L. (1997). Induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in the small veins of the ischemic and reperfused canine myocardium. *Circulation* 95, 693–700.
- Lawrence, T., Gilroy, D. W., Colville-Nash, P. R., and Willoughby, D. A. (2001). Possible new role for NFkappaB in the resolution of inflammation. *Nat. Med.* 7, 1291–1297.
- Lee, S. H., Wolf, P. L., Escudero, R., Deutsch, R., Jamieson, S. W., and Thistlethwaite, P. A. (2000). Early expression of angiogenesis factors in acute myocardial ischemia and infarction. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 342, 626–633.
- Lemke, G., and Rothlin, C. V. (2008). Immunobiology of the TAM receptors. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 8, 327–336.
- Libby, P., Nahrendorf, M., Pittet, M. J., and Swirski, F. K. (2008). Diversity of denizens of the atherosclerotic plaque: not all monocytes are created equal. *Circulation* 117, 3168–3170.
- Limana, F., Esposito, G., D'Arcangelo, D., Di Carlo, A., Romani, S., Melillo, G., Mangoni, A., Bertolami, C., Pompilio, G., Germani, A., and Capogrossi, M. C. (2011). HMGB1 attenuates cardiac remodelling in the failing heart via enhanced cardiac regeneration and miR-206-mediated inhibition of TIMP-3. *PLoS ONE* 6, e19845. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019845
- Lingnau, M., Höflich, C., Volk, H. D., Sabat, R., and Döcke, W. D. (2007). Interleukin-10 enhances the CD14dependent phagocytosis of bacteria

www.frontiersin.org

and apoptotic cells by human monocytes. *Hum. Immunol.* 68, 730–738.

- Liu, G., Wang, J., Park, Y. J., Tsuruta, Y., Lorne, E. F., Zhao, X., and Abraham, E. (2008). High mobility group protein-1 inhibits phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils through binding to phosphatidylserine. J. Immunol. 181, 4240–4246.
- Lloyd-Jones, D., Adams, R. J., Brown, T. M., Carnethon, M., Dai, S., De Simone, G., Ferguson, T. B., Ford, E., Furie, K., Gillespie, C., Go, A., Greenlund, K., Haase, N., Hailpern, S., Ho, P. M., Howard, V., Kissela, B., Kittner, S., Lackland, D., Lisabeth, L., Marelli, A., McDermott, M. M., Meigs, J., Mozaffarian, D., Mussolino, M., Nichol, G., Roger, V. L., Rosamond, W., Sacco, R., Sorlie, P., Stafford, R., Thom, T., Wasserthiel-Smoller, S., Wong, N. D., Wylie-Rosett, J., and American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. (2010). Executive summary: heart disease and stroke statistics - 2010 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 121, 948-954.
- Matsuda, A., Jacob, A., Wu, R., Zhou, M., Nicastro, J. M., Coppa, G. F., and Wang, P. (2011). Milk fat globule-EGF factor VIII in sepsis and ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Mol. Med.* 17, 126–133.
- Matzinger, P. (2002). The danger model: a renewed sense of self. *Science* 296, 301–305.
- Maxwell, P. H., Wiesener, M. S., Chang, G. W., Clifford, S. C., Vaux, E. C., Cockman, M. E., Wykoff, C. C., Pugh, C. W., Maher, E. R., and Ratcliffe, P. J. (1999). The tumour suppressor protein VHL targets hypoxia-inducible factors for oxygen-dependent proteolysis. *Nature* 399, 271–275.
- Moore, K. J., and Tabas, I. (2011). Macrophages in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Cell* 145, 341–355.
- Mwaikambo, B. R., Yang, C., Chemtob, S., and Hardy, P. (2009). Hypoxia upregulates CD36 expression and function via hypoxia-inducible factor-1and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinasedependent mechanisms. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 26695–26707.
- Nahrendorf, M., Swirski, F. K., Aikawa, E., Stangenberg, L., Wurdinger, T., Figueiredo, J. L., Libby, P., Weissleder, R., and Pittet, M. J. (2007). The healing myocardium sequentially mobilizes two monocyte subsets with divergent and complementary functions. J. Exp. Med. 204, 3037–3047.
- Ogden, C. A., deCathelineau, A., Hoffmann, P. R., Bratton, D.,

Ghebrehiwet, B., Fadok, V. A., and Henson, P. M. (2001). C1q and mannose binding lectin engagement of cell surface calreticulin and CD91 initiates macropinocytosis and uptake of apoptotic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 194, 781–795.

- Ohira, T., Arita, M., Omori, K., Recchiuti, A., Van Dyke, T. E., and Serhan, C. N. (2010). Resolvin E1 receptor activation signals phosphorylation and phagocytosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 3451–3461.
- Oozawa, S., Mori, S., Kanke, T., Takahashi, H., Liu, K., Tomono, Y., Asanuma, M., Miyazaki, I., Nishibori, M., and Sano, S. (2008). Effects of HMGB1 on ischemia-reperfusion injury in the rat heart. *Circ. J.* 72, 1178–1184.
- Panizzi, P., Swirski, F. K., Figueiredo, J. L., Waterman, P., Sosnovik, D. E., Aikawa, E., Libby, P., Pittet, M., Weissleder, R., and Nahrendorf, M. (2010). Impaired infarct healing in atherosclerotic mice with Ly-6C(hi) monocytosis. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 55, 1629–1638.
- Pinderski, L. J., Fischbein, M. P., Subbanagounder, G., Fishbein, M. C., Kubo, N., Cheroutre, H., Curtiss, L. K., Berliner, J. A., and Boisvert, W. A. (2002). Overexpression of interleukin-10 by activated T lymphocytes inhibits atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient Mice by altering lymphocyte and macrophage phenotypes. *Circ. Res.* 90, 1064–1071.
- Roberts, R., DeMello, V., and Sobel, B. E. (1976). Deleterious effects of methylprednisolone in patients with myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 53(Suppl. 3), I204–I206.
- Romson, J. L., Hook, B. G., Kunkel, S. L., Abrams, G. D., Schork, M. A., and Lucchesi, B. R. (1983). Reduction of the extent of ischemic myocardial injury by neutrophil depletion in the dog. *Circulation* 67, 1016–1023.
- Sather, S., Kenyon, K. D., Lefkowitz, J. B., Liang, X., Varnum, B. C., Henson, P. M., and Graham, D. K. (2007). A soluble form of the Mer receptor tyrosine kinase inhibits macrophage clearance of apoptotic cells and platelet aggregation. *Blood* 109, 1026–1033.
- Scaffidi, P., Misteli, T., and Bianchi, M. E. (2002). Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature* 418, 191–195.
- Schrijvers, D. M., De Meyer, G. R., Herman, A. G., and Martinet, W. (2007). Phagocytosis in atherosclerosis: molecular mechanisms and implications for plaque progression

and stability. Cardiovasc. Res. 73, 470-480.

- Schrijvers, D. M., De Meyer, G. R., Kockx, M. M., Herman, A. G., and Martinet, W. (2005). Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages is impaired in atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 25, 1256–1261.
- Schwab, J. M., Chiang, N., Arita, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolvin E1 and protectin D1 activate inflammation-resolution programmes. *Nature* 447, 869–874.
- Seljeflot, I., Hurlen, M., Solheim, S., and Arnesen, H. (2004). Serum levels of interleukin-10 are inversely related to future events in patients with acute myocardial infarction. J. Thromb. Haemost. 2, 350–352.
- Serhan, C. N., and Savill, J. (2005). Resolution of inflammation: the beginning programs the end. *Nat. Immunol.* 6, 1191–1197.
- Stewart, S., MacIntyre, K., Capewell, S., and McMurray, J. J. (2003). Heart failure and the aging population: an increasing burden in the 21st century? *Heart* 89, 49–53.
- Tabas, I. (2005). Consequences and therapeutic implications of macrophage apoptosis in atherosclerosis: the importance of lesion stage and phagocytic efficiency. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 25, 2255–2264.
- Tabas, I. (2010). Macrophage death and defective inflammation resolution in atherosclerosis. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 36–46.
- Takahashi, K., Fukushima, S., Yamahara, K., Yashiro, K., Shintani, Y., Coppen, S. R., Salem, H. K., Brouilette, S. W., Yacoub, M. H., and Suzuki, K. (2008). Modulated inflammation by injection of high-mobility group box 1 recovers post-infarction chronically failing heart. *Circulation* 118(Suppl. 14), S106–S114.
- Thorp, E., Cui, D., Schrijvers, D. M., Kuriakose, G., and Tabas, I. (2008). Mertk receptor mutation reduces efferocytosis efficiency and promotes apoptotic cell accumulation and plaque necrosis in atherosclerotic lesions of apoe-/- mice. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 28, 1421–1428.
- Thorp, E., Vaisar, T., Subramanian, M., Mautner, L., Blobel, C., and Tabas, I. (2011). Shedding of the MER tyrosine kinase receptor is mediated by ADAM17 through a pathway involving reactive oxygen species, protein kinase {delta}, and P38 map kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 33335–33344.
- Tibrewal, N., Wu, Y., D'Mello, V., Akakura, R., George, T. C., Varnum,

Thorp

B., and Birge, R. B. (2008). Autophosphorylation docking site Tyr-867 in Mer receptor tyrosine kinase allows for dissociation of multiple signaling pathways for phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and down-modulation of lipopolysaccharide-inducible NFkappaB transcriptional activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 3618–3627.

- Timmers, L., Sluijter, J. P., van Keulen, J. K., Hoefer, I. E., Nederhoff, M. G., Goumans, M. J., Doevendans, P. A., van Echteld, C. J., Joles, J. A., Quax, P. H., Piek, J. J., Pasterkamp, G., and de Kleijn, D. P. (2008). Toll-like receptor 4 mediates maladaptive left ventricular remodeling and impairs cardiac function after myocardial infarction. *Circ. Res.* 102, 257–264.
- Timmers, L., van Keulen, J. K., Hoefer, I. E., Meijs, M. F., van Middelaar, B., den Ouden, K., van Echteld, C. J., Pasterkamp, G., and de Kleijn, D. P. (2009). Targeted deletion of nuclear factor kappaB p50 enhances cardiac remodeling and dysfunction following myocardial infarction. *Circ. Res.* 104, 699–706.

- Toth, B., Garabuczi, E., Sarang, Z., Vereb, G., Vámosi, G., Aeschlimann, D., Blaskó, B., Bécsi, B., Erdödi, F., Lacy-Hulbert, A., Zhang, A., Falasca, L., Birge, R. B., Balajthy, Z., Melino, G., Fésüs, L., and Szondy, Z. (2009). Transglutaminase 2 is needed for the formation of an efficient phagocyte portal in macrophages engulfing apoptotic cells. *J. Immunol.* 182, 2084–2092.
- Vallabhapurapu, S., and Karin, M. (2009). Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 693–733.
- van den Borne, S. W., Diez, J., Blankesteijn, W. M., Verjans, J., Hofstra, L., and Narula, J. (2010). Myocardial remodeling after infarction: the role of myofibroblasts. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 7, 30–37.
- Wei, J., Wu, A., Kong, L. Y., Wang, Y., Fuller, G., Fokt, I., Melillo, G., Priebe, W., and Heimberger, A. B. (2011). Hypoxia potentiates glioma-mediated immunosuppression. *PLoS ONE* 6, e16195. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016195

- Williams, K. J., and Tabas, I. (1995). The response-to-retention hypothesis of early atherogenesis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 15, 551–561.
- Xu, W., Roos, A., Daha, M. R., and van Kooten, C. (2006). Dendritic cell and macrophage subsets in the handling of dying cells. *Immunobiology* 211, 567–575.
- Yancey, P. G., Blakemore, J., Ding, L., Fan, D., Overton, C. D., Zhang, Y., Linton, M. F., and Fazio, S. (2010). Macrophage LRP-1 controls plaque cellularity by regulating efferocytosis and Akt activation. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 30, 787–795.
- Yang, Z., Zingarelli, B., and Szabó, C. (2000). Crucial role of endogenous interleukin-10 production in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Circulation* 101, 1019–1026.
- Zhang, Q., Raoof, M., Chen, Y., Sumi, Y., Sursal, T., Junger, W., Brohi, K., Itagaki, K., and Hauser, C. J. (2010). Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. *Nature* 464, 104–107.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 September 2011; paper pending published: 24 October 2011; accepted: 17 February 2012; published online: 12 March 2012.

Citation: Thorp EB (2012) Contrasting inflammation resolution during atherosclerosis and post myocardial infarction at the level of monocyte/macrophage phagocytic clearance. Front. Immun. **3**:39. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00039

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2012 Thorp. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



# Steffen Jung<sup>1</sup> and Michal Schwartz<sup>2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> Department of Immunology, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurobiology, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Marco Prinz, University Medical Centre Freiburg, Germany Fabio Rossi, University of British Columbia, Canada

#### \*Correspondence:

Michal Schwartz, Department of Immunology, Weizmann Institute of Science, 76100 Rehovot, Israel. e-mail: michal.schwartz@ weizmann.ac.il The brain has been commonly regarded as a "tissue behind walls." Appearance of immune cells in the brain has been taken as a sign of pathology. Moreover, since infiltrating monocyte-derived macrophages and activated resident microglia were indistinguishable by conventional means, both populations were considered together as inflammatory cells that should be mitigated. Yet, because the microglia permanently reside in the brain, attributing to them negative properties evoked an ongoing debate; why cells that are supposed to be the brain guardians acquire only destructive potential? Studies over the last two decades in the immune arena in general, and in the context of central nervous system pathology in particular, have resulted in a paradigm shift toward a more balanced appreciation of the contributions of immune cells in the context of brain maintenance and repair, and toward the recognition of distinct roles of resident microglia and infiltrating monocyte-derived macrophages.

Keywords: microglia, monocyte-derived macrophages, central nervous system, neurodegeneration, neuroinflammation

### **DIFFERENTIAL MONONUCLEAR PHAGOCYTE ORIGINS**

The mononuclear phagocyte system – a term coined by van Furth et al. (1972) - is known today to comprise monocytes, dendritic cells (DCs), and macrophages, as well as their respective committed bone marrow (BM) progenitors. Mononuclear phagocytes can arise via two exclusive developmental routes (Orkin and Zon, 2008). Most peripheral mononuclear phagocytes are descended from BM-derived cells formed as part of ongoing definitive hematopoiesis. A major breakthrough in defining this developmental pathway was the identification of a clonotypic BM-resident founder cell, termed the macrophage-DC precursor (MDP), that can give rise to peripheral mononuclear phagocytes while having lost granulocyte potential (Fogg et al., 2006). MDPs differentiate within the BM into monocytes (Varol et al., 2007) and into dedicated DC precursors, the pre-DCs, that exit to the circulation to enable the repopulation of peripheral tissue macrophages and DCs, respectively. As opposed to the ephemeral DCs, peripheral macrophage populations are however heterogeneous with respect to their turnover rate, and thus, in their steady state, rely to a varying degree on renewal by BM-derived precursors, e.g., monocyte input (Landsman et al., 2007; Varol et al., 2007). Under inflammatory conditions, most resident microglia are complemented by recruited monocytes that differentiate in situ into macrophages (Ajami et al., 2011). However, the contribution of these cells is often transient (Ajami et al., 2011). Moreover, in certain scenarios, such as parasite-driven Th2 inflammation, tissue-resident macrophage populations were recently shown to even expand locally without any monocyte influx (Jenkins et al., 2011).

As exemplified by the brain microglia (Alliot et al., 1999; Ginhoux et al., 2010), mononuclear phagocytes can also arise during early development (around embryonic day 7.5) as a result of primitive hematopoiesis occurring in extra-embryonic tissue (Orkin and Zon, 2008). After seeding the tissue that is their final destination, these primitive macrophage-derived cells can – as is the case for the secluded microglia – maintain themselves through longevity coupled with limited self-renewal. Thus, these compartments remain independent of monocytic input throughout adult life (Ajami et al., 2007; Mildner et al., 2007; Shechter et al., 2009; Ginhoux et al., 2010). This alternative pathway might encode functional specialization. However, to what extent it applies to macrophage populations other than the brain microglia, remains currently unknown and will have to await future fate mapping studies.

### THE MYSTERY OF THE ROLE OF MONOCYTE-DERIVED MACROPHAGES FOLLOWING STERILE CNS INJURY

Extensive comparison of the responses of the peripheral and central nervous system (CNS) to axonal injury has revealed that recruitment of blood-derived cells to injured peripheral nerves is more pronounced than to the CNS (Perry et al., 1993). Opinions differed, however, regarding the interpretation of this finding (Rapalino et al., 1998; Schwartz et al., 1999; Shechter et al., 2009; London et al., 2011). Insight into "sterile" (noninfectious) injuries outside the CNS (DiPietro, 1995) and the assumption that recruited cells may be beneficial though their numbers might be insufficient for optimal repair, let to the suggestion that introduction of blood-derived macrophages with the



correct phenotype, at the right time, and to the correct location following CNS injury could promote repair. Indeed, in a model of spinal cord injury, it was demonstrated that "alternatively activated" blood macrophages, when locally transplanted at the margin of a spinal cord lesion, resulted in improved recovery (Rapalino et al., 1998). The success of such macrophage transplantation was found to be dependent on the site of their injection (no effect was found when cells were administered at the center of the lesion or far from its margins), the number of injected cells, and the time elapsed between the injury and the injection (Schwartz and Yoles, 2006). The results of these manipulations were initially puzzling, primarily due to the lack of appreciation of macrophage heterogeneity (Gordon, 2003; Gordon and Taylor, 2005) by neuroscientists (Popovich et al., 1999; Mabon et al., 2000). Since the site of injury becomes spontaneously overwhelmed with locally activated microglia, the idea of deriving therapeutic benefit by adding additional blood-derived macrophages seemed contrary to common logic. Subsequent studies from several laboratories regarding the roles of various macrophage populations further complicated the picture, as the researchers primarily studied macrophages activated in vitro using products of bacteria or yeast, assuming that such inflammatory cells mimic strongly activated macrophages. However, activating agents differ not only in their strength of activation, but also in the functional state that they induce; thus, macrophages activated by yeast or bacterial cell wall components, such as zymosan or LPS, do not necessarily represent cells activated following "sterile" injury.

Additional missing pieces in the puzzle of the role of macrophages following CNS injury were the realization that distinct immune activities might be needed following the insult for tissue rescue/protection (Shechter et al., 2009) and restoration/regeneration (Benowitz and Yin, 2010; Benowitz and Popovich, 2011), and that although activated microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages share morphology and phenotypes, they might display distinct activities at critical time points following the insult (Shechter et al., 2009). These facts were belatedly accepted when standard histological or immuno-histochemical techniques of limited resolution were complemented by new genetic approaches enabling the tracking of cell origins and fates.

# DIFFERENTIAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF ACTIVATED RESIDENT MICROGLIA AND INFILTRATING MONOCYTE-DERIVED MACROPHAGES TO THE RECOVERY FROM ACUTE SPINAL CORD INJURY

As outlined above, it is becoming clear that the resident microglia compartment is derived from primitive macrophages that enter the CNS during embryonic development; this compartment remains independent of monocytic input throughout life (**Figure 1**). The use of chimeric mice, in which monocytes, but not the microglia express a green fluorescent protein, GFP ( $CX_3CR1^{gfp} >$  wild type chimeras) allowed us to define the origins of the innate immune cell populations at a site of spinal cord injury. The chimeric mice were prepared by total body irradiation excluding the head, since although microglial cells are radio-resistant and remain strictly

host-derived in BM chimeras, cells of donor marrow origin have been shown to enter irradiated brains but not of head protected brain. In the absence of injury, blood-derived macrophages were found to be excluded from the healthy host brain, as long as the chimeras were created while shielding the head during the conditioning irradiation. Following spinal cord injury, blood-derived GFP<sup>+</sup> myeloid cells were found at the lesion site; yet, the majority of these recruited cells arrived with a delay relative to the initial injury-associated breach of the blood-brain barrier. Secondly and most critically, conditional ablation of the recruited blood-derived macrophages, by virtue of their expression of CD11c and use of the CD11c-DTR system (Jung et al., 2002), worsened the functional motor score of the injured animals and extended the lesion size, while elevating the inflammatory response of the local microglia (Shechter et al., 2009). Thus, the blood-derived macrophages, are recruited to the site of the injury only following insult, and facilitate the termination of the local immune response by displaying an anti-inflammatory activity required for the regulation of the locally activated microglia. Recovery from CNS insults hence seems to comprise consecutive discrete phases, as proposed for peripheral wound repair (Arnold et al., 2007; Nahrendorf et al., 2007). Accordingly, a first response primarily involves resident microglia and possibly also some infiltrating immune cells that "clean" the site of injury, removing dead cells, and debris. This phase is then followed by an active process of immune termination that involves resolving monocyte-derived macrophages, reminiscent of healing of tissues outside the CNS (Gordon and Taylor, 2005; Arnold et al., 2007). Indeed, we found that for blood-derived macrophages to be beneficial at the lesion site, they must express IL-10, the classical anti-inflammatory cytokine known to be associated with alternatively activated macrophages (also known as "M2" or "resolving macrophages"; Shechter et al., 2009). Ablation of the blood-derived macrophages followed by their replacement with macrophages that are defective in IL-10 expression preserves recruitment of cells, but results in impaired overall recovery (Shechter et al., 2009). Similarly, suppressing recruitment of innate immune cells at this stage is counterproductive, and is likely to result in chronic inflammation and insufficient repair (Shechter et al., 2009). Conversely, boosting of monocyte recruitment results in improved recovery (Shechter et al., 2009). Collectively, these results, argue in favor of both microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages as key players in the repair of spinal cord injuries, but with non-redundant activity. The monocyte-derived macrophages display in this scenario a local anti-inflammatory and beneficial role, which is critically dependent upon their expression of interleukin 10.

# DIFFERENTIAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF ACTIVATED RESIDENT MICROGLIA AND INFILTRATING MONOCYTE-DERIVED MACROPHAGES TO EXPERIMENTALLY INDUCED AUTOIMMUNE ENCEPHALITIS

Multiple sclerosis and its established mouse model, experimentally induced autoimmune encephalitis (EAE), are characterized by extensive CNS infiltration of both lymphoid and myeloid inflammatory cells (Hickey, 1991). As with the acute injury model, specific contributions or resident microglia and recruited monocyte-derived macrophages have long remained a matter of debate due to the absence of suitable experimental systems. Using a combination of parabiosis and irradiation, Rossi and colleagues recently shed considerable light on this enigma (Ajami et al., 2011). Specifically, their strategy relied on reconstitution of an irradiated parabiont by its shielded parabiosis partner, thereby avoiding transfer of mechanically collected BM, which could contain precursors that are not released into the circulation under physiological conditions. This resulted in efficient replacement of BM and peripheral blood by donor cells, but no myeloid repopulation of the CNS; hence this system enabled monitoring of the dynamics of monocyte-derived macrophages and microglia during the course of active EAE. Interestingly, significant monocyte recruitment via a meningal route was found only in animals that already displayed considerable disease scores (>2). Progression to severe EAE, strongly correlated with the extent of this myelomonocytic CNS infiltrate. Moreover, corroborating an earlier report (Mildner et al., 2009), the use of CCR2-deficient parabionts established monocyte-derived macrophages as active drivers of CNS inflammation.

The study of Ajami et al. (2011) also allowed a glimpse at the dynamic response of the resident microglia. Activation of microglia, as indicated by BrdU incorporation (a measure of proliferation), was observed prior to monocyte recruitment and irrespective of disease progression. During the acute severe EAE disease phase, the microglial compartment transiently expanded but is trimmed, presumably to its original density.

Collectively, also during setting of autoimmune inflammation, non-redundant activities of microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages emerge. Interestingly, the monocyte-derived cells display in this scenario as opposed to the injury model a pro-inflammatory role.

### **CONCLUDING REMARK**

The results summarized above highlight important lessons:

- a. That infiltrating monocyte-derived macrophages are not part of the microglia turnover.
- b. The functional plasticity of monocyte-derived macrophages, which can adopt opposite fates depending on the context encountered. Thus, while they have a pivotal and beneficial role in sterile injury model, under inflammatory autoimmune disease conditions the recruited monocytes contribute to disease severity.
- c. The intriguing and apparently distinct roles of resident microglia, the brain sentinels: on one hand, their essential role in the first phase of recovery from sterile injury, and, on the other hand, their key contribution in the initiation of inflammation autoimmune disease possibly through their interaction with autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This work was supported in part by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft Research Unit (FOR) 1336 (Steffen Jung), and by ERC – European Research Council-Advanced grant (Michal Schwartz).

#### **REFERENCES**

- Ajami, B., Bennett, J. L., Krieger, C., McNagny, K. M., and Rossi, F. M. (2011). Infiltrating monocytes trigger EAE progression, but do not contribute to the resident microglia pool. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1142–1149.
- Ajami, B., Bennett, J. L., Krieger, C., Tetzlaff, W., and Rossi, F. M. (2007). Local self-renewal can sustain CNS microglia maintenance and function throughout adult life. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1538–1543.
- Alliot, F., Godin, I., and Pessac, B. (1999). Microglia derive from progenitors, originating from the yolk sac, and which proliferate in the brain. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 117, 145–152.
- Arnold, L., Henry, A., Poron, F., Baba-Amer, Y., van Rooijen, N., Plonquet, A., Gherardi, R. K., and Chazaud, B. (2007). Inflammatory monocytes recruited after skeletal muscle injury switch into antiinflammatory macrophages to support myogenesis. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1057–1069.
- Benowitz, L. I., and Popovich, P. G. (2011). Inflammation and axon regeneration. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 24, 577–583.
- Benowitz, L. I., and Yin, Y. (2010). Optic nerve regeneration. Arch. Ophthalmol. 128, 1059–1064.
- DiPietro, L. A. (1995). Wound healing: the role of the macrophage and other immune cells. *Shock* 4, 233–240.
- Fogg, D. K., Sibon, C., Miled, C., Jung, S., Aucouturier, P., Littman, D. R., Cumano, A., and Geissmann, F. (2006). A clonogenic bone marrow progenitor specific for macrophages and dendritic cells. *Science* 311, 83–87.
- Ginhoux, F., Greter, M., Leboeuf, M., Nandi, S., See, P., Gokhan, S., Mehler, M. F., Conway, S. J., Ng, L. G., Stanley, E. R., Samokhvalov, I. M., and Merad, M. (2010). Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. *Science* 330, 841–845.
- Gordon, S. (2003). Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3, 23–35.

- Gordon, S., and Taylor, P. R. (2005). Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 5, 953–964.
- Hickey, W. F. (1991). Migration of hematogenous cells through the blood-brain barrier and the initiation of CNS inflammation. *Brain Pathol.* 1, 97–105.
- Jenkins, S. J., Ruckerl, D., Cook, P. C., Jones, L. H., Finkelman, F. D., van Rooijen, N., MacDonald, A. S., and Allen, J. E. (2011). Local macrophage proliferation, rather than recruitment from the blood, is a signature of TH2 inflammation. *Science* 332, 1284–1288.
- Jung, S., Unutmaz, D., Wong, P., Sano, G., De los Santos, K., Sparwasser, T., Wu, S., Vuthoori, S., Ko, K., Zavala, F., Pamer, E. G., Littman, D. R., and Lang, R. A. (2002). In vivo depletion of CD11c(+) dendritic cells abrogates priming of CD8(+) T cells by exogenous cell-associated antigens. *Immunity* 17, 211–20.
- Landsman, L., Varol, C., and Jung, S. (2007). Distinct differentiation potential of blood monocyte subsets in the lung. *J. Immunol.* 178, 2000–2007.
- London, A., Itskovich, E., Benhar, I., Kalchenko, V., Mack, M., Jung, S., and Schwartz, M. (2011). Neuroprotection and progenitor cell renewal in the injured adult murine retina requires healing monocyte-derived macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 208, 23–39.
- Mabon, P. J., Weaver, L. C., and Dekaban, G. A. (2000). Inhibition of monocyte/macrophage migration to a spinal cord injury site by an antibody to the integrin alphaD: a potential new anti-inflammatory treatment. *Exp. Neurol.* 166, 52–64.
- Mildner, A., Mack, M., Schmidt, H., Bruck, W., Djukic, M., Zabel, M. D., Hille, A., Priller, J., and Prinz, M. (2009). CCR2+Ly-6Chi monocytes are crucial for the effector phase of autoimmunity in the central nervous system. *Brain* 132, 2487–2500.

- Mildner, A., Schmidt, H., Nitsche, M., Merkler, D., Hanisch, U. K., Mack, M., Heikenwalder, M., Bruck, W., Priller, J., and Prinz, M. (2007). Microglia in the adult brain arise from Ly-6ChiCCR2+ monocytes only under defined host conditions. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1544–1553.
- Nahrendorf, M., Swirski, F. K., Aikawa, E., Stangenberg, L., Wurdinger, T., Figueiredo, J. L., Libby, P., Weissleder, R., and Pittet, M. J. (2007). The healing myocardium sequentially mobilizes two monocyte subsets with divergent and complementary functions. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 3037–3047.
- Orkin, S. H., and Zon, L. I. (2008). Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. *Cell* 132, 631–644.
- Perry, V. H., Andersson, P. B., and Gordon, S. (1993). Macrophages and inflammation in the central nervous system. *Trends Neurosci.* 16, 268–273.
- Popovich, P. G., Guan, Z., Wei, P., Huitinga, I., van Rooijen, N., and Stokes, B. T. (1999). Depletion of hematogenous macrophages promotes partial hindlimb recovery and neuroanatomical repair after experimental spinal cord injury. *Exp. Neurol.* 158, 351–365.
- Rapalino, O., Lazarov-Spiegler, O., Agranov, E., Velan, G. J., Yoles, E., Fraidakis, M., Solomon, A., Gepstein, R., Katz, A., Belkin, M., Hadani, M., and Schwartz, M. (1998). Implantation of stimulated homologous macrophages results in partial recovery of paraplegic rats. *Nat. Med.* 4, 814–821.
- Schwartz, M., Moalem, G., Leibowitz-Amit, R., and Cohen, I. R. (1999). Innate and adaptive immune responses can be beneficial for CNS repair. *Trends Neurosci.* 22, 295–299.
- Schwartz, M., and Yoles, E. (2006). Immune-based therapy for spinal cord repair: autologous macrophages and beyond. J. Neurotrauma 23, 360–370.

- Shechter, R., London, A., Varol, C., Raposo, C., Cusimano, M., Yovel, G., Rolls, A., Mack, M., Pluchino, S., Martino, G., Jung, S., and Schwartz, M. (2009). Infiltrating bloodderived macrophages are vital cells playing an anti-inflammatory role in recovery from spinal cord injury in mice. *PLoS Med.* 6, e1000113. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000113
- van Furth, R., Cohn, Z. A., Hirsch, J. G., Humphrey, J. H., Spector, W. G., and Langevoort, H. L. (1972). The mononuclear phagocyte system: a new classification of macrophages, monocytes, and their precursor cells. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 46, 845–852.
- Varol, C., Landsman, L., Fogg, D. K., Greenshtein, L., Gildor, B., Margalit, R., Kalchenko, V., Geissmann, F., and Jung, S. (2007). Monocytes give rise to mucosal, but not splenic, conventional dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 171–180.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 November 2011; paper pending published: 28 November 2011; accepted: 06 April 2012; published online: 07 May 2012.

Citation: Jung S and Schwartz M (2012) Non-identical twins – microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages in acute injury and autoimmune inflammation. Front. Immun. **3**:89. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00089

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2012 Jung and Schwartz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

# Oral inflammatory diseases and systemic inflammation: role of the macrophage

# Hatice Hasturk \*, Alpdogan Kantarci and Thomas E. Van Dyke

Department of Periodontology, The Forsyth Institute, Cambridge, MA, USA

#### Edited by:

Amiram Ariel, University of Haifa, Israel

#### Reviewed by:

Manuela Mengozzi, Brighton and Sussex Medical School, UK Gerard L. Bannenberg, Solutex, Spain

#### \*Correspondence:

Hatice Hasturk, Department of Periodontology, The Forsyth Institute, 245 First Street, 17th Floor, Cambridge, MA 02142, USA. e-mail: hhasturk@forsyth.org

Inflammation is a complex reaction to injurious agents and includes vascular responses, migration, and activation of leukocytes. Inflammation starts with an acute reaction, which evolves into a chronic phase if allowed to persist unresolved. Acute inflammation is a rapid process characterized by fluid exudation and emigration of leukocytes, primarily neutrophils, whereas chronic inflammation extends over a longer time and is associated with lymphocyte and macrophage infiltration, blood vessel proliferation, and fibrosis. Inflammation is terminated when the invader is eliminated, and the secreted mediators are removed; however, many factors modify the course and morphologic appearance as well as the termination pattern and duration of inflammation. Chronic inflammatory illnesses such as diabetes, arthritis, and heart disease are now seen as problems that might have an impact on the periodontium. Reciprocal effects of periodontal diseases are potential factors modifying severity in the progression of systemic inflammatory diseases. Macrophages are key cells for the inflammatory processes as regulators directing inflammation to chronic pathological changes or resolution with no damage or scar tissue formation. As such, macrophages are involved in a remarkably diverse array of homeostatic processes of vital importance to the host. In addition to their critical role in immunity, macrophages are also widely recognized as ubiquitous mediators of cellular turnover and maintenance of extracellular matrix homeostasis. In this review, our objective is to identify macrophage-mediated events central to the inflammatory basis of chronic diseases, with an emphasis on how control of macrophage function can be used to prevent or treat harmful outcomes linked to uncontrolled inflammation.

Keywords: innate immune system, macrophage, oral disease, inflammation, resolution

### **INTRODUCTION**

Inflammation is the physiological response of the body to injury. The inflammatory response can be either acute and of short duration or chronic, which does not resolve and leads to pathology. The major function of innate immune cells most studied during the inflammatory process is the identification and recognition of the injurious and/or foreign substances promoting the defense response. Less acknowledged roles played by the innate immune cells involve the resolution pathways and wound healing, both of which include repair and regeneration of lost or damaged tissues. These are now recognized as highly regulated, active processes rather than passive events (Van Dyke, 2008). Macrophages are actively involved in all phases of inflammation and their role as effector and regulatory cells is now widely recognized. Another interesting and important feature of macrophages is their high level of specialization and tissue specificity. While all tissue-bound macrophages differentiate from circulating monocytes, they acquire distinct characteristics and functions locally due to their response profiles. One of the major factors for this diversity is the complexity of microbial load as well as tissue architecture. Thus, it is no surprise that some of the most sophisticated interactions between the host and parasites also dictate the most evolved phenotypic characteristics of the macrophage. Some examples of this specificity and complexity of macrophage phenotype and function are the Kupffer cells of the liver and macrophages of the lung alveoli where the cells, while similar in appearance, are involved in distinct responses against different pathogens as well as non-pathogenic stimuli.

The oral cavity is one of the most ecologically complex microenvironments in the human body where interactions between the host and microbes define health and disease (Gemmell et al., 1997). The teeth are the only functional hard tissues extending from inside to outside of the human body crossing a series of other hard (i.e., bone) and soft (i.e., connective tissue and epithelia) tissues surrounded by a tight biofilm formed by the richest collection of bacteria outside the colon. Such architecture creates several zones, which work in concert during the inflammatory responses in the mouth. Regulation of immuneinflammatory mechanisms in oral disease is governed in part by patient susceptibility and environmental factors (Seymour, 1991; Seymour and Gemmell, 2001; Uitto et al., 2003). In particular; oral macrophages address these complex requirements for mounting a successful inflammatory response as the cell type at the center of many processes including signaling to resolution of inflammation, healing, and regeneration. In this review, within the context of pathogenic mechanisms, possible clinical outcomes will be discussed in relation to the inflammatory–immunological changes throughout the disease process. Since most inflammatory diseases of the oral cavity involve the tissues of periodontium, the pathological changes in the periodontal structure will be used as a model to assess the role of the macrophages in oral inflammation and its resolution.

# ACTIVATION OF ORAL INFLAMMATION AND THE ROLE OF MACROPHAGES

Typically, there are two common diseases affecting the oral tissues and the health of the supporting structures of a tooth. In the case of gingivitis, inflammation is limited to the soft tissues, epithelium, and connective tissue; or in the case of *periodontitis*, inflammatory processes extend to the supporting tissues including the alveolar bone (Page and Schroeder, 1976). In both forms of periodontal inflammation, the pathological consequences are associated with the accumulation of bacteria at the tooth surface leading to a host response generating inflammatory cell infiltration (Socransky and Haffajee, 2005). Since the soft and hard tissues of the oral cavity are part of the same functional and physiological organ, separating the host response to several components is artificial and does not acknowledge the dynamic relationship between the cells, bacteria, and extracellular structures. Likewise, while practical and instructive, the supposition of a linear shift in lesions from acute to chronic is not clear. Recent discoveries defining the pathways of resolution in the inflammatory processes challenge the concepts of compartmentalization and linearity in acute and chronic responses (Serhan, 2010; Pruss et al., 2011). Nevertheless, this is the prevailing paradigm, since the tools for analyses of the events at multiple levels are just being incorporated into oral research (Singh et al., 2011; Hasturk et al., 2012). Based on the preliminary results of studies that use high-throughput measurements to generate a systems-biology approach, the complex nature of host-bacteria interactions in a highly complex environment of the oral cavity is being redefined (Bakthavatchalu et al., 2011; Mishima and Sharma, 2011; Singh et al., 2011). To this end, novel approaches have revealed the orchestrated coupling of activation and resolution phases as well as tissue healing.

Macrophages are central to the coordinated resolution of inflammation and return to tissue homeostasis (Zadeh et al., 1999). During the first step of the inflammatory process directed against microorganisms, bacteria, and their virulence factors (e.g., capsule, lipopolysaccharide, fimbria) trigger receptor-mediated production of cytokines by epithelial cells with simultaneous release of neuropeptides, which cause vasodilation of local blood vessels. Generation of chemoattractant proteins (chemokines) at this stage results in attraction of the first line of defense, the neutrophil, which leave the vessels and migrate to the site of microbial invasion. This step is critical and plays a pivotal role in generation of an effective defense system. Neutrophils are followed by the macrophages. This is the step usually where clinical signs of oral inflammation including bleeding, swelling, and redness of the gingiva are detectable. The inflection can either be confined and cleared by the function of neutrophils and macrophages at this early stage, or expand to include the other cells and structures (Page and Schroeder, 1976). Being myeloid cells of hematopoietic origin (Medzhitov and Janeway, 1997; Janeway and Medzhitov,

2002) the overall role of the macrophages is to limit the pathological changes to the soft tissues or elevate the inflammatory response to the next level. Major functions of macrophages include elimination of invading bacteria, recruitment of other cells to the site of infection, clearance of the excess neutrophils, production of cytokines and chemokines, and activation of the lymphocytemediated adaptive immune response. The net outcome of these functions can be either complete resolution with healing, limiting the infection with resultant fibrosis and healing with scar tissue formation, or a failure to clear the infection with establishment of a chronic inflammatory lesion.

In the case that the inflammatory process is prolonged and becomes chronic, destruction of soft and hard tissues including the alveolar bone is observed due to direct tissue destruction mediated by inflammation (McCauley and Nohutcu, 2002; Hasturk et al., 2006; Taubman et al., 2007; Graves, 2008; Li et al., 2011). Macrophages together with neutrophils are responsible of phagocytosis and digestion of microorganisms and foreign substances through surface receptors that recognize and bind certain surface molecules of bacteria such as the lipopolysaccharides (LPS; Medzhitov and Janeway, 1997). These receptors are the key components for distinguishing between the host and the invader and defined as pathogen recognition receptors called toll-like receptors (TLR; Anderson, 2000), which mediate the elimination of the pathogenic microbes through phagocytosis and killing (Wingrove et al., 1992). TLRs regulate apoptosis, inflammation, and immune responses (Anderson, 2000). Evidence supporting a role for TLRmediated recognition of macrophage function in resolution of inflammation is accumulating providing strong support indicating that this receptor-ligand interaction is key to the homeostatic restoration of the host defense (Duffield et al., 2006; Schif-Zuck et al., 2011). Recently, a group of nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain proteins (NODs) have been described as potential regulators of apoptotic events and nuclear factor kB (NF-kb) activation within the context of pathogen recognition and the inflammatory responses (Inohara and Nunez, 2003). While it is not clear how NODs are involved in oral inflammatory diseases, evidence suggests that they are expressed in gingival cells and may play role in promotion of oral inflammation (Uehara and Takada, 2007; Tang et al., 2011).

The TLR family is the best-characterized class of pathogen recognition receptors. TLRs are unique receptors that recognize molecules, broadly shared by microorganisms, but are distinguishable from the host molecules, referred to as "pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMP)." TLRs detect multiple PAMPs, including LPS, bacterial lipoproteins and lipoteichoic acids, flagellin, CpG DNA of bacteria and viruses, double-stranded RNA, and single-stranded viral RNA (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004). To date, 11 different TLRs have been identified (Liu et al., 2000; Takeda et al., 2003; Krutzik and Modlin, 2004; Quesniaux et al., 2004). When TLRs bind to antigens, series of intracellular events are initiated and the process leads to the production of cytokines, chemokines, and antimicrobial peptides (Donati et al., 2009). The binding can be through four different adapters. Each adapter has the potential of producing various cytokines stimulating NF-kB pathway in the nucleus of the cell. Known adapter proteins of TLRs are MyD88, toll-interleukin-1 receptor domain

containing adapter protein (TIRAP), toll-interleukin-1 receptor domain containing adapter-inducing interferon-β (TRIF) and TRIF-related adapter molecule (TRAM). TLRs also utilize interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK), and TNF receptor-activated factor 6 (TRAF6; Jiang et al., 2000). Different TLRs induce different responses; for example, in dendritic cells, the interaction of TLR 4 and LPS results in the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-12. TLR-2 and TLR 4 have been shown to be expressed in oral tissue cells. The same TLR can trigger different responses through different intracellular adapter proteins (Alexopoulou et al., 2001; Kaisho and Akira, 2002; Cook et al., 2004; Krutzik and Modlin, 2004; Watters et al., 2007). TLRs 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6 specialize in the recognition of mainly bacterial products that are unique to bacteria and not made by the host. This gives them the specificity to differ the invader from the host (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004). Recognition by the TLR pathway is a crucial phase in inflammation. After recognition, many cytokines are released from various cell types including the macrophages through the NFkB pathway (Uehara and Takada, 2007). After TLR4 activation, MyD88 is recruited to TLR4 through respective Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR)-TIR interactions (Medzhitov et al., 1998; Muzio et al., 1998; Raschi et al., 2003). MyD88 also contains a death domain (DD), a highly conserved protein-binding domain that facilitates its interaction with another DD-containing signaling molecule, IRAK (Cao et al., 1996). IRAK subsequently undergoes phosphorylation and dissociates from MyD88, interacts with TRAF6, and thereby activates several downstream kinases (Cao et al., 1996; Yamin and Miller, 1997; Aderem and Ulevitch, 2000; Jiang et al., 2000; Swantek et al., 2000; Raschi et al., 2003). Following LPS stimulation, two signaling pathways have been described, the MyD88-dependent and -independent pathways (Akira et al., 2000; Kawai et al., 2001; Sato et al., 2002; Yamamoto et al., 2003). Endotoxin activation of the MyD88-dependent pathway results in rapid NF-KB activation and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and IL-1 $\beta$ . Endotoxin activation of the MyD88-independent pathway results in rapid activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) leading to beta interferon (IFN- $\beta$ ) release with delayed NF- $\kappa$ B activation (Akira et al., 2000; Kawai et al., 2001; Hoebe et al., 2003). The TLR proteins possess leucine-rich extracellular repeats that recognize the LPS binding protein (LBP)-CD14 complex (Poltorak et al., 2000). The TLR intracellular domain resembles the IL-1 $\beta$ receptor, hence the term TIR homology domain (Medzhitov et al., 1997; Chaudhary et al., 1998; Rock et al., 1998). The TIR domain in the cytoplasmic portion of the molecule is considered essential for triggering activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) and the transcription factor NF-κB (Means et al., 2000; Akira et al., 2001; Sato et al., 2002). While CD14 is the major LBP on the surface of mononuclear phagocytes, CD14 is not capable of transducing signals across the membrane. A receptor complex comprised of CD14, TLR-2, TLR4, and accessory proteins (MD-2) is necessary for receptor function as well as various kinases, including the three classes of MAPK: extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1 and ERK2 (Weinstein et al., 1992), p38 MAPK (Han et al., 1994), and c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK; Hambleton et al., 1996). Numerous inflammatory cytokines and mediators are expressed in LPS stimulated macrophages through activation

of transcription factors including NF-KB and activator protein-1 (Fujihara et al., 1993; Muroi et al., 1993; Guha and Mackman, 2001). LPS recognition is initiated by LBP, a serum glycoprotein, that first binds to the lipid A moiety of LPS (Schumann et al., 1990; Wright et al., 1990; Gegner et al., 1995). The LPS-LBP complex is then recognized by CD14 (Schumann et al., 1990; Ulevitch and Tobias, 1995; Haziot et al., 1996). Mice with a targeted deletion of the gene encoding CD14 are hyporesponsive to LPS and resistant to the lethal effects of LPS (Haziot et al., 1996). However, mice lacking CD14 are still able to respond to high concentrations of LPS (Wurfel et al., 1997). CD14 is a glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored (GPI-anchored) molecule which lacks a cytoplasmic signaling domain, making it incapable of downstream signaling (Haziot et al., 1988). It is not fully clear if the TLR-mediated pathways are directly involved during the oral inflammatory responses including resolution.

We have previously identified moesin as a participant in LPS binding and signal transduction (Tohme et al., 1999). Many physiological and pathophysiological conditions are attributable in part to cytoskeletal regulation of cellular responses to signals. Moesin is an ERM (ezrin, radixin, and moesin) family member and was identified as part of a protein cluster. Moesin was found to be necessary for the detection of LPS, and homozygous moesin knockout mice exhibited a threefold reduction in neutrophil infiltration into LPS injected sites when compared to wild type controls (Amar et al., 2001). Anti-moesin antibody inhibited the release of TNF- $\alpha$  by LPS stimulated monocytes (Tohme et al., 1999), and moesin was also found to be expressed on the surface of differentiated THP-1 cells and primary peripheral blood monocytes. LPS stimulation increased the surface expression of moesin as well as its total protein levels when analyzed by FACS and Western blotting, respectively. Furthermore, moesin was found to co-immunoprecipitate with TLR4 after LPS stimulation (Iontcheva et al., 2004). In moesin mRNA knockdown experiments using antisense mRNA, THP-1 cells no longer responded to LPS (Iontcheva et al., 2004), suggesting a role for moesin in LPS signaling. Using differentiated THP-1 cells, co-immunoprecipitation experiments revealed that moesin and CD14 were associated in the cell membrane in both resting and LPS stimulated cells. TLR4 and MD-2 became associated with moesin and CD14 only after LPS stimulation. These experiments also demonstrated that there was a direct binding between moesin and LPS. Moesin was phosphorylated and mRNA levels of moesin increased significantly after LPS stimulation. During the TLR4mediated response to LPS, moesin stimulates the NF-κB, p38, and p44/42 MAPK activation (Iontcheva et al., 2004; Zawawi et al., 2010). Figure 1 shows a model for recognition of LPS involving the dynamic association of multiple molecules, including moesin, forming a cluster that functions as the LPS receptor and an important role in the macrophage-mediated innate immune response and TLR4-mediated pattern recognition in oral inflammatory diseases.

Cytokines and other products of macrophages can also modulate the action, differentiation, and survival of cells outside the immune system, such as the nervous system. The interaction between macrophages and the nervous system relies on the receptor-sensitizing characteristics of cytokines (Opree and Kress, 2000) linked to the discovery of protease-activated receptors



(PARs). Research into the functionality of these receptors has shown that PAR-2 has a particularly important role in disease states associated with chronic inflammation (Vergnolle, 1999). Identification of neuropeptide receptors on immune cells indicates a communication between the immune and neurological systems that possibly results in the modulation of inflammatory response through G-protein-coupled receptors located on the cell membranes or the vanilloid receptor-1 (also named TRPV1), which is shown to be up-regulated in inflammatory bowel disease. These findings suggest a possible role for this receptor in chronic inflammation (McGillis et al., 1991; Yiangou et al., 2001; Tracey, 2002; Lundy and Linden, 2004). Cytokines have been shown to regulate substance P expression and response to LPS (Kessler and Freidin, 1993; Hua et al., 1996). Substance P limits the production of TGF- $\beta$  by macrophages and induces synthesis of IL-6 (Lieb et al., 1996; Marriott and Bost, 1998). Macrophages can produce substance P when activated with LPS in vitro (Lambrecht et al., 1999). The precise mechanism through which these receptor-mediated events might regulate the macrophage response in the oral cavity is not clear; future research is needed to understand their role.

# ROLE OF MACROPHAGES IN GINGIVAL INFLAMMATION AND BONE RESORPTION

Macrophages efficiently ingest particulate antigen, express MHC class II molecules and have co-stimulatory activity on T cells. Macrophages can be phenotypically polarized by the microenvironment. The classically activated macrophages (M1) are activated by IFN- $\gamma$  and LPS, and alternatively activated macrophages (M2) produced in response to IL-4 or IL-13 (Martinez et al., 2009). M2 macrophages have been shown to play role in resolution of inflammation with a reduced capacity to produce cytokines (Bhatavadekar and Williams, 2009). Cytokine and chemokine production by macrophages is a key step in immune response and the inflammation process. Cytokines interact between each other,

amplify signaling, modulate cell surface receptors, and perform synergistic or antagonistic interactions on cell function (Balkwill and Burke, 1989). It is not only the presence of one cytokine that regulates the response, but the concentration of the same mediator can also affect the outcome of a response (Gemmell et al., 1997). Their secretion is dependent on the NF- $\kappa$ B in the nucleus of many immune system cells (Baldwin, 1996; Hanada and Yoshimura, 2002). In addition to macrophages, cytokines can be produced by both resident cells such as epithelial cells, fibroblasts and other phagocytes such as neutrophils in the periodontal tissues (Ara et al., 2009). After microbial recognition, cytokines in innate response such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, and IL-6 are the first to start communication in disease pathogenesis (Garlet, 2010). IL-1β and IL-6 are the signature innate cytokines and have been characteristically associated with inflammatory cell migration, highly produced by the macrophages and involved in osteoclastogenesis processes (Graves et al., 2008; Fonseca et al., 2009). TNF-α is a multi-role cytokine, that has many functions from cell migration to tissue destruction. It induces the up-regulation of adhesion molecules, stimulates the production of chemokines, and is involved in cell migration to infected and inflamed sites (Peschon et al., 1998; Dinarello, 2000; Wajant et al., 2003; Kindle et al., 2006). TNF- $\alpha$ up-regulates the production of other signature pro-inflammatory innate immunity cytokines, such as IL-1β and IL-6 (Okada et al., 1997; Dinarello, 2000; Wajant et al., 2003; Kwan Tat et al., 2004; Garlet et al., 2007; Graves et al., 2008; Musacchio et al., 2009). TNF- $\alpha$  is also correlated with extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation and bone resorption through its positive correlation with matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and RANKL expression (Graves and Cochran, 2003; Garlet et al., 2004; Graves et al., 2008). Experimental periodontitis in TNF-a p55 receptor deficient mice was characterized by a significant decrease in MMPs and RANKL expression (Garlet et al., 2007). Thus, in addition to direct actions in bone resorption, macrophage-derived cytokines also interfere

with the coupled bone formation process (Behl et al., 2008). IL-13 is another potent modulator of human monocyte/macrophage function. Monocyte/macrophage cell surface markers, MHC class II and several integrin molecules are up-regulated by IL- 13 (de Waal Malefyt et al., 1993). The monocyte/macrophage related production of the cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , 1L-6, IL-8, and TNF- $\alpha$  is also inhibited by IL- 13. On the other hand, IL-1 receptor antagonist secretion is enhanced (de Waal Malefyt et al., 1993; Zurawski and de Vries, 1994). Therefore, IL-13, along with IL-4 and IL-10, would appear to have potential anti-inflammatory activity (Zurawski and de Vries, 1994).

In addition to their cell trafficking role, chemokines provide messages leading to other biological processes, such as angiogenesis, cell proliferation, apoptosis, tumor metastasis, and host defense (Rossi and Zlotnik, 2000; Zlotnik and Yoshie, 2000; Moser et al., 2004; Rot and von Andrian, 2004; Esche et al., 2005). Chemokines are classified into four subfamilies according to the configuration of cysteine residues near the N-terminus. Chemokines engage their receptors. This binding initiates integrin-dependent adhesion, as well as the binding and detachment of cells from their substrate. Chemokines target all types of leukocytes of the innate immune system, as well as lymphocytes of the adaptive immune system (Terricabras et al., 2004). IL-8/CXCL8 is the first cytokine identified to have chemotactic activity. It can be produced by macrophages as well as fibroblasts, epithelial cells, and endothelial cells (Takashiba et al., 1992; Takigawa et al., 1994; Yumoto et al., 1999). IL-8 is a neutrophil chemoattractant. It is detectable in healthy and diseased periodontal tissues and has been associated with subclinical inflammation (Yoshimura et al., 1987; Payne et al., 1993; Mathur et al., 1996). It has direct action on osteoclast differentiation and activity by signaling through the specific receptor, CXCR1 (Bendre et al., 2003). Another crucial chemokine for macrophage function is MCP-1/CCL2, which mediates the recruitment of monocytes/macrophages (Hanazawa et al., 1993; Okamatsu et al., 2004). Together with RANTES/CCL5, MIP-1a/CCL3 may also be involved in the migration of macrophages to oral tissues (Gemmell et al., 2001; Kabashima et al., 2002). CXCR3 and its ligand IP-10/CXCL10 are also expressed in diseased periodontal tissues and associated with higher levels of IFN- $\gamma$  during the inflammation process (Kabashima et al., 2002; Garlet et al., 2003). CCR4 is found expressed at higher levels in chronic periodontitis and it is associated with higher levels of IL-4 and IL-10 messages in the periodontium (Garlet et al., 2003, 2004).

In addition to recruitment of cells, chemokines are crucial in guiding adaptive immunity cells with a role in bone metabolism. MDC/CCL22, TARC/CCL17, and I- 309/CCL1 have been shown to attract Th2 and Treg cells via binding their CXCR 4 and CXCR 8 receptors (D'Ambrosio et al., 1998; Sallusto et al., 1998; Gu et al., 2000). Chemokines have been recognized as essential signals for the trafficking of osteoblast and osteoclast precursors, and consequently as potential modulators of bone homeostasis (Bendre et al., 2003; Wright et al., 2005). Chemokines are capable of regulating bone metabolism via CCR1, CCR2, CXCR3, and CXCR4 receptors expressed on osteoclast precursors, mature osteoclasts, and osteoblasts. These receptors have the ability to bind many different chemokines such as SDF-1/CXCL12, MIP-1 $\alpha$ /CCL3, RANTES/CCL5, MIP-1 $\gamma$ /CCL9, MCP-1 $\beta$ /CCL2, MCP-3/CCL7, MIG/CXCL9, and CKβ8/CCL23 (Votta et al., 2000; Lean et al., 2002; Okamatsu et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2004; Kwak et al., 2005; Wright et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2006a,b; Yang et al., 2006). IP-10/CXCL10 induces osteoblast proliferation through receptor CCR3 (Grassi et al., 2003; Lisignoli et al., 2004), while SDF-1a/CXCL12 and BCA-1/CXCL13 induce both proliferation and collagen type I mRNA expression in osteoblasts through receptors CCR4 and CCR5 (Lisignoli et al., 2006). In addition to its role in osteoclastogenesis, chemokines also affect osteoclast functions. It has been reported that SDF-1a/CXCL12 increases MMP-9 activity in human osteoclasts, resulting in increased bone resorption activity (Grassi et al., 2004). There is evidence that RANTES/CCL5 can also act on osteoblasts, resulting in chemotaxis and promoting cell survival (Yano et al., 2005). RANKL also induces the production of MCP-1/CCL2, MIP-1\_/CCL3, RANTES/CCL5, and MIG/CXCL9 by osteoclasts, suggesting a coupling role, which could contribute to bone resorption (Kim et al., 2006a). Taken together, these studies suggest that macrophage-produced chemokines can effectively contribute to the bone remodeling process by driving osteoblast migration and activation during periodontal wound healing.

An important key mediator of macrophage function is the prostaglandins, which are derived from hydrolysis of membrane phospholipids. Phospholipase A2, cleaves arachidonic acid, a precursor of a group of small lipids known as eicosanoids, from membrane phospholipids. Eicosanoids generally act as inflammatory agents (Lewis, 1990). Arachidonic acid is metabolized via two enzymatic pathways. The first is the action of lipoxygenases that results in the formation of the hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids (HETE) and leukotrienes (LT). Alternatively, cyclooxygenases (COX) catalyze the conversion of arachidonic acid into prostaglandins, prostacyclins, and thromboxanes. Prostaglandins have 10 sub-classes, of which D, E, F G, H, and I are the most important (Gemmell et al., 1997). Inflamed oral tissues synthesize significantly large amounts of prostaglandins (Mendieta et al., 1985). Prostaglandin E2 is the most potent stimulator of alveolar bone resorption (Goodson et al., 1974; Dietrich et al., 1975). Within oral lesions, prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> is mainly localized within macrophage-like cells and secreted when stimulated with bacteria LPS (Loning et al., 1980). Periodontal ligament cells also produce prostaglandin E2 even at rest. This secretion is enhanced by IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and parathyroid hormone (Richards and Rutherford, 1988; Saito et al., 1990a,b). Prostaglandin E2 has a biphasic action on cells; in high doses, it decreases IgG levels but in low doses has the potential to increase them. When combined with IL-4, low doses of prostaglandin E2 induce a synergistic rise in IgG production, suggesting an immune-regulatory role for prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (Harrell and Stein, 1995).

Disruption of the balance between osteoblast and osteoclast activities by bacterial products and inflammatory cytokines constitutes the main underlying causes of inflammation-induced bone loss (Liu et al., 2000). It is shown that LPS of bacteria either directly or through its action on the macrophages is capable of stimulating bone resorption when added to osteoclast precursor cultures containing osteoblasts and/or stromal cells (Iino and Hopps, 1984). In addition to this, TLR and inflammation-induced osteoclastogenesis pathway is the most common pathway related to bone loss (The American Academy of Periodontology Academy Report, 1999; Pihlstrom et al., 2005). Inflammation-induced and macrophage-mediated bone loss in oral infection involves complex inflammatory signals and cytokine networks regulating osteoclastogenesis, such as RANKL, interleukin-1, interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , and prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> have been reported to be significantly associated with this type of tissue destruction (Henderson et al., 2003). Before the discovery of receptor activator of NKkB (RANK), its ligand (RANKL), and its antagonist osteoprotegerin (OPG), the development and formation of osteoclasts were attributed to factors produced by osteoblasts and bone marrow stromal cells (Rodan and Martin, 1981; Martin and Sims, 2005). It is now clear that RANKL, RANK, OPG are the key regulators of bone remodeling, directly involved in the differentiation, activation, and survival of osteoclasts and osteoclast precursors (Anderson et al., 1997; Lacey et al., 1998; Yasuda et al., 1998). RANKL is expressed by osteoblasts, stromal cells, chondrocytes, and other mesenchymal cells. Activated T and B cells can also express RANKL (Theill et al., 2002; Mahamed et al., 2005; Kawai et al., 2006). RANK is expressed by osteoclast progenitors, mature osteoclasts, chondrocytes, monocytes/macrophages, and dendritic cells (Anderson et al., 1997; Hsu et al., 1999). Their decoy receptor OPG is known to be expressed by periodontal tissue cells like fibroblasts and periodontal ligament cells (Liu et al., 2000). Blocking RANKL activity with OPG significantly inhibits bone loss in rheumatoid arthritis, osteoporosis, cancer-related bone metastasis, and diabetes associated alveolar bone destruction (Mizuno et al., 1998; Kong et al., 1999; Honore et al., 2000; Brown et al., 2004; Hofbauer and Schoppet, 2004; Mahamed et al., 2005), confirming the critical role of the RANKL, RANK, OPG triad in osteoclastogenesis. Osteoclastogenesis via RANK, RANKL pathway depends on Macrophage-Colony Stimulating Factor (M-CSF; Tanaka et al., 1993; MacDonald et al., 2005). Pathogens, stress, or pathology influence the production of M-CSF via pro-inflammatory cytokines and have a significant role on the subsequent osteoclast activity where TLR-2 activation upregulates the expression of M-CSF (Song et al., 2009). LPS from different pathogens can stimulate bone resorption in vitro and in animal models as in primary mouse calvarial osteoblasts, the activation of TLR-2 and TLR-6 by LPS causes enhanced expression of RANKL through a MyD88-dependent mechanism (Sato et al., 2004). In mouse calvarial osteoblasts, expression of TLR 4 and TLR-9 results in the activation of NFkB and related to that the increased secretion of TNF- $\alpha$  and M-CSF (Morse et al., 2008). LPS-induced interleukin-1 production through TLR pathway can up-regulate RANKL and inhibit osteoprotegerin expression by osteoblasts resulting in osteoclast formation in a prostaglandin E2dependent manner. TLR-2 substantially decreases the responses to LPS (Song et al., 2009). LPS directly, or via TLR pathway by stimulating different cell types is capable of inducing osteoclast development and activity. Thus, TLRs could influence the inflammatory response in the bone microenvironment, and may play a critical role in modulating inflammation-induced osteoclastogenesis and bone loss.

Another mechanism underlying macrophage involvement in oral tissue pathologies is the destruction of ECM. Collagenases, along with other MMPs, play an important role in this process. MMPs are a family of structurally related but genetically distinct enzymes that degrade ECM and basement membrane

components. Twenty-three enzymes have been classified into collagenases, gelatinases, stromelysins, membrane-type MMPs, and other MMPs, mainly based on the substrate specificity and molecular structure. MMPs are involved in physiological processes such as tissue development, remodeling, and wound healing. MMP activity is controlled by changes in the delicate balance between the expression and synthesis of MMPs and their major endogenous inhibitors, tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs). It is clear that MMPs are up-regulated in periodontal as well as other types of oral inflammation (Ebert et al., 2005). MMP activation involves tissue and plasma proteinases and bacterial proteinases together with oxidative stress (Henry et al., 2002; Rot and von Andrian, 2004). It is now clear that a broad range of cell types present in the normal and diseased human periodontium such as gingival sulcular epithelial cells, fibroblasts and endothelial cells, monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, and plasma cells has the ability to express distinct MMPs (Sorsa et al., 1995; Takagi et al., 1995; Kiili et al., 2002; Wahlgren et al., 2002).

Matrix metalloproteinases gene transcription is very low in the healthy periodontal tissue; their secretion is stimulated or downregulated by various cytokines. The main stimulatory cytokines for MMPs are TNF-α, IL-1, and IL-6. Activated MMPs are capable of activating other MMPs (Visse and Nagase, 2003). There is a close interaction between MMP activation and cytokine function. IL-1β and TNF-a can stimulate MMP-3, MMP-8, and MMP-9 secretions from gingival fibroblasts and MMP-13 in osteoblasts. TGF-Ba suppresses MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-8 gene transcription but induces MMP-2 and MMP-13 in keratinocytes (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993; Kahari and Saarialho-Kere, 1999; Konttinen et al., 1999). MMP-1 (collagenase-1) has a wide range of substrates. It can digest interstitial collagen, ECM components, and soluble nonmatrix mediators (Sorsa et al., 2006). MMP-9 (gelatinase B) is a gelatinolytic enzyme degrading several ECM proteins, including basement membrane-type IV collagen (Lee et al., 1995; Sume et al., 2010; Kantarci et al., 2011). MMP-9 is found to be expressed in epithelial cells; its production can be stimulated by several cytokines such as TNF-α, growth factors such as epidermal growth factor, and by some bacterial products such as LPS (Putnins et al., 1996; Firth et al., 1997). Although MMP-1, MMP-8, and MMP-9 are the main enzymes that are involved in the ECM and base membrane breakdown, other MMPs and their tissue inhibitors (TIMPs) have also been linked to periodontal diseases. MMP-2 (gelatinase A) has been shown to be strongly expressed in inflamed pocket epithelium and to be important in epithelial cell migration (Makela et al., 1999). MMP-13 (collagenase-3) is expressed by the basal cells of the gingival pocket epithelium able to degrade collagens type I, III, and IV as well as fibronectin, tenascin, and some proteoglycans (Kahari and Saarialho-Kere, 1997; Knauper et al., 1997; Uitto et al., 1998). MMP-13 plays an important role in the ability of pocket epithelium to invade periodontal connective tissue. Some oral bacterial species, especially Fusobacterium nucleatum were found to induce MMP-13 (Uitto et al., 2003).

# RESOLUTION OF ORAL INFLAMMATION AND THE ROLE OF MACROPHAGES

Oral inflammatory diseases can be considered as an adverse outcome of the protection efforts of the host against the invading pathogens. Inflammation should resolve in a timely manner to prevent tissue injury, and maintain health. The rapid and complete elimination of invading leukocytes from a lesion is the ideal outcome following an inflammatory event (Schwab et al., 2007). Inadequate resolution and failure to return tissue to homeostasis results in neutrophil-mediated destruction and chronic inflammation (Van Dyke and Serhan, 2003). If the host is unable to neutralize the pathogens, then acute inflammation would become chronic with consequences such as destruction of ECM and bone, scarring, and fibrosis (Van Dyke, 2008). Controlling the invasion of the neutrophils can impact the conversion of an acute gingivitis to chronic periodontitis. Scarring and fibrosis in periodontitis prevents the return to homeostasis (Van Dyke, 2007). When tissue injury is mild, necrotic cells will be replaced by new cells by regeneration process. If tissue damage is extensive, the process of healing is repair. When repair takes place, fibrin is not cleared rapidly and efficiently after the acute phase of inflammation and granulation tissue is formed from surrounding tissue compartments. Later phases of repair involve fibroblastmediated collagen deposition, disappearance of vascular tissues and replacement of these areas by avascular and fibrotic scar tissue (Kumar et al., 2005). The efforts to control inflammation process has been mainly with the use of pharmacologic agents, which act as antagonists for some of the mediators of inflammation (Serhan et al., 2007). The resolution of inflammation previously thought to be a passive event, but greater understanding of the pathways and processes underlying resolution of inflammation has led to the recognition of an active progress where the activation of pro-resolving molecules are needed to neutralize and eliminate inflammatory leukocytes, and thereby prevent pathology (Van Dyke and Serhan, 2003; Van Dyke, 2007; Serhan et al., 2008). Restoration of tissue homeostasis is initiated following an acute inflammatory response that generates lipid mediators of inflammation (Van Dyke, 2008). Various lipid mediators such as eicosanoids, prostanoids, and prostacyclins are produced upon agonist stimulation of G-protein receptors on the cell membrane. Arachidonic acid (AA) plays key role in this process (Kantarci and Van Dyke, 2003) and is metabolized either by a cyclooxygenase (COX)-1 or COX-2-dependent pathway that results in the generation of prostanoids or a 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO)-dependent pathway that results in leukotriene (LT) production.

There is a high concentration of cells containing lipoxygenases, and corresponding pro-inflammatory products, a "class switch" may occur within neutrophils (Levy et al., 2001; Van Dyke, 2007). This class switch gives rise to the synthesis of pro-resolving molecules. One of the active resolution molecules is lipoxins, which are generated late in inflammation when a second lipoxygenase interacts with a lipoxygenase product generated earlier by a different cell (Serhan, 2004). These molecules are synthesized through a series of enzymatic reactions starting with the oxidation of AA by 15 LO through the process of transcellular biosynthesis, resulting in 15-S-hyroxy-(p)-eicosatetraenoic acid [15-S-H(p)ETE]. Accordingly, 15-S-H(p)ETE is further acted on by 5-LO to induce the synthesis of lipoxins, such as lipoxins A<sub>4</sub> (LXA<sub>4</sub>) and B<sub>4</sub> (LXB<sub>4</sub>; Kantarci and Van Dyke, 2003; Van Dyke and Serhan, 2003). The lipoxins produced act as agonists to stimulate the resolution of inflammation and promote the restoration of tissue homeostasis through a number of mechanisms. These include limiting PMN migration into sites of inflammation, activating monocytes without the generation of a superoxide anion, and stimulating the uptake of apoptotic PMN by macrophages (Serhan et al., 1993; Maddox and Serhan, 1996; Maddox et al., 1997). When the lipoxin pathway is activated and aspirin is present during this synthesis, acetylation of the COX-2 enzyme occurs to inhibit further production of prostanoids from AA metabolism. This alternative pathway will lead to the synthesis of 15-R-H(p)ETE transforming to 5(6)-epoxytetraene with the help of 5-LO activity. The next step is the synthesis of 15-epi-LXs or aspirin-triggered lipoxins (ATLs) from 5(6)-epoxytetraene (Van Dyke and Serhan, 2003). 15-epi-LX is a form of native lipoxin and possesses potent pro-resolving properties (Serhan et al., 1995; Claria et al., 1996; Van Dyke and Serhan, 2003).

In addition to the omega-6 derived pro-resolving molecules, resolvins, and protectins are derived from the omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA; Van Dyke, 2007; Serhan and Chiang, 2008). They are able to stimulate anti-inflammatory and proresolving pathways similar to the lipoxins, but their binding sites on inflammatory cells differ from each other (Serhan et al., 2004; Van Dyke, 2007; Serhan and Chiang, 2008). Resolvins stimulate the resolution of inflammation through multiple mechanisms, including preventing neutrophil penetration, phagocytosing apoptotic neutrophils to clear the lesion, and enhancing clearance of inflammation within the lesion to promote tissue regeneration (Bannenberg et al., 2005; Hasturk et al., 2007; Schwab et al., 2007). The classic inflammatory eicosanoids (i.e., prostaglandins and leukotrienes), in addition to activating and amplifying the cardinal signs of inflammation, are also responsible for inducing the production of mediators that have both anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution activities, such as the lipoxins, resolvins, and protectins, reinforcing the active nature of the resolution process (Serhan et al., 2008). In humans, the aspirin-tolerant subjects generated both LXA4 and ATL, but aspirin-intolerant patients proved to have a diminished capacity to generate ATL and LX upon aspirin challenge (Sanak et al., 2000). In an experimental periodontitis rabbit model, animals are protected by LXA4 and transgenic (TG) rabbits over expressing 15 LO generate enhanced levels of LX, exhibit a reduced inflammatory phenotype, and are protected from bone loss in periodontal disease (Serhan et al., 2003). The treatment with Resolvin-E1 (RvE1) prevented and completely eliminated the signs of inflammation. In the RvE1 treated group, inflammation was completely eliminated; pocket depth was returned to normal and soft tissues returned to healthy levels and appearance (Figure 2). Regeneration of new cementum and bone with an organized periodontal ligament was observed (Hasturk et al., 2007). Restoration of crestal bone height, elimination of infrabony defects, and regeneration of new cementum, connective tissue, and bone with an organized periodontal ligament were signs of complete regeneration of tissues to pre-disease levels (Hasturk et al., 2007). Periodontitis was also shown to have a systemic impact elevating the levels of IL-1B and C-reactive protein (CRP) in all animals. Oral topical RvE1 therapy reduced systemic IL-1ß and CRP levels. Rabbits treated with RvE1 showed an essentially complete recovery without any signs of local and



systemic inflammation (Hasturk et al., 2007) suggesting a complete return to tissue homeostasis. This mechanism is most likely regulated through an orchestrated series of events where in addition to neutrophils and lymphocytes, macrophages play the pivotal role.

# MACROPHAGES AS A POSSIBLE LINK BETWEEN ORAL AND SYSTEMIC INFLAMMATION

The critical role of the macrophages in inflammatory diseases has been studied extensively in various organ systems in the human body. While the debate over the direction and cross-reactivity of local and systemic inflammation continues regarding which of the local specialized tissues are affected by systemic inflammatory changes and how the specific inflammatory processes in any part of the body have a generalized impact distant to the affected site, it is thought that the relationship is bidirectional (Offenbacher and Salvi, 1999; Amar et al., 2007; Ebersole et al., 2010; Hajishengallis, 2010). Such a dynamic response requires an intricate network of cellular and non-cellular components where macrophages are at the epicenter due to their extensive functional interactions with other cells and processes of inflammation. To this end, research has provided evidence of an oral and systemic connection in several diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and pathological conditions such as pre-term birth (Paquette et al., 1999; Nassar et al., 2007; Offenbacher et al., 2009).

We have previously studied macrophages and their role in the aggravation of inflammation in diabetics and identified critical markers of regulation at cellular signal transduction. These series of studies have demonstrated that oxidative stress plays a substantial role in the pathogenesis of diabetic complications. Superoxide anion is the first molecule generated during the respiratory burst of phagocytes, including macrophages, by NADPH oxidase. Either at rest or after stimulation with PMA or opsonized zymosan (OPZ), monocytes from people with diabetes produced significantly more anion than those from healthy individuals. The increased anion generation was found to be correlated with glycemic control (HbA1c) of patients. To clarify the impact of hyperglycemia on superoxide generation, normal human monocytes were then treated with receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) ligands (advanced glycation end product, AGE protein and S100B) or high glucose media before stimulation. Both RAGE ligands and high glucose concentration increased



anion generation from human macrophages. Notably, high glucose was associated with correspondingly increased osmotic pressure. This study demonstrated that RAGE ligands can significantly contribute to the hyper-responsive phenotype of diabetic monocytes and macrophages, which might be reversible by blocking RAGE or reducing RAGE ligands by controlling hyperglycemia (Ding et al., 2007a).

Hyperglycemic episodes in diabetes are closely associated with increased oxidative and nitrosative stress, which can trigger the development of diabetic complications. Hyperglycemia stimulates the production of advanced glycosylated end products, activates protein kinase C, and enhances the polyol pathway leading to increased superoxide anion formation. Superoxide anion interacts with nitric oxide, forming the potent cytotoxin peroxynitrite, which attacks various biomolecules in the vascular endothelium, vascular smooth muscle, and myocardium, leading to cardiovascular dysfunction (Pacher et al., 2005). High concentrations of hydrogen peroxide activate insulin signaling and induce typical metabolic actions of Czech et al. (1974). The pathogenetic role of nitrosative stress and peroxynitrite, and downstream mechanisms including poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) activation. PARP activation can also up-regulate various pro-inflammatory pathways which leads to pathological

modifications in adhesion molecule expression, angiogenesis, and other processes (Virag and Szabo, 2002).

In order to identify the specific signaling pathway through which the RAGE-mediated functional changes are effected in macrophages in diabetic people, we focused on the enzyme systems, which regulate the oxidative burst in macrophages. To this end, our research has shown that an alteration in the protein kinase C (PKC) family of intracellular enzymes, which plays a crucial role in signaling for a variety of cellular responses of mononuclear phagocytes including phagocytosis, oxidative burst, and secretion, are directly involved in the pathogenesis of the complications of diabetes. The consequences of PKC activation were evaluated by endogenous phosphorylation of PKC substrates with a phosphospecific PKC substrate antibody [pPKC(s)]. Phosphorylation of a 40-kDa protein was significantly increased in mononuclear phagocytes from diabetics as a downstream marker of PKC activation, and its phosphorylated form was found to be associated with the membrane. Through a wide range of techniques including the mass spectrometry, immunoprecipitation, and immunoblotting, we have identified this protein as pleckstrin. Phosphorylation and translocation of pleckstrin in response to the activation of RAGE suggested that pleckstrin was involved in RAGE signaling and AGE-elicited macrophage dysfunction. Suppression of



FIGURE 4 | Lipoxin A<sub>4</sub>, a resolution phase agonist, conferred similar actions with RvE1 on periodontal tissues challenged by *P. gingivalis* and ligature. (A) Periodontal inflammation was induced in transgenic and non-transgenic rabbits as described elsewhere for 6 weeks. Simultaneously, topical LXA<sub>4</sub> (5–6  $\mu$ g/site) was applied to the ligated sites in some non-transgenic animals. At 6 weeks, similar to RvE1, Lipoxin A<sub>4</sub> resulted in significant reduction of tissue inflammation as a result of disease initiation. 15 LO overexpressing transgenic rabbits (15 LO-TG) exhibited no inflammation or tissue destruction and were completely protected from periodontal inflammatory changes. (B) The defleshed specimens clearly showed the

pleckstrin expression with RNAi silencing revealed that phosphorylation of pleckstrin is an important intermediate in the secretion and activation pathways of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 $\beta$ ) induced by RAGE activation. Thus, phosphorylation of pleckstrin up-regulated in diabetic mononuclear phagocytes was in part due to the activation of PKC through RAGE binding, and pleckstrin was a critical molecule for pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in response to elevated AGE in diabetes in macrophages (Ding et al., 2007b).

Cardiovascular diseases and oral inflammation is also linked through the pivotal role of the macrophages. Epidemiological and recent clinical studies have implicated periodontitis as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Leukocytes can affect the vascular endothelial lining and can cause oxidation of lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL). Monocytes are induced to become macrophages, which take up modified lipoproteins and become lipid-laden "foam cells" (Paigen et al., 1987a,b). The local inflammation is sustained by secreting chemical mediators. Activated macrophages in the atherogenic plaque produce inflammatory cytokines (interferon, interleukin-1, and TNF- $\alpha$ ), which induce amount of bone loss as a result of the periodontal disease induced by the human oral microorganism, *P. gingivalis* (left panel).  $LXA_4$  was capable of preventing from these inflammatory changes and bone loss (middle panel), while the 15 LO-TG rabbits were not affected by disease induction, and were completely resistant to the disease (right panel). **(C)** Histological evaluations have confirmed the clinical observations and once again showed a complete protection in 15 LO-TG rabbits from inflammatory changes demonstrated by an unaffected healthy bony architecture (right panel). Topical LXA<sub>4</sub> application protected from the destructive effects of periodontal disease as indicated by histological evaluations (middle panel).

the production of substantial amounts of interleukin-6. These cytokines are also produced in various tissues in response to infection and in the adipose tissue of patients with metabolic syndrome (Hansson, 2005). Interleukin-6, in turn, stimulates the production of large amounts of acute phase reactants, including CRP, serum amyloid A, and fibrinogen, by the liver (Ridker et al., 2000). CRP, the well-accepted marker of atherosclerotic disease, is shown to activate complement and accounts for LDL uptake by macrophages (Zwaka et al., 2001). The atherosclerotic lesion begins to bulge within the luminal wall and as the lesion progresses; the ECM is degraded by proteolytic enzymes and becomes susceptible to rupture. Thromboses can occur, occluding blood flow to the heart, which may eventually lead to infarction.

While macrophages play a central role in the development of atherosclerosis, specifically in the initial accumulation of cholesterol in the arterial wall (Ross, 1993), it has been suggested that infection and chronic inflammatory conditions such as periodontitis may influence the atherosclerosis process (Haraszthy et al., 2000). *P. gingivalis*, one of the major pathogens involved in periodontitis, has been detected in human atheromas (Deshpande

et al., 1998; Dorn et al., 2000) suggesting that P. gingivalis infection may be associated with atherosclerosis. It has been proposed that bacteria or viruses may infect atherosclerotic lesions contributing to the inflammatory process. Distant infections may increase systemic inflammation through the release of toxins (i.e., bacterial LPS) or the leakage of chemical mediators into the circulation (Qi et al., 2003). Although multiple cross-sectional studies have supported these hypotheses by demonstrating a higher incidence of atherosclerotic complications in patients with periodontal disease (Mattila et al., 1989; Arbes et al., 1999) and suggest a strong link between periodontal inflammation and atherosclerosis (DeStefano et al., 1993), these observational studies are far from proving causation as proposed. Experimental animal models where periodontitis and atherosclerosis were developed in the same animal have been recently used to address this challenge. The ApoE-null mouse periodontal disease model was able to demonstrate that experimental induction of periodontal disease by serial inoculations of *P. gingivalis* exacerbated early atherosclerotic lesions (fatty streaks) within 4 months (Lalla et al., 2003). In addition, serum IL-6, aortic VCAM-1, and tissue factor antigen levels were increased in mice with P. gingivalis infection. In parallel, our group has shown that P. gingivalis induced periodontitis in rabbits dramatically increased lipid deposition in the aortas of cholesterolfed rabbits compared to high cholesterol diet alone within 13 weeks (Jain et al., 2003). Animals with experimentally induced periodontitis had more extensive accumulations of lipids in the aorta compared to non-periodontitis animals (P < 0.05), and there was a positive correlation between the severity of periodontal disease and the extent of lipid deposition  $(r^2 = 0.9501;$  Figure 3). In this study, P. gingivalis 16S ribosomal RNA were not found in atheromatous plaques supporting the concept that rather than the bacteria itself, P. gingivalis cells or its vesicles released from periodontal lesions into the circulation may deliver virulence factor(s) such as LPS to the arterial wall to initiate or promote foam cell formation by macrophages and contribute to atheroma development (Qi et al., 2003). In a subsequent study, transgenic rabbits overexpressing 15-lipoxygenases and their response to inflammatory

### REFERENCES

- Aderem, A., and Ulevitch, R. J. (2000). Toll-like receptors in the induction of the innate immune response. *Nature* 406, 782–787.
- Akira, S., Hoshino, K., and Kaisho, T. (2000). The role of Toll-like receptors and MyD88 in innate immune responses. *J. Endotoxin Res.* 6, 383–387.
- Akira, S., Takeda, K., and Kaisho, T. (2001). Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. *Nat. Immunol.* 2, 675–680.
- Alexopoulou, L., Holt, A. C., Medzhitov, R., and Flavell, R. A. (2001). Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. *Nature* 413, 732–738.
- Amar, S., Oyaisu, K., Li, L., and Van Dyke, T. (2001). Moesin: a potential

LPS receptor on human monocytes. *J. Endotoxin Res.* 7, 281–286.

- Amar, S., Zhou, Q., Shaik-Dasthagirisaheb, Y., and Leeman, S. (2007). Diet-induced obesity in mice causes changes in immune responses and bone loss manifested by bacterial challenge. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 20466–20471.
- Anderson, D. M., Maraskovsky, E., Billingsley, W. L., Dougall, W. C., Tometsko, M. E., Roux, E. R., Teepe, M. C., DuBose, R. F., Cosman, D., and Galibert, L. (1997). A homologue of the TNF receptor and its ligand enhance T-cell growth and dendritic-cell function. *Nature* 390, 175–179.
- Anderson, K. V. (2000). Toll signaling pathways in the innate immune response. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 12, 13–19.

challenge were examined. Periodontal disease was initiated by topical *P. gingivalis* application. 15 LO-TG rabbits exhibited markedly reduced bone loss and local inflammation compared to nontransgenic rabbits where a significant amount of tissue destruction was observed (**Figure 4**). Further, application of topical aspirintriggered lipoxin (LXA<sub>4</sub>) to the gingival site dampened the PMNmediated tissue breakdown and bone loss suggesting that regulation of inflammation can provide an enhanced anti-inflammation status, which results in prevention of periodontal inflammation (Serhan et al., 2003). Overexpression of 15-lipoxygenase type I in transgenic rabbits increases the levels of endogenous lipoxin A<sub>4</sub>, which leads to prevention of periodontal inflammation as well as reduction of accelerated inflammatory events that contribute to atherosclerotic changes (Shen et al., 1996; Serhan et al., 2008).

### **CONCLUSION**

Oral inflammatory processes involve microbial etiologic factors induce a series of host responses that mediate an inflammatory cascade of events in an attempt to protect and/or heal the tissues. It is becoming clear that the phenotype of the macrophage is central to determining the fate of the lesion; resolving; or chronic. Since the response of the macrophage is essential to health and disease, it is important to achieve a more complete understanding of the molecular events in this complex system. It is now becoming apparent that innate immune system cells are the determinants of the fate of the tissues and organs and are more than just transient, and their role is not limited to engulfing the invading microbes. Neutrophils and monocyte/macrophages are the key cells of the host response where their role go beyond the "defense" and is involved in the entire armamentarium of tissue homeostasis where protection, healing-repair, and regeneration are encoded.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This work was supported by the USPHS grants DE15566, DE16191 (Thomas E. Van Dyke), DE018917 (Hatice Hasturk), and DE020906 (Alpdogan Kantarci).

- Ara, T., Kurata, K., Hirai, K., Uchihashi, T., Uematsu, T., Imamura, Y., Furusawa, K., Kurihara, S., and Wang, P. L. (2009). Human gingival fibroblasts are critical in sustaining inflammation in periodontal disease. *J. Periodont. Res.* 44, 21–27.
- Arbes, S. J. Jr., Slade, G. D., and Beck, J. D. (1999). Association between extent of periodontal attachment loss and self-reported history of heart attack: an analysis of NHANES III data. J. Dent. Res. 78, 1777–1782.
- Bakthavatchalu, V., Meka, A., Mans, J. J., Sathishkumar, S., Lopez, M. C., Bhattacharyya, I., Boyce, B. F., Baker, H. V., Lamont, R. J., and Ebersole, J. L., Kesavalu, L. (2011). Polymicrobial periodontal pathogen transcriptomes in calvarial bone and soft tissue. *Mol. Oral Microbiol.* 26, 303–320.
- Baldwin, A. S. Jr. (1996). The NF-kappa B and I kappa B proteins: new discoveries and insights. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 14, 649–683.
- Balkwill, F. R., and Burke, F. (1989). The cytokine network. *Immunol. Today* 10, 299–304.
- Bannenberg, G. L., Chiang, N., Ariel, A., Arita, M., Tjonahen, E., Gotlinger, K. H., Hong, S., and Serhan, C. N. (2005). Molecular circuits of resolution: formation and actions of resolvins and protectins. *J. Immunol.* 174, 4345–4355.
- Behl, Y., Siqueira, M., Ortiz, J., Li, J., Desta, T., Faibish, D., and Graves, D. T. (2008). Activation of the acquired immune response reduces coupled bone formation in response to a periodontal pathogen. *J. Immunol.* 181, 8711–8718.

- Bendre, M. S., Montague, D. C., Peery, T., Akel, N. S., Gaddy, D., and Suva, L. J. (2003). Interleukin-8 stimulation of osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption is a mechanism for the increased osteolysis of metastatic bone disease. *Bone* 33, 28–37.
- Bhatavadekar, N. B., and Williams, R. C. (2009). Modulation of the host inflammatory response in periodontal disease management: exciting new directions. *Int. Dent. J.* 59, 305–308.
- Birkedal-Hansen, H. (1993). Role of matrix metalloproteinases in human periodontal diseases. *J. Periodontol.* 64(Suppl.), 474–484.
- Brown, J. M., Zhang, J., and Keller, E. T. (2004). Opg, RANKI, and RANK in cancer metastasis: expression and regulation. *Cancer Treat. Res.* 118, 149–172.
- Cao, Z., Henzel, W. J., and Gao, X. (1996). IRAK: a kinase associated with the interleukin-1 receptor. *Science* 271, 1128–1131.
- Chaudhary, P. M., Ferguson, C., Nguyen, V., Nguyen, O., Massa, H. F., Eby, M., Jasmin, A., Trask, B. J., Hood, L., and Nelson, P. S. (1998). Cloning and characterization of two Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor-like genes TIL3 and TIL4: evidence for a multi-gene receptor family in humans. *Blood* 91, 4020–4027.
- Claria, J., Lee, M. H., and Serhan, C. N. (1996). Aspirin-triggered lipoxins (15-epi-LX) are generated by the human lung adenocarcinoma cell line (A549)-neutrophil interactions and are potent inhibitors of cell proliferation. *Mol. Med.* 2, 583–596.
- Cook, D. N., Pisetsky, D. S., and Schwartz, D. A. (2004). Toll-like receptors in the pathogenesis of human disease. *Nat. Immunol.* 5, 975–979.
- Czech, M. P., Lawrence, J. C. Jr., and Lynn, W. S. (1974). Evidence for the involvement of sulfhydryl oxidation in the regulation of fat cell hexose transport by insulin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 71, 4173–4177.
- D'Ambrosio, D., Iellem, A., Bonecchi, R., Mazzeo, D., Sozzani, S., Mantovani, A., and Sinigaglia, F. (1998). Selective up-regulation of chemokine receptors CCR4 and CCR8 upon activation of polarized human type 2 Th cells. J. Immunol. 161, 5111–5115.
- de Waal Malefyt, R., Figdor, C. G., Huijbens, R., Mohan-Peterson S, Bennett, B., Culpepper, J., Dang, W., Zurawski, G., and de Vries, J. E. (1993). Effects of IL-13 on phenotype, cytokine production, and cytotoxic function of human monocytes.

Comparison with IL-4 and modulation by IFN-gamma or IL-10. *J. Immunol.* 151, 6370–6381.

- Deshpande, R. G., Khan, M. B., and Genco, C. A. (1998). Invasion of aortic and heart endothelial cells by *Porphyromonas gingivalis*. *Infect. Immun.* 66, 5337–5343.
- DeStefano, F., Anda, R. F., Kahn, H. S., Williamson, D. F., and Russell, C. M. (1993). Dental disease and risk of coronary heart disease and mortality. *BMJ* 306, 688–691.
- Dietrich, J. W., Goodson, J. M., and Raisz, L. G. (1975). Stimulation of bone resorption by various prostaglandins in organ culture. *Prostaglandins* 10, 231–240.
- Dinarello, C. A. (2000). Proinflammatory cytokines. *Chest* 118, 503–508.
- Ding, Y., Kantarci, A., Hasturk, H., Trackman, P. C., Malabanan, A., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2007a). Activation of RAGE induces elevated O<sub>2</sub>generation by mononuclear phagocytes in diabetes. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 81, 520–527.
- Ding, Y., Kantarci, A., Badwey, J. A., Hasturk, H., Malabanan, A., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2007b). Phosphorylation of pleckstrin increases proinflammatory cytokine secretion by mononuclear phagocytes in diabetes mellitus. J. Immunol. 179, 647–654.
- Donati, M., Liljenberg, B., Zitzmann, N. U., and Berglundh, T. (2009). B-1a cells in experimental gingivitis in humans. *J. Periodontol.* 80, 1141–1145.
- Dorn, B. R., Burks, J. N., Seifert, K. N., and Progulske-Fox, A. (2000). Invasion of endothelial and epithelial cells by strains of *Porphyromonas* gingivalis. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 187, 139–144.
- Duffield, J. S., Hong, S., Vaidya, V. S., Lu, Y., Fredman, G., Serhan, C. N., and Bonventre, J. V. (2006). Resolvin D series and protectin D1 mitigate acute kidney injury. *J. Immunol.* 177, 5902–5911.
- Ebersole, J. L., Steffen, M. J., Holt, S. C., Kesavalu, L., Chu, L., and Cappelli, D. (2010). Systemic inflammatory responses in progressing periodontitis during pregnancy in a baboon model. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 162, 550–559.
- Ebert, L. M., Schaerli, P., and Moser, B. (2005). Chemokine-mediated control of T cell traffic in lymphoid and peripheral tissues. *Mol. Immunol.* 42, 799–809.
- Esche, C., Stellato, C., and Beck, L. A. (2005). Chemokines: key players in innate and adaptive immunity. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 125, 615–628.

- Firth, J. D., Putnins, E. E., Larjava, H., and Uitto, V. J. (1997). Bacterial phospholipase C upregulates matrix metalloproteinase expression by cultured epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* 65, 4931–4936.
- Fonseca, J. E., Santos, M. J., Canhão, H., and Choy, E. (2009). Interleukin-6 as a key player in systemic inflammation and joint destruction. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 8, 538–542.
- Fujihara, M., Muroi, M., Muroi, Y., Ito, N., and Suzuki, T. (1993). Mechanism of lipopolysaccharidetriggered junB activation in a mouse macrophage-like cell line (J774). *J. Biol. Chem.* 268, 14898–14905.
- Garlet, G. P. (2010). Destructive and protective roles of cytokines in periodontitis: a re-appraisal from host defense and tissue destruction viewpoints. J. Dent. Res. 89, 1349–1363.
- Garlet, G. P., Cardoso, C. R., Campanelli, A. P., Ferreira, B. R., Avila-Campos, M. J., Cunha, F. Q., and Silva, J. S. (2007). The dual role of p55 tumour necrosis factor-alpha receptor in *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*-induced experimental periodontitis: host protection and tissue destruction. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 147, 128–138.
- Garlet, G. P., Martins, W. Jr., Ferreira, B. R., Milanezi, C. M., and Silva, J. S. (2003). Patterns of chemokines and chemokine receptors expression in different forms of human periodontal disease. *J. Periodont. Res.* 38, 210–217.
- Garlet, G. P., Martins, W. Jr., Fonseca, B. A., Ferreira, B. R., and Silva, J. S. (2004). Matrix metalloproteinases, their physiological inhibitors and osteoclast factors are differentially regulated by the cytokine profile in human periodontal disease. J. Clin. Periodontol. 31, 671–679.
- Gegner, J. A., Ulevitch, R. J., and Tobias, P. S. (1995). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) signal transduction and clearance. Dual roles for LPS binding protein and membrane CD14. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 5320–5325.
- Gemmell, E., Carter, C. L., and Seymour, G. J. (2001). Chemokines in human periodontal disease tissues. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 125, 134–141.
- Gemmell, E., Marshall, R. I., and Seymour, G. J. (1997). Cytokines and prostaglandins in immune homeostasis and tissue destruction in periodontal disease. *Periodontol.* 2000 14, 112–143.
- Goodson, J. M., Dewhirst, F. E., and Brunetti, A. (1974). Prostaglandin E2 levels and human periodontal disease. *Prostaglandins* 6, 81–85.

- Grassi, F., Cristino, S., Toneguzzi, S., Piacentini, A., Facchini, A., and Lisignoli, G. (2004). CXCL12 chemokine up-regulates bone resorption and MMP-9 release by human osteoclasts: CXCL12 levels are increased in synovial and bone tissue of rheumatoid arthritis patients. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 199, 244–251.
- Grassi, F., Piacentini, A., Cristino, S., Toneguzzi, S., Cavallo, C., Facchini, A., and Lisignoli, G. (2003). Human osteoclasts express different CXC chemokines depending on cell culture substrate: molecular and immunocytochemical evidence of high levels of CXCL10 and CXCL12. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 120. 391–400.
- Graves, D. (2008). Cytokines that promote periodontal tissue destruction. J. Periodontol. 79(Suppl.), 1585–1591.
- Graves, D. T., and Cochran, D. (2003). The contribution of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor to periodontal tissue destruction. J. Periodontol. 74, 391–401.
- Graves, D. T., Fine, D., Teng, Y. T., Van Dyke, T. E., and Hajishengallis, G. (2008). The use of rodent models to investigate host-bacteria interactions related to periodontal diseases. J. Clin. Periodontol. 35, 89–105.
- Gu, L., Tseng, S., Horner, R. M., Tam, C., Loda, M., and Rollins, B. J. (2000). Control of TH2 polarization by the chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. *Nature* 404, 407–411.
- Guha, M., and Mackman, N. (2001). LPS induction of gene expression in human monocytes. *Cell. Signal.* 13, 85–94.
- Hajishengallis, G. (2010). Complement and periodontitis. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 80, 1992–2001.
- Hambleton, J., Weinstein, S. L., Lem, L., and DeFranco, A. L. (1996). Activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in bacterial lipopolysaccharidestimulated macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 2774–2778.
- Han, J., Ulevitch, R. J., Lee, J. D., and Bibbs, L. (1994). A MAP kinase targeted by endotoxin and hyperosmolarity in mammalian cells. *Science* 265, 808–811.
- Hanada, T., and Yoshimura, A. (2002). Regulation of cytokine signaling and inflammation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 13, 413–421.
- Hanazawa, S., Kawata, Y., Takeshita, A., Kumada, H., Okithu, M., Tanaka, S., Yamamoto, Y., Masuda, T., Umemoto, T., and Kitano, S. (1993). Expression of monocyte chemoattractant

protein 1 (MCP-1) in adult periodontal disease: increased monocyte chemotactic activity in crevicular fluids and induction of MCP-1 expression in gingival tissues. *Infect. Immun.* 61, 5219–5224.

- Hansson, G. K. (2005). Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 352, 1685–1695.
- Haraszthy, V. I., Zambon, J. J., Trevisan, M., Zeid, M., and Genco, R. J. (2000). Identification of periodontal pathogens in atheromatous plaques. *J. Periodontol.* 71, 1554–1560.
- Harrell, J. C., and Stein, S. H. (1995). Prostaglandin E2 regulates gingival mononuclear cell immunoglobulin production. *J. Periodontol.* 66, 222–227.
- Hasturk, H., Kantarci, A., Goguet-Surmenian, E., Blackwood, A., Andry, C., Serhan, C. N., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2007). Resolvin E1 regulates inflammation at the cellular and tissue level and restores tissue homeostasis in vivo. J. Immunol. 179, 7021–7029.
- Hasturk, H., Kantarci, A., Ohira, T., Arita, M., Ebrahimi, N., Chiang, N., Petasis, N. A., Levy, B. D., Serhan, C. N., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2006).
  RvE1 protects from local inflammation and osteoclast- mediated bone destruction in periodontitis. *FASEB* J. 20, 401–403.
- Hasturk, H., Kantarci, A., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2012). Paradigm shift in the pharmacological management of periodontal diseases. *Front. Oral Biol.* 15, 160–176.
- Haziot, A., Chen, S., Ferrero, E., Low, M. G., Silber, R., and Goyert, S. M. (1988). The monocyte differentiation antigen, CD14, is anchored to the cell membrane by a phosphatidylinositol linkage. *J. Immunol.* 141, 547–552.
- Haziot, A., Ferrero, E., Köntgen, F., Hijiya, N., Yamamoto, S., Silver, J., Stewart, C. L., and Goyert, S. M. (1996). Resistance to endotoxin shock and reduced dissemination of gram- negative bacteria in CD14-deficient mice. *Immunity* 4, 407–414.
- Henderson, B., Nair, S. P., Ward, J. M., and Wilson, M. (2003). Molecular pathogenicity of the oral opportunistic pathogen Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 57, 29–55.
- Henry, M. T., McMahon, K., Mackarel, A. J., Prikk, K., Sorsa, T., Maisi, P., Sepper, R., Fitzgerald, M. X., and O'Connor, C. M. (2002). Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1

in sarcoidosis and IPF. *Eur. Respir. J.* 20, 1220–1227.

- Hoebe, K., Du, X., Georgel, P., Janssen, E., Tabeta, K., Kim, S. O., Goode, J., Lin, P., Mann, N., Mudd, S., Crozat, K., Sovath, S., Han, J., and Beutler, B. (2003). Identification of Lps2 as a key transducer of MyD88independent TIR signalling. *Nature* 424, 743–748.
- Hofbauer, L. C., and Schoppet, M. (2004). Clinical implications of the osteoprotegerin/RANKL/RANK system for bone and vascular diseases. JAMA 292, 490–495.
- Honore, P., Luger, N. M., Sabino, M. A., Schwei, M. J., Rogers, S. D., Mach, D. B., O'Keefe, P. F., Ramnaraine, M. L., Clohisy, D. R., and Mantyh, P. W. (2000). Osteoprotegerin blocks bone cancer-induced skeletal destruction, skeletal pain and painrelated neurochemical reorganization of the spinal cord. *Nat. Med.* 6, 521–528.
- Hsu, H., Lacey, D. L., Dunstan, C. R., Solovyev, I., Colombero, A., Timms, E., Tan, H.-L., Elliott, G., Kelley, M. J., Sarosi, I., Wang, L., Xia, X.-Z., Elliott, R., Chiu, L., Black, T., Scully, S., Capparelli, C., Morony, S., Shimamoto, G., Bass, M. B., and Boyle, W. J. (1999). Tumor necrosis factor receptor family member RANK mediates osteoclast differentiation and activation induced by osteoprotegerin ligand. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 3540–3545.
- Hua, X. Y., Chen, P., Fox, A., and Myers, R. R. (1996). Involvement of cytokines in lipopolysaccharideinduced facilitation of CGRP release from capsaicin-sensitive nerves in the trachea: studies with interleukinlbeta and tumor necrosis factoralpha. J. Neurosci. 16, 4742–4748.
- Iino, Y., and Hopps, R. M. (1984). The bone-resorbing activities in tissue culture of lipopolysaccharides from the bacteria Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans, Bacteroides gingivalis and Capnocytophaga ochracea isolated from human mouths. Arch. Oral Biol. 29, 59–63.
- Inohara, N., and Nunez, G. (2003). NODs: intracellular proteins involved in inflammation and apoptosis. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 3, 371–382.
- Iontcheva, I., Amar, S., Zawawi, K. H., Kantarci, A., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2004). Role for moesin in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated signal transduction. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 2312–2320.
- Iwasaki, A., and Medzhitov, R. (2004). Toll-like receptor control of the

adaptive immune responses. Nat. Immunol. 5, 987–995.

- Jain, A., Batista, E. L. Jr., Serhan, C., Stahl, G. L., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2003). Role for periodontitis in the progression of lipid deposition in an animal model. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 6012–6018.
- Janeway, C. A. Jr., and Medzhitov, R. (2002). Innate immune recognition. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 20, 197–216.
- Jiang, Q., Akashi, S., Miyake, K., and Petty, H. R. (2000). Lipopolysaccharide induces physical proximity between CD14 and toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) prior to nuclear translocation of NF-kappa B. J. Immunol. 165, 3541–3544.
- Kabashima, H., Yoneda, M., Nagata, K., Hirofuji, T., and Maeda, K. (2002). The presence of chemokine (MCP-1, MIP-1alpha, MIP-1beta, IP-10, RANTES)-positive cells and chemokine receptor (CCR5, CXCR3)-positive cells in inflamed human gingival tissues. *Cytokine* 20, 70–77.
- Kahari, V. M., and Saarialho-Kere, U. (1997). Matrix metalloproteinases in skin. *Exp. Dermatol.* 6, 199–213.
- Kahari, V. M., and Saarialho-Kere, U. (1999). Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in tumour growth and invasion. *Ann. Med.* 31, 34–45.
- Kaisho, T., and Akira, S. (2002). Tolllike receptors as adjuvant receptors. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1589, 1–13.
- Kantarci, A., Nseir, Z., Kim, Y. S., Sume, S. S., and Trackman, P. C. (2011). Loss of basement membrane integrity in human gingival overgrowth. J. Dent. Res. 90, 887–893.
- Kantarci, A., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2003). Lipoxins in chronic inflammation. *Crit. Rev. Oral Biol. Med.* 14, 4–12.
- Kawai, T., Matsuyama, T., Hosokawa, Y., Makihira, S., Seki, M., Karimbux, N. Y., Goncalves, R. B., Valverde, P., Dibart, S., Li, Y. P., Miranda, L. A., Ernst, C. W., Izumi, Y., and Taubman, M. A. (2006). B and T lymphocytes are the primary sources of RANKL in the bone resorptive lesion of periodontal disease. *Am. J. Pathol.* 169, 987–998.
- Kawai, T., Takeuchi, O., Fujita, T., Inoue, J., Mühlradt, P. F., Sato, S., Hoshino, K., and Akira, S. (2001). Lipopolysaccharide stimulates the MyD88-independent pathway and results in activation of IFN-regulatory factor 3 and the expression of a subset of lipopolysaccharide-inducible genes. J. Immunol. 167, 5887–5894.
- Kessler, J. A., and Freidin, M. (1993). Cytokines regulate substance P

expression in sympathetic neurons. *Regul. Pept.* 46, 70–75.

- Kiili, M., Cox, S. W., Chen, H. Y., Wahlgren, J., Maisi, P., Eley, B. M., Salo, T., and Sorsa, T. (2002). Collagenase-2 (MMP-8) and collagenase-3 (MMP-13) in adult periodontitis: molecular forms and levels in gingival crevicular fluid and immunolocalization in gingival tissue. J. Clin. Periodontol. 29, 224–232.
- Kim, M. S., Day, C. J., Selinger, C. I., Magno, C. L., Stephens, S. R., and Morrison, N. A. (2006a). MCP-1-induced human osteoclastlike cells are tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase, NFATc1, and calcitonin receptor-positive but require receptor activator of NFkappaB ligand for bone resorption. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 1274–1285.
- Kim, M. S., Magno, C. L., Day, C. J., and Morrison, N. A. (2006b). Induction of chemokines and chemokine receptors CCR2b and CCR4 in authentic human osteoclasts differentiated with RANKL and osteoclast like cells differentiated by MCP-1 and RANTES. J. Cell. Biochem. 97, 512–518.
- Kindle, L., Rothe, L., Kriss, M., Osdoby, P., and Collin-Osdoby, P. (2006). Human microvascular endothelial cell activation by IL-1 and TNFalpha stimulates the adhesion and transendothelial migration of circulating human CD14+ monocytes that develop with RANKL into functional osteoclasts. J. Bone Miner. Res. 21, 193–206.
- Knauper, V., Cowell, S., Smith, B., López-Otin C, O'Shea, M., Morris, H., Zardi, L., and Murphy, G. (1997). The role of the C-terminal domain of human collagenase-3 (MMP-13) in the activation of procollagenase-3, substrate specificity, and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase interaction. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 7608–7616.
- Kong, Y. Y., Feige, U., Sarosi, I., Bolon, B., Tafuri, A., Morony, S., Capparelli, C., Li, J., Elliott, R., McCabe, S., Wong, T., Campagnuolo, G., Moran, E., Bogoch, E. R., Van, G., Nguyen, L. T., Ohashi, P. S., Lacey, D. L., Fish, E., Boyle, W. J., and Penninger, J. M. (1999). Activated T cells regulate bone loss and joint destruction in adjuvant arthritis through osteoprotegerin ligand. *Nature* 402, 304–309.
- Konttinen, Y. T., Salo, T., Hanemaaijer, R., Valleala, H., Sorsa, T., Sutinen, M., Ceponis, A., Xu, J. W., Santavirta, S., Teronen, O., and López-Otín, C. (1999). Collagenase-3 (MMP-13) and its activators in rheumatoid

arthritis: localization in the pannushard tissue junction and inhibition by alendronate. *Matrix Biol.* 18, 401–412.

- Krutzik, S. R., and Modlin, R. L. (2004). The role of Toll-like receptors in combating mycobacteria. *Semin. Immunol.* 16, 35–41.
- Kumar, V. A., Abass, A. K., and Fausto, N. (2005). Pathologic Basis of Disease. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders.
- Kwak, H. B., Lee, S. W., Jin, H. M., Ha, H., Lee, S. H., Takeshita, S., Tanaka, S., Kim, H. M., Kim, H. H., and Lee, Z. H. (2005). Monokine induced by interferon-gamma is induced by receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand and is involved in osteoclast adhesion and migration. *Blood* 105, 2963–2969.
- Kwan Tat, S., Padrines, M., Théoleyre, S., Heymann, D., and Fortun, Y. (2004). IL-6, RANKL, TNF-alpha/IL-1: interrelations in bone resorption pathophysiology. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 15, 49–60.
- Lacey, D. L., Timms, E., Tan, H. L., Kelley, M. J., Dunstan, C. R., Burgess, T., Elliott, R., Colombero, A., Elliott, G., Scully, S., Hsu, H., Sullivan, J., Hawkins, N., Davy, E., Capparelli, C., Eli, A., Qian, Y. X., Kaufman, S., Sarosi, I., Shalhoub, V., Senaldi, G., Guo, J., Delaney, J., and Boyle, W. J. (1998). Osteoprotegerin ligand is a cytokine that regulates osteoclast differentiation and activation. *Cell* 93, 165–176.
- Lalla, E., Lamster, I. B., Hofmann, M. A., Bucciarelli, L., Jerud, A. P., Tucker, S., Lu, Y., Papapanou, P. N., and Schmidt, A. M. (2003). Oral infection with a periodontal pathogen accelerates early atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-null mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23, 1405–1411.
- Lambrecht, B. N., Germonpré, P. R., Everaert, E. G., Carro-Muino I, De Veerman, M., de Felipe, C., Hunt, S. P., Thielemans, K., Joos, G. F., and Pauwels, R. A. (1999). Endogenously produced substance P contributes to lymphocyte proliferation induced by dendritic cells and direct TCR ligation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29, 3815–3825.
- Lean, J. M., Murphy, C., Chambers, T. J., and Lean, J. M. (2002). CCL9/MIP-1gamma and its receptor CCR1 are the major chemokine ligand/receptor species expressed by osteoclasts. J. Cell. Biochem. 87, 386–393.
- Lee, W., Aitken, S., Sodek, J., and McCulloch, C. A. (1995). Evidence of a direct relationship between

neutrophil collagenase activity and periodontal tissue destruction in vivo: role of active enzyme in human periodontitis. *J. Periodont. Res.* 30, 23–33.

- Levy, B. D., Clish, C. B., Schmidt, B., Gronert, K., and Serhan, C. N. (2001). Lipid mediator class switching during acute inflammation: signals in resolution. *Nat. Immunol.* 2, 612–619.
- Lewis, R. A. (1990). Interactions of eicosanoids and cytokines in immune regulation. Adv. Prostaglandin Thromboxane Leukot. Res. 20, 170–178.
- Li, Q., Yu, H., Zinna, R., Martin, K., Herbert, B., Liu, A., and Rossa, C. Jr., Kirkwood, K. L. (2011). Silencing mitogen-activated protein kinaseactivated protein kinase-2 arrests inflammatory bone loss. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 336, 633–642.
- Lieb, K., Fiebich, B. L., Busse-Grawitz, M., Hüll, M., Berger, M., and Bauer, J. (1996). Effects of substance P and selected other neuropeptides on the synthesis of interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-6 in human monocytes: a re-examination. J. Neuroimmunol. 67, 77–81.
- Lisignoli, G., Cristino, S., Toneguzzi, S., Grassi, F., Piacentini, A., Cavallo, C., Facchini, A., and Mariani, E. (2004). IL1beta and TNFalpha differently modulate CXCL13 chemokine in stromal cells and osteoblasts isolated from osteoarthritis patients: evidence of changes associated to cell maturation. *Exp. Gerontol.* 39, 659–665.
- Lisignoli, G., Toneguzzi, S., Piacentini, A., Cristino, S., Grassi, F., Cavallo, C., and Facchini, A. (2006). CXCL12 (SDF-1) and CXCL13 (BCA-1) chemokines significantly induce proliferation and collagen type I expression in osteoblasts from osteoarthritis patients. J. Cell. Physiol. 206, 78–85.
- Liu, Y. C., Lerner, U. H., and Teng, Y. T. (2000). Cytokine responses against periodontal infection: protective and destructive roles. *Peri*odontol. 2000 52, 163–206.
- Loning, T., Albers, H. K., Lisboa, B. P., Burkhardt, A., and Caselitz, J. (1980). Prostaglandin E and the local immune response in chronic periodontal disease. Immunohistochemical and radioimmunological observations. J. Periodont. Res. 15, 525–535.
- Lundy, F. T., and Linden, G. J. (2004). Neuropeptides and neurogenic mechanisms in oral and periodontal inflammation. *Crit. Rev. Oral Biol. Med.* 15, 82–98.

- MacDonald, K. P., Rowe, V., Bofinger, H. M., Thomas, R., Sasmono, T., Hume, D. A., and Hill, G. R. (2005). The colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor is expressed on dendritic cells during differentiation and regulates their expansion. *J. Immunol.* 175, 1399–1405.
- Maddox, J. F., Hachicha, M., Takano, T., Petasis, N. A., Fokin, V. V., and Serhan, C. N. (1997). Lipoxin A4 stable analogs are potent mimetics that stimulate human monocytes and THP-1 cells via a G-proteinlinked lipoxin A4 receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 6972–6978.
- Maddox, J. F., and Serhan, C. N. (1996). Lipoxin A4 and B4 are potent stimuli for human monocyte migration and adhesion: selective inactivation by dehydrogenation and reduction. *J. Exp. Med.* 183, 137–146.
- Mahamed, D. A., Marleau, A., Alnaeeli, M., Singh, B., Zhang, X., Penninger, J. M., and Teng, Y. T. (2005). G(-) anaerobes-reactive CD4+ T-cells trigger RANKL-mediated enhanced alveolar bone loss in diabetic NOD mice. *Diabetes* 54, 1477–1486.
- Makela, M., Larjava, H., Pirilä, E., Maisi, P., Salo, T., Sorsa, T., and Uitto, V. J. (1999). Matrix metalloproteinase 2 (gelatinase A) is related to migration of keratinocytes. *Exp. Cell Res.* 251, 67–78.
- Marriott, I., and Bost, K. L. (1998). Substance P diminishes lipopolysaccharide and interferon-gamma-induced TGF-beta 1 production by cultured murine macrophages. *Cell. Immunol.* 183, 113–120.
- Martin, T. J., and Sims, N. A. (2005). Osteoclast-derived activity in the coupling of bone formation to resorption. *Trends. Mol. Med.* 11, 76–81.
- Martinez, F. O., Helming, L., and Gordon, S. (2009). Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27, 451–483.
- Mathur, A., Michalowicz, B., Castillo,
  M., and Aeppli, D. (1996).
  Interleukin-1 alpha, interleukin-8 and interferon-alpha levels in gingival crevicular fluid. *J. Periodont. Res.* 31, 489–495.
- Mattila, K. J., Nieminen, M. S., Valtonen, V. V., Rasi, V. P., Kesäniemi, Y. A., Syrjälä, S. L., Jungell, P. S., Isoluoma, M., Hietaniemi, K., and Jokinen, M. J. (1989). Association between dental health and acute myocardial infarction. *BMJ* 298, 779–781.
- McCauley, L. K., and Nohutcu, R. M. (2002). Mediators of periodontal osseous destruction and remodeling:

principles and implications for diagnosis and therapy. *J. Periodontol.* 73, 1377–1391.

- McGillis, J. P., Humphreys, S., and Reid, S. (1991). Characterization of functional calcitonin gene-related peptide receptors on rat lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 147, 3482–3489.
- Means, T. K., Golenbock, D. T., and Fenton, M. J. (2000). The biology of Toll-like receptors. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 11, 219–232.
- Medzhitov, R., and Janeway, C. A. Jr. (1997). Innate immunity: the virtues of a nonclonal system of recognition. *Cell* 91, 295–298.
- Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., and Janeway, C. A. Jr. (1997). A human homologue of the *Drosophila* Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. *Nature* 388, 394–397.
- Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., Kopp, E., Stadlen, A., Chen, C., Ghosh, S., and Janeway, C. A. Jr. (1998). MyD88 is an adaptor protein in the hToll/IL-1 receptor family signaling pathways. *Mol. Cell* 2, 253–258.
- Mendieta, C. F., Reeve, C. M., and Romero, J. C. (1985). Biosynthesis of prostaglandins in gingiva of patients with chronic periodontitis. *J. Periodontol.* 56, 44–47.
- Mishima, E., and Sharma, A. (2011). *Tannerella forsythia* invasion in oral epithelial cells requires phosphoinositide 3-kinase activation and clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Microbiology* 157(Pt 8), 2382–2391.
- Mizuno, A., Amizuka, N., Irie, K., Murakami, A., Fujise, N., Kanno, T., Sato, Y., Nakagawa, N., Yasuda, H., Mochizuki, S., Gomibuchi, T., Yano, K., Shima, N., Washida, N., Tsuda, E., Morinaga, T., Higashio, K., and Ozawa, H. (1998). Severe osteoporosis in mice lacking osteoclastogenesis inhibitory factor/osteoprotegerin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 247, 610–615.
- Morse, L., Teng, Y. D., Pham, L., Newton, K., Yu, D., Liao, W. L., Kohler, T., Müller, R., Graves, D., Stashenko, P., and Battaglino, R. (2008). Spinal cord injury causes rapid osteoclastic resorption and growth plate abnormalities in growing rats (SCIinduced bone loss in growing rats). Osteoporos. Int. 19, 645–652.
- Moser, B., Wolf, M., Walz, A., and Loetscher, P. (2004). Chemokines: multiple levels of leukocyte migration control. *Trends Immunol.* 25, 75–84.
- Muroi, M., Muroi, Y., Yamamoto, K., and Suzuki, T. (1993). Influence of 3' half-site sequence of NFkappa B motifs on the binding

of lipopolysaccharide-activatable macrophage NF-kappa B proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268, 19534–19539.

- Musacchio, E., Valvason, C., Botsios, C., Ostuni, F., Furlan, A., Ramonda, R., Modesti, V., Sartori, L., and Punzi, L. (2009). The tumor necrosis factor-{alpha}-blocking agent infliximab inhibits interleukin 1beta (IL-1beta) and IL-6 gene expression in human osteoblastic cells. *J. Rheumatol.* 36, 1575–1579.
- Muzio, M., Natoli, G., Saccani, S., Levrero, M., and Mantovani, A. (1998). The human toll signaling pathway: divergence of nuclear factor kappaB and JNK/SAPK activation upstream of tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated factor 6 (TRAF6). *J. Exp. Med.* 187, 2097–2101.
- Nassar, H., Kantarci, A., and van Dyke, T. E. (2007). Diabetic periodontitis: a model for activated innate immunity and impaired resolution of inflammation. *Periodontol. 2000* 43, 233–244.
- Offenbacher, S., Beck, J. D., Jared, H. L., Mauriello, S. M., Mendoza, L. C., Couper, D. J., Stewart, D. D., Murtha, A. P., Cochran, D. L., Dudley, D. J., Reddy, M. S., Geurs, N. C., Hauth, J. C., and Maternal Oral Therapy to Reduce Obstetric Risk (MOTOR) Investigators. (2009). Effects of periodontal therapy on rate of preterm delivery: a randomized controlled trial. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 114, 551–559.
- Offenbacher, S., and Salvi, G. E. (1999). Induction of prostaglandin release from macrophages by bacterial endotoxin. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 28, 505–513.
- Okada, N., Kobayashi, M., Mugikura, K., Okamatsu, Y., Hanazawa, S., Kitano, S., and Hasegawa, K. (1997). Interleukin-6 production in human fibroblasts derived from periodontal tissues is differentially regulated by cytokines and a glucocorticoid. *J. Periodont. Res.* 32, 559–569.
- Okamatsu, Y., Kim, D., Battaglino, R., Sasaki, H., Späte, U., and Stashenko, P. (2004). MIP-1 gamma promotes receptor-activator-of-NFkappa-B-ligand-induced osteoclast formation and survival. *J. Immunol.* 173, 2084–2090.
- Opree, A., and Kress, M. (2000). Involvement of the proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha, IL-1 beta, and IL-6 but not IL-8 in the development of heat hyperalgesia: effects on heatevoked calcitonin gene-related peptide release from rat skin. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 6289–6293.
- Pacher, P., Obrosova, I. G., Mabley, J. G., and Szabó, C. (2005). Role of

nitrosative stress and peroxynitrite in the pathogenesis of diabetic complications. Emerging new therapeutical strategies. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 12, 267–275.

- Page, R. C., and Schroeder, H. E. (1976). Pathogenesis of inflammatory periodontal disease. A summary of current work. *Lab Invest.* 34, 235–249.
- Paigen, B., Holmes, P. A., Mitchell, D., and Albee, D. (1987a). Comparison of atherosclerotic lesions and HDL-lipid levels in male, female, and testosterone-treated female mice from strains C57BL/6, BALB/c, and C3H. Atherosclerosis 64, 215–221.
- Paigen, B., Mitchell, D., Reue, K., Morrow, A., Lusis, A. J., and LeBoeuf, R. C. (1987b). Ath-1, a gene determining atherosclerosis susceptibility and high density lipoprotein levels in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 3763–3767.
- Paquette, D. W., Madianos, P., Offenbacher, S., Beck, J. D., and Williams, R. C. (1999). The concept of "risk" and the emerging discipline of periodontal medicine. *J. Contemp. Dent. Pract.* 1, 1–8.
- Payne, J. B., Reinhardt, R. A., Masada, M. P., DuBois, L. M., and Allison, A. C. (1993). Gingival crevicular fluid IL-8: correlation with local IL-1 beta levels and patient estrogen status. *J. Periodont. Res.* 28(6 Pt 1), 451–453.
- Peschon, J. J., Torrance, D. S., Stocking, K. L., Glaccum, M. B., Otten, C., Willis, C. R., Charrier, K., Morrissey, P. J., Ware, C. B., and Mohler, K. M. (1998). TNF receptor-deficient mice reveal divergent roles for p55 and p75 in several models of inflammation. *L Immunol.* 160, 943–952.
- Pihlstrom, B. L., Michalowicz, B. S., and Johnson, N. W. (2005). Periodontal diseases. *Lancet* 366, 1809–1820.
- Poltorak, A., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Citterio, S., and Beutler, B. (2000). Physical contact between lipopolysaccharide and toll-like receptor 4 revealed by genetic complementation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 2163–2167.
- Pruss, H., Kopp, M. A., Brommer, B., Gatzemeier, N., Laginha, I., Dirnagl, U., and Schwab, J. M. (2011). Nonresolving aspects of acute inflammation after spinal cord injury (SCI): indices and resolution plateau. *Brain Pathol.* 21, 652–660.
- Putnins, E. E., Firth, J. D., and Uitto, V. J. (1996). Stimulation of collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase-1) synthesis in histiotypic epithelial cell culture by heparin is enhanced by keratinocyte growth factor. *Matrix Biol.* 15, 21–29.

- Qi, M., Miyakawa, H., and Kuramitsu, H. K. (2003). Porphyromonas gingivalis induces murine macrophage foam cell formation. *Microb. Pathog.* 35, 259–267.
- Quesniaux, V., Fremond, C., Jacobs, M., Parida, S., Nicolle, D., Yeremeev, V., Bihl, F., Erard, F., Botha, T., Drennan, M., Soler, M. N., Le Bert, M., Schnyder, B., and Ryffel, B. (2004). Toll-like receptor pathways in the immune responses to mycobacteria. *Microbes Infect.* 6, 946–959.
- Raschi, E., Testoni, C., Bosisio, D., Borghi, M. O., Koike, T., Mantovani, A., and Meroni, P. L. (2003). Role of the MyD88 transduction signaling pathway in endothelial activation by antiphospholipid antibodies. *Blood* 101, 3495–3500.
- Richards, D., and Rutherford, R. B. (1988). The effects of interleukin 1 on collagenolytic activity and prostaglandin-E secretion by human periodontal-ligament and gingival fibroblast. *Arch. Oral Biol.* 33, 237–243.
- Ridker, P. M., Hennekens, C. H., Buring, J. E., and Rifai, N. (2000). C-reactive protein and other markers of inflammation in the prediction of cardiovascular disease in women. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 342, 836–843.
- Rock, F. L., Hardiman, G., Timans, J. C., Kastelein, R. A., and Bazan, J. F. (1998). A family of human receptors structurally related to *Drosophila* Toll. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 588–593.
- Rodan, G. A., and Martin, T. J. (1981). Role of osteoblasts in hormonal control of bone resorption – a hypothesis. *Calcif. Tissue Int.* 33, 349–351.
- Ross, R. (1993). The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. *Nature* 362, 801–809.
- Rossi, D., and Zlotnik, A. (2000). The biology of chemokines and their receptors. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 18, 217–242.
- Rot, A., and von Andrian, U. H. (2004). Chemokines in innate and adaptive host defense: basic chemokinese grammar for immune cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 22, 891–928.
- Saito, S., Rosol, T. J., Saito, M., Ngan, P. W., Shanfeld, J., and Davidovitch, Z. (1990a). Bone-resorbing activity and prostaglandin E produced by human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 5, 1013–1018.
- Saito, S., Saito, M., Ngan, P., Lanese, R., Shanfeld, J., and Davidovitch, Z. (1990b). Effects of parathyroid hormone and cytokines on prostaglandin E synthesis and bone resorption by human periodontal

ligament fibroblasts. Arch. Oral Biol. 35, 845–855.

- Sallusto, F., Lanzavecchia, A., and Mackay, C. R. (1998). Chemokines and chemokine receptors in Tcell priming and Th1/Th2-mediated responses. *Immunol. Today* 19, 568–574.
- Sanak, M., Levy, B. D., Clish, C. B., Chiang, N., Gronert, K., Mastalerz, L., Serhan, C. N., and Szczeklik, A. (2000). Aspirin-tolerant asthmatics generate more lipoxins than aspirinintolerant asthmatics. *Eur. Respir. J.* 16, 44–49.
- Sato, N., Takahashi, N., Suda, K., Nakamura, M., Yamaki, M., Ninomiya, T., Kobayashi, Y., Takada, H., Shibata, K., Yamamoto, M., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Noguchi, T., and Udagawa, N. (2004). MyD88 but not TRIF is essential for osteoclastogenesis induced by lipopolysaccharide, diacyl lipopeptide, and IL-1alpha. J. Exp. Med. 200, 601–611.
- Sato, S., Takeuchi, O., Fujita, T., Tomizawa, H., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2002). A variety of microbial components induce tolerance to lipopolysaccharide by differentially affecting MyD88-dependent and -independent pathways. *Int. Immunol.* 14, 783–791.
- Schif-Zuck, S., Gross, N., Assi, S., Rostoker, R., Serhan, C. N., and Ariel, A. (2011). Saturated-efferocytosis generates pro-resolving CD11b low macrophages: modulation by resolvins and glucocorticoids. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 366–379.
- Schumann, R. R., Leong, S. R., Flaggs, G. W., Gray, P. W., Wright, S. D., Mathison, J. C., Tobias, P. S., and Ulevitch, R. J. (1990). Structure and function of lipopolysaccharide binding protein. *Science* 249, 1429–1431.
- Schwab, J. M., Chiang, N., Arita, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolvin E1 and protectin D1 activate inflammation-resolution programmes. *Nature* 447, 869–874.
- Serhan, C. N. (2004). A search for endogenous mechanisms of antiinflammation uncovers novel chemical mediators: missing links to resolution. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 122, 305–321.
- Serhan, C. N. (2010). Novel lipid mediators and resolution mechanisms in acute inflammation: to resolve or not? Am. J. Pathol. 177, 1576–1591.
- Serhan, C. N., and Chiang, N. (2008). Endogenous pro-resolving and antiinflammatory lipid mediators: a new pharmacologic genus. Br. J. Pharmacol. 153(Suppl. 1), S200–S215.
- Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., Arita, M., and Serhan, C. N. (2007). Resolution

of inflammation: state of the art, definitions and terms. *FASEB J.* 21, 325–332.

- Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2008). Resolving inflammation: dual anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 349–361.
- Serhan, C. N., Fiore, S., Brezinski, D. A., and Lynch, S. (1993). Lipoxin A4 metabolism by differentiated HL-60 cells and human monocytes: conversion to novel 15-oxo and dihydro products. *Biochemistry* 32, 6313–6319.
- Serhan, C. N., Gotlinger, K., Hong, S., and Arita, M. (2004). Resolvins, docosatrienes, and neuroprotectins, novel omega-3-derived mediators, and their aspirin-triggered endogenous epimers: an overview of their protective roles in catabasis. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat.* 73, 155–172.
- Serhan, C. N., Jain, A., Marleau, S., Clish, C., Kantarci, A., Behbehani, B., Colgan, S. P., Stahl, G. L., Merched, A., Petasis, N. A., Chan, L., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2003). Reduced inflammation and tissue damage in transgenic rabbits overexpressing 15-lipoxygenase and endogenous anti-inflammatory lipid mediators. J. Immunol. 171, 6856–6865.
- Serhan, C. N., Maddox, J. F., Petasis, N. A., Akritopoulou-Zanze, I., Papayianni, A., Brady, H. R., Colgan, S. P., and Madara, J. L. (1995). Design of lipoxin A4 stable analogs that block transmigration and adhesion of human neutrophils. *Biochemistry* 34, 14609–14615.
- Seymour, G. J. (1991). Importance of the host response in the periodontium. J. Clin. Periodontol. 18, 421–426.
- Seymour, G. J., and Gemmell, E. (2001). Cytokines in periodontal disease: where to from here? *Acta Odontol. Scand.* 59, 167–173.
- Shen, J., Herderick, E., Cornhill, J. F., Zsigmond, E., Kim, H. S., Kühn, H., Guevara, N. V., and Chan, L. (1996). Macrophage-mediated 15-lipoxygenase expression protects against atherosclerosis development. J. Clin. Invest. 98, 2201–2208.
- Singh, A., Wyant, T., Anaya-Bergman, C., Aduse-Opoku, J., Brunner, J., Laine, M. L., Curtis, M. A., and Lewis, J. P. (2011). The capsule of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* leads to a reduction in the host inflammatory response, evasion of phagocytosis, and increase in virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 79, 4533–4542.

- Socransky, S. S., and Haffajee, A. D. (2005). Periodontal microbial ecology. *Periodontol. 2000* 38, 135–187.
- Song, L., Asgharzadeh, S., Salo, J., Engell, K., Wu, H. W., Sposto, R., Ara, T., Silverman, A. M., DeClerck, Y. A., Seeger, R. C., and Metelitsa, L. S. (2009). Valpha24-invariant NKT cells mediate antitumor activity via killing of tumor-associated macrophages. J. Clin. Invest. 119, 1524–1536.
- Sorsa, T., Ding, Y. L., Ingman, T., Salo, T., Westerlund, U., Haapasalo, M., Tschesche, H., and Konttinen, Y. T. (1995). Cellular source, activation and inhibition of dental plaque collagenase. J. Clin. Periodontol. 22, 709–717.
- Sorsa, T., Tjäderhane, L., Konttinen, Y. T., Lauhio, A., Salo, T., Lee, H. M., Golub, L. M., Brown, D. L., and Mäntylä, P. (2006). Matrix metalloproteinases: contribution to pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment of periodontal inflammation. *Ann. Med.* 38, 306–321.
- Sume, S. S., Kantarci, A., Lee, A., Hasturk, H., and Trackman, P. C. (2010). Epithelial to mesenchymal transition in gingival overgrowth. *Am. J. Pathol.* 177, 208–218.
- Swantek, J. L., Tsen, M. F., Cobb, M. H., and Thomas, J. A. (2000). IL-1 receptor-associated kinase modulates host responsiveness to endotoxin. J. Immunol. 164, 4301–4306.
- Takagi, M., Konttinen, Y. T., Kemppinen, P., Sorsa, T., Tschesche, H., Bläser, J., Suda, A., and Santavirta, S. (1995). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1, collagenolytic and gelatinolytic activity in loose hip endoprosthesis. J. Rheumatol. 22, 2285–2290.
- Takashiba, S., Takigawa, M., Takahashi, K., Myokai, F., Nishimura, F., Chihara, T., Kurihara, H., Nomura, Y., and Murayama, Y. (1992). Interleukin-8 is a major neutrophil chemotactic factor derived from cultured human gingival fibroblasts stimulated with interleukin-1 beta or tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Infect. Immun.* 60, 5253–5258.
- Takeda, K., Kaisho, T., and Akira, S. (2003). Toll-like receptors. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 21, 335–376.
- Takigawa, M., Takashiba, S., Myokai, F., Takahashi, K., Arai, H., Kurihara, H., and Murayama, Y. (1994). Cytokine-dependent synergistic regulation of interleukin-8 production from human gingival fibroblasts. *J. Periodontol.* 65, 1002–1007.
- Tanaka, S., Takahashi, N., Udagawa, N., Tamura, T., Akatsu, T., Stanley, E. R., Kurokawa, T., and Suda, T. (1993).

Macrophage colony-stimulating factor is indispensable for both proliferation and differentiation of osteoclast progenitors. *J. Clin. Invest.* 91, 257–263.

- Tang, L., Zhou, X. D., Wang, Q., Zhang, L., Wang, Y., Li, X. Y., and Huang, D. M. (2011). Expression of TRAF6 and pro-inflammatory cytokines through activation of TLR2, TLR4, NOD1, and NOD2 in human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. Arch. Oral Biol. 56, 1064–1072.
- Taubman, M. A., Kawai, T., and Han, X. (2007). The new concept of periodontal disease pathogenesis requires new and novel therapeutic strategies. *J. Clin. Periodontol.* 34, 367–369.
- Terricabras, E., Benjamim, C., and Godessart, N. (2004). Drug discovery and chemokine receptor antagonists: eppur si muove! *Autoimmun. Rev.* 3, 550–556.
- The American Academy of Periodontology Academy Report. (1999). The pathogenesis of periodontal diseases. J. Periodontol. 70, 457–470.
- Theill, L. E., Boyle, W. J., and Penninger, J. M. (2002). RANK-L and RANK: T cells, bone loss, and mammalian evolution. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 20, 795–823.
- Tohme, Z. N., Amar, S., and Van Dyke, T. E. (1999). Moesin functions as a lipopolysaccharide receptor on human monocytes. *Infect. Immun.* 67, 3215–3220.
- Tracey, K. J. (2002). The inflammatory reflex. *Nature* 420, 853–859.
- Uehara, A., and Takada, H. (2007). Functional TLRs and NODs in human gingival fibroblasts. J. Dent. Res. 86, 249–254.
- Uitto, V. J., Airola, K., Vaalamo, M., Johansson, N., Putnins, E. E., Firth, J. D., Salonen, J., López-Otín, C., Saarialho-Kere, U., and Kähäri, V. M. (1998). Collagenase-3 (matrix metalloproteinase-13) expression is induced in oral mucosal epithelium during chronic inflammation. *Am. J. Pathol.* 152, 1489–1499.
- Uitto, V. J., Overall, C. M., and McCulloch, C. (2003). Proteolytic host cell enzymes in gingival crevice fluid. *Periodontol. 2000* 31, 77–104.
- Ulevitch, R. J., and Tobias, P. S. (1995). Receptor-dependent mechanisms of cell stimulation by bacterial endotoxin. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 13, 437–457.
- Van Dyke, T. E. (2007). Control of inflammation and periodontitis. *Periodontol.* 2000, 45, 158–166.
- Van Dyke, T. E. (2008). The management of inflammation in

periodontal disease. J. Periodontol. 79(Suppl.), 1601–1608.

- Van Dyke, T. E., and Serhan, C. N. (2003). Resolution of inflammation: a new paradigm for the pathogenesis of periodontal diseases. *J. Dent. Res.* 82, 82–90.
- Vergnolle, N. (1999). Proteinaseactivated receptor-2-activating peptides induce leukocyte rolling, adhesion, and extravasation in vivo. J. Immunol. 163, 5064–5069.
- Virag, L., and Szabo, C. (2002). The therapeutic potential of poly(ADPribose) polymerase inhibitors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 54, 375–429.
- Visse, R., and Nagase, H. (2003). Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, function, and biochemistry. *Circ. Res.* 92, 827–839.
- Votta, B. J., White, J. R., Dodds, R. A., James, I. E., Connor, J. R., Lee-Rykaczewski E, Eichman, C. F., Kumar, S., Lark, M. W., and Gowen, M. (2000). CKbeta-8 [CCL23], a novel CC chemokine, is chemotactic for human osteoclast precursors and is expressed in bone tissues. J. Cell. Physiol. 183, 196–207.
- Wahlgren, J., Salo, T., Teronen, O., Luoto, H., Sorsa, T., and Tjäderhane, L. (2002). Matrix metalloproteinase-8 (MMP-8) in pulpal and periapical inflammation and periapical rootcanal exudates. *Int. Endod. J.* 35, 897–904.
- Wajant, H., Pfizenmaier, K., and Scheurich, P. (2003). Tumor necrosis factor signaling. *Cell Death Differ*. 10, 45–65.
- Watters, T. M., Kenny, E. F., and O'Neill, L. A. (2007). Structure, function and regulation of the Toll/IL-1 receptor adaptor proteins. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 85, 411–419.
- Weinstein, S. L., Sanghera, J. S., Lemke, K., DeFranco, A. L., and Pelech, S. L. (1992). Bacterial lipopolysaccharide induces tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases in macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 14955–14962.
- Wingrove, J. A., DiScipio, R. G., Chen, Z., Potempa, J., Travis, J., and Hugli, T. E. (1992). Activation of complement components C3 and C5 by a cysteine proteinase (gingipain-1) from *Porphyromonas* (Bacteroides) gingivalis. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 18902–18907.
- Wright, L. M., Maloney, W., Yu, X., Kindle, L., Collin-Osdoby, P., and Osdoby, P. (2005). Stromal cellderived factor-1 binding to its chemokine receptor CXCR4 on precursor cells promotes the chemotactic recruitment, development and

survival of human osteoclasts. *Bone* 36, 840–853.

- Wright, S. D., Ramos, R. A., Tobias, P. S., Ulevitch, R. J., and Mathison, J. C. (1990). CD14, a receptor for complexes of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and LPS binding protein. *Science* 249, 1431–1433.
- Wurfel, M. M., Monks, B. G., Ingalls, R. R., Dedrick, R. L., Delude, R., Zhou, D., Lamping, N., Schumann, R. R., Thieringer, R., Fenton, M. J., Wright, S. D., and Golenbock, D. (1997). Targeted deletion of the lipopolysaccharide (LPS)binding protein gene leads to profound suppression of LPS responses ex vivo, whereas in vivo responses remain intact. J. Exp. Med. 186, 2051–2056.
- Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Hemmi, H., Hoshino, K., Kaisho, T., Sanjo, H., Takeuchi, O., Sugiyama, M., Okabe, M., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2003). Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88-independent toll-like receptor signaling pathway. *Science* 301, 640–643.
- Yamin, T. T., and Miller, D. K. (1997). The interleukin-1 receptorassociated kinase is degraded by proteasomes following its phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 21540–21547.
- Yang, M., Mailhot, G., MacKay, C. A., Mason-Savas, A., Aubin, J., and Odgren, P. R. (2006). Chemokine and chemokine receptor expression during colony stimulating factor-1induced osteoclast differentiation

in the toothless osteopetrotic rat: a key role for CCL9 (MIP-1gamma) in osteoclastogenesis in vivo and in vitro. *Blood* 107, 2262–2270.

- Yano, S., Mentaverri, R., Kanuparthi, D., Bandyopadhyay, S., Rivera, A., Brown, E. M., and Chattopadhyay, N. (2005). Functional expression of beta-chemokine receptors in osteoblasts: role of regulated upon activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES) in osteoblasts and regulation of its secretion by osteoblasts and osteoclasts. *Endocrinology* 146, 2324–2335.
- Yasuda, H., Shima, N., Nakagawa, N., Mochizuki, S.-I., Yano, K., Fujise, N., Sato, Y., Goto, M., Yamaguchi, K., Kuriyama, M., Kanno, T., Murakami, A., Tsuda, E., Morinaga, T., and Higashio, K. (1998). Identity of osteoclastogenesis inhibitory factor (OCIF) and osteoprotegerin (OPG): a mechanism by which OPG/OCIF inhibits osteoclastogenesis in vitro. *Endocrinology* 139, 1329–1337.
- Yiangou, Y., Facer, P., Dyer, N. H., Chan, C. L., Knowles, C., Williams, N. S., and Anand, P. (2001). Vanilloid receptor 1 immunoreactivity in inflamed human bowel. *Lancet* 357, 1338–1339.
- Yoshimura, T., Matsushima, K., Tanaka, S., Robinson, E. A., Appella, E., Oppenheim, J. J., and Leonard, E. J. (1987). Purification of a human monocyte-derived

neutrophil chemotactic factor that has peptide sequence similarity to other host defense cytokines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 9233–9237.

- Yu, X., Huang, Y., Collin-Osdoby, P., and Osdoby, P. (2004). CCR1 chemokines promote the chemotactic recruitment, RANKL development, and motility of osteoclasts and are induced by inflammatory cytokines in osteoblasts. J. Bone Miner. Res. 19, 2065–2077.
- Yumoto, H., Nakae, H., Fujinaka, K., Ebisu, S., and Matsuo, T. (1999). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) and IL-8 are induced in human oral epithelial cells in response to exposure to periodontopathic *Eikenella corrodens. Infect. Immun.* 67, 384–394.
- Zadeh, H. H., Nichols, F. C., and Miyasaki, K. T. (1999). The role of the cell-mediated immune response to Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans and Porphyromonas gingivalis in periodontitis. Periodontol. 2000, 20, 239–288.
- Zawawi, K. H., Kantarci, A., Schulze-Späte, U., Fujita, T., Batista, E. L. Jr., Amar, S., and Van Dyke, T. E. (2010). Moesin-induced signaling in response to lipopolysaccharide in macrophages. J. Periodont. Res. 45, 589–601.
- Zlotnik, A., and Yoshie, O. (2000). Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. *Immunity* 12, 121–127.

- Zurawski, G., and de Vries, J. E. (1994). Interleukin 13, an interleukin 4-like cytokine that acts on monocytes and B cells, but not on T cells. *Immunol. Today* 15, 19–26.
- Zwaka, T. P., Hombach, V., and Torzewski, J. (2001). C-reactive protein-mediated low density lipoprotein uptake by macrophages: implications for atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 103, 1194–1197.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 09 November 2011; paper pending published: 01 February 2012; accepted: 24 April 2012; published online: 16 May 2012.

Citation: Hasturk H, Kantarci A and Van Dyke TE (2012) Oral inflammatory diseases and systemic inflammation: role of the macrophage. Front. Immun. **3**:118. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00118

*This article was submitted to Frontiers in Inflammation, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.* 

Copyright © 2012 Hasturk, Kantarci and Van Dyke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.